TESIS DE LA UNIVERSIDAD

### DE ZARAGOZA

### **David Alonso Forn**

128

2023

Deciduous and evergreen oaks: unravelling the co-occurrence of different functional strategies in Quercus L. species under Mediterranean type climates

Director/es Gil Pelegrín, Eustaquio Peguero Pina, José Javier



Prensas de la Universidad Universidad Zaragoza

ISSN 2254-7606

© Universidad de Zaragoza Servicio de Publicaciones

ISSN 2254-7606



### **Tesis Doctoral**

### DECIDUOUS AND EVERGREEN OAKS: UNRAVELLING THE CO-OCCURRENCE OF DIFFERENT FUNCTIONAL STRATEGIES IN QUERCUS L. SPECIES UNDER MEDITERRANEAN TYPE CLIMATES

Autor

### David Alonso Forn

Director/es

Gil Pelegrín, Eustaquio Peguero Pina, José Javier

### UNIVERSIDAD DE ZARAGOZA Escuela de Doctorado

Programa de Doctorado en Ciencias Agrarias y del Medio Natural

2023

Repositorio de la Universidad de Zaragoza – Zaguan http://zaguan.unizar.es

licet. Idem crepidis muniendis of beirnofficeatuiidoneus, scabritie illa exterior actor De Ilex major.

Deciduous and evergreen oaks: Unravelling the co-occurrence of different functional strategies in *Quercus* L. species under mediterranean type climates

LEX vero legitima, arbor este

### **David Alonso Forn**

Supervisors: Dr. Eustaquio Gil Pelegrín Dr. José Javier Peguero Pina







## Deciduous and evergreen oaks: unravelling the co-occurrence of different functional strategies in *Quercus* L. species under Mediterranean type climates

**David Alonso Forn** 

Supervisors: Dr. Eustaquio Gil Pelegrín Dr. José Javier Peguero Pina

#### Compendio de publicaciones

La presente tesis doctoral se ha elaborado como un compendio de cinco trabajos, ya sean publicados en revistas científicas o en fase de revisión. A continuación, se muestra la lista de publicaciones que constituyen el cuerpo de la tesis.

- Alonso-Forn D, Sancho-Knapik D, Ferrio JP, Peguero-Pina JJ, Bueno A, Onoda Y, Cavender-Bares J, Niinemets Ü, Jansen S, Riederer M, Cornelissen JHC, Chai Y and Gil-Pelegrín E. 2020. Revisiting the Functional Basis of Sclerophylly Within the Leaf Economics Spectrum of Oaks: Different Roads to Rome. Current Forestry Reports 6: 260–281. doi: 10.1007/s40725-020-00122-7
- Sancho-Knapik D, Escudero A, Mediavilla S, Scoffoni C, Zailaa J, Cavender-Bares J, Álvarez-Arenas TG, Molins A, Alonso-Forn D, Ferrio JP, Peguero-Pina JJ and Gil-Pelegrín E. 2021. Deciduous and evergreen oaks show contrasting adaptive responses in leaf mass per area across environments. New Phytologist 230: 521-534. doi: 10.1111/nph.17151
- Alonso-Forn D, Sancho-Knapik D, Fariñas MD, Nadal M, Martín-Sánchez R, Ferrio JP, Resco de Dios V, Peguero-Pina JJ, Onoda Y, Cavender-Bares J, Álvarez Arenas T, Gil-Pelegrín E. Disentangling leaf structural and material properties in relation to their anatomical and chemical compositional traits in oaks (*Quercus* L.). En revisión y publicado como *preprint* en bioRxiv. doi: 10.1101/2022.10.21.513225
- Alonso-Forn D, Peguero-Pina JJ, Ferrio JP, García-Plazaola JI, Martín-Sánchez R, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2022. Cell-level anatomy explains leaf age-dependent declines in mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in the evergreen Mediterranean oak *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. Tree Physiology 42: 1988–2002. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpac049
- Alonso-Forn D, Peguero-Pina JJ, Ferrio JP, Mencuccini M, Mendoza-Herrer Ó, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2021. Contrasting functional strategies following severe drought in two Mediterranean oaks with different leaf habit: *Quercus faginea* and *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. Tree Physiology 41: 371–387. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpaa1353

#### Agradecimientos

La presente tesis doctoral fue financiada por una ayuda para contratos predoctorales para la formación de doctores (BES-2017-081208) del Ministerio de Economía, Industria y Competitividad del Gobierno de España, la Agencia Estatal de Investigación y el Centro de Investigación y Tecnología Agroalimentaria de Aragón (CITA). La tesis se enmarca en el proyecto de investigación "Aplicación de nuevas tecnologías al desarrollo de sensores para el seguimiento no destructivo del estado hídrico de la encina (*Quercus ilex* L.) en plantaciones truferas" (INIA-2017-0008/RTA2015-00054-C02-0). Además, la misma ayuda (BES-2017-081208), también financió una estancia breve de tres meses en la Universidad de Kioto (Japón) bajo la supervisión del Dr. Yusuke Onoda. Así mismo, el proyecto "CO<sub>2</sub>PPICE" (Proyecto Retos Investigación del Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación/ Agencia Estatal de Investigación del Gobierno de Aragón H09\_20R han financiado parte de los trabajos que forman parte del cuerpo de esta tesis.

A continuación, me gustaría expresar mi más sincero agradecimiento a todas aquellas personas que han dedicado parte de su tiempo y dedicación a la elaboración de la presente tesis doctoral. En especial a los directores de esta; Eustaquio Gil Pelegrín y José Javier Peguero Pina. A ellos les debo este trabajo por guiarme desde el inicio, por compartir conmigo mil ideas y alentar las mías por poco sentido que tuvieran. Me han ayudado en los numerosos obstáculos que se han presentado durante la elaboración de la tesis y siempre he tenido la certeza de estarían cuando los necesitara. Con sus consejos, enseñanzas y calidez humana, sin duda, me han hecho crecer como científico y como persona, al tiempo que me han transmitido su pasión por la ecofisiología.

Este trabajo tampoco hubiera sido posible sin las valiosas aportaciones y numerosas discusiones científicas del grupo de Ecofisiología Forestal del Departamento de Sistemas Agrícolas, Forestales y Medio Ambiente (SAFMA) del CITA y colaboradores. Desde un primer momento me han hecho sentir como en casa y como uno más del grupo. Así, me gustaría agradecer a Domingo Sancho, Juan Pedro Ferrio, Fernando Martínez, Mercedes Vico, José Sánchez, Edurne Martínez, Rubén Martín, Miquel Nadal, Lola Fariñas, Ana López, Rubén Escribano, Elena Granda, Enrique Murria, Alexis Sánchez y Guillermo Ferrando por todo el apoyo, el esfuerzo y el tiempo que han invertido en hacer posible esta tesis doctoral.

Además, el doctorado me ha permitido viajar y conocer científicos a los que quiero mostrar mi agradecimiento: en especial, a Yusuke Onoda, Kaoru Kitajima y todo el laboratorio de *Tropical Forest Resources and Environments* de la Universidad de Kioto en Japón, donde me acogieron estupendamente e hicieron de mi estancia un periodo muy enriquecedor; a Marta Ruiz y Pablo Acedo del grupo de Sensores y Técnicas de Instrumentación de la Universidad Carlos III de Madrid; a Juan Losada del grupo de Fruticultura Subtropical en la Estación Experimental IHSM "La Mayora" en Málaga; y a Jeannine Cavender-Bares del Departamento de Ecología, Evolución y Comportamiento de la Universidad de Minnesota en EEUU. Asimismo, quiero agradecer a Alexandra Elbakyan por "eliminar las barreras en el camino de la ciencia" facilitando el libre acceso a la literatura científica.

Finalmente, me gustaría dar las gracias a mi familia, amigos y todas aquellas personas que me han brindado los ánimos y la fuerza necesaria para terminar esta tesis. Sin su apoyo incondicional este trabajo nunca se habría escrito y, por eso, es también suyo.

### Listado de abreviaturas

Aarea	Area-based net CO <sub>2</sub>	DEC	Winter-deciduous oaks	
	assimilation	EVE	Evergreen oaks	
Achl	Total chloroplast area Arid intensity (sum of (2 $t_m$ –	<b>E</b> max	Maximum bulk modulus of elasticity	
AI	$p_{\rm m}$ ) for months with $tm > 10^{\circ}$ C and 2 $t_{\rm m} > p_{\rm m}$ )	Fo	Initial Chl fluorescence in the dark adapted state	
AILang	Lang aridity index	F'o	Minimum Chl fluorescence in the light-adapted state	
$A_{mass}$	Photosynthetic capacity per leaf dry mass	fias	Fraction of the mesophyll tissue occupied by the	
An	Net photosynthesis		intercellular air spaces	
AP	Arid period (number of months with $t_m > 10^{\circ}$ C and 2	<i>F</i> м	Maximal Chl fluorescence in the dark-adapted state	
	$t_{\rm m} > p_{\rm m}$ )	<i>F′</i> м	Maximum Chl fluorescence	
$A_{ m plg}$	Total area occupied by	TRO	in the light-adapted state	
ARID	Arid species	FPG	(number of months with $t_m >$	
Asta	Total area occupied by		10°C)	
1131g	starch grains	Fs	Chl fluorescence at steady	
BSE_cp	Bundle sheath extension		state photosynthesis	
	cover percentage	Fv/Fm	The dark-adapted, maximum quantum	
BSE_d	density		efficiency of PSII	
BSE_w	Bundle sheath extension width	$g_{ias}$	Gas phase conductance from substomatal cavities to outer	
С	Shoot capacitance	œ.	Conductance in the liquid	
C.LD	Carbon per unit volume	8 <sup>nq</sup>	and lipid phases from the	
Ca	CO <sup>2</sup> concentration surrounding the leaf		outer surface of cell walls to chloroplasts	
CC	Cellulose content	8 <sup>m</sup>	Mesophyll conductance	
Cc	Chloroplastic CO2 concentration	g <sub>m,a</sub>	Mesophyll diffusion conductance estimated	
CC	Cellulose content		using the measured leaf	
Ccw_Ctotal	Carbon in cell wall:Carbon	σmin	Minimum leaf conductance	
CD	Cellulose per unit volume	$\delta^{\min}$	Stomatal conductance for	
Chl	Chlorophyll	ð٩	H <sub>2</sub> O	
Ci	Substomatal CO <sub>2</sub> concentration	GS	Growing season (number of months with $t_m > 5^{\circ}C$ )	
Ctotal	Carbon content			

Ctotal\_Ntotal Ratio carbon:nitrogen

g <sub>tot</sub>	Total conductance to CO2 from leaf surface to	l <sub>m</sub>	Mesophyll limitation to net CO2 assimilation
	carboxylation sites in the	LMA	Leaf dry mass per unit area
НС	Hemicellulose content	ls	Stomatal limitation to net CO <sub>2</sub> assimilation
HC	Hemicellulose content	LSC	Leaf specific conductivity
HCD	Hemicellulose per unit	LT	Leaf thickness
WD	Volume	MAP	Mean annual precipitation
	Interventar distance	MAT	Mean annual temperature
IWUE	Dhatasarthatis alastrar	MED	Mediterranenan species
Jf	transport rate	N.LD	Nitrogen per unit volume
Jflu	Photosynthetic electron transport rate	Narea	Nitrogen content per leaf area
J <sub>max</sub>	Photosynthetic electron transport capacity	$\mathbf{N}$ cell wall	Nitrogen content of the cell wall fraction
Km	Michaelis-Menten constant	Ncw_Ntotal	Nitrogen in cell wall:Nitrogen
Kox	Outside-xylem component of leaf hydraulic conductance	Ncytoplasm	Fraction of nitrogen allocated in the cytoplasm
Kshoot	Shoot hydraulic	NDF	Neutral fiber detergent
	conductance	NDVI	Normalized difference
Kstem	Hydraulic conductivity		vegetation index
lь	Biochemical limitation to net CO2 assimilation	NPQ	Non-photochemical quenching
LCC	Lignin and cutin content	Ntotal	Total leaf nitrogen
LCC	Lignin and cutin content	Ntotal	Nitrogen content
LCD	Lignin and cutin per unit volume	p	Cuticular water permeability
Lchl	Chloroplast length	P or MAP	Mean annual precipitation
LD	Leaf density	P <sub>50</sub> or PLC <sub>50</sub>	Stem water potential
LE_latw	Lower epidermis lateral wall		xvlem hvdraulic
LE_lu	Lower epidermis lumen cell		conductivity
LE_lul	Lower epidermis lumen length	P <sub>88</sub> or PLC <sub>88</sub>	Stem water potential inducing a loss of 88% of
LE_luw	Lower epidermis lumen width		xylem hydraulic conductivity
LE_ow	Lower epidermis outer wall	PLC	Percentage loss of
LES	Leaf economic spectrum	11m	Monthly precipitation
LET	Lower epidermis thickness	۲ <sup>س</sup> PM م1	Palisade mesonhvll cell
Lias	Average gas-phase thickness	1 141_01	length
LL	Leaf life span		

PM_cw	Palisade mesophyll cell width	UE_lul	Upper epidermis lumen length
PM_nl	Palisade mesophyll number of layers	UE_luw	Upper epidermis lumen width
PMT	Palisade mesophyll	UE_ow	Upper epidermis outer wall
	thickness	UET	Upper epidermis thickness
PNUE	Photosynthetic nitrogen-use efficiency	Vcmax	Maximum velocity of carboxylation
PPFD	Photosynthetic photon flux	VS	Visual scoring
DC	Punch strongth	WF	Work of fracture
	Photosystem II	$\pi 0$	Osmotic potential at full
	Process volume		turgor
P V	Liquid phase inside the cell	πtlp	Water potential at turgor
<b>r</b> cel,tot	Equid phase inside the cell	æ	loss point
rcw	wall	Φexc	
RL	respiration rate in the light	ΨPSII W	Water potential hofers
Sc/S	Chloroplast surface area	$\Psi_0$	rehydration
	exposed to intercellular air space	$\Psi_{\mathrm{f}}$	Water potential after rehydration
SI	Sclerophylly Index	$\Psi_{ m MD}$	Midday leaf water potential
Sm/S	Mesophyll surface area exposed to intercellular air	$\Psi_{ ext{PD}}$	Predawn leaf water potential
SM -	space	Γ*	Chloroplastic CO <sub>2</sub>
SM_p	Spongy mesophyll thickness		compensation point in the
SIVII	Sporigy mesophyn unceness		respiration
Sr5	Specific Functi Strength		
SWC	Son water content		
	Mean annual temperature		
	Chloroplast thickness		
I chl	Coll wall thickness		
I cw	Cell wan unckness		
	Cytopiasin unickness		
IDKY	quarter		
TEM	Temperate species		
t <sub>m</sub>	Mean monthly temperature		
TMIN	Minimum temperature of coldest month		
TRO	Tropical species		
UE_latw	Upper epidermis lateral wall		
UE_lu	Upper epidermis lumen cell		

### Índice de figuras

Capítulo I
Figura 1. Área de la distribución del género <i>Quercus</i> en la actualidad
Figura 2. Transiciones entre el zonobioma IV y otros zonobiomas con presencia de <i>Quercus</i> 6
Capítulo II
Figura 1. Measurements of leaf attributes and mechanical strength in deciduous and evergreen
oak species
Figura 2. Relation between Lang aridity index (AILang) and leaf mass area (LMA) for oak species
belonged to different groups
Figura 3. Relationship between AILang and the stem water potential inducing a loss of 50% (P50)
and 88% (Pss) of xylem hydraulic conductivity for oak species
Figura 4. Association between typical LMA and average site conditions across 36 oak species
found in the US Forest Inventory
Figura 5. Relationship between leaf lifespan (LL) and LMA for species of genus Quercus
Figura 6. Relationship between LMA and cellulose content (CC), hemicellulose content (HC), and
cutin and lignin content (LCC) for Mediterranean Quercus species
Figura 7. Relationship between mean annual temperature (MAT) and length of the cold
season
Figura 8. Relationships between LMA and photosynthetic and nitrogen-related traits for different
<i>Quercus</i> species
Figura 9. Relationships between photosynthetic capacity per leaf area (Aarea) and (i) stomatal
conductance ( $g_s$ ) and (ii) nitrogen content per leaf area ( $N_{area}$ ) for different Quercus species 42
Figura 10. Relationship between LMA and the maximum bulk modulus of elasticity ( $\mathcal{E}_{max}$ ) for
different Quercus species
Figura 11. LMA and cuticular permeances or minimum conductances of 14 Quercus species
collected from the literature
Figura 12. A summary of the key factors promoting sclerophylly and the transverse section of the
mesophyll leaf of Quercus robur, Q.faginea, and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia ranked from less to more
sclerophyllous
Capítulo III
Figura 1. Schematic representation of the two LMA diversification scenarios78
Figura 2. Leaf mesophyll cross-sections of two deciduous and two evergreen Quercus species
differing in LMA
Figura 3. Quercus phylogenetic tree based on rbcL showing the evolution of LMA in coordination
with leaf thickness (LT), leaf density (LD) and climate
Figura 4. Relationships between LMA and key leaf traits for deciduous and evergreen Quercus
species
Figura 5. Schematic representation of the main associations found for anatomical and climatic
variables for deciduous and evergreen Quercus species
Capítulo IV
Figura 1. Leaf mesophyll cross-section of three $Quercus$ species showing diverse anatomical leaf
traits measured in this study112

Figura 2. Main relationships between physical parameters and LMA, LT and LD for deciduous
and evergreen Quercus species
Figura 3. Structural equation models (SEM) for the contribution of anatomical and compositional
variables to leaf strength
Figura 4. Principal component analysis (PCA) of leaf variables in 25 Quercus species 118
Figura 5. Quercus phylogenetic tree based on Hipp et al. (2020) related to principal components of
PCA in figure 4

#### Capítulo V

Figura 1. Time course of the percentage of green, yellow and brown leaves with predawn water
potential ( $\Psi_{PD}$ ) for <i>Q. faginea</i> and <i>Q. ilex</i> subsp. <i>rotundifolia</i> during the drought period
Figura 2. Time course of the maximum potential PSII efficiency ( $F_V/F_M$ ) with $\Psi_{PD}$ for Q. faginea
and <i>Q. ilex</i> subsp. <i>rotundifolia</i> leaves and stems during the drought period
Figura 3. Time course of net photosynthesis ( $A_N$ ), stomatal conductance ( $g_s$ ) and iWUE with $\Psi_{PD}$
for <i>Q. faginea</i> and <i>Q. ilex</i> subsp. <i>rotundifolia</i> leaves during the drought period
Figura 4. Time course of mesophyll conductance $(g_m)$ and maximum velocity of carboxylation
$(V_{\text{cmax}})$ with $\Psi_{\text{PD}}$
Figura 5. Time course of relative stomatal ( $l_s$ ), mesophyll ( $l_m$ ) and biochemical ( $l_b$ ) photosynthesis
limitations with $\Psi_{PD}$
Figura 6. Time course of actual PSII efficiency ( $\Phi_{PSII}$ ), the fraction of light absorbed that is
dissipated in the PSII antenna (1 – $\Phi_{exc}$ ) and NPQ with $\Psi_{PD}$
Figura 7. Relationship between midday water potential ( $\Psi_{\text{MD}}$ ) and the percentage of shoot
hydraulic conductance (Kshoot) and stem hydraulic conductivity (Kstem)
Figura 8. <i>K</i> <sub>stem</sub> , PLC, LSC and supported leaf area for the first and the second growth in control
and stressed plants of <i>Q. faginea</i> two months after the end of the drought period156
Capítulo VI

Capítulo VI
Figura 1. Photosynthetic characteristics for 0- (current), 1- and 2- year old leaves of <i>Q.ilex</i> subsp.
rotundifolia measured in 2018 and 2020173
Figura 2. LMA and total leaf nitrogen concentration (N) on mass basis for 0- (current), 1- and 2-
year-old leaves of <i>Q.ilex</i> subsp. <i>rotundifolia</i> measured in 2018 and 2020
Figura 3. Relationships between $A_N$ and $g_s$ , $g_m$ , photosynthetic electron transport rate ( $J_{flu}$ ) and
maximum velocity of carboxylation (V <sub>cmax</sub> )
Figura 4. Relationships between LMA, An and N
Figura 5. Cell wall thickness ( $T_{cw}$ ), chloroplast thickness ( $T_{chl}$ ) and mesophyll ( $S_m/S$ ) and
chloroplast ( $S_c/S$ ) surface area facing intercellular air spaces per leaf area178
Figura 6. Transverse sections of 0- (current),1- and 2-year old leaves of Q.ilex subsp. rotundifolia
measured in 2018 and 2020
Figura 7. Functional area per chloroplast
Figura 8. Relationships between <i>A</i> <sub>N</sub> , <i>T</i> <sub>cw</sub> , <i>T</i> <sub>chl</sub> , <i>S</i> <sub>m</sub> / <i>S</i> and <i>S</i> <sub>c</sub> / <i>S</i>

### Abstract

Mediterranean-type climates present mild or cold and humid winters, while the summer is affected by high pressures that bring dry and hot air (summer aridity), the latter is considered the genuine characteristic that differentiates it from other types of climates. In this way, the vegetative period is affected by summer drought, which, together with the low temperatures in winter, can limit vegetative growth to essentially two seasons: spring and autumn. Even with these restrictions, Mediterranean ecosystems are highly species-rich and represent one-sixth of the planet's flora. This is the case of the genus *Quercus*, which, with more than 400 species distributed throughout the northern hemisphere, is the dominant element in a wide variety of habitats, especially, in Mediterranean-type climates.

Nowadays, two well-differentiated types of oaks coexist in Mediterranean regions: the sclerophyllous evergreen oak with an origin in the Paleotropical Flora and the deciduous malacophilous of Arctotertiary origin. These two models may be very different at morphological, phenological and physiological levels. In this way, the two types of oaks must constitute two very different operating models in the Mediterranean climate. Thus, the main objective of this thesis is the comparative study of the functioning of the two types of oak species with different foliar habits and degrees of sclerophylly that coexist in the Mediterranean climate. Therefore, this thesis consists of five chapters corresponding to five articles already published or under review that aim to shed light on the abovementioned issue.

Thus, a review of sclerophylly in the genus *Quercus* was carried out to define the mechanisms behind it and its economic consequences for the leaf. Despite the wide range of variation in the leaf functional traits and their contrasting adaptive strategies, it cannot be explained by itself by any of the ecological factors considered (drought, nutrient scarcity, low temperatures and physical damage). The study suggests that these restrictions may have a synergistic effect, and from a functional point of view, we can conclude that leaf habit greatly modulates the physiological implications of sclerophylly in oaks.

Using a phylogenetic approach, anatomical, compositional, and climatic variables were quantified in 85 deciduous and evergreen *Quercus* species that

showed fundamental leaf morphological differences revealing a diverse adaptive response. While LMA in deciduous seems to have diversified in coordination with thickness modulated mainly by aridity, LMA diversification in evergreen seems to depend on the infrageneric group. Thus, in the latter, leaf thickness diversification was modulated by both aridity and cold, while leaf density diversification is only modulated by aridity.

Furthermore, the relative importance of each leaf characteristic on the mechanical properties of 25 Quercus species was studied. It was suggested that Quercus sclerophyllous leaves are tougher and stronger due to the thicker external wall of their epidermis and/or a higher concentration of cellulose. moreover, the species in section Ilex shared common traits although they occupy quite different climates. Similarly, evergreen species living in Mediterranean-type climates shared common leaf traits regardless of their different phylogenetic origin.

In addition, changes dependent on leaf age in morphological, anatomical, chemical and photosynthetic traits were evaluated in *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* Lam., an evergreen oak with a high leaf life span. Decreases in all photosynthetic traits were observed with increasing leaf age. Changes in leaf anatomy and biochemistry were responsible for age-dependent changes in net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation and CO<sub>2</sub> conductance through the mesophyll. These findings revealed a gradual physiological deterioration related to the dismantling of the photosynthetic apparatus in older leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*.

Finally, the photosynthetic, photochemical and hydraulic characteristics of different organs of *Q. faginea* and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* under severely dry conditions. The strong decrease in the photosynthetic traits of *Q. faginea* was accompanied by a strong decrease in the hydraulic conductance of the leaves in response to drought. This fact probably prevented a xylem embolism in the stems ("vulnerability segmentation"). On the contrary, the leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* showed effective photoprotective mechanisms and high resistance to cavitation induced by drought, which would be related to the greater longevity of the leaves of Mediterranean oaks.

#### Resumen

El clima mediterráneo presenta inviernos suaves o fríos y húmedos, mientras que el verano está afectado por las altas presiones que traen aire seco y caluroso (aridez estival), siendo esta última, la característica genuina que lo diferencia de otros tipos de clima. De este modo, el periodo vegetativo se ve afectado por la sequía en verano, que, junto con las bajas temperaturas en invierno, pueden limitar el crecimiento vegetativo esencialmente a dos estaciones: primavera y otoño. Aún con estas restricciones, los ecosistemas mediterráneos tienen una alta riqueza de especies que representan la sexta parte de la flora del planeta. Este es el caso del género *Quercus*, que, con más de 400 especies distribuidas por todo el hemisferio norte, es el elemento dominante de una amplia variedad de hábitats y en especial, del clima mediterráneo.

En la actualidad es posible hablar de dos tipos de robles bien diferenciados que coexisten en las regiones mediterráneas: el roble perennifolio esclerófilo con un origen en la Flora Paleotropical y el malacófilo caducifolio de origen Arctoterciario. Estos dos modelos, que influyen en la adecuación de la planta al ambiente, pueden ser muy diferentes a nivel morfológico, fenológico y fisiológico. De este modo, los dos tipos de robles deben constituir dos modelos de funcionamiento muy distintos frente al clima mediterráneo. Es por eso por lo que el principal objetivo de esta tesis es el estudio comparado del funcionamiento de los dos tipos de robles con diferentes hábitos foliares y grado de esclerofilia que coexisten en el clima mediterráneo. Por consiguiente, esta tesis consta de cinco capítulos que corresponden a cinco artículos ya publicados o en fase de revisión que pretenden arrojar luz al tema planteado anteriormente.

Así, se realizó una revisión bibliográfica sobre la esclerofilia en el género *Quercus* para definir los mecanismos que hay detrás y sus consecuencias económicas para la hoja. Pese a al amplio rango de variación en los rasgos funcionales de las hojas y sus estrategias adaptativas contrastantes, no puede explicarse por sí sola por ninguno de los factores ecológicos considerados (sequía, escasez de nutrientes, bajas temperaturas y daño físico). El estudio sugiere que estas restricciones pueden tener un efecto sinérgico, y desde un punto de vista funcional, podemos concluir que, en los robles, el hábito foliar modula en gran medida las implicaciones fisiológicas de la esclerofilia.

Usando un enfoque filogenético, se cuantificaron las variables anatómicas, composicionales y climáticas en 85 especies de *Quercus* caducifolios y

perennifolios que mostraron diferencias morfológicas foliares fundamentales revelando una respuesta adaptativa diversa. Mientras que la LMA en los caducifolios parece haberse diversificado en coordinación con el grosor modulado principalmente por la aridez, la diversificación de la LMA en los perennifolios parece depender del grupo infragenérico. Así, en estos últimos, la diversificación en el grosor de la hoja fue modulada tanto por la aridez como por el frío, mientras que la diversificación en la densidad de la hoja es sólo modulada por la aridez.

Asimismo, se estudió la importancia relativa de cada característica de la hoja sobre las propiedades mecánicas en 25 especies de *Quercus*. Se sugiere que las hojas de *Quercus* esclerófilos son más duras y fuertes debido a la pared externa de su epidermis más gruesa y/o a una mayor concentración de celulosa. Además, las especies de la sección *Ilex* comparten rasgos comunes independientemente de que ocupen climas bastante diferentes. De modo similar, las especies de hoja perenne que viven en climas de tipo mediterráneo comparten rasgos foliares comunes independientemente de su diferente origen filogenético.

Además, se evaluaron los cambios dependientes de la edad foliar en los rasgos morfológicos, anatómicos, químicos y fotosintéticos en *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* Lam., un roble perennifolio con hojas de alta longevidad. Se observan disminuciones de todos los rasgos fotosintéticos con el aumento de la edad de la hoja. Los cambios en la anatomía y bioquímica de la hoja fueron responsables de las modificaciones dependientes de la edad en la asimilación neta de CO<sub>2</sub> y la conductancia del CO<sub>2</sub> a través del mesófilo. Estos hallazgos revelaron un deterioro fisiológico gradual relacionado con el desmantelamiento del aparato fotosintético en hojas más viejas de *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*.

Por último, se analizaron las características fotosintéticas, fotoquímicas e hidráulicas de diferentes órganos de *Q. faginea* y *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* bajo condiciones de sequía severa. La fuerte disminución de los rasgos fotosintéticos de *Q. faginea* estuvo acompañada de una fuerte disminución de la conductancia hidráulica de las hojas en respuesta a la sequía. Este hecho probablemente evitó una embolia xilemática en los tallos ("segmentación de la vulnerabilidad"). Por el contrario, las hojas de *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* mostraron mecanismos fotoprotectores efectivos y alta resistencia a la cavitación inducida por la sequía, lo que estaría relacionado con la mayor longevidad de las hojas de las encinas mediterráneas.

### Índice de contenidos

Capítulo I · Introducción general	1
1.1. El género <i>Quercus</i> : origen y distribución	2
1.2. El género Quercus en los ecosistemas mediterráneos	
1.3. Tipos de robles en el clima mediterráneo	6
1.4. Adaptaciones de los robles al clima mediterráneo	9
1.5. Objetivos y estructura de la tesis	14
1.6. Bibliografía	18
Capítulo II · Revisiting the functional basis of sclerophylly within	the Leaf
Economics Spectrum of oaks: different roads to Rome	28
2.1. General introduction	30
2.2. How to measure sclerophylly?	
2.3. Key factors promoting sclerophylly	32
2.4. Functional implications of sclerophylly	
2.5. Conclusion	45
2.6. References	45
2.7. Supplementary material	51
Capítulo III · Deciduous and evergreen oaks show contrasting a	adaptive
responses in leaf mass per area across environments	
3.1. Introduction	77
3.2. Materials and methods	79
3.3. Results	81
3.4. Discussion	
3.5. References	
3.6. Supporting information	91
Capítulo IV $\cdot$ Disentangling leaf structural and material properties in	relation
to their anatomical and chemical compositional traits in oaks (Quercus	5 L.) 103
4.1. Introduction	106
4.2. Materials and methods	108
4.3. Results	115
4.4. Discussion	120
4.5. References	126
4.6. Supporting information	132
Capítulo V · Cell-level anatomy explains leaf age-dependent dec	lines in
mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in the ev	vergreen
Mediterranean oak Quercus ilex subsp. rotundifolia	145

5.1. Introduction	
5.2. Materials and methods	147
5.3. Results	
5.4. Discussion	152
5.5. Conclusions	157
5.6. References	
5.7. Supplementary data	
Capítulo VI · Contrasting functional strategies following sev	ere drought in
two Mediterranean oaks with different leaf habit: Quercus fagin	ea and Quercus
ilex subsp. rotundifolia	
6.1. Introduction	
6.2. Materials and methods	
6.3. Results	175
6.4. Discussion	
6.5. Conclusions	
6.6. References	
6.7. Supplementary data	
$Capítulo  VII \cdot Discusión  general  y  conclusiones$	
7.1. Discusión general	
7.2. Conclusions	
7.3. Conclusiones	
7.4. Bibliografía	205
Apéndice	

# Capítulo I

# Introducción general

#### 1.1. El género Quercus: origen y distribución

*Quercus* L. (*Fagaceae*) es uno de los géneros de plantas leñosas más diverso en número de especies, habiendo despertado un gran interés en la botánica por su complejidad y riqueza desde los orígenes de esta ciencia. El considerado como su fundador, Teofrasto de Ereso (371-286 a. C.), en su "Historia de las Plantas" ya ofreció una descripción general de aquellos robles que por proximidad pudo estudiar. Distinguió varias especies, tanto de hoja caduca como de hoja persistente, fácilmente identificables en la actualidad. Aunque Teofrasto les asignó nombres vernáculos, podemos distinguir especies como *Q. cerris, Q. frainetto, Q. ithaburensis, Q. ilex* o *Q. coccifera* (Thanos, 2005).

Un intento más sistematizado de abundar en la diversidad dentro del género *Quercus* se lo debemos a Charles de l'Ecluse (1576) que reseñó y dibujó con bastante precisión ocho de sus especies. Sin embargo, todavía no aglutinó todas ellas en un mismo género en el sentido que actualmente atribuimos a esta categoría taxonómica. Este autor las agrupó en "géneros" diferentes, tales como *Robur, Ilex* o *Suber.* Llama la atención el hecho de que sí agrupó en la misma categoría genérica especies que hoy sabemos están muy próximas filogenéticamente. Son ejemplo de esto mencionado; *Q. ilex* y *Q. coccifera* a las que llamó *Ilex maior* e *Ilex coccigera,* respectivamente. Fue necesario esperar a la publicación del "Species Plantarum" de Linneo (1753), para ver agrupadas en un único género, definitivamente *Quercus* L., 14 especies que derivaban de la aplicación del *Systema Naturae* a este grupo de plantas.

En la actualidad, sabemos que este género comprende más de 400 especies de árboles y arbustos (Kremer y Hipp, 2020), que presentan una serie de características comunes como son la monoicidad, hojas simples, dispersión por el viento (anemocoria) y la producción de bellotas. Las últimas clasificaciones basadas en estudios filogenéticos moleculares sugieren que el género *Quercus* se clasifica en dos subgéneros y ocho secciones (Denk *et al.*, 2017; Hipp *et al.*, 2019). Por una parte, se encuentra el subgénero *Quercus*, también conocido como "clado del Nuevo Mundo" (Manos *et al.*, 2001) o "clado de alta latitud" (Grimsson *et al.*, 2015; Simeone *et al.*, 2016) que comprende cinco secciones (*Protobalanus, Ponticae, Virentes, Quercus* y *Lobatae*). Por otra parte, el subgénero *Cerris*, llamado también "clado del Viejo Mundo" o "clado de latitud media" que incluye tres secciones (*Cyclobalanopsis, Ilex* y *Cerris*). En cuanto a su historia evolutiva parecen tener dos orígenes contrastados: (i) los robles procedentes de la Flora Arctoterciaria de naturaleza caducifolia y de climas templado-húmedos y (ii) los robles procedentes de la Flora Paleotropical, perennifolios y que evolucionaron en climas de naturaleza tropical (Barbero *et al.*, 1992; Damesin *et al.*, 1998; Mediavilla y Escudero, 2004). En el presente, ambas paleofloras han ocupado fitoclimas equivalentes en sus extremos evolutivos, desde la ocupación de los biomas neotropicales o mediterráneos (Hipp *et al.*, 2019; Jiang *et al.*, 2019).

Desde su aparición hace aproximadamente 56 millones de años, los robles se han expandido ampliamente por el hemisferio norte (Hofmann *et al.*, 2011; Barrón *et al.*, 2017; ver **Fig. 1**). De este modo, en la actualidad ocupan zonas desde el ecuador hasta las regiones boreales, y desde el nivel del mar hasta los más de 4000 m de altitud (Manos y Stanford, 2001 y referencias incluidas). Debido a esta amplia distribución, el género *Quercus* se encuentra en diversos fitoclimas muy contrastados, desde los bosques templados y subtropicales hasta los bosques mediterráneos perennifolios (Gil-Pelegrín *et al.*, 2017).



**Figura 1**. Área de la distribución del género *Quercus* en la actualidad según registros de presencia de especies de "Global Biodiversity Information Facility" (GBIF, 2022).

Según la clasificación de la geobiosfera en nueve zonobiomas propuesta por Walter (1985), encontramos robles en cinco de ellos. Así, a modo de ejemplo, *Quercus urbanii* habita el zonobioma II o "zonobioma de las savanas, bosques caducifolios y pastizales"; *Q. ilex* es característico del zonobioma IV o "zonobioma de bosques esclerófilos"; *Q. nigra* se encuentra en el zonobioma V o "zonobioma de laurisilva"; *Q. robur*, en el zonobioma VI o "zonobioma de bosques caducifolios" y *Q. balloot*, en el zonobioma VII o "zonobioma de estepas y desiertos fríos" (Breckle, 2002). Sin embargo, uno de estos zonobiomas es clave en cuanto a la presencia de robles en su transición a otros zonobiomas: es el caso del zonobioma IV, considerado el propio de la región mediterránea (Walter, 1985).

#### 1.2. El género Quercus en los ecosistemas mediterráneos

El clima mediterráneo presenta inviernos suaves o fríos y húmedos, mientras que el verano está afectado por las altas presiones que traen aire seco y caluroso (aridez estival), siendo esta última, la característica genuina que lo diferencia de otros tipos de clima (Walter, 1985; Lionello *et al.*, 2006). Más del 50% de la precipitación anual se produce durante el invierno y menos del 20% durante los meses de estío (Deich *et al.*, 2017). De este modo, el periodo vegetativo se ve afectado por la sequía en verano, que, junto con las bajas temperaturas en invierno, pueden limitar el crecimiento vegetativo esencialmente a dos estaciones: primavera y otoño (Mitrakos, 1980). Aún con estas restricciones, los ecosistemas mediterráneos tienen una alta riqueza de especies que representan la sexta parte de la flora del planeta (Cowling *et al.*, 1996; Rundel *et al.*, 2016). En especial, solo en la cuenca mediterránea se encuentran unas 25 000 especies de plantas nativas, siendo más de la mitad endemismos (Rundel *et al.*, 2016).

Este clima recibe el nombre del mar Mediterráneo, región donde es típico este clima y en la que adquiere mayor extensión geográfica, abarcando más de 2.3 millones de km<sup>2</sup> (Cowling *et al.*, 1996). Sin embargo, también está presente en otras zonas del planeta localizadas entre los 30° y 40° de latitud en ambos hemisferios (Lionello *et al.*, 2006). Estas zonas presentan cambios en cuanto en a la distribución temporal de la precipitación, la duración del período de aridez, la amplitud térmica anual o la frecuencia de eventos extremos. Así, el clima mediterráneo genuino ocurre en cinco regiones que son: (i) la cuenca mediterránea, desde el océano Atlántico hasta Afganistán; (ii) la costa del Pacífico en América del Norte, California y Baja California; (iii) la costa central de Chile; (iv) la región del Cabo de Sudáfrica y (v) el oeste y sur de Australia (Walter, 1985). Si tenemos en cuenta la distribución de los robles en este tipo de clima a nivel global, cabe destacar las dos primeras regiones mencionadas (la cuenca mediterránea y la costa del Pacífico en América del Norte), ya que son las únicas en las que se encuentra el género *Quercus*.

A pesar de la característica común de un período de sequía estival, el clima mediterráneo es bastante diverso, con una marcada influencia en la fisonomía de la vegetación. Desde una perspectiva fitoclimática, y teniendo en cuenta la presencia de robles, el clima mediterráneo genuino puede evolucionar hacia (i) subclimas más cálidos y secos, en transición a los áridos; (ii) más templados y húmedos, en transición a climas templados o (iii) variantes más secas y frías, más cercanas a los climas típicos de estepa (Gil-Pelegrín *et al.*, 2017).

En el primer apartado de esta introducción se explicó cómo Walter (1985) le asignó a la región mediterránea el zonobioma IV y cómo este es clave en cuanto a la presencia de robles en su transición a otros zonobiomas. Respecto a esto, (2002) consideró los bosques perennifolios esclerófilos Breckle con predominancia de Q. ilex como la vegetación original de esta región. Así, se puede considerar que cuando las condiciones climáticas empeoran (i.e. aumento de la temperatura y reducción de la precipitación), Q. ilex se vería sustituido por Q. coccifera en las áreas de transición entre el zonobioma IV y el zonobioma III o "zonobioma de los desiertos cálidos" (Fig. 2). Por otra parte, cuando la temperatura y la aridez disminuyen, en la transición hacía el zonobioma VI, especies de caducifolios submediterráneos como Q. faginea o Q. pyrenaica son las que sustituyen a *Q. ilex* (Fig. 2). Finalmente, en la transición al zonobioma VII (i.e. cuando baja la temperatura y la precipitación se mantiene), solo la subespecie Q. ilex subsp. ballota podría vivir en estas condiciones (Gil-Pelegrín et al., 2017; Martín-Sánchez et al., 2022; Fig. 2).


**Figura 2.** Transiciones entre el zonobioma IV y condiciones más áridas (zonobioma III), condiciones húmedas y frías (zonobioma VI) y condiciones más frías (zonobioma VII). Se muestran las especies de robles representativas de cada zonobioma de Walter (1985) y las transiciones mencionadas. Figura modificada de Gil-Pelegrín *et al.* (2017).

# 1.3. Tipos de robles en el clima mediterráneo

Debido a la diversidad que presenta el clima mediterráneo, así como la gran variabilidad fisionómica y funcional de los robles de estos ecosistemas, definir un prototipo de roble mediterráneo genuino no es nada sencillo. Históricamente, los árboles perennifolios esclerófilos de hoja ancha de las regiones mediterráneas se han considerado como un ejemplo de evolución convergente de la fisionomía vegetal en relación con el clima (Schimper, 1903; Cody y Mooney, 1978; Box, 1981). En este sentido, Schimper (1903) propuso: "*The mild temperate districts with winter rain and prolonged summer-drought are the home of evergreen xerophilous woody plants, which, owing to the stiffness of their thick, leathery leaves, may be termed sclerophyllous woody plants"*.

Sin embargo, el propio Schimper (1903) ya reconoció que en la cuenca mediterránea no solo existen robles perennifolios esclerófilos, pues también habitan en ella robles malacófilos (*i.e.*, de hoja blanda) caducifolios como *Q*. *lusitánica*. Así, observó: "Quercus Ilex, *Linn*. (...), *resembles the olive closely in habit*. *In the Mediterranean countries, this species with some others, such as* Q. coccifera (...) *and* Q. Suber, *represents the sclerophyllous type of the genus* Quercus, *whilst other common species of the district, such as* Q. lusitanica, *remain green in summer. The sclerophyllous oaks have small stiff leaves, which in* Q. Ilex *are usually entire, but in other species are sharply toothed*" (Schimper, 1903).

Hoy en día, se conocen especies caducifolias frecuentemente dominantes en lugares donde la sequía es severa. Este es el caso de *Q. douglasii*, que habita en la costa californiana y se distribuye en zonas que tienden a ser demasiado secas para otras especies (Barbour, 1988; Blumler, 1991). Incluso *Q. lobata*, un malacófilo caducifolio endémico de California que crece en los valles cálidos y piedemontes interiores, puede llegar a ser más tolerante a la sequía estival que otras especies perennifolias (Griffin, 1971, 1976). Además, en áreas de la cuenca mediterránea que experimentan veranos relativamente secos o, incluso muy secos, como en el sur de España, Italia, sudoeste de Turquía y el norte de África, se encuentran *Quercus* caducifolios malacófilos. Este es el caso de especies como *Q. faginea, Q. pyrenaica, Q. cerris* o *Q. ithaburensis*. De hecho, esta última especie es habitual en algunas de las localidades más áridas de la cuenca mediterránea, situadas al este de la misma (Dufour-Dror y Ertas, 2004).

La perspectiva paleontológica puede ayudar a entender mejor la complejidad a la hora de definir un prototipo de roble mediterráneo genuino. A principios del Terciario, mucho antes de la aparición del clima mediterráneo, las regiones mediterráneas presentaban un clima cálido y húmedo con precipitaciones que se distribuían a lo largo de todo el año (Verdú *et al.*, 2003; Valiente-Banuet *et al.*, 2006; Millar, 2012). En estas zonas del hemisferio norte habitaba la Flora Paleotropical, que como se ha comentado más arriba, estaba formada por abundantes bosques perennifolios (Valiente-Banuet *et al.*, 2006) mientras que los taxones esclerófilos constituían en la mayoría de los casos el sotobosque de estos bosques (Valiente-Banuet *et al.*, 2006).

Una gran cantidad especies se extinguieron cuando la sequía estival característica del clima mediterráneo se estableció en el hemisferio norte, hacia el Terciario Superior o principios del Cuaternario (Suc, 1984; Verdú *et al.*, 2003; Millar, 2012). Fue entonces cuando esos arbustos perennifolios esclerófilos del

sotobosque se expandieron geográficamente (Valiente-Banuet *et al.*, 2006). En ese periodo de desarrollo de los ambientes secos, algunos autores ya observaron la presencia de hojas esclerófilas correspondientes a robles de tipo "ilex" o "suber" en el sur de Europa (Kovar-Eder, 2003) y al tipo "chrysolepis" en la costa oeste de Norte América (Retallack, 2004). Así, la evolución de los robles esclerófilos con anterioridad al desarrollo del clima mediterráneo pone de manifiesto que sería más preciso hablar de una preadaptación a este clima (Minnich, 1985).

Sin embargo, las regiones mediterráneas del hemisferio norte no solo fueron ocupadas por perennifolios esclerófilos. A principios del Terciario, existió una vegetación caducifolia que ocupó latitudes septentrionales, conocida como Flora Arctoterciaria (Mai, 1991). Esta vegetación migró hacia latitudes meridionales debido a la disminución global de las temperaturas que ocurrió durante el Terciario Medio y Superior (Mai, 1991; Kovar-Eder, 2003). Esto derivó en la aparición de especies arctoterciarias en áreas mediterráneas antes de la formación del clima mediterráneo (Axelrod, 1973; Kovar-Eder, 2003; Ackerly, 2009). Este pudo ser el caso de *Q. faginea*, cuyos primeros registros fósiles, encontrados en el sur de Francia, coinciden con el desarrollo de la estacionalidad mediterránea durante el Terciario Superior (Roiron, 1983; Barrón *et al.*, 2010).

*Quercus faginea* es el roble de la sección *Quercus* más abundante y ampliamente distribuido en la Península Ibérica (Olalde *et al.*, 2002). Algunos estudios sobre su resistencia a la sequía se basan en la comparación con el perennifolio *Q. ilex*, con el que coexiste en la mayoría de las áreas mediterráneas continentales de la Península Ibérica (Corcuera *et al.*, 2002; Mediavilla y Escudero, 2003). Estas especies representan dos ejemplos de hábitos foliares contrastados con estrategias funcionales diferentes (Kikuzawa, 1995). Así, se ha propuesto que la condición perennifolia de *Q. ilex* permitiría a esta especie asimilar carbono durante un período de tiempo más prolongado (Acherar y Rambal, 1992; Ogaya y Peñuelas, 2007; van Ommen Kloeke *et al.*, 2012). Por el contrario, la condición caducifolia de *Q. faginea* limita la actividad fotosintética de las hojas a un período más corto. Esto implicaría la necesidad de mayores tasas de ganancia de carbono en condiciones favorables (van Ommen Kloeke *et al.*, 2012).

El hecho de que en la actualidad existan robles caducifolios en zonas con clima mediterráneo puede deberse a una adaptación de las especies arctoterciarias que incursionaron a latitudes más bajas (Suc, 1984; Blumler, 1991; Peguero-Pina *et al.,* 2016). Teniendo en cuenta todos estos factores, en la actualidad es posible hablar de dos tipos de robles bien diferenciados que coexisten en las regiones mediterráneas: el roble perennifolio esclerófilo con un origen en la Flora Paleotropical y el malacófilo caducifolio de origen Arctoterciario (Barbero *et al.,* 1992; Damesin *et al.,* 1998; Mediavilla y Escudero, 2004).

Aunque esta diferenciación es clara, aún no ha sido posible dar una explicación definitiva a la coexistencia de los dos tipos de roble en el clima mediterráneo. La explicación mayormente aceptada hasta la fecha es la que sugiere que esta coexistencia se debe a cambios en la fertilidad del sustrato, en el clima a nivel local o la competencia con pantas herbáceas (Blumler, 1984, 1991). Así, los robles caducifolios mediterráneos dominarían aquellos sitios con inviernos más fríos y húmedos (Chabot y Hicks, 1982), suelos fértiles (Salleo *et al.*, 2002) y con alta competencia de la vegetación herbácea (Blumler, 1991). Por el contrario, los robles perennifolios se verían favorecidos en los lugares más secos, con suelos infértiles y con menor competencia con las herbáceas (Blumler, 1991; Manes, 2006). De este modo, no es difícil pensar que ambos tipos de robles coexistirán en ambientes heterogéneos con variaciones en los factores mencionados anteriormente, mientras que en los ambientes homogéneos dominará un solo tipo (Gil-Pelegrín *et al.*, 2017).

# 1.4. Adaptaciones de los robles al clima mediterráneo

Como se ha mencionado anteriormente, el frío invernal y la aridez estival limitan el funcionamiento de los robles mediterráneos a lo largo del año, produciendo una fragmentación del periodo vegetativo (Mitrakos, 1980; Castro-Díez y Montserrat-Martí, 1998). Los caducifolios pierden las hojas en otoño, de modo que así evitan las condiciones impuestas por el invierno (bajas temperaturas, sequía fisiológica) que sí deben soportar las hojas de los perennifolios (García-Plazaola *et al.*, 1999; Corcuera *et al.*, 2005). Sin embargo, las condiciones de sequía impuestas por el verano mediterráneo afectan al desempeño y crecimiento de los dos tipos de robles coexistentes, aunque con respuestas muy distintas (Gil-Pelegrín *et al.*, 2017). De este modo, los dos tipos de robles deben constituir dos modelos de funcionamiento muy distintos frente al clima mediterráneo. Estos modelos, que influyen en la adecuación de la planta al ambiente (Violle *et al.,* 2007), pueden ser muy diferentes a (i) nivel morfológico, (ii) fenológico y (iii) fisiológico.

# 1.4.1. Adaptaciones morfológicas

Uno de los aspectos más inmediatos que surgen del estudio de los *Quercus* mediterráneos es la textura foliar, existiendo robles de hojas duras y robles de hojas blandas. En el estudio de la botánica se han usado diferentes términos como "dura", "coriácea" o "rígida" entre otros para describir la textura foliar. Sin embargo, fue Schimper (1903), quien agrupó todas estas características en un solo concepto al que llamó esclerofilia. Este término está formado por la conjunción de los vocablos griegos *sklēros* (duro) y *phyllon* (hoja), significando literalmente "hoja dura". Originalmente, se usó para diferenciar la vegetación xeromórfica (plantas adaptadas a la sequía) con hojas coriáceas de las plantas suculentas. No obstante, el término esclerofilia ha sufrido cambios sustanciales desde que fue acuñado, ya que en la actualidad se sabe que puede encontrarse en una gran variedad de entornos y su significado funcional es incierto (Read y Sanson, 2003).

Entre las funciones hipotéticas se incluyen la resistencia a la sequía (Schimper, 1903; Oertli *et al.*, 1990), una respuesta a los suelos bajos en nutrientes (Loveless, 1961; Beadle, 1966), la resistencia a bajas temperaturas (Koppel y Heinsoo, 1994; Lamontagne *et al.*, 1998) o el incremento de la longevidad foliar mediante su protección (Chabot y Hicks, 1982; Turner, 1994).

A pesar de la evidente importancia ecológica de la esclerofilia, se sabe poco sobre este rasgo foliar. Para obtener un valor cuantitativo de la esclerofilia, se han usado diferentes estimadores y variables representativas, ejemplo de ello es la *leaf mass per unit area* (LMA), ampliamente usada en ecofisiología (Witkowski y Lamont, 1991; Osone *et al.*, 2008; Poorter *et al.*, 2012). La LMA es el producto de la densidad y el espesor foliar, por lo que se ha sugerido que las variaciones en este rasgo tienen dos consecuencias principales para el funcionamiento de la hoja asociadas a la teoría del *leaf economics spectrum* (Wright *et al.*, 2004; Shipley *et al.*, 2006). Por una parte, se puede esperar que un aumento de LMA, asociado al espesor del mesófilo, propicie una mayor fotosíntesis por unidad de área debida al incremento de tejido fotosintético (Niinemets, 1999; Niinemets, 2001). Por otra parte, los cambios en LMA asociados a la densidad implican una variación en la distribución de la biomasa foliar o en la cantidad de tipos celulares (Hassiotou *et*  *al.,* 2010; Niinemets, 2001). Esto provocaría una disminución de la fracción de tejidos fotosintéticamente activos, reduciendo así la asimilación de carbono instantánea que podría ser compensada con una mayor longevidad foliar (Kikuzawa, 1995; Niinemets, 2001; Kikuzawa y Lechowicz, 2011).

En el contexto de los dos tipos de *Quercus* mencionados anteriormente, existe una diferencia clara en su LMA. Mientras que los robles mediterráneos perennifolios presentan valores promedios de 150-160 g m<sup>2</sup> (Villar y Merino, 2001; Corcuera *et al.*, 2002) llegando a sobrepasar los 200 g m<sup>2</sup> en especies como *Q. ilex* (Serrano *et al.*, 2005) o *Q. coccifera* (Rubio de Casas *et al.*, 2009), los caducifolios muestran valores promedio de 80-112 g m<sup>2</sup> (Villar y Merino, 2001; Corcuera *et al.*, 2002). Por lo tanto, LMA es uno de los parámetros funcionales que separan de manera más clara los dos tipos de robles mediterráneos entre sí.

Sin embargo, aunque la LMA representa un buen rasgo representativo de la esclerofilia, no es necesariamente una medida de la resistencia mecánica de la hoja (Onoda *et al.*, 2011). Para estudiar las propiedades mecánicas existen estimadores directos como los relacionadas con la fractura, como son la fuerza y la resistencia (Onoda *et al.*, 2011). Aunque existen múltiples rasgos que pueden estar relacionados con la resistencia a la fractura de la hoja aún no se conoce su importancia relativa a la esclerofilia. Este es el caso grosor del mesófilo y la epidermis, la densidad del tejido, el contenido de fibra de la pared celular y la dureza y disposición de las venas (Choong *et al.*, 1992; Westbrook *et al.*, 2011). La resistencia mecánica puede proteger las hojas de los daños bióticos (Wright *et al.*, 2007; Peeters *et al.*, 2007) y abióticos (Poudyal *et al.*, 2004; Niklas, 1993). En consecuencia, una mayor dureza de la hoja debería incrementar la vida útil de la hoja y la supervivencia de toda la planta.

# 1.4.2. Adaptaciones fenológicas

La relación entre el aumento en la esclerofilia y la mayor longevidad foliar se ha estudiado desde una perspectiva global de las plantas. En este sentido, varios autores han encontrado relaciones positivas entre LMA o propiedades físicas con la vida útil de la hoja (Wright *et al.*, 2001, 2004; Onoda *et al.*, 2011). Un ejemplo de estas relaciones se da en los esclerófilos perennifolios mediterráneos, entre los que se encuentra *Q. ilex* con cohortes de hojas que llegan a durar varios años (Niinemets *et al.*, 2005). Además, aunque las hojas con varios años tienen tasas bajas de fotosíntesis, contribuyen a una mayor asimilación de CO2 a nivel de toda la copa (Escudero y Mediavilla, 2003).

Numerosos estudios ponen de manifiesto que las hojas viejas de diferentes plantas presentan una mayor limitación de la fotosíntesis, influenciada por la difusión del CO<sub>2</sub> desde las cavidades subestomáticas hasta el interior del cloroplasto (conductancia del mesófilo,  $g_m$ ) (Niinemets *et al.*, 2005, 2006; Flexas *et al.*, 2007). El paso del CO<sub>2</sub> dentro del mesófilo se ve comprometido por una serie de rasgos anatómicos, incluyendo el tamaño del cloroplasto, el grosor de la pared celular y la superficie de mesófilo y de cloroplasto expuesta a espacios intercelulares (Terashima *et al.*, 2011; Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2016, 2017). Además, la senescencia que sufren las hojas viejas puede llevar a desmantelar su aparato fotosintético, lo que se ve reflejado en un menor contenido de nitrógeno por la pérdida de enzimas fotosintéticos (Rubisco). Sin embargo, el papel de la anatomía y el contenido de nitrógeno en la capacidad fotosintética y  $g_m$  en hojas con varios años de vida aún no está claro.

# 1.4.3. Adaptaciones fisiológicas

Como se ha visto anteriormente, la incidencia de un periodo de sequía estival afecta severamente el crecimiento y desempeño de los dos tipos de robles que coexisten en el clima mediterráneo. Por eso, han desarrollado diferentes estrategias para sobrevivir a la insuficiente disponibilidad de agua. Además, en condiciones de sequía, se suele originar un estrés múltiple ya que frecuentemente el estrés hídrico suele ir acompañado de altas temperaturas y fuerte radiación solar. Entre estas respuestas fisiológicas, se encuentran (i) aquellas relacionadas con el control estomático y el transporte de agua y (ii) las asociadas con la regulación de la actividad fotosintética (Medrano y Flexas, 2003).

El cierre estomático responde principalmente a la necesidad de la planta de reducir las pérdidas de agua por transpiración a expensas de una reducción en la fotosíntesis (Lambers *et al.*, 1998). Este mecanismo se produce principalmente cuando disminuye el potencial hídrico de las hojas y ocurre en ambos tipos de robles (Acherar y Rambal, 1992; Mediavilla y Escudero, 2003; Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2009). Durante un periodo de sequía, el gradiente de potencial entre las raíces y las hojas se incrementa y puede producirse un embolismo que reduzca la capacidad de transporte de agua o conductividad hidráulica. Así, muchos de los robles mediterráneos desarrollan un xilema altamente resistente al embolismo inducido por sequía que soporta grandes gradientes de potencial hídrico (Corcuera *et al.* 2005; Gil-Pelegrín *et al.*, 2017). De este modo, el cierre estomático temprano y la alta resistencia del xilema al embolismo son factores claves en la supervivencia de los robles mediterráneos (Vilagrosa *et al.*, 2010). Esta resistencia puede ser alta en el xilema del tallo, de la hoja o de ambos (Hochberg *et al.*, 2017; Creek *et al.*, 2018). La combinación de una baja tolerancia en hojas y alta en tallos constituye un ejemplo de "segmentación de la vulnerabilidad" que confina el daño por sequia a los extremos más "prescindibles" del continuo raíztallo-hoja (Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2015; Skelton *et al.*, 2018).

Estudios previos han establecido que el vínculo entre la fotosíntesis y la hidráulica de la hoja surge de la conductancia estomática ( $g_s$ ) (Brodribb *et al.,* 2007; Scoffoni *et al.,* 2016), ya que la pérdida de agua y la absorción de CO<sub>2</sub> comparten una vía común a través de los estomas (Boyer, 2015). Además, varios estudios también han señalado la existencia de una coordinación entre la conductancia del mesófilo y la hidráulica foliar (Flexas *et al.,* 2013; Lu *et al.,* 2019; Xiong *et al.,* 2017, 2018; Xiong y Nadal, 2020). Estos autores sugirieron que el movimiento del agua en los tejidos del mesófilo también comparte una vía común con el transporte de CO<sub>2</sub> a través de la fase gaseosa que conectaría  $g_m$  y el componente de la conductancia hidráulica de la hoja por fuera del xilema ( $K_{ox}$ ).

En cuanto a las respuestas al estrés hídrico asociadas a la regulación a la baja de la actividad fotosintética se encuentran diferentes procesos. Este es el caso de la disminución en la conductancia del mesófilo (Flexas *et al.*, 2012; Niinemets y Keenan, 2014) y la disminución de la captación de luz para proteger el aparato fotosintético (Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2008, 2009). Así, cuando la luz es excesiva bajo condiciones de cierre estomático y la clorofila excitada no es capaz de impulsar la fotoquímica, puede volver a su estado inicial emitiendo fluorescencia o disipando calor. Este último es un mecanismo fotoprotector llamado extinción no fotoquímica (NPQ) de la fluorescencia de la clorofila que se asocia al ciclo de las xantofilas (interconversiones de carotenoides en la membrana del tilacoide) y está presente en *Quercus* mediterráneos (García-Plazaola *et al.*, 2017 y referencias incluidas). Sin embargo, existen pocos estudios comparados que analicen la respuesta de la planta a un periodo de sequía severa a nivel fotosintético, fotoquímico y de rasgos hidráulicos de diferentes órganos en los dos tipos de robles mediterráneos.

# 1.5. Objetivos y estructura de la tesis

## 1.5.1. Objetivos

El principal objetivo de esta tesis es el estudio comparado del funcionamiento de los dos tipos de especies de robles con diferentes hábitos foliares y grado de esclerofilia que coexisten en el clima mediterráneo. Para la consecución de este objetivo general, se han establecido una serie de objetivos específicos, detallados a continuación:

i) La esclerofilia en el género *Quercus* a partir de la información disponible en la literatura y bases de datos públicas: factores que la promueven, su papel funcional y las consecuencias para la hoja en el contexto del *"Leaf Economics Spectrum"*.

ii) Cuantificación y estudio de la diversificación en la morfología, anatomía y composición química de las hojas de robles caducifolios y perennifolios, analizando el papel del clima en la diversificación diferencial de LMA dentro de ambos tipos de robles.

iii) Estudio de la resistencia mecánica foliar en especies caducifolias y perennifolias del género *Quercus*: determinación de los rasgos anatómicos y composicionales que explican la variabilidad dentro del género.

iv) Evaluación de los cambios en los rasgos morfológicos, anatómicos, químicos y fotosintéticos relacionados con la edad de las hojas en un roble mediterráneo perennifolio con una alta longevidad foliar.

 v) Análisis de la diferente respuesta a la sequía en los rasgos fotosintéticos, fotoquímicos e hidráulicos en diferentes órganos de dos especies mediterráneas con diferente habito foliar (*Q. faginea* y *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*).

# 1.5.2. Estructura de la tesis

Esta tesis consta de siete capítulos: la introducción general (primer capítulo), cinco artículos de investigación (capítulos del segundo al sexto) y la

discusión general, que, junto a las conclusiones, cierran este trabajo en el séptimo capítulo.

Cuatro de los cinco capítulos de investigación han sido publicados en revistas internacionales pertenecientes al primer decil (D1) dentro de las categorías de *Journal Citation Reports* (JCR) catalogadas como *Forestry* o *Plant Sciences*. En el momento finalización de esta tesis, el cuarto capítulo aún no ha sido publicado en una revista, pero sí como *preprint* en bioRxiv (doi: 10.1101/2022.10.21.513225). Además, este ha sido enviado para su revisión a la revista *Annals of Botany*, situada en el primer cuartil (Q1) en *Plant Sciences*. Para su presentación en este documento, se ha conservado el formato de edición de cada una de las revistas en la que se han publicado los artículos y se mantiene el idioma en el que fueron publicados, que en todos los casos es el inglés.

El segundo capítulo fue publicado en 2020 en la revista *Current Forestry Reports* bajo el título de *Revisiting the Functional Basis of Sclerophylly Within the Leaf Economics Spectrum of Oaks: Different Roads to Rome*. En él se aborda el primer objetivo específico de la tesis realizando una revisión bibliográfica sobre la esclerofilia en el género *Quercus* para definir los mecanismos que hay detrás y sus consecuencias económicas para la hoja. Pese a al amplio rango de variación en los rasgos funcionales de las hojas y sus estrategias adaptativas contrastantes, no puede explicarse por sí sola por ninguno de los factores ecológicos considerados. Así, la sequía, la escasez de nutrientes, las bajas temperaturas durante el período vegetativo, y daño físico, no pudieron ser descartado por completo. Nuestro estudio sugiere que estas restricciones pueden tener un efecto sinérgico, y desde un punto de vista funcional, podemos concluir que, en los robles, el hábito foliar modula en gran medida las implicaciones fisiológicas de la esclerofilia.

El tercer capítulo de la tesis fue publicado en 2021 en la revista *New Phytologist* con el título *Deciduous and evergreen oaks show contrasting adaptive responses in leaf mass per area across environments*. En este capítulo se aborda el segundo objetivo específico. Para ello, usando un enfoque filogenético, se cuantifican las variables anatómicas, composicionales y climáticas en 85 especies de *Quercus* caducifolios y perennifolios de todo el hemisferio norte. Estos robles mostraron diferencias morfológicas foliares fundamentales que revelaron una respuesta adaptativa diversa. Mientras que la LMA en los caducifolios parece haberse diversificado en coordinación con el grosor modulado principalmente por la aridez, la diversificación de la LMA en los perennifolios parece depender del grupo infragenérico. Así, en estos últimos, la diversificación en el grosor de la hoja fue modulada tanto por la aridez como por el frío, mientras que la diversificación en la densidad de la hoja es sólo modulada por la aridez.

El cuarto capítulo, que fue publicado en 2022 como *preprint* en bioRxiv (doi: 10.1101/2022.10.21.513225), lleva por título *Disentagling leaf structural and material properties in relation to their anatomical and chemical compositional traits in oaks* (Quercus *L.*). En este capítulo se acomete el tercer objetivo específico estudiando la importancia relativa de cada característica de la hoja sobre las propiedades mecánicas en 25 especies de *Quercus*. Se sugiere que las hojas de *Quercus* esclerófilos son más duras y fuertes debido a la pared externa de su epidermis más gruesa y/o a una mayor concentración de celulosa. Además, las especies de la sección *Ilex* comparten rasgos comunes independientemente de que ocupen climas bastante diferentes. De modo similar, las especies de hoja perenne que viven en climas de tipo mediterráneo comparten rasgos foliares comunes independientemente de su diferente origen filogenético.

El quinto capítulo se publicó en 2022. en la revista *Tree Physiology* bajo el título *Cell-level anatomy explains leaf age dependent declines in mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in the evergreen Mediterranean oak* Quercus ilex *subsp.* rotundifolia. En él se evalúan los cambios dependientes de la edad foliar en los rasgos morfológicos, anatómicos, químicos y fotosintéticos en *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* Lam., un roble perennifolio con hojas de alta longevidad. Se observan disminuciones de todos los rasgos fotosintéticos con el aumento de la edad de la hoja. Los cambios en la anatomía y bioquímica de la hoja fueron responsables de las modificaciones dependientes de la edad en la asimilación neta de CO<sub>2</sub> y la conductancia del CO<sub>2</sub> a través del mesófilo. Estos hallazgos revelaron un deterioro fisiológico gradual relacionado con el desmantelamiento del aparato fotosintético en hojas más viejas de *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*.

El sexto capítulo de la tesis se publicó en 2021 en *Tree Physiology* con el título *Contrasting functional strategies following severe drought in two Mediterranean oaks with different leaf habit:* Quercus faginea *and* Quercus ilex *subsp.* rotundifolia. En este capítulo se aborda el quinto objetivo de la tesis. Para ello, se analizan las características fotosintéticas, fotoquímicas e hidráulicas de diferentes órganos de

*Q. faginea* y *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* bajo condiciones de sequía severa. La fuerte disminución de los rasgos fotosintéticos de *Q. faginea* estuvo acompañada de una fuerte disminución de la conductancia hidráulica de las hojas en respuesta a la sequía. Este hecho probablemente evitó una embolia xilemática en los tallos ("segmentación de la vulnerabilidad"). Por el contrario, las hojas de *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* mostraron mecanismos fotoprotectores efectivos y alta resistencia a la cavitación inducida por la sequía, lo que estaría relacionado con la mayor longevidad de las hojas de las encinas mediterráneas.

# 1.6. Bibliografía

- Acherar M, Rambal S. 1992. Comparative water relations of four Mediterranean oak species. Vegetatio 99–100: 177–184.
- Ackerly DD. 2009. Evolution, origin and age of lineages in the Californian and Mediterranean floras. J Biogeogr 36: 1221–1233
- Axelrod DI. 1973. History of the Mediterranean ecosystem in California. In: Di Castri F, Mooney HA (eds) Mediterranean type ecosystems. Origin and structure. Springer, Berlin, pp 225–277
- **Barbero M, Loisel R, Quèzel P. 1992**. Biogeography, ecology and history of Mediterranean *Quercus ilex* ecosystems. Vegetatio 99–100: 19–34
- Barbour MG. 1988. Californian upland forests and woodland. In: Barbour MG, Billings WD, ed. North American terrestrial vegetation. Cambridge University Press; 131-164
- Barrón E, Rivas-Carballo R, Postigo-Mijarra JM, Alcalde-Olivares C, Vieira M, Castro L, Pais J, Valle-Hernández M. 2010. The Cenozoic vegetation of the Iberian Peninsula: a synthesis. Rev Palaeobot Palynol 162: 382–402.
- Barrón E, Averyanova A, Kvaček Z, Momohara A, Pigg K, Popova S, et al. 2017.
   "The Fossil History of *Quercus*" In: Gil-Pelegrín, Eustaquio; Peguero-Pina, José Javier; Sancho-Knapik, Domingo (eds.), *Oaks Physiological Ecology. Exploring the Functional Diversity of Genus Quercus L.*, Cham: Springer International Publishing
- **Beadle NCW**. **1966**. Soil phosphate and its role in molding segments of the australian flora and vegetation, with special reference to xeromorphy and sclerophylly. Ecology 47: 992–1007.
- **Blumler MA**. **1984**. Climate and the annual habit. Berkeley, CA: University of California: 199 Thesis.
- **Blumler MA**. **1991**. Winter-deciduous versus Evergreen Habit in Mediterranean Regions: A model. USDA Forest Service Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-126.
- **Box EO**. **1981**. Macroclimate and plant forms: an introduction to predictive modeling in phytogeography. The Hague: Dr W. Junk.
- **Boyer JS. 2015**. Turgor and the transport of CO2 and water across the cuticle (epidermis) of leaves. Journal of Experimental Botany 66: 2625-2633.
- Breckle SW. 2002. Walter's vegetation of the earth. Springer, Berlin
- **Brodribb TJ, Field TS, Jordan GJ. 2007**. Leaf maximum photosynthetic rate and venation are linked by hydraulics. Plant Physiology 144: 1890-1898.

- **Castro-Díez P, Montserrat-Martí G.** 1998. Phenological pattern of fifteen Mediterranean phanaerophytes from *Quercus ilex* communities of NE-Spain. Plants Ecol 139:103-112
- Chabot BF, Hicks DJ. 1982. The ecology of leaf life spans. Annu Rev Ecol Syst 13: 229–259
- **Choong MF, Lucas PW, Ong JSY, Pereira B, Tan HTW, Turner IM**. **1992**. Leaf fracture toughness and sclerophylly: their correlations and ecological implications. New Phytol 121: 597–610
- **Cody ML, Mooney HA. 1978.** Convergence versus nonconvergence in Mediterranean-climate ecosystems. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 9: 265–321.
- **Corcuera L, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2002**. Functional groups in *Quercus* species derived from the analysis of pressure-volume curves. Trees 16: 465–472
- **Corcuera L, Morales F, Abadía A, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2005**. The effect of low temperatures on the photosynthetic apparatus of *Quercus ilex* subsp. *ballota* at its lower and upper altitudinal limits in the Iberian peninsula and during a single freezing-thawing cycle. Trees 19: 99–108
- **Cowling RM, Rundel PW, Lamont BB, Arroyo MK, Arianoutsou M. 1996**. Plant diversity in Mediterranean climate regions. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 11(9): 362-366
- **Creek D, Blackman CJ, Brodribb TJ, Choat B, Tissue DT**. **2018**. Coordination between leaf, stem, and root hydraulics and gas exchange in three aridzone angiosperms during severe drought and recovery. Plant Cell Environ 41: 2869-2881.
- Damesin C, Rambal S, Joffre R. 1998. Co-occurrence of trees with different leaf habit: a functional approach on Mediterranean oaks. Acta Oecol 19: 195– 204
- **Deitch MJ, Sapundjieff MJ, Feirer ST. 2017**. Characterizing precipitation variability and trends in the world's Mediterranean-Climate areas. Water 9: 259
- Denk T, Grimm GW, Manos PS, Deng M, Hipp AL. 2017. An Updated Infrageneric Classification of the Oaks: Review of Previous Taxonomic Schemes and Synthesis of Evolutionary Patterns. In: Gil-Pelegrín, E., Peguero-Pina, J., Sancho-Knapik, D. (eds) Oaks Physiological Ecology. Exploring the Functional Diversity of Genus *Quercus* L.. Tree Physiology, vol 7. Springer, Cham.

- **Dufour-Dror JM, Ertas. 2004**. A Bioclimatic perspectives in the distribution of *Quercus ithaburensis* Decne. Subspecies in Turkey and in the Levant. J Biogeogr 31: 461–474
- **Flexas J, Barbour MM, Brendel O** *et al.* **2012**. Mesophyll diffusion conductance to CO2: an unappreciated central player in photosynthesis. Plant Sci 193–194: 70–84.
- **Flexas J, Scoffoni C, Gago J, Sack L. 2013**. Leaf mesophyll conductance and leaf hydraulic conductance: an introduction to their measurement and coordination. Journal of Experimental Botany 64: 3965-3981.
- Flexas J, Ortuño MF, Ribas-Carbo M, Diaz-Espejo A, Flórez Sarasa ID, Medrano H. 2007. Mesophyll conductance to CO2 in Arabidopsis thaliana. New Phytol 175: 501–511.
- García-Plazaola JI, Artetxe U, Duñabeitia MK, Becerril JM. 1999. Role of photoprotective systems of Holm-Oak (*Quercus ilex*) in the adaptation to winter conditions. J Physiol 155: 25–630
- García-Plazaola JI et al. 2017. Photoprotective Mechanisms in the Genus Quercus in Response to Winter Cold and Summer Drought. In: Gil-Pelegrín, E., Peguero-Pina, J., Sancho-Knapik, D. (eds) Oaks Physiological Ecology. Exploring the Functional Diversity of Genus Quercus L. Tree Physiology, vol 7. Springer, Cham.
- **GBIF.org 2022**. Página de Inicio de GBIF. Disponible en: https://www.gbif.org [04 de agosto de 2022].
- Gil-Pelegrín E, Saz MÁ, Cuadrat JM, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D. 2017. Oaks Under Mediterranean-Type Climates: Functional Response to Summer Aridity. In: Gil-Pelegrín, E., Peguero-Pina, J., Sancho-Knapik, D. (eds) Oaks Physiological Ecology. Exploring the Functional Diversity of Genus Quercus L.. Tree Physiology, vol 7. Springer, Cham.
- **Griffin JR**. **1971**. Oak regeneration in the upper Carmel Valley, California. Ecology 54: 862-159.
- **Griffin JR. 1976**. Regeneration in *Quercus lobata* savannas, Santa Lucia Mountains, California. American Midland Naturalist 95: 422-415.
- Grímsson F, Zetter R, Grimm GW, Krarup Pedersen G, Pedersen AK, Denk T. 2015. Fagaceae pollen from the early Cenozoic of West Greenland: revisiting Engler's and Chaney's Arcto-Tertiary hypotheses. Plant Syst Evol 301: 809–832
- Hassiotou F, Renton M, Ludwig M, Evans JR, Veneklaas EJ. 2010. Photosynthesis at an extreme end of the leaf trait spectrum: How does it

relate to high leaf dry mass per area and associated structural parameters? Journal of Experimental Botany 61: 3015–3028.

- Hipp AL, Manos PS, Hahn M, Avishai M, Bodénès C, Cavender-Bares J, et al. 2020. Genomic landscape of the global oak phylogeny. New Phytol, 226: 1198-1212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16162</u>
- Hipp AL, Manos PS, Hahn M, Avishai M, Bodénès C, Cavender-Bares J, et al. 2020. Genomic landscape of the global oak phylogeny. New Phytol, 226: 1198-1212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16162</u>
- Hochberg U, Windt CW, Ponomarenko A, Zhang YJ, Gersony J, Rockwell FE, et al. 2017. Stomatal closure, basal leaf embolism, and shedding protect the hydraulic integrity of grape stems. Plant Physiol 174: 764-775.
- Hofmann C-Ch, Mohamed O, Egger H. 2011. A new terrestrial palynoflora from the Palaeocene/Eocene boundary in the northwestern Tethyan realm (St. Pankraz, Austria). Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology 166: 295–310.
- Jiang XL, Hipp AL, Deng M, Su T, Zhou Z-K, Yan M-X. 2019. East Asian origins of European holly oaks (*Quercus* section *Ilex* Loudon) via the Tibet-Himalaya. Journal of Biogeography 46: 2203–2214.
- **Kikuzawa K, Lechowicz MJ. 2011**. Ecology of leaf longevity. Tokyo, Japan: Springer Science & Business Media.
- **Kikuzawa K**. **1995**. The basis for variation in leaf longevity of plants. Vegetatio 121: 89–100.
- **Koppel A, Heinsoo K. 1994**. Variability in cuticular resistance of *Picea abies* (L.) karst. and its significance in winter desiccation. Proc Est Acad Sci Ecol. 4: 56–63.
- Kovar-Eder J. 2003. Vegetation dynamics in Europe during the Neogene. In: Reumer JWF, Wessels W (eds) Distribution and migration of tertiary mamals in Eurasia. A volume in honour of Hans de Bruijn. Deinsea 10: 373–392
- Kremer A, and Hipp AL. 2020. Oaks: an evolutionary success story. New Phytol, 226: 987-1011. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/nph.16274</u>
- Lambers H, Chapin III FS, Pons TL. 1998. Plant physiological ecology. Springer
- Lamontagne M, Margolis H, Bigras F. 1998. Photosynthesis of black spruce, jack pine, and trembling aspen after artificially induced frost during the growing season. Can J For Res. 28: 1–12.
- Lionello P, Malanotte-Rizzoli P, Boscolo R, *et al.* 2006. The Mediterranean climate: an overview of the main characteristics and issues. In: Lionello P,

Malanotte-Rizzoli P, R Boscolo R (eds). Mediterranean Climate Variability. Elsevier, Amsterdam, p 1–2

- **Loveless AR**. **1961**. A nutritional interpretation of sclerophylly based on differences in the chemical composition of sclerophyllous and mesophytic leaves. Ann Bot. 25: 168–84.
- Lu Z, Xie K, Pan Y, Ren T, Lu J, Wang M, Shen Q, Guo S. 2019. Potassium mediates coordination of leaf photosynthesis and hydraulic conductance by modifications of leaf anatomy. Plant Cell Environ 42: 2231-2244.
- Mai DH. 1991. Palaeofloristic changes in Europe and the confirmation of the arctotertiary-palaeotropical geoflora concept. Rev Palaeobot Palyno 68: 29–36
- Manes F, Vitale M, Donato E, Giannini M, Puppi G. 2006. Different ability of three Mediterranean oak species to tolerate progressive water stress. Photosynthetica 44(3): 387–393
- Manos PS, Doyle JJ, Nixon KC. 1999. Phylogeny, biogeography, and processes of molecular differentiation in *Quercus* subgenus *Quercus* (Fagaceae). Mol Phylogen Evol 12: 333–349
- Manos PS, Zhou ZK, Cannon CH. 2001. Systematics of Fagaceae: Phylogenetic tests of reproductive trait evolution. Int J Plant Sci 162: 1361–1379
- Martín-Sánchez R, Peguero-Pina JJ, Alonso-Forn D, Ferrio JP, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín. 2022. Summer and Winter can equally stress holm oak (*Quercus ilex* L.) in Mediterranean areas: A physiological view. Flora 290
- Mediavilla S, Escudero A. 2003. Stomatal responses to drought at a Mediterranean site: a comparative study of co-occurring woody species differing in leaf longevity. Tree Physiol 23: 987–996.
- Mediavilla S, Escudero A. 2004. Stomatal responses to drought of mature trees and seedlings of two co-occurring Mediterranean oaks. For Ecol Manag 187: 281–294
- Medrano H, Flexas J. 2003. Respuesta de las plantas al estrés hídrico. En: Adela Sánchez Moreiras, Manuel Joaquín Reigosa Roger, Nuria Pedrol Bonjoch (eds.). La ecofisiología vegetal: una ciencia de síntesis. Thomson-Paraninfo. ISBN 84-9732-267-3, págs. 1141-1174
- Millar CI. 2012. Geologic, climatic, and vegetation history of California. In: Baldwin BG, Goldman DH, Keil DJ, Patterson R, Rosatti TJ, Wilken DH (eds) The Jepson Manual: Vascular Plants of California, 2nd edn. University of California Press, pp 49–67

- Minnich RA. 1985. Evolutionary convergence or phenotypic plasticity? Responses to summer rain by California chaparral. Physical Geography 6: 272-287
- Mitrakos KA. 1980. A theory for Mediterranean plant life. Acta Oecol 1:245–252
- Niinemets Ü, Cescatti A, Rodeghiero M, Tosens T. 2005. Leaf internal diffusion conductance limits photosynthesis more strongly in older leaves of Mediterranean evergreen broad-leaved species. Plant Cell Environ 28: 1552–1566.
- Niinemets Ü, Cescatti A, Rodeghiero M, Tosens T. 2006. Complex adjustments of photosynthetic capacity and internal mesophyll conductance to current and previous light availabilities and leaf age in Mediterranean evergreen species *Quercus ilex*. Plant Cell Environ 29: 1159–1178.
- Niinemets Ü, Keenan T. 2014. Photosynthetic responses to stress in Mediterranean evergreens: mechanisms and models. Environ Exp Bot 103: 24–41
- Niinemets Ü. 1999. Research review. Components of leaf dry mass per area thickness and density alter leaf photosynthetic capacity in reverse directions in woody plants. New Phytologist 144: 35–47.
- **Niinemets Ü**. **2001**. Global-scale climatic controls of leaf dry mass per area, density, and thickness in trees and shrubs. Ecology 82: 453–469.
- Niklas KJ. 1999. A mechanical perspective on foliage leaf form and function. New Phytol 143: 19–31.
- **Oertli JJ, Lips SH, Agami M**. **1990**. The strength of sclerophyllous cells to resist collapse due to negative turgor pressure. Acta Oecol 11: 281–9.
- **Ogaya R, Peñuelas J**. **2007**. Leaf mass per area ratio in *Quercus ilex* leaves under a wide range of climatic conditions. The importance of low temperatures. Acta Oecol 31: 168–173.
- **Olalde M, Herrán A, Espinel S, Goicoechea PG. 2002**. White oaks phylogeography in the Iberian Peninsula. For Ecol Manag 156:89–102.
- Onoda Y, Westoby M, Adler PB, Choong AMF, Clissold FJ, Cornelissen JHC, *et al.* 2011. Global patterns of leaf mechanical properties. Ecol Lett 14: 301– 12.
- **Osone Y, Ishida A, Tateno M**. **2008**. Correlation between relative growth rate and specific leaf area requires associations of specific leaf area with nitrogen absorption rate of roots. New Phytologist 179: 417–427.
- **Peeters PJ, Sanson G, Read J. 2007.** Leaf biomechanical properties and the densities of herbivorous insect guilds. Funct Ecol.;21: 246–55.

- Peguero-Pina JJ, Camarero JJ, Abadía A, Martín E, González-Cascón R, Morales F, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2007. Physiological performance of silver-fir (*Abies alba* Mill.) populations under contrasting climates near the southwestern distribution limit of the species. Flora 202: 226–236.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Martín P, Saz MA, Gea-Izquierdo G, Cañellas I, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2015. Evidence of vulnerability segmentation in a deciduous Mediterranean oak (*Quercus subpyrenaica* E. H. del Villar). Trees 29: 1917–1927
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Morales F, Flexas J, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2009. Differential photosynthetic performance and photoprotection mechanisms of three Mediterranean evergreen oaks under severe drought stress. Funct Plant Biol 36: 453–462
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, García-Nogales A, Niinemets Ü, et al. 2017. Cell-level anatomical characteristics explain high mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in sclerophyllous Mediterranean oaks. New Phytol 214: 585–596
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Sancho-Knapik D, Díaz-Espejo Flexas J, Galmés J, et al. 2016. Leaf morphological and physiological adaptations of a deciduous oak (*Quercus faginea* Lam.) to the Mediterranean climate: a comparison with a closely related temperate species (*Quercus robur* L.). Tree Physiol 36: 287–299
- **Poorter H, Niklas KJ, Reich PB, Oleksyn J, Poot P, Mommer L. 2012**. Biomass allocation to leaves, stems and roots: meta-analyses of interspecific variation and environmental control. New Phytologist 193: 30–50
- **Poudyal K, Jha PK, Zobel DB, Thapa CB**. **2004**. Patterns of leaf conductance and water potential of five Himalayan tree species. Tree Physiol 24: 689–99.
- **Read J, Sanson GD**. **2003.** Characterizing sclerophylly: the mechanical properties of a diverse range of leaf types. New Phytol. 160: 81–99.
- **Retallack GJ**. **2004**. Late Miocene climate and life on land in Oregon within a context of Neogene global change. Palaeogeogr Palaeocl 214: 97–123
- **Roiron P. 1983**. Nouvelle étude de la macroflore plio-pléistocène de Crespià (Catalogne, Espagne). Geobios 16: 687–715.
- Rubio de Casas R, Vargas P, Pérez-Corona E, Cano E, Manrique E, García-Verdugo C *et al.* 2009. Variation in sclerophylly among Iberian populations of *Quercus coccifera* L. is associated with genetic differentiation across contrasting environments. Plant Biology 11: 464–472

- Rundel PW, Arroyo MT, Cowling RM, Keeley JE, Lamont BB, Vargas P. 2016. Mediterranean biomes: evolution of their vegetation, floras, and climate. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 47: 383–407
- Salleo S, Pitt F, Nardini A, Hamzé M, Jomaa I. 2002. Differential drought resistance of two Mediterranean oaks growing in the Bekaa Valley (Lebanon). Plant Biosyst 136: 91–99.
- Scoffoni C, Chatelet DS, Pasquet-kok J, Rawls M, Donoghue MJ, Edwards EJ, Sack L. 2016. Hydraulic basis for the evolution of photosynthetic productivity. Nature Plants 2: 16072.
- Serrano L, Peñuelas J, Ogaya R, Savé R. 2005. Tissue-water relations of two cooccurring evergreen Mediterranean species in response to seasonal and experimental drought conditions. J Plant Res 118: 263–269.
- Shipley B, Lechowicz MJ, Wright I, Reich PB. 2006. Fundamental trade-offs generating the worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Ecology 87: 535–541.
- Simeone MC, Grimm GW, Papini A, Vessella F, Cardoni S, Tordoni E, Piredda R, Franc A, Denk T. 2016. Plastome data reveal multiple geographic origins of *Quercus* Group *Ilex*. PeerJ 4: 1897
- Skelton RP, Dawson TE, Thompson SE, Shen Y, Weitz AP, Ackerly D. 2018. Low vulnerability to xylem embolism in leaves and stems of North American oaks. Plant Physiol 177: 1066-1077.
- Suc JP. 1984. Origin and evolution of the Mediterranean vegetation and climate in Europe. Nature 307: 429–432
- **Terashima I, Hanba YT, Tholen D, Niinemets Ü**. **2011**. Leaf functional anatomy in relation to photosynthesis. Plant Physiol 155: 108–116
- Thanos, CA. 2005: Theophrastus on Oaks. Bot. Chron. 18(1): 29-36.
- **Turner IM**. **1994**. Sclerophylly: primarily protective? Funct Ecol. JSTOR. 8: 669– 75.
- Valiente-Banuet A, Rumebe AV, Verdú M, Callaway RM. 2006. Modern quaternary plant lineages promote diversity through facilitation of ancient tertiary lineages. PNAS 103: 16812–16817
- van Ommen Kloeke AEE, Douma JC, Ordoñez JC, Reich PB, van Bodegom PM.
   2012. Global quantification of contrasting leaf life span strategies for deciduous and evergreen species in response to environmental conditions. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 21: 224–235.
- Verdú M, Dávila P, García-Fayos P, Flores-Hernández N, Valiente-Banuet A. 2003. 'Convergent' traits of Mediterranean woody plants belong to pre-Mediterranean lineages. Biol J Linn Soc 78: 415–427

- Vilagrosa A, Morales F, Abadía A, Bellot J, Cochard H, Gil-Pelegrin E. 2010. Are symplast tolerance to intense drought conditions and xylem vulnerability to cavitation coordinated? An integrated analysis of photosynthetic, hydraulic and leaf level processes in two Mediterranean drought-resistant species. Environ Exp Bot 69: 233–242
- Villar R, Merino J. 2001. Comparison of leaf construction costs in woody species with differing leaf life-spans in contrasting ecosystems. New Phytol 151: 213–226
- Walter H. 1985. Vegetation of the Earth and ecological systems of the geobiosphere, 3rd edn. Springer, Berlin, p 318
- Witkowski ETF, Lamont BB. 1991. Leaf specific mass confounds leaf density and thickness. Oecologia 88: 486–493.
- Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M, Ackerly DD, Baruch Z, Bongers F, Cavender-Bares J, Chapin T, Cornelissen JHC, Diemer M et al. 2004. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Nature 428: 821–827.
- Wright W, Vincent JFV. 1996. Herbivory and the mechanics of fracture in plants. Biol Rev 71: 401–13.
- **Xiong D, Nadal M. 2020**. Linking water relations and hydraulics with photosynthesis. Plant J 101:800-815.
- Xiong D, Flexas J, Yu T, Peng S, Huang J. 2017. Leaf anatomy mediates coordination of leaf hydraulic conductance and mesophyll conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> in *Oryza*. New Phytologist 213: 572–583

# Capítulo II

Revisiting the functional basis of sclerophylly within the Leaf Economics Spectrum: Different roads to Rome ECOLOGICAL FUNCTION (M WATT, SECTION EDITOR)



# Revisiting the Functional Basis of Sclerophylly Within the Leaf Economics Spectrum of Oaks: Different Roads to Rome

David Alonso-Forn<sup>1</sup> • Domingo Sancho-Knapik<sup>1,2</sup> • Juan Pedro Ferrio<sup>1,3</sup> • José Javier Peguero-Pina<sup>1,2</sup> • Amauri Bueno<sup>4</sup> • Yusuke Onoda<sup>5</sup> • Jeannine Cavender-Bares<sup>6</sup> • Ülo Niinemets<sup>7</sup> • Steven Jansen<sup>8</sup> • Markus Riederer<sup>4</sup> • Johannes H.C. Cornelissen<sup>9</sup> • Yongfu Chai<sup>10</sup> • Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín<sup>1</sup>

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2020

#### Abstract

**Purpose of Review** Defining the mechanisms behind and the leaf economic consequences of the development of sclerophylly in woody plants will allow us to understand its ecological implications, anticipate the potential for adaptation of different tree species to global change, and define new woody plant ideotypes for stress tolerance.

**Recent Findings** Sclerophylly has evolved independently in different woody plant genera and has been traditionally considered as a stress-tolerance trait. However, the underlying drivers for this functional trait are still a matter of debate; it has been proposed as an adaptive response to miscellaneous stress factors, such as nutrient scarcity, drought stress, herbivory, and cold tolerance, and due to the large investment costs of sclerophylly, it is generally associated with a longer leaf life span.

**Summary** The genus *Quercus* constitutes a unique living laboratory to understand global adaptive patterns along the leaf economic spectrum in forest trees. With more than 400 species, oaks are distributed along six zonobiomes and its versatility has resulted in a wide range of variations in leaf functional traits and contrasting adaptive strategies. However, although this wide variability cannot be explained alone by any of the ecological factors considered, such as drought, nutrient scarcity, low temperatures during vegetative period, and physical damage, neither any of them could be fully discarded. Noteworthy, our study also suggests that these constraints may have a synergistic effect, and from a functional point of view, we can conclude that in oaks leaf habit largely modulates the physiological implications of sclerophylly.

David Alonso-Forn, Domingo Sancho-Knapik, Juan Pedro Ferrio, José Javier Peguero-Pina and Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín contributed equally to this work.

This article is part of the Topical Collection on Ecological Function

Electronic supplementary material The online version of this article (https://doi.org/10.1007/s40725-020-00122-7) contains supplementary material, which is available to authorized users.

Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín egilp@cita-aragon.es

> David Alonso-Forn dalonso@cita.aragon.es

Domingo Sancho-Knapik dsancho@cita-aragon.es

Juan Pedro Ferrio jpferrio@cita-aragon.es

José Javier Peguero-Pina jjpeguero@cita-aragon.es

Amauri Bueno amauri.bueno@uni-wuerzburg.de

Yusuke Onoda onoda@kais.kyoto-u.ac.jp

Published online: 13 August 2020

Jeannine Cavender-Bares cavender@umn.edu

Ülo Niinemets ylo.niinemets@emu.ee

Steven Jansen steven.jansen@uni-ulm.de

Markus Riederer riederer@uni-wuerzburg.de

Johannes H.C. Cornelissen j.h.c.cornelissen@vu.nl

Yongfu Chai chaiyongfu@nwu.edu.cn

Extended author information available on the last page of the article

Springer

 $\textbf{Keywords} \hspace{0.1cm} \text{Sclerophylly} \cdot \textit{Quercus} \cdot \text{Stress factors} \cdot \text{Drought} \cdot \text{Nutrient scarcity} \cdot \text{Leaf life span}$ 

#### **General Introduction**

The term sclerophylly comes from the Greek *skleros* (hard) and *phyllon* (leaf) literally meaning "hard-leaved." According to Schimper [1], sclerophyllous species have common characteristics, such as leaves with entire margins, oriented obliquely or parallel to the incidence of sun rays, thick cell walls, abundance of sclerenchyma, and highly developed cuticle. Thus, Schimper concluded that "these qualities in the aggregate give the leaf its characteristic, stiff, leathery consistency."

Thus, as the concept of sclerophylly is a perception, it is difficult to obtain an accurate measure. Different methods and proxies have appeared for estimating this characteristic, such as the Loveless sclerophylly index [2, 3] or leaf mass per area (LMA) [4–7] and others that will be explained more in depth.

However, the underlying drivers for this functional trait are still a matter of debate; it has been proposed as an adaptive response to miscellaneous stress factors, such as drought [8, 9], nutrient scarcity [2, 3, 10], low temperatures during the vegetative period [11, 12], and physical damage [13, 14]. On the other hand, it has been argued that the higher construction costs of sclerophyllous leaves tend to be compensated by a longer leaf life span, although the mechanisms behind are controversial [15].

In this review, we expose the main factors that promote sclerophylly and its functional implications using the genus *Quercus* as a living model. This genus comprises more than 400 species, is widely distributed along six well-differentiated zonobiomes, and its versatility and diversity has resulted in a wide range of variation in leaf functional traits and adaptive strategies  $[16^{\bullet\bullet}]$ .

#### How to Measure Sclerophylly?

# Direct Measurement of Leaf Strength: Mechanical Approaches

As sclerophylly means "hard-leaved," it is crucial to quantify mechanical properties of leaves in order to understand this trait. There are a number of methods available to evaluate mechanical properties of leaves (Table 1). According to the concepts, "strength" and "toughness" of a material refers to its ability to resist applied force and applied work, respectively, that could lead to fracture or permanent failure, while "elasticity" refers to its ability to deform (without fracture or permanent failure) under applied force. On the one hand, fracture properties, including strength and toughness, are indicators of the ability to protect leaves against the risks of fracture caused by piercing, chewing and browsing herbivores, wind tear, etc. On the other hand, elastic properties become important when leaves are exposed to deformation, such as bending under gravitational force, rotating around the petiole, and streamlining under dynamic load such as wind or avoidance of strong solar radiation under water stress (e.g., wilting) etc.

There are four major types of tests that are frequently used to measure leaf mechanical properties (Table 1; [17, 18]): (1) shearing tests (also called scissoring, cutting tests) measure how much work is required to cut across a leaf with a single blade (against an anvil) or with a pair of blades (i.e., instrumented scissors) [19–21]; (2) punch tests, including punch-and-die and penetrometer tests, measure the maximum load required for the punch rod to penetrate a leaf [22–25]; (3) tensile tests (also called tearing tests) measure the force required to stretch and eventually tear a strip of leaf lamina [26–28]; and (4) bending tests (or flexural tests) measure the force required to bend a strip of leaf lamina that is placed on two supports [17, 29] or entire leaf lamina with attached petiole [30, 31]. These tests can measure mechanical properties of a leaf specimen (often rectangular strip) in different directions (vertical or horizontal to the lamina surface) and

 Table 1
 A list of leaf mechanical properties and their units

Type of tests	Fracture properties			Elastic properties	
	Structural level	Material level	Mass level	Structural level	Material level
Shearing test	Work to shear (J m $^{1})$	Fracture toughness $(J m^2)$	Specific toughness (J m Kg $^{1}$ )	NA	Shear modulus
Punch test	Force to punch (N m <sup>-1</sup> )	Punch strength (N m <sup>2</sup> )	Specific punch strength (N m Kg $^{-1}$ )	NA	NA
Tensile test	Force to tear (N m <sup>-1</sup> )	Tensile strength (N m <sup>2</sup> )	Specific tensile strength (N m Kg $^{1}$ )	Tensile stiffness (N)	Young's modulus $(N m^{2})$
Bending test	NA	NA	NA	$Bending \ stiffness \ (N \ m^2)$	Young's modulus (N m <sup>2</sup> )

#### Springer

different tissue types (e.g., the major leaf veins or the lamina between veins).

Leaf mechanical properties can be expressed on a different basis of expression depending on the purpose (Table 1; [18]). Structural properties are affected by both chemical properties and lamina thickness, whereas chemical properties are normalized to cross-sectional area (thickness  $\times$  width) of the test specimen [32]. It is also possible to evaluate how efficiently leaf mass is exploited for fracture strength or toughness from strength or toughness divided by tissue density of the specimen [18, 33].

Although sclerophylly has been recognized as a key functional trait for many years [1], direct quantification of mechanical properties of sclerophylly had rarely been achieved until the 1990s. Turner et al. [34] measured and compared the fracture toughness of several plant communities, including three sclerophyllous communities, by the cutting test. They found that the mean fracture toughness of the sclerophyllous communities was 2.1 to 4.6 times greater than the soft-leaved pioneer communities. Read & Sanson [32] made a detailed investigation of leaf chemical as well as mechanical traits using the punch, shear, tensile, and bending tests for a diverse set of 33 plant species grown in a botanical garden. On average, sclerophyllous leaves were stronger, tougher, and stiffer than non-sclerophyllous leaves in all mechanical tests, but more importantly, they found that structural properties (such as structural strength or bending stiffness) correlated more strongly with sclerophylly than material properties. This means that sclerophylly is characterized by not only high material strength or toughness but also high lamina thickness.

As discussed later, plant cuticle plays an essential role in preventing passive water loss. While less appreciated, cuticles are also important for mechanical defense and stability [14]. Cuticle layers are composed by cutin, polysaccharides, and waxes, and their Young's moduli (material stiffness) can be an order of magnitude higher than the corresponding values of the leaf lamina [35]. Furthermore, the farther the leaf material is located from the neutral axis, the more it contributes to bending stiffness (second moment of area). Therefore, leaves with thicker cuticles often have higher lamina strength and stiffness [29]. Thicker and stiff cuticles are conducive to long leaf life span by protecting leaves from external mechanical stresses and may contribute to keeping the leaf surface intact and sustaining high desiccation tolerance over longer life spans.

#### **Chemical Proxies**

An increase in sclerophylly is associated with a decrease in the percentage of protein content and with an increase in the percentage of fiber content [3]. Loveless [2, 3] proposed an estimation method of sclerophylly expressed as the ratio of crude

protein content (calculated as nitrogen content multiplied by 6.25) per unit of leaf tissue.

#### (Crude fiber dry mass $\times$ 100)/(Crude protein dry mass)

Loveless [2, 3] suggested that the use of crude protein content has some advantages since it is a useful indicator to measure functionally active leaf tissue (protoplasm), does not vary throughout the day, and does not define fiber content in terms of another measure that already includes the fiber in it. However, the estimation of sclerophylly using the method proposed by Loveless has some drawbacks. Firstly, the Sclerophylly Index (SI) cannot be used to correlate the degree of sclerophylly with the fiber or protein content, since these components are already part of the ratio. Secondly, it seems that the increase in SI is mainly due to a decrease in the denominator (protein content, not related to sclerophylly), rather than to an increase in fiber content (related to sclerophylly) [36]. Furthermore, there is an increasing body of evidence that a large fraction of leaf nitrogen can be incorporated in cell wall proteins, especially in more sclerophyllous species [37, 38•] suggesting that the "crude protein" content is not a good measure of the protoplasm.

#### Leaf Mass per Area as a Global Proxy for Sclerophylly

Leaf mass per area (LMA), is the most widely used proxy for sclerophylly in ecology (see e.g., [4-7, 18, 39, 40]). The main advantage of LMA is that it can be easily determined and stands as a good indicator of the carbon investment per unit of leaf area. Hence, it is a reflection of the cost-benefit between light interception and plant carbon balance, and hence of the leaf economic spectrum (LES; [6, 40]). At least on a global scale, LMA shows a good correlation with mechanical measures of sclerophylly [18] and, to a lesser extent, with chemical proxies [3, 41]. LMA is indeed a composite of leaf thickness (LT) and leaf density (LD), which can vary independently along environmental gradients [5, 41, 42]. Although the relative contribution of LT and LD to sclerophylly depends on the underlying strategy, both factors are known to contribute to leaf toughness [18]. When we compare oaks in the context of woody angiosperms from temperate and tropical zones, LMA of winter-deciduous oaks (DEC) did not differ significantly from other DEC species, whereas evergreen oaks (EVE, those retaining their leaves during the whole year) showed higher LMA than EVE plant species (Fig. 1a, data from the Leaf Biomechanics Dataset [18]). Oaks in general seem to have relatively thin leaves (low LT, Fig. 1b), and dense tissues (high LD, Fig. 1c), with EVE falling within the uppermost range of LD (Fig. 1c). As we will discuss later in detail in section 4.1, large LMA values may have contrasting physiological implications, depending



Fig. 1 Measurements of leaf attributes (leaf mass per area (LMA), leaf thickness, and leaf density) and mechanical strength (force to punch, force to tear, work to shear) in deciduous (DEC) and evergreen (EVE)

on the relative contribution of LT and LD. In particular, we will see how the high LD of EVE constitutes a major physiological constraint by restricting  $CO_2$  diffusion.

Despite a general association between LMA and leaf structural strength, the two variables may vary independently. On the one hand, leaves with higher concentrations of fibers can have higher leaf structural strength without affecting LMA (i.e., higher specific strength) [18]. On the other hand, sclerophyllous leaves often have thicker cuticles, which also contribute to leaf strength and stiffness [29, 35], but have a comparatively small effect on LMA (for further discussion about the association between LMA and cuticles, see "Functional Mechanisms Associating Sclerophylly and Drought Tolerance"). While we are aware of these constraints, throughout this review, we will focus on LMA as the most general proxy for sclerophylly, and the only one that has been determined in a wide range of oak species.

#### Springer

oak species, as compared with other genera of woody angiosperms, all from temperate and tropical biomes. Data from the Leaf Biomechanics Dataset [18]

#### **Key Factors Promoting Sclerophylly**

#### Sclerophylly as a Xeromorphic Trait to Cope with Drought

#### The "Evidence" Given by Mediterranean Woody Plants

The development of hard leaves as a response to drought is one of the earlier interpretations of sclerophylly [14, 43, 44], still current [45–48] but under debate ([16••] and references therein). The association between sclerophylly (the development of specially hard or tough leaves) and xeromorphism (all the anatomical and morphological traits common in plants living in dry or physiologically dry habitats) partially depends on phytogeographical evidence, such as the predominance of sclerophyllous shrubs and trees in all five Mediterranean regions of the world, with dry and hot summers [1, 14, 49–52].

Schimper [1] described the features of a typical xeromorphic leaf, as a way of coping with limited watersupply in their habitats. Among several adaptations, he included the presence of sclerenchyma although an explicit function of it was not provided. Schimper also suggested that the increase in "physiological dryness" (a term indicating the lack of available water for plants) should induce some concomitant changes in the leaf anatomy or morphology. Among others, the development of smaller, thicker, and sclerophyllous leaves was reported in his analysis. This response, common of many plant species of dry habitats, was put at the same level as leaf succulence or aphylly by Schimper [1], among the different plant responses to drought. He argued that the regions of the Earth with "prolonged summer drought" (or Mediterraneantype areas in other words) are the habitat of "evergreen xerophyllous" woody plants that show sclerophyllous leaves. Oppenheimer [53] gave a list of anatomical features that were common in xeromorphous leaves and included the increase in mechanical tissues as "a general principle" in those plants from dry habitats. Moreover, the leaf thickening-or the reduction of surface to volume, as literally expressed by this author-was also proposed as a key trait in plants living in dry conditions. Both characteristics should imply a higher LMA, linking xeromorphism and sclerophylly. In fact, he included the Mediterranean evergreen sclerophyllous plants among the six main xerophyte types according to their physiognomy or phytogeography. Kummerow [50] insisted that regions with Mediterranean-type climates show vegetation with a similar physiognomy, which could be interpreted as xerophytic-plants of dry habitats-and, specifically, "sclerophyllous xerophytes." Those plants were again the evergreen hard-leaved trees and shrubs previously described by Schimper [1] or Mooney & Dunn [49]. Both studies clearly supported the idea that the leaf anatomy of these sclerophyllous plants was responsible for the adaptation for withstanding water stress during the summer. The anatomical modifications suggested by Kummerow [50] coincide with those proposed by Oppenheimer [50], including a reduction in the external leaf area and presence of a group of traits inducing high leaf density, such as smaller cell size with thick cell walls, a high vein density, or the presence of reinforcement tissues. The presence of sclerenchyma among the leaf tissues in these leaves was proposed to serve as protection when subjected to intense water deficit. Mooney [54] recognized similar features in the leaves of different species of shrubs from the areas under Mediterranean-type climate of California as a response to water stress. The development of dense mesophyll tissue-constituted by small cells with relatively thick walls and low presence of intercellular spaces and a higher proportion of palisade to spongy mesophyll thickness-is still proposed as an anatomical response to water shortage [55].

#### What Can Be Concluded From Other Phytogeographical Data? Sclerophyllous Oaks Under Non-Mediterranean Conditions

However, this association between the Mediterranean-type climates and sclerophylly conflicted with other phytogeographical evidence, namely the presence of sclerophyllous woody plants in wet climatic regions of the Earth [14, 53, 56]. In fact, their massive presence in areas with wet tropical climatic regimes is well-established [44, 57], with some areas clearly dominated by evergreen, sclerophyllous oak species [58]. Palaeobotanical studies would suggest that the possible ancestors of Mediterranean species of holly oaks (*Quercus* Group Ilex) lived in fully humid conditions [59], confirming the pre-adaptive conditions of a high LMA in the present Mediterranean woody plants [60].

In a common garden study, Gil-Pelegrín et al. [16••] concluded that evergreen oaks from tropical (zonobiome II), arid (zonobiome III), Mediterranean (zonobiome IV), and temperate (zonobiome VI) did not differ significantly in LMA, in spite of the extreme differences in their respective phytoclimates in origin. Similarly, the two groups of winterdeciduous species, namely Mediterranean (zonobiome IV) and temperate (zonobiome VI) did not show differences in LMA values between them but did show significantly lower values than all the evergreen oaks. These data confirm (i) the existence of sclerophyllous Quercus species in contrasting phytoclimates and (ii) the existance of both sclerophyllous and malacophyllous species in the same phytoclimatic conditions (zonobiomes IV and VI specially). In order to take into account the possible relationship between aridity and LMA, the values of all of these groups have been plotted against an index of aridity for oak species of all of the considered groups (Fig. 2). We used the Lang aridity index (AI<sub>Lang</sub>)-the ratio of the mean annual precipitation (MAP) and the mean annual temperature (MAT) [61]-in several native locations as



**Fig. 2** Relation between Lang aridity index (AILang) and leaf mass area (LMA) for oak species belonged to different groups. AILang calculated as the ratio between mean annual precipitation (MAP) and mean annual temperature (MAT). DEC: deciduous, EVE: evergreen, TEM: temperate, MED: Mediterranean, TRO: tropical, ARID: arid. Data as mean  $\pm$  se values of 73 oak species obtained from Gil-Pelegrín et al. [16••]. Letters indicate significant differences (Tukey test, p < 0.05) in AILang between groups of species

#### 

confirmed by herbarium data (see [16••]). On the one hand, evergreen oak species from Arid and Mediterranean phytoclimates showed the lowest values for  $AI_{Lang}$ , confirming that both inhabit dry to very dry areas. Conversely, the  $AI_{Lang}$  for temperate and tropical evergreens ranged from humid to perhumid values, in spite of the similarity in LMA (see above). Otherwise, deciduous species, which do not differ statistically in LMA, do differ in terms of  $AI_{Lang}$ . This is because LMA values of Mediterranean deciduous species (MED-DEC) overlap to some extent with the values of MED-EVE species in xeric locations and with those of deciduous temperate (TEM-DEC) species found in wetter locations. Obviously, a simple phytogeographical association between the overall climatic aridity and sclerophylly cannot be immediately derived.

Concerning sclerophyllous oaks in tropical environments, several different studies have ruled out the influence of water deficit as the main factor explaining their abundance in these humid habitats [62–64]. Grubb [14], in fact, considered the term sclerophyllous to be quite ambiguous, in contrast to leaf anatomical characters that can be described for the so-called hard leaves. He proposed the distinction between "pycnophylls" (from the ancient Greek puknós, dense, compact) for the Mediterranean plants with dense mesophylls, and "pachyphylls" (from ancient greek pakhús, thick) for the tropical sclerophyllous plants, with thick but lacunous mesophylls. Grubb [14] attributed to the Mediterranean pycnophylls a higher ability to withstand water deficit than tropical pachyphylls, breaking a uniequivocal link between developing hard leaves and coping with drought. However, the suspicion of a possible influence of water shortage in the development of these tropical sclerophyllous leaves has also been considered [65]. The possibility of leaf water shortage in tropical climates could arise from low soil water retention and strong radiation in some of these habitats [14, 65, 66], or from severe physiological stress imposed on the canopy by root anoxia during long-lasting inundation periods [67]. Unfortunately, the lack of sufficient functional studies related to this topic, and especially concerning oaks under tropical climates, precludes our ability to reach unambiguous conclusions.

However, several studies about the ecology and ecophysiology of a group of evergreen and sclerophyllous oak species of the *Ilex* group, also known as section *Heterobalanus* (Oerst.) Menitsky [59], provide an insight into the development of hard leaves with high LMA under climates that differ from those in arid or Mediterranean zonobiomes. These oaks can be dominant species in many forests of the Himalaya-Hengduan Mountains [68, 69], at an altitudinal range roughly from 1000 to 3500 m a.s.l. [70]. In spite of the genetic proximity with their circum-Mediterranean relatives (e.g., *Q. ilex*), with evident leaf morphological similarities, the species of Himalaya-Hengduan inhabit areas within climates that differ

#### D Springer

substantially from the summer drought period of the Mediterranean-type climates [71]. In fact, their wide altitudinal range results in a high-temperature gradient, such that climates range from subtropical at the base to warm or cool temperate at mid-altitudes and to cold subalpine climates at the upper distribution limit of these species [68, 72, 73].

The whole area is influenced by the monsoon rhythm, which implies the existence of a clear seasonality and a warm rainy season from mid-June to September, preceded by a cold and dry season (from October to February) and a pre-monsoon dry summer (March to May). More than 80% of the annual rainfall-between 1000 and 3000 mm [74, 75]-can be accounted during the warm rainy season [72, 76]. Compared with this situation, the precipitation in most areas under Mediterranean-type climates registers annual values around less than half in average, with a minimum account during the summer [16..]. Therefore, these two contrasting phytoclimatic conditions for the circum-Mediterranean and the Himalayan-Hengduan oak species of the Ilex group can apparently question the seminal idea of a link between sclerophylly and xeromorphy in these species. In other words, are these sclerophyllous oaks of the Himalaya-Hengduan affected by drought to a similar extent as their circum-Mediterranean relatives? In fact, the extreme seasonality mentioned above induces a long dry period in the monsoonal climates where these sclerophyllous oaks predominate [73, 76]. The combination of a temperature rising with scarce precipitations during the pre-monsoon months induces a specially critical period for the vegetation in terms of water deficit [77, 78], when the minimal values of water potential reported in these sclerophyllous species have been registered [69, 72, 76]. Moreover, the intra-annual variation in water deficit due to the inherent seasonality of the climates affected by the monsoon runs parallel to an inter-annual incidence of severe drought that induces periodic extreme water deficit in these oak species.

In fact, Singh et al. [69] reported that such intense droughts affect the Central Himalaya in 5-6-year cycles. Such periodicity in the incidence of severe droughts has been associated with the influence of global phenomena, such as El Niño [79], justifying the periodicity of the inter-annual variability. The incidence of such variability in the ecophysiology of different sclerophyllous oaks of the *llex* group is confirmed in different studies. However, during 1999, Singh et al. [69] studied the effect of a severe drought in other two oak species of the Ilex group, Q. floribunda and Q. leucotrichophora in Kumaun, the Central Indian Himalaya. During the peak of drought, they registered mean values of predawn water potential of -4.4 MPa, but the value fell to -5.5 MPa in the specimens more severely affected (showing dead leaves). These extreme values are close to the lowest values reported for Q. ilex (around - 5 or even - 6 MPa; [80]. The ability to survive after reaching these low water potential values, preserving their buds to produce leaves again, would imply that these species show a high resistance to drought, establishing a direct correspondence with other circum-Mediterranean oaks of the *Ilex* group [81, 82].

#### The Co-occurrence of Sclerophyllous and Malacophyllous Oaks in Mediterranean-Type Climates: Any Difference to Cope With Drought?

As above suggested, another phytogeographical fact that can question the role of a high LMA as a direct functional mechanism to cope with drought is the presence of winterdeciduous oak with relatively low LMA values in many areas under Mediterranean-type climates of the Northern Hemisphere [83]. Some of these winter-deciduous species occupy dry habitats of the Eastern Mediterranean Basin [84] or coexist with evergreen congeneric oaks in the western Mediterranean Basin [52, 85].

This coexistence has been a matter of discussion. Coexistence of these winter-deciduous oaks (MED-DEC) with evergreen oaks, although being the aim of different ecophysiological studies [86, 87] is not easily explained from an ecophysiological perspective [52] and further research is needed to fully understand this fact.

On the one hand, winter-deciduous Mediterranean oaks (MED-DEC) are considered elements of the so-called "sub-Mediterranean" vegetation [88], where the influence of the Mediterranean summer aridity is mitigated by a higher annual precipitation and a lower mean temperature. This fact is supported by the intermediate values of AILang, which does not show significant differences both with those for MED-EVE and TEM-DEC. Comparative ecophysiological studies concerning both types of Mediterranean oaks have reflected different strategies to cope with water limitations [83, 86], and some of them concluded that evergreen species are able to resist a higher level of extreme water stress [52, 87, 89, 90]. The co-occurrence of these sub-Mediterranean oaks with MED-EVE in many areas of the western Mediterranean Basin should be the consequence of the alteration of the habitat affecting the water storage capability of the degraded soils, where everyreens tend to be more competitive [91].

Corcuera et al. [83] compared different species of oaks growing in a common garden taking into account the leaf area, LMA, and different characteristics derived from the analysis of PV curves. In this study, a clear coincidence in the value of osmotic potential at full turgor ( $\pi$ 0) between Mediterranean species, independently of their leaf habit, was reported, against the lower value found for with TEM-DEC. Concerning oaks, the finding of higher  $\pi$ 0 in oaks living in dry habitats have been previously reported (see [83] and references therein). MED-DEC showed the higher values for leaf water potential at turgor loss ( $\pi$ tlp), slightly but significantly higher than the mean value for MED-EVE and much higher than the one for TEM-MED. Bartlett et al. [92] concluded that  $\pi$ tlp was the trait more closely related to drought tolerance, with  $\pi$ 0 as the main characteristic influencing  $\pi$ tlp, which is related with (i) the minimum soil water potential for water uptake and (ii) with the ability for maintaining gas exchange at lower soil water potential. Both facts can be crucial for surviving and growing under Mediterranean climates, especially when leaf life span is limited to the dry summer in MED-DEC. So, MED-DEC could be interpreted as clearly able of coping with the summer drought as well as the genuine Mediterranean MED-EVE, which should be in accordance with the responses of co-occurring *Q. ilex* and *Q. pubescens* under Mediterranean conditions in southern France.

Corcuera et al. [83] also found a clear statistical difference concerning the maximum bulk modulus of elasticity ( $\mathcal{E}_{max}$ ), whith MED-EVE showing higher values of  $\mathcal{E}_{max}$  than MED-DEC and, specially, for TEM-DEC. The rigidity of the cell walls has been studied by several authors in terms of coping with drought (see [16••] and references therein). Bartlett et al. (2012) did not attribute any relevance in terms of coping with drought to  $\mathcal{E}_{max}$ , but a low cell wall elasticity plays a role in water conservation, as a large change in turgor can be achieved with a minor change in symplasmic water [93]. This may constitute a mechanism to reduce water loss, through the effect of turgor loss in stomatal closure [94], reducing the diurnal and seasonal water loss [93]. A high  $\mathcal{E}_{max}$  in MED-EVE would be interpreted as a conservative mechanism, allowing them to avoid rapid soil water consumption in extremely dry areas or in locations with poorly developed soils or degraded soils and to develop a higher water potential gradient that would enable these species to obtain water from drier soils. On the contrary, the lower  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{max}}$  found in MED-DEC would allow the maintenance of positive turgor and, consequently, plant gas exchange and growth but at the expense of higher water consumption and the risk of xylem cavitation [87].

Woody plants from dry areas seem to develop a higher resistance to water stress-induced cavitation than those native from mesic habitats [95]. So, the comparison of the specific vulnerability to drought-induced xylem cavitation may serve as a way to compare the relative tolerance to climatic drought between MED-EVE and MED-DEC.

The quantification of this resistance can be done using different traits derived from the so-called cavitation curve, with  $P_{50}$  and  $P_{88}$  [96, 97]. Figure 3 evidences a tendency of P50 and P88 to increase as the aridity increases (lower AILang values), with an exponential decay for higher AILang where TEM-DEC predominate. The higher values for aridity and cavitation thresholds have been reported for some species of the MED-EVE (e.g., [81]) but not for all (see high dispersion in *y* axis). Moreover, very negative values for P50 and, specially, for P88 are reported for species of the MED-DEC



**Fig. 3** Relationship between Lang aridity index (AILang) and the stem water potential inducing a loss of 50% (P50) and 88% (P88) of xylem hydraulic conductivity for oak species belonged to different groups. AILang calculated as the ratio between mean annual precipitation (MAP) and mean annual temperature (MAT). Group abbreviations as in Fig. 2. Data as mean ± se. \*\* means a *p* value < 0.01. P50 and P88 values obtained from literature (see Supplementary. MAP and MAT obtained from WorldCLim database according to Gil-Pelegrín et al. [16••]. Mean group values ± se of these parameters are plotted in the upper right side of each figure. Letters indicate statistically significant differences (Tukey test, *p* < 0.05) in the mean values of P50 and P88

group. Therefore, P50 and P88 values do not seem to differ among Mediterranean oaks with contrasting leaf habits. Therefore, assuming P88 is a reasonable proxy for an overall ability of coping with aridity in *Quercus* species, sclerophyllous oaks do not have more drought-resistant stem xylem than other oaks. It should be noted, however, that oaks are long-vesseled species and thus subject to artifacts in the

#### Springer

production of vulnerability curves. The relative P50 and P88 values are still likely meaningful, but this is an area of continued debate within the literature.

# Sclerophylly in Response to Limited Nutrient Resources

Since the first studies of Schimper in 1903 [1] in which a relationship between sclerophylly and xeromorphism was proposed, numerous studies have arisen questioning this relationship, such as those carried out by Beadle [98, 99]. This author, observing the Australian flora, showed that sclerophylly was not necessarily a xerophytic adaptation, since he perceived the existence of the humid sclerophyllous forest. Moreover, he concluded that in the Sydney district, the community structure was explained directly or indirectly by the phosphate content of the soil. In this area, rainforest composed of plants with laureate leaves occurs in the most fertile soils, whereas dry-looking sclerophyllous forests, composed of highly xeromorphic plants, occur in less fertile soil but, according to Beadle, this is not as a response to lack of water. Furthermore, Beadle [10] also studied the number of tropical and subtropical rainforest genera and observed that it correlates with the level of phosphate in the soil, independently of precipitation. He also found that the adaptation to low fertile soils accentuates xeromorphic characters through a reduction in leaf size, and his experiments indicated that the degree of xeromorphy could be reduced in many cases by the addition of phosphorus and nitrate.

Although these early studies were based in Australia, where the presence of soils with low nutrient content, mainly phosphorus, is common [100], other authors have also observed the existence of sclerophyllous species in nutrient-limited tropical rainforests [44, 62].

Loveless [2] also found that there was a high correlation between phosphorus content in leaves and the fiber/protein ratio. In addition, he showed that below a phosphorus content of 0.3%, the fiber/protein ratio increases with the decrease in phosphorus and suggested that "phosphate deficiency of the soil might be an important factor in sclerophylly." Moreover, in later studies, it has been observed that sclerophylly is a response to nutrient-poor soils [57, 101], and especially to phosphorus deficiency [102] or nitrogen stress [39, 103]. However, Sereneski-de Lima et al. [104], studying the highly sclerophyllous mangrove tree species from South Brazil, concluded that mangrove trees were not limited by soil nitrogen nor phosphorus; thus, the high LMA observed was not determined by soil oligotrophy.

Focusing on genus *Quercus*, there are studies that support Beadle's postulates, since they find sclerophyllous species inhabiting oligotrophic conditions. Cork-oak (*Q. suber*) forests that inhabit the Northeast Iberian Peninsula had a mineral content of the litter fall composition with low macronutrients such as nitrogen and phosphorus [105]. Furthermore, Castro & Fernandez-Nuñez [106] showed that in three monospecific *Quercus* forests of Northeastern Portugal there is a soil-fertility gradient among the three ecosystems, coinciding with the degree of sclerophylly. From the malacophyllous *Q. pyrenaica*, found in more favored areas, to the highly sclerophyllous *Q. ilex* subsp. *ballota*, developed in oligotrophic conditions, going through *Q. suber* in intermediate zones.

Conversely, other studies found no significant relationships between the degree of sclerophylly and low nutrient content. Cavender-Bares et al. [107] studied 17 Quercus species growing in Florida across different habitats, and found only weak associations between LMA and nutrient-related soil traits (inorganic nitrogen, soil pH, phosphorus and calcium). García et al. [108] found mixed forests of Q. suber (sclerophyllous) with Q. faginea or Q. canariensis (malacophyllous) in areas of southern Spain and Portugal, where phosphorus availability was very low. Similarly, Aranda & Comino [109] found poornutrient soils in the oak forests of Sierra Nevada National Park (southern Spain), where Q. pyrenaica (malacophyllous) and Q. ilex subsp. ballota (highly sclerophyllous) coexist. However, in Cazorla-Segura-Las Villas Natural Park, also dominated by mixed forests (O. faginea and O. ilex subsp. ballota), soils with high levels of nutrients were found.

Furthermore, sclerophyllous oaks are not the only group found in environments with Mediterranean climate and high nutrient content [109, 110]; malacophyllous oaks, such as *Q. robur*, *Q. infectoria*, *Q. brantii*, or *Q. saii*, also persist with low phosphorus availability [111]. Moreover, it has even been observed that this element can control the primary production of these forests [111, 112]. Zhang et al. [113] found a wide range of variation in LMA (ca. 40–80 g m<sup>-2</sup>) across provenances of *Q. acutissima*, a malacophyllous species distributed along a wide range of soil conditions in China [114]. However, the LMA range was kept constant across the three provenance trials included in the study, despite contrasting soil conditions.

Overall, the potential link between sclerophylly and soil nutrient availability still remains controversial, due to the interrelation among soil traits (e.g., water availability and nitrogen content may be both affected by soil depth and texture) and with other environmental drivers (e.g., the concomitant increase in nutrient and water availability in deep valley soils).

As a proof of concept for the potential association between soil nutrients and the prevalence of sclerophylly, we took advantage of the information on species occurrence and soil traits, available from the US Forest Inventory and Analysis (FIA) database (http://www.fia.fs.fed.us/; accessed march 2019). Following a similar approach to that described by Rueda et al. [115], we first compiled information on soil conditions and species occurrence from all plots with presence of oaks (for further details on the methodology, see Supplementary Material). This resulted in 124,687 sites with soil data across the USA, with information on 36 oak species. With these data, we could determine average values per species for all soil and site variables across their distribution range in the USA (Fig. 4). We then compared these soil traits with the mean LMA for each species, based on literature data. Although this approach obviates plastic and genotypic intraspecific variability along the distribution range, it provides a first insight into the soil conditions most commonly associated with sclerophyllous species.

Across the USA, soil quality showed an effect on LMA, although it came associated with other geographic gradients. We found higher LMA values in shallower and more mineral, dense soils (Fig. 4a), with lower soil water content (Fig. 4b) and lower total nitrogen content (Fig. 4c). However, this could be linked to the high LMA prevailing in the dry mountain regions (ARID-EVE, MED-EVE in Fig. 4), as opposed to the low LMA prevailing in the cold-temperate planes (TEM-EVE), leading to a positive association with elevation (Fig. 4d). The altitudinal trend was partly disrupted by the low LMA of the winter-deciduous (TEM-DEC) Q. gambelii, which shows the highest mean elevation, and the moderately high LMA of the southern-temperate evergreens (TEM-EVE; e.g., O. virginiana, O. minima. Overall, we found the largest LMA values in the arid and Mediterranean mountain ranges in the Southwest and the Pacific coast, largely dominated by evergreen and sub-evergreen sclerophyllous oaks (e.g., Q. agrifolia, Q. chrysolepis, Q. rugosa; ARID-EVE and MED-EVE). Conversely, the lowest values were found in the North Central and Northeastern cold-temperate regions, dominated by temperate deciduous oaks (TEM-DEC), such as Q. muehlenbergii, Q. macrocarpa, Q. rubra, or Q. alba.

Notably, phosphorous availability did not show any association with LMA (Fig. 4e), opposing the postulates by Beadle [10, 98, 99] Furthermore, although a weak association with pH (Fig. 4f) was found, the highest LMA were found within the less nutrient-limiting range of pH (6-7). LMA also showed a negative association with some exchangeable cations ( $r^2 = 0.32$ , p < 0.001 for magnesium,  $r^2 = 0.23$ , p < 0.01for aluminum), but was not significantly correlated with neither calcium nor potassium. A similarly weak, negative trend was found for other metals, such as iron ( $r^2 = 0.22$ , p < 0.01) or zinc  $(r^2 = 0.22, p < 0.01)$ , but none of them appear to be particularly limiting. Conversely, nitrogen content emerges as the soil trait most strongly associated with LMA in our survey (Fig. 4e), confirming the negative association between soil nitrogen content and LMA reported in previous studies [39, 103]. In this regard, despite the emphasis put on phosphorus since the early studies of Beadle (1953, 1954), nitrogen may have a more critical role than phosphorus in shaping plant adaptive responses [110]. A recent study on model plants highlighted that phosphate starvation genes are largely controlled by nitrogen availability, but not vice versa [116].

 $\underline{\Phi}$  Springer



Fig. 4 Association between typical leaf mass per area (LMA) and average site conditions across 36 oak species found in the US Forest Inventory (see Supplementary Material). Species were classified according to their most typical biome and leaf habit, following [16••]. Circles, diamonds, and hexagons stand for temperate, Mediterranean, and

Despite the apparent response of LMA to nitrogen availability, at least in our case, this trend cannot be isolated from the large-scale geographic gradients in environmental and soil physical traits. Eroded, shallow soils prevail in the dry mountain areas in the West (MED-EVE, ARID-EVE), contrasting with the deep, fertile, and wet soils in Central and Northeastern plains (TEM-DEC). Besides, the association between LMA and soil nitrogen could be further enhanced by the higher decomposability (and eventually faster turnover) in deciduous trees, as compared with the evergreens [117, 118]. Furthermore, LMA tends to be negatively correlated with both leaf nitrogen content and leaf digestibility, and positively correlated with fiber content ([2, 6, 117]; see also section 4.1). Hence, low nitrogen content in the soils might be partly an indirect consequence of sclerophylly, rather than a driving force for the selection for this trait. In support of the influence of tree litter on soil nitrogen, the negative association between LMA and nitrogen was less consistent in the deeper soil horizons ( $r^2 = 0.35$ , p < 0.001) than in the forest floor ( $r^2 = 0.45$ , p < 0.001; Fig. 4). Although this point is hard to disentangle based on standard field surveys, it may deserve further assessment through experimental, manipulative approaches.

#### Springer

arid biomes. Light and dark colors denote deciduous and evergreen species, respectively. ELEV: elevation, SWC: soil water content. Soil characteristics in this figure refer to the forest floor, except Olsen-P and pH, which correspond to soil horizons



**Fig. 5** Relationship between leaf lifespan (LL) and leaf mass per area (LMA) for species of Genus *Quercus*. Black continuous line is the correlation ( $r^2 = 0.47$ , p < 0.001) with all species. Dash line represents the correlation ( $r^2 = 0.39$ , p < 0.001) for temperate deciduous species. Data from literature [6, 120–124] and personal measurements

Fig. 6 Relationship between leaf mass per area (LMA) and cellulose content (CC), hemicellulose content (HC), and cutin and lignin content (LCC) for Mediterranean evergreen and deciduous *Quercus* species. Data obtained from [120]

#### Sclerophylly to Increase Leaf Longevity by Reducing Mechanical Damage

From a global plant perspective, increases in leaf sclerophylly can be associated with increases in leaf longevity, as several authors have reported positive relationships between LMA or physical properties with leaf life span (LL) (e.g., [4, 6, 18, 21, 119, 120]. Focusing on the genus Quercus, a relationship between LL and LMA obtained from literature and personal measurements follows the same positive trend (Fig. 5). In this genus and independently of the species leaf habit and climate, an increase in LL from 5 to 15 months is associated with a strong increase in LMA from 85 to 170 g m<sup>-2</sup>. However, a further increase in oak LL to 50 months is not related to a significant increase in LMA, indicating the existence of an oak LMA threshold (c.a. 185 g m<sup>-2</sup>) towards higher values of LL. Additionally, within leaf habit and climate, we only found a significant correlation ( $r^2 = 0.39 \ p < 0.001$ ) for the temperate deciduous (TEM-DEC) group (Fig. 5).

The higher LMA found in longer lived leaves has been explained through a greater leaf reinforcement by the accumulation of structural carbohydrates, mainly due to the increase in cellulose (CC) and hemicellulose (HC) content [32, 120] (Fig. 6). By contrast, lignin and cutin content (LCC) does not seem to have a direct correlation with LMA and leaf duration, suggesting other explanations for the LCC interspecific differences such as water transport functions associated with the venation system of the leaf [120].

The accumulation of structural carbohydrates might enhance leaf persistence through the enhanced leaf protection [15, 37, 125]. This would help to resist the tear and wear due to physical [76, 126] and biotical [127, 128] interactions with the environment [15]. In this sense, leaf herbivory by insects has been the most common mechanical stress factor studied in the literature [127, 129, 130]. Generally, insects avoid eating sclerophyllous (high-LMA) leaves, both under laboratory [41] and field experiments [121, 131]. Accordingly, Quercus species with lower LMA suffer a higher percentage of leaf area lost per branch due to insect herbivory (see supplementary material Figure 1). The influence of mechanical leaf properties on insect herbivory can also determine the organization of the community composition of herbivores, including their diversity and density [128, 132]. However, in other studies the relationship between the level of sclerophylly and herbivory is not so evident [101]. Some species with low LMA values can be eaten as little as species with high values of LMA [41]. In those cases, small concentrations of secondary defense compounds, such as tannins [133], may significantly curb the set of herbivores able to



feed on given leaves without hardly depending on the level of sclerophylly [125], although the degree of herbivory in relation to LMA and secondary chemical content has not been studied across oak species.

#### Sclerophylly as a Cold Protection Mechanism in Evergreen Oaks

Winter is a season that can constitute stressful conditions due to low temperatures and frost in evergreen species [11]. Among other effects, plants can suffer photoinhibition, xylem embolism, or cuticular abrasion, and consequently, plants may reduce their physiological activity [11, 12, 91, 134]. To mitigate cold stress effects, plants may adjust several structural and physiological traits related to LMA. According to González-Zurdo et al. (2016), Q. ilex and Q. suber, two evergreen Mediterranean oaks, presented higher leaf thickness in those sites with lower values of mean annual temperature. Increasing leaf thickness both by increasing the number of cell layers or by increasing individual cell layer, reduces the average intensity of light reaching the interior of the leaf, thereby reducing the probability for photodamage [135, 136•]. Being thicker also results in a greater water content per unit leaf area [137, 138]. As water has a higher heat capacitance, the increase in water content per area may increase the buffering of temperature changes and so reduces the rates of leaf freezing [139] and leaf thawing [140], reducing the physiological damage by frost, especially in leaves exposed to multiple freeze-thaw cycles [136•]. Frost acclimation may also lead to increases in cell wall thickness and cell wall rigidity [141]. This acclimation may help to avoid the collapse of cells under low water potentials that may occur when frozen soils prevent water delivery to transpiring leaves. A higher cell wall rigidity also implies that for a given change in water potential, there is a lower degree of water migration from cells to extracellular spaces in comparison with more elastic cell walls [136•]. Intracellular water can remain supercooled during low temperatures, whereas extracellular water freezes faster; therefore, a higher rigidity would delay water freezing [142]. The higher cell wall rigidity may be due to an increase in fiber contents [143, 144]. In fact, González-Zurdo et al. [145] observed higher contents of cellulose + hemicellulose in individuals of Q. ilex and Q. suber inhabiting sites with higher number of days with frost per year.

These adjustments in leaf traits in response to low temperatures might promote an increase in the LMA of evergreen oaks, at least within species [145, 146]. However, among species, it is still unclear whether the main driver of changes in LMA is severity of cold itself (e.g., characterized by mean annual temperature, MAT) or it is related to the length of the cold season. Most of the studies only focus on MAT and other temperature indicators, not analyzing the effect of the length of the unfavorable cold season. In this sense, Kikuzawa et al.

#### Springer



Fig. 7 Relationship between mean annual temperature (MAT) and length of the cold season, measured as the number of months with mean monthly temperature (Tm) below 5 °C. Each circle represents a different oak species. Data are mean values of at least 40 locations within the distribution range of each species. Geographical distribution coordinates and climatic characteristics for each oak species were obtained from herbarium data and WorldClimV2.0 database, respectively, following the methodology described in [16••]. \*\*\* means a p value <0.001

[7] found a strong positive relationship between MAT and the portion of the year for favorable growth. Furthermore, taking into account the temperature in natural conditions of 30 oak species [16••], we have found a strong correlation ( $r^2 = 0.84$ , p < 0.0001) between MAT and the number of months with mean temperature below 5 °C (Fig. 7), i.e., the unfavorable season for growth, according to Wypych et al. [147]. These correlations suggest that LMA variations among species attributed to MAT could be also attributed and explained by the length of the unfavorable season. Therefore, further research is needed in order to clarify whether variations in LMA among oak species actually respond to the intensity of low temperatures or, by contrast, to the length of the cold season.

### **Functional Implications of Sclerophylly**

#### Sclerophylly as a Key Factor Modulating Oak Photosynthesis in the Context of the Leaf Economics Spectrum

LMA—the most widespread quantitative proxy for sclerophylly—is one of the major traits in the leaf economics spectrum (LES), which globally describes the coordinated variations in leaf structural, chemical, and photosynthetic characteristics [6]. The negative association between LMA and  $A_{mass}$  at a global scale has been linked to a higher investment in non-photosynthetic structural tissues and/or a lower efficiency of the photosynthetically active mesophyll [148].

However, the relationships among area-based net  $CO_2$  assimilation ( $A_{area}$ ), area-based nitrogen ( $N_{area}$ ), and LMA are less clear and could be modulated by the influence of different physiological and anatomical traits [38•]. Bearing in mind this general framework, these authors put in evidence the role of different mechanistic traits that could exert opposite effects on  $A_{area}$  associated with changes in LMA [38•]. Thus, Onoda et al. [38•] concluded that, globally, diffusive and biochemical limitations to photosynthesis associated with thicker cell walls (i.e., lower mesophyll conductance to  $CO_2$  and lower N allocation to Rubisco, respectively) can be complemented by

greater  $N_{area}$  in species with large LMA, thereby largely equalizing  $A_{area}$  across species with contrasting LMA.

Besides global variation across all species, meaningful variations among species in foliage traits have also been reported within a single genus. This is the case of *Quercus*, which exhibits a strong intra- [149] and interspecific [16••] variability in LMA. In this regard, the meta-analysis performed by Peguero-Pina et al. [150] demonstrated that the genus *Quercus* shows a broad range of variation in several major traits in LES (i.e., LMA, N<sub>mass</sub> and A<sub>mass</sub>), covering a high span within the full LES. In this section, we have extended this meta-analysis up to 71 oak species with the dataset available from the TRY Plant Trait Database ([40]; see Supplementary Material for details), which also included additional traits such as N<sub>area</sub>, A<sub>area</sub>, and stomatal conductance for H<sub>2</sub>O (g<sub>s</sub>).



**Fig. 8** Relationships between leaf dry mass per unit area (LMA) and (i) photosynthetic capacity per leaf dry mass ( $A_{mass}$ ) (upper left panel), (ii) photosynthetic capacity per leaf area ( $A_{area}$ ) (down left panel), (iii) nitrogen content per dry mass ( $N_{mass}$ ) (upper right panel), and (iv)

nitrogen content per leaf area ( $N_{area}$ ) (lower right panel) for different *Quercus* species. Data obtained from literature (see Supplementary Material). Symbols as in Fig. 2

D Springer
Overall, the results obtained confirm that the genus Quercus follows the general trends described in the LES, as LMA was negatively related with  $N_{mass}$  and  $A_{mass}$  (p < 0.0001, Fig. 8). However, this pattern was not observed when considering areabased relationships. Thus, the relationship between LMA and  $A_{area}$  was not statistically significant (p = 0.095, Fig. 8), although it was positive when considering only DEC species (p = 0.002, Fig. 8). Moreover, LMA and Narea showed a strong positive relationship (p < 0.0001, Fig. 8), which is in line with the results found by Yang et al. [151], for 483 species at 48 sites across China. Taken together, our findings could indicate the existence of additional factors modulating these relationships in oak species. Thus, an increase in mesophyll thickness concomitant to higher foliage robustness [41, 42] would explain the increase in Narea, probably because of overall greater number of cell layers and greater leaf volume [149, 150, 152]. In consequence, this phenomenon counteracts the negative influence of higher LMA values on photosynthetic capacity of oaks. By contrast, we have not found any significant relationship between LMA and  $g_{ss}$ mostly due to the occurrence of species with the lower  $g_s$  values in the groups with lower and higher LMA values (TEM-DEC and MED-EVE, respectively) (see in supplementary material figure 2). Otherwise, MED-DEC species with relatively low LMA values had the higher  $g_s$  values among all the oak species analyzed (see in supplementary material figure 2). This reflects the fact that transpiration rate should be independent of the

It is interesting that DEC and EVE oak species were grouped, respectively, towards the high and low return end, irrespective of their climatic origin. In fact, LMA is one of the most important functional traits that clearly separates EVE and DEC [16••, 83]. That is, within *Quercus*, these relationships seem to be more influenced by the leaf habit than by the climatic/ecological conditions of each species, indicating the

amount of photosynthetic machinery per unit area [16...].

coexistence of multiple trait values in the same climate [153]. Otherwise, Yang et al. [151] suggested that climate influences trait variation in part by selection for different life forms and families. In spite of this, these authors found a positive correlation between LMA and  $N_{area}$  and photosynthetic capacities after removal of climate effects, and concluded that it is still necessary to collect more systematic trait data across all climates and biomes. For instance, available data about tropical *Quercus* species are very limited, in spite of the great number of oak species occurring under these climatic conditions [58].

Both higher gs and Narea yield higher Aarea values in oaks, and the best fit for these correlations was a curve describing an exponential rise to a maximum assimilation rate of 17.5 and 19.1  $\mu$ mol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>, respectively (Fig. 9). In other words, there was a decreasing sensitivity of maximum CO2 uptake per leaf area when  $g_s$  and  $N_{area}$  reached threshold values, which indicated that other factors could also constrain Aarea, especially in species with higher gs (i.e., MED-DEC) and Narea (i.e., MED-EVE and MED-DEC). In this regard, the diffusion of CO<sub>2</sub> from the sub-stomatal cavities to the sites of carboxylation (i.e., the mesophyll conductance, gm) plays a key role in the photosynthetic process of *Quercus* species, [150]. This seems to be the case of MED-EVE from Europe and California [154•], but also for MED-DEC species such as Q. faginea [155]. It should be noted that several studies have revealed that  $g_m$  is negatively related to LMA [38•, 156, 157]. Specifically, the fact that  $g_m$  is limited by large LMA values has been mostly related to several leaf anatomical traits (i.e., mesophyll and cell wall thickness), and has been demonstrated for different species [148, 158–160] including MED oaks [154•]. Besides the increases in Narea associated to higher LMA values, Peguero-Pina et al. [161] demonstrated the existence of other anatomical adaptations at the cell level (increased mesophyll and chloroplast surface area exposed to intercellular air space) that allow MED-EVE to reach AN



Fig. 9 Relationships between photosynthetic capacity per leaf area ( $A_{area}$ ) and (i) stomatal conductance ( $g_s$ ) (left panel) and (ii) nitrogen content per leaf area ( $N_{area}$ ) (right panel) for different *Quercus* species. Data obtained from literature (see Supplementary Material). Symbols as in Fig. 2

#### D Springer

values comparable to congeneric deciduous species despite their higher leaf thickness and LMA.

## Functional Mechanisms Associating Sclerophylly and Drought Tolerance

The predominance of sclerophyllous oaks in habitats prone to induce water limitations, such as those under Mediterranean climate, has not been adequately explained in a functional way, so the role of a hard leaf for withstanding water shortage remains unclear. In this sense, different ecophysiological studies have revealed that Mediterranean sclerophyllous woody species show different, and even contrasted, strategies to cope with water stress [93, 162, 163] which question the existence of a single role of sclerophylly in terms of water relation [83].

A leaf can reach a high LMA through an increase in thickness (LT), a higher leaf density (LD) tissues, or the combination of both factors [5, 18, 41, 42], with very different functional consequences. Does an increase in LMA through a higher LD have a role in water relations? Oertli [164] proposed that leaves can withstand negative turgor pressure without being subjected to cell collapse, or cytorrhysis, if their tissue are constituted by small cells with thick walls. The extreme buckling of mesophyll cells at low water potentials (see [165]) will induce physical and irreversible damages in the plasmalemma. Oertli et al. [166] proposed that this mechanism of avoiding cytorrhysis by developing thick cell walls is especially important for plants living in dry habitats but with access to water along the year, as is the case of Mediterranean plants. However, this ability was not able to cope with



Fig. 10 Relationship between leaf dry mass per unit area (LMA) and the maximum bulk modulus of elasticity ( $\mathcal{E}_{max}$ ) for different *Quercus* species. Symbols as in Fig. 2

extreme water deficit. The seminal idea of Oertli has been recently revisited [167], but further research is needed to accept this mechanism as an explanation for the abundance of sclerophyllous species in dry areas, such those under Mediterranean-type climates.

Closely related to this ability for avoiding cell collapse by thicker cell walls, the relation between LD and the cell rigidity  $(\mathcal{E}_{\max})$  has been considered for explaining sclerophylly in waterlimited habitats [5, 90], due to the role of a higher  $\mathcal{E}_{\text{max}}$  in plant water relations (see above). However, few authors have reported a positive correlation between LMA and  $\mathcal{E}_{max}$  [45, 168–170], whereas others suggested a lack of correlation between both traits [93, 162]. We have found a non-linear positive relationship between LMA and  $\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{max}}$  from the data provided by Corcuera et al. [83] for different Quercus species growing in a common garden (Fig. 10). We obtained a similar result when this meta-analysis was extended up to 25 oak species, including the dataset available from the TRY Plant Trait Database [40] (data not shown). A caution is needed when relating LMA and  $\mathcal{E}_{max}$ , as the former is dependent on all the dry matter accumulated per area while the rigidity of the mesophyll cell walls should explain the latter [45, 93]. So, only the establishment of a closer relation between the morphological properties of the cell walls (thickness and rigidity) of these cells and their contribution to the overall LD could satisfy the idea that a higher LMA by denser leaf tissues could constitute an adaptive mechanism to cope with water deficit. Salleo et al. [168] proposed another adaptive advantage of sclerophyll in terms of water deficit, when he suggested that the water contained in the mechanical tissues of some sclerophyllous woody plant species would positively contributes to the recovery of the water deficit and its consequences [168]. Further studies should confirm this interesting idea.

Another way for increasing LD without a further increase in LT may be the increment in vein density, due to the anatomy of the vascular bundles and, eventually, of the bundle sheath extensions. A functional advantage, in terms of water limitations, of a higher vein density was proposed by Scoffoni et al. [171] and confirmed by Nardini et al. [172], when found that the higher the density of major vein—first, second, and third order—the higher the resistance to water stress-induced xylem cavitation. Further evidence of an increase of major vein density in oaks with increasing the aridity of their distribution range was found by Peguero-Pina et al. [82].

It is well known that drought-stressed plants close their stomata to minimize the water loss, and under such conditions, diffusion across the cuticle is the only route of water loss. So, the cuticular water permeability (p) has been used as an indicator of the efficiency of the cuticular transpiration barrier. The genus *Quercus*, presenting both deciduous and evergreen species, is ideal for testing whether sclerophylly can be considered as a functional adaptation to withstand drought at the leaf cuticular level. To address this question, we compiled

cuticular water permeability and leaf mass per area (LMA) values in the literature and checked how these traits were related. The cuticular conductance  $(g_{\min})$  represents the lowest conductance a leaf can reach when stomata are maximally closed as a consequence of desiccation stress [137]. Therefore, it is a proxy for cuticular permeability [169, 173, 174]. Both  $g_{\min}$  and p were included in this analysis under the assumption that the influence of leaky stomata is very small or absent [169, 173, 174] and, therefore, they play the same ecological role. To the best of our knowledge, only seven publications reported concomitantly values of cuticular permeability and LMA of Quercus species (Supplementary Table S1). Cuticular permeability given in mmol  $m^{-2} s^{-1}$  were converted to m  $s^{-1}$  according to Kerstiens [175], where 0.41 mmol  $m^{-2}~s^{-1}$  equals  $1\times 10^{-5}~m~s^{-1}.$  In total, 21 individual data for permeability and 19 for LMA, including in some cases multiple data for a single plant species, were evaluated. LMA and permeability data ranged from  $33.0 \text{ g m}^{-2}$ (*Q. petraea*) to 245.7 g m<sup>-2</sup> (*Q. coccifera*), and in the alternative dimension from  $2.1 \times 10^{-5}$  m s<sup>-1</sup> (*Q. agrifolia*) to  $17.9 \times$  $10^{-5}$  m s<sup>-1</sup> in (*Q. faginea*), respectively. Both plant traits had normal distributed data, and therefore, t tests could be used to investigate differences among group of species.

Pairs of LMA and cuticular water permeability were found for eight evergreen and five deciduous species of oaks. In contrast to the common notion, the barrier properties of the leaf cuticle are not correlated to LMA (see in supplementary material figure 3). This agrees with previous studies on xerophytic plant species [176, 177]. Therefore, LMA is not a predictor for cuticular transpiration.

Data for eight deciduous and six evergreen oak species were subjected to further analyses. LMA of deciduous oaks



**Fig. 11** Leaf mass per area (LMA) (A; 19 data points) and cuticular permeances or minimum conductances (A; 21 data points) of 14 *Quercus* species collected from the literature (Supplementary Table S1). Data represent eight deciduous oak species (DEC, 11 and 12 data points for LMA and permeability, respectively) and six evergreen oak species (EVE, 8 and 9 data points). The boxes stand for the lower (Q1) and upper

#### 



Fig. 12 A summary of the key factors promoting sclerophylly (circles) and the transverse section of the mesophyll leaf of *Quercus robur*, Q. faginea, and *Q. ilex* subsp. rotundifolia ranked from less to more sclerophyllous. Mesophyll bright areas mainly coincide with thick cell walls in epidermal structures, vascular bundles and bundle sheath extensions. Scale bar 100  $\mu$ m. A high factor's circle size indicates a high influence of the factor on the specie

 $(77.4 \pm 18.7 \text{ g m}^{-2})$  was over 2-fold lower than that found for evergreen oaks  $(179 \pm 29.3 \text{ g m}^{-2})$ ; Fig. 11a). In contrast to



(Q3) quartiles. The solid lines represent the median, whereas dashed lines represent the mean. The whiskers stand for the smallest and largest values that are not more than 1.5 interquartile ranges away from the box. The potential outliers falling outside the Q1–Q3 range are represented by dots. The asterisk indicates a significant difference of LMA between DEC and EVE oaks (*t* test, p < 0.05)

LMA, the cuticular permeability of deciduous oaks  $(9.0 \pm 5.0 \times 10^{-5} \text{ m s}^{-1} \text{ to } 21.93 \pm 12.18 \text{ mmol m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1}$ ; mean  $\pm$  standard deviation) and evergreen oaks  $(8.4 \pm 3.4 \times 10^{-5} \text{ m s}^{-1} \text{ or } 20.40 \pm 8.41 \text{ mmol m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1})$  was very similar. Thus, no statistically significant difference was found between deciduous and evergreen oaks (Fig. 11b).

These findings demonstrate that high LMA does not affect the efficacy of the cuticular transpiration barrier and, therefore, does not support the hypothesis that the stiff leaves of Quercus would be a functional adaptation to cope with the summer drought through a decrease in cuticular transpiration. It has been widely accepted that waxes mainly make up the plant cuticular barrier against passive water loss [178]. However, this relation is not yet well understood. Cuticular waxes are complex mixtures of up to 150 components distributed into compound classes with different properties. Previous studies on several plant species have shown that cuticular permeability correlates neither with the cuticular wax loads nor with cuticle thickness [176, 177, 179, 180]. Recently, Bueno et al. [181] showed that Q. coccifera plants produce different leaf wax loads when grown either under arid or humid conditions, but that the cuticular transpiration barrier properties were not affected by the growing conditions. While the plants under arid conditions had a higher wax load, the relative compositions of the waxes were identical for both habitats.

#### Conclusion

Our critical review of the different proposed explanations for sclerophylly indicates that there is "no single way to Rome." The wide variability found for this trait within the genus Quercus cannot be explained alone by any of the ecological factors considered (water, nutrients, leaf longevity, herbivory, temperature), neither any of them could be fully discarded. Noteworthy, our study also suggests that these constraints may have a synergistic effect. Hence, habitats combining several ecological limitations are the ones where sclerophylly is more prevalent, as exemplified by the case of Mediterranean evergreens (see Fig. 12). Mediterranean habitats are unique in combining summer drought and a relatively cold winter, splitting the growing season in two isolated periods (spring and autumn). This has generally promoted leaf longevity, as a mechanism to take advantage of spring and autumn optimal conditions. As discussed above, these long-living leaves must be also hard enough to overcome accumulated (both abiotic and biotic) stressors. We could also identify a substantial knowledge gap regarding oak species in tropical biomes, despite being a major biodiversity hotspot for the genus. The few studies available so far suggest that evergreen oaks in tropical dry highlands may show converging physiological adaptations with Mediterranean oaks, a point that deserves further

assessment. From a functional point of view, we can conclude that in oaks, leaf habit largely modulates the physiological implications of sclerophylly. We have highlighted that, among evergreens, sclerophylly has a cost not only in terms of carbon investment but also limits carbon uptake capacity, mainly through diffusional limitations. Conversely, the increase in LMA among deciduous oaks is associated with larger photosynthetic capacity, reflecting the strategy of Mediterranean deciduous oaks to maximize carbon gain during optimal periods, as an adaptation to the splitting of the growing season.

Acknowledgments The study has been supported by the TRY initiative on plant traits (http://www.try-db.org). The TRY initiative and database is hosted, developed, and maintained by J. Kattge and G. Boenisch (Max Planck Institute for Biogeochemistry, Jena, Germany). TRY is currently supported by Future Earth/bioDISCOVERY and the German Centre for Integrative Biodiversity Research (iDiv) Halle-Jena-Leipzig.

Funding Information This research was funded by Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria (INIA) grant number RTA2015—00054-C02-01 and by Gobierno de Aragón H09\_20R research group. Work of D. A. F. is supported by a FPI-INIA contract BES-2017-081208. Research of D. S. K. is supported by a DOC INIA-CCAA contract co-funded by INIA and European Social Fund.

#### **Compliance with Ethical Standards**

**Conflict of Interest** David Alonso-Forn, Domingo Sancho-Knapik, Juan pedro Ferrio, José Javier Peguero-Pina, Amauri Bueno, Yusuke Onoda, Jeannine Cavender-Bares, Ülo Niinemets, Steven Jansen, Markus Riederer, Johannes H.C. Cornelissen, Yongfu Chai and Eustaqui Gil-Pelegrín declare that they have no conflict of interest.

Human and Animal Rights and Informed Consent This article does not contain any studies with human or animal subjects performed by any of the authors.

# References

Papers of particular interest, published recently, have been highlighted as:

- · Of importance
- · Of major importance
  - Schimper AFW. Plant geography upon a physiological basis. Oxford: Clarendon Press; 1903.
  - Loveless AR. A nutritional interpretation of sclerophylly based on differences in the chemical composition of sclerophyllous and mesophytic leaves. Ann Bot. 1961;25:168–84.
  - Loveless AR. Further evidence to support a nutritional interpretation of Sclerophylly. Ann Bot. 1962;26:551–60.
  - Reich PB, Walters MB, Ellsworth DS. Leaf life-span in relation to leaf, plant, and stand characteristics among diverse ecosystems. Ecol Monogr. 1992;62:365–92.
  - Niinemets Ü. Global-scale climatic controls of leaf dry mass per area, density, and thickness in trees and shrubs. Ecology. 2001;82: 453–69.

- Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M, Ackerly DD, Baruch Z, Bongers F, et al. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Nature. 2004;428:821-7.
- Kikuzawa K, Onoda Y, Wright IJ, Reich PB. Mechanisms underlying global temperature-related patterns in leaf longevity. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 2013;22:982–93.
- Schimper AFW. Plant geography upon a physiological basis. 1903.
- Oertli JJ, Lips SH, Agami M. The strength of sclerophyllous cells to resist collapse due to negative turgor pressure. Acta Oecol. 1990;11:281–9.
- Beadle NCW. Soil phosphate and its role in molding segments of the australian flora and vegetation, with special reference to xeromorphy and sclerophylly. Ecology. 1966;47:992–1007.
- Lamontagne M, Margolis H, Bigras F. Photosynthesis of black spruce, jack pine, and trembling aspen after artificially induced frost during the growing season. Can J For Res. 1998;28:1–12.
- Koppel A, Heinsoo K. Variability in cuticular resistance of *Picea* abies (L.) karst. and its significance in winter desiccation. Proc Est Acad Sci Ecol. 1994;4:56–63.
- Chabot BF, Hicks DJ. The ecology of leaf life spans. Annu Rev Ecol Syst. 1982;13:229–59.
- Grubb PJ. Sclerophylls, pachyphylls and pycnophylls: the nature and significance of hard leaf surfaces. In: Juniper B, Southwood R, editors. Insects and the plant surface. London: Edward Arnold, 1986. p. 137–50.
- Turner IM. Sclerophylly: primarily protective? Funct Ecol. JSTOR. 1994;8:669–75.
- 16.•• Gil-Pelegrín E, Saz MÁ, Cuadrat JM, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D. Oaks under Mediterranean-type climates: functional response to summer aridity. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina J, Sancho-Knapik D, editors. Oaks Physiological Ecology. Exploring the Functional Diversity of Genus Quercus L. Tree Physiology. Cham: Springer; 2017. This chapter reviews the different strategies to cope with Mediterranean-type climates of both sclerophyllous evergreen and winter-deciduous oaks.
- Aranwela N, Sanson G, Read J. Methods of assessing leaf-fracture properties. New Phytol Cambridge University Press. 1999;144: 369–93.
- Onoda Y, Westoby M, Adler PB, Choong AMF, Clissold FJ, Cornelissen JHC, et al. Global patterns of leaf mechanical properties. Ecol Lett. 2011;14:301–12.
- 19. Lucas PW, Pereira B. Estimation of the fracture toughness of leaves. Funct Ecol JSTOR. 1990;4:819.
- Wright W, Illius AW. A comparative study of the fracture properties of five grasses. Funct Ecol JSTOR. 1995;9:269.
- Wright IJ, Cannon K. Relationships between leaf lifespan and structural defences in a low-nutrient, sclerophyll flora. Funct Ecol. 2001;15:351–9.
- Williams LH. The feeding habits and food preferences of Acrididae and the factors which determine them. Trans R Entomol Soc London. 1954;105:423–54.
- Cherrett JM. A simple penetrometer for measuring leaf toughness in insect feeding Studies1. J Econ Entomol. 1968;61:1736–8.
- Coley PD. Herbivory and defensive characteristics of tree species in a lowland tropical Forest. Ecol Monogr. 1983;53:209–34.
- Choong MF, Lucas PW, Ong JSY, Pereira B, Tan HTW, Turner IM. Leaf fracture toughness and sclerophylly: their correlations and ecological implications. New Phytol. 1992;121:597–610.
- Vincent JFV. Plants. In: Vincent JFV, editor. Biomech a pract approach. Oxford: IRL Press at Oxford University Press; 1992. p. 165–91.
- 27. Hendry GAF, Grime JP. Methods in comparative plant ecology: a laboratory manual. J Ecol. 1993;81:832.
- Cornelissen JHC, Cerabolini B, Castro-Díez P, Villar-Salvador P, Montserrat-Martí G, Puyravaud JP, et al. Functional traits of

#### D Springer

woody plants: correspondence of species rankings between field adults and laboratory-grown seedlings? J Veg Sci. 2003;14:311– 22.

- Onoda Y, Schieving F, Anten NPR. A novel method of measuring leaf epidermis and mesophyll stiffness shows the ubiquitous nature of the sandwich structure of leaf laminas in broad-leaved angiosperm species. J Exp Bot. 2015;66:2487–99.
- Niinemets Ü, Fleck S. Petiole mechanics, leaf inclination, morphology, and investment in support in relation to light availability in the canopy of Liriodendron tulipifera. Oecologia. 2002;132:21– 33.
- Niinemets Ü, Fleck S. Leaf biomechanics and biomass investment in support in relation to long-term irradiance in Fagus. Plant Biol. 2002;4:523–34.
- Read J, Sanson GD. Characterizing sclerophylly: the mechanical properties of a diverse range of leaf types. New Phytol. 2003;160: 81–99.
- Onoda Y, Schieving F, Anten NPR. Effects of light and nutrient availability on leaf mechanical properties of Plantago major: a conceptual approach. Ann Bot. 2008;101:727–36.
- Turner IM, Choong MF, Tan HTW, Lucas PW. How tough are sclerophylls? Ann Bot Oxford University Press. 1993;71:343–5.
- Onoda Y, Richards L, Westoby M. The importance of leaf cuticle for carbon economy and mechanical strength. New Phytol. 2012;196:441–7.
- Groom PK, Lamont BB. Which common indices of sclerophylly best reflect differences in leaf structure? Ecoscience. 1999;6:471– 4.
- Takashima T, Hikosaka K, Hirose T. Photosynthesis or persistence: nitrogen allocation in leaves of evergreen and deciduous Quercus species. Plant Cell Environ. 2004;27:1047–54.
- 38.• Onoda Y, Wright IJ, Evans JR, Hikosaka K, Kitajima K, Niinemets Ü, et al. Physiological and structural tradeoffs underlying the leaf economics spectrum. New Phytol. 2017;214:1447– 63 This paper is useful to understand how limitations to photosynthesis associated with thicker cell walls can be complemented by greater area-based nitrogen in species with large lef mass per area (LMA), thereby largely equalizing area-based net CO2 assimilation across species with contrasting LMA.
- Ordoñez JC, Van Bodegom PM, Witte JPM, Wright IJ, Reich PB, Aerts R. A global study of relationships between leaf traits, climate and soil measures of nutrient fertility. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 2009;18:137–49.
- Kattge J, Díaz S, Lavorel S, Prentice IC, Leadley P, Bönisch G, et al. TRY - a global database of plant traits. Glob Chang Biol. 2011;17:2905–35.
- Poorter H, Niinemets Ü, Poorter L, Wright IJ, Villar R. Causes and consequences of variation in leaf mass per area (LMA): a metaanalysis. New Phytol. 2009;182:565–88.
- Niinemets Ü. Components of leaf dry mass per area thickness and density - alter leaf photosynthetic capacity in reverse directions in woody plants. New Phytol. 1999;144:35–47.
- Maximov NA. The physiological significance of the xeromorphic structure of plants. J Ecol. 1931;19:273.
- Seddon G. Xerophytes, xeromorphs and sclerophylls: the history of some concepts in ecology. Biol J Linn Soc. 1974;6:65–87.
- Groom PK, Lamont BB. Xerophytic implications of increased sclerophylly: interactions with water and light in Hakea psilorrhyncha seedlings. New Phytol. 1997;136:231–7.
- 46. Lamont BB, Groom PK, Cowling RM. High leaf mass per area of related species assemblages may reflect low rainfall and carbon isotope discrimination rather than low phosphorus and nitrogen concentrations. Funct Ecol. 2002;16:403–12.
- 47. Jarvis DI, Leopold EB, Liu Y. Distinguishing the pollen of deciduous oaks, evergreen oaks, and certain rosaceous species of

southwestern Sichuan Province. China Rev Palaeobot Palynol. 1992;75:259-71.

- Barclay G. Plant anatomy. In: Roberts K, editor. Handb plant Sci, vol. 1. Chichester: Wiley; 2007. p. 13–26.
- Mooney HA, Dunn EL. Convergent evolution of Mediterraneanclimate evergreen sclerophyll shrubs. Evolution (N Y) Wiley Online Library. 1970;24:292–303.
- Kummerow J. Comparative anatomy of sclerophylls of Mediterranean climatic areas. In: di Castri F, Mooney HA, editors. Mediterr type Ecosyst Ecol stud (analysis synth), vol. 7. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer; 1973. p. 157–67.
- Walter H. Vegetation of the earth and ecological systems of the geo-biosphere. 3rd ed. Berlin: Springer; 1985. p. 318.
- Damesin C, Rambal S, Joffre R. Co-occurrence of trees with different leaf habit: a functional approach on Mediterranean oaks. Acta Oecol. 1998;19:195–204.
- Oppenheimer HR. Adaptation to drought: xerophytism. Arid Zo Res XV Plant-water relationships Arid semi-arid Cond. Paris: Unesco; 1960. p. 105–38.
- Mooney HA. Habitat, plant form and plant water relations in Mediterranean-climate regions. Ecol Mediterr. 1982;8:287–296.
- De Micco V, Aronne G. Morpho-anatomical traits for plant adaptation to drought. In: Aroca R, editor. Plant responses to drought stress. From morfological to molecular features. Berlin: Springer; 2012. p. 37–61.
- Axelrod DI. Evolution and biogeography of Madrean-Tethyan sclerophyll vegetation. Ann Missouri Bot Gard. 1975;62:280.
- Sobrado MA, Medina E. General morphology, anatomical structure, and nutrient content of sclerophyllous leaves of the "bana" vegetation of Amazonas. Oecologia. 1980;45:341–5.
- Kappelle M, Cleef AM, Chaverri A. Phytogeography of Talamanca montane Quercus forests. Costa Rica J Biogeogr. 1992;19:299.
- 59. Denk T, Grimm GW, Manos PS, Deng M, Hipp AL. An updated infrageneric classification of the oaks: review of previous taxonomic schemes and synthesis of evolutionary patterns. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, editors. Oaks Physiol Ecol Explor Funct Divers Genus Quercus L. Cham: Springer International Publishing AG; 2017. p. 13–38.
- Ackerly D. Functional strategies of chaparral shrubs in relation to seasonal water deficit and disturbance. Ecol Monogr. 2004;74:25– 44.
- Quan C, Han S, Utescher T, Zhang C, Liu YSC. Validation of temperature-precipitation based aridity index: Paleoclimatic implications. Palaeogeogr Palaeoclimatol Palaeoecol. 2013;386:86–95.
- Medina E, Garcia V, Cuevas E. Sclerophylly and oligotrophic environments: relationships between leaf structure, mineral nutrient content, and drought resistance in tropical rain forests of the upper Rio Negro region. Biotropica. 1990;22:51.
- Kapos V, Tanner EVJ. Water relations of Jamaican upper montane rain forest trees. Ecology. 1985;66:241–50.
- Medina E. Adaptations of tropical trees to moisture stress. Trop Rain For Ecosyst. 1983;14B:225–37.
- Meinzer F, Seymour V, Goldstein G. Water balance in developing leaves of four tropical savanna woody species. Oecologia. 1983;60:237–43.
- Turner IM, Ong BL, Tan HTW. Vegetation analysis, leaf structure and nutrient status of a Malaysian health community. Biotropica. 1995;27:2.
- Parolin P, Müller E, Junk WJ. Water relations of Amazonian Várzea trees. Int J Ecol Environ Sci. 2005;31:361–4.
- Yang QS, Chen WY, Xia K, Zhou ZK. Climatic envelope of evergreen sclerophyllous oaks and their present distribution in the eastern Himalaya and Hengduan Mountains. J Syst Evol. 2009;47:183–90.

- Singh SP, Tewari A, Singh SK, Pathak GC. Significance of phenologically asynchronous populations of the central Himalayan oaks in drought adaptation. Curr Sci. 2000;79:353–7.
- Bisht VK, Kuniyal CP, Nautiyal BP, Prasad P. Spatial distribution and regeneration of Quercus semecarpifolia and Quercus floribunda in a subalpine forest of western Himalaya, India. Physiol Mol Biol Plants. 2013;19:443–8.
- Tang CQ. Evergreen sclerophyllous Quercus forests in northwestern Yunnan, China as compared to the Mediterranean evergreen Quercus forests in California, USA and northeastern Spain. Web Ecol. 2006;6:88–101.
- Poudyal K. Plant water relations, phenology and drought adaptation strategy of Himalayan oak; Quercus lanata in Phulchowki Hill. Nepal Sci Secur J Biotechnol. 2013;2:99–110.
- Singh SP, Zobel DB, Garkoti SC, Tewari A, Negi CMS. Patterns in water relations of central Himalayan trees. Trop Ecol. 2006;47: 159–82.
- Shrestha KB, Måren IE, Arneberg E, Sah JP, Vetaas OR. Effect of anthropogenic disturbance on plant species diversity in oak forests in Nepal, central Himalaya. Int J Biodivers Sci Ecosyst Serv Manag. 2013;9:21–9.
- Singh SP, Adhikari BS, Zobel DB. Biomass, productivity, leaf longevity, and forest structure in the central Himalaya. Ecol Monogr. 1994;64:401–21.
- Poudyal K, Jha PK, Zobel DB, Thapa CB. Patterns of leaf conductance and water potential of five Himalayan tree species. Tree Physiol. 2004;24:689–99.
- Singh SP, Zobel DB. Tree water relations along the vegetational gradients in Himalayas. Curr Sci. 1995;68:742–5.
- Shrestha BB, Uprety Y, Nepal K, Tripathi S, Jha PK. Phenology and water relations of eight woody species in the Coronation Garden of Kirtipur, Central Nepal. Himal J Sci. 2007;4:49–56.
- Sigdel M, Ikeda M. Spatial and temporal analysis of drought in Nepal using standardized precipitation index and its relationship with climate indices. J Hydrol Meteorol. 2010;7:59–74.
- Limousin JM, Rambal S, Ourcival JM, Rocheteau A, Joffre R, Rodriguez-Cortina R. Long-term transpiration change with rainfall decline in a Mediterranean Quercus ilex forest. Glob Chang Biol. 2009;15:2163–75.
- Vilagrosa A, Bellot J, Vallejo VR, Gil-Pelegrín E. Cavitation, stomatal conductance, and leaf dieback in seedlings of two cooccurring Mediterranean shrubs during an intense drought. J Exp Bot. 2003;54:2015–24.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Barrón E, Camarero JJ, Vilagrosa A, Gil-Pelegrín E. Morphological and physiological divergences within Quercus ilex support the existence of different ecotypes depending on climatic dryness. Ann Bot. 2014;114:301– 13.
- Corcuera L, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E. Functional groups in Quercus species derived from the analysis of pressure-volume curves. Trees - Struct Funct. 2002;16:465–72.
- Castagneri D, Regev L, Boaretto E, Carrer M. Xylem anatomical traits reveal different strategies of two Mediterranean oaks to cope with drought and warming. Environ Exp Bot. 2017;133:128–38.
- Forner A, Valladares F, Aranda I. Mediterranean trees coping with severe drought: avoidance might not be safe. Environ Exp Bot. 2018;155:529–40.
- Nardini A, Lo Gullo MA, Salleo S. Competitive strategies for water availability in two Mediterranean Quercus species. Plant Cell Environ. 1999;22:109–16.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Martín P, Saz MÁ, Gea-Izquierdo G, Cañellas I, et al. Evidence of vulnerability segmentation in a deciduous Mediterranean oak (Quercus subpyrenaica E. H. del Villar). Trees - Struct Funct. 2015;29:1917–27.
- Chaideftou E, Thanos CA, Bergmeier E, Kallimanis A, Dimopoulos P. Seed bank composition and above-ground

vegetation in response to grazing in sub-Mediterranean oak forests (NW Greece). For Ecol Recent Adv Plant Ecol. 2009;201: 255-65.

- Tyree M, Cochard H. Summer and winter embolism in oak: impact on water relations. Ann des Sci For. 1996;53:173–80.
- Salleo S, Pitt F, Nardini A, Hamzé M, Jomaa I. Differential drought resistance of two Mediterranean oaks growing in the Bekaa Valley (Lebanon). Plant Biosyst. 2002;136:91–9.
- Corcuera L, Morales F, Abadia A, Gil-Pelegrin E. The effect of low temperatures on the photosynthetic apparatus of Quercus ilex subsp. ballota at its lower and upper altitudinal limits in the Iberian peninsula and during a single freezing-thawing cycle. Trees -Struct Funct. 2005;19:99–108.
- Bartlett MK, Scoffoni C, Sack L. The determinants of leaf turgor loss point and prediction of drought tolerance of species and biomes: a global meta-analysis. Ecol Lett Wiley Online Library. 2012;15:393–405.
- Nardini A, Lo Gullo MA, Tracanelli S. Water relations of six sclerophylls growing near Trieste (northeastern Italy): has sclerophylly a univocal functional significance? G Bot Ital. 1996;130:811-28.
- McAdam SAM, Brodribb TJ. Linking turgor with ABA biosynthesis: implications for stomatal responses to vapor pressure deficit across land plants. Plant Physiol. 2016;171:2008–16.
- Maherali H, Pockman WT, Jackson RB. Adaptive variation in the vulnerability of woody plants to xylem cavitation. Ecology. 2004;85:2184–99.
- Jacobsen AL, Pratt RB, Davis SD, Ewers FW. Cavitation resistance and seasonal hydraulics differ among three arid Californian plant communities. Plant Cell Environ. 2007;30:1599–609.
- Urli M, Porté AJ, Cochard H, Guengant Y, Burlett R, Delzon S. Xylem embolism threshold for catastrophic hydraulic failure in angiosperm trees. Tree Physiol. 2013;33:672–83.
- Beadle NCW. The edaphic factor in plant ecology with a special note on soil phosphates. Ecology. 1953;34:426–8.
- Beadle NC. Soil phosphate and the delimitation of plant communities in eastern Australia. Ecology. 1954;35:370–5.
- Kooyman RM, Laffan SW, Westoby M. The incidence of low phosphorus soils in Australia. Plant Soil [Internet] Plant Soil. 2017;412:143-50. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11104-016-3057-0.
- Gonçalves-Alvim SJ, Korndorf G, Fernandes GW. Sclerophylly in Qualea parviflora (Vochysiaceae): influence of herbivory, mineral nutrients, and water status. Plant Ecol. 2006;187:153–62.
- Cramer MD. Phosphate as a limiting resource: introduction. Plant Soil. 2010;334:1–10.
- He D, Chen Y, Zhao K, Cornelissen JHC, Chu C. Intra- and interspecific trait variations reveal functional relationships between specific leaf area and soil niche within a subtropical forest. Ann Bot. 2018;121:1173–82.
- Sereneski-De Lima C, Torres-Boeger MR, Larcher-De Carvalho L, Pelozzo A, Soffiatti P. Sclerophylly in mangrove tree species from South Brazil. Rev Mex Biodivers [Internet] Elsevier. 2013;84:1159–66. https://doi.org/10.7550/rmb.32149.
- Caritat A, Bertoni G, Molinas M, Oliva M, Domínguez-Planella A. Litterfall and mineral return in two cork-oak forests in Northeast Spain. Ann des Sci For. 1996;53:1049–58.
- Castro M, Fernandez-Nuñez E. Soil properties and understory herbaceous biomass in forests of three species of Quercus Northeast Portugal. For Syst. 2014;23:425–37.
- Cavender-Bares J, Ackerly DD, Baum DA, Bazzaz FA. Phylogenetic overdispersion in Floridian oak communities. Am Nat. 2004;163:823–43.
- García LV, Maltez-Mouro S, Pérez-Ramos IM, Freitas H, Marañón T. Counteracting gradients of light and soil nutrients in the understorey of Mediterranean oak forests. Web Ecol. 2006;6: 67–74.

- Aranda V, Comino F. Soil organic matter quality in three Mediterranean environments (a first barrier against desertification in Europe). J Soil Sci plant Nutr. 2014;14:743–60.
- Sardans J, Peñuelas J. Plant-soil interactions in Mediterranean forest and shrublands: impacts of climatic change. Plant Soil. 2013;365:1–33.
- Rafahi H. Proprietes physico-chimiques et mineralogiques des sols des forets de chenes de l'ouest de l'Iran. Can J Soil Sci. 1982;48:39–48.
- Gallardo A. Spatial variability of soil properties in a floodplain forest in Northwest Spain. Ecosystems. 2003;6:564–76.
- Zhang H, Yang X, Yu M, Wu T. Effect of genetics and environment on leaf morphology and SLA for Quercus acutissima. Sylwan. 2018;160:516–41.
- 114. Zhang H, Guo W, Wang GG, Yu M, Wu T. Effect of environment and genetics on leaf N and P stoichiometry for Quercus acutissima across China. Eur J For Res. 2016;135:795–802.
- Rueda M, Godoy O, Hawkins BA. Spatial and evolutionary parallelism between shade and drought tolerance explains the distributions of conifers in the conterminous United States. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 2017;26:31–42.
- 116. Medici A, Szponarski W, Dangeville P, Safi A, Dissanayake IM, Saenchai C, et al. Identification of molecular integrators shows that nitrogen actively controls the phosphate starvation response in plants. Plant Cell. 2019;31:1171–84.
- 117. Cornelissen JHC, Quested HM, Gwynn-Jones D, Van Logtestijn RSP, De Beus MAH, Kondratchuk A, et al. Leaf digestibility and litter decomposability are related in a wide range of subarctic plant species and types. Funct Ecol. 2004;18:779–86.
- Aerts R. The advantages of being evergreen. Trends Ecol Evol. 1995;10:402–7.
- Reich PB, Ellsworth DS, Walters MB, Vose JM, Gresham C, Volin JC, et al. Generality of leaf trait relationships: a test across six biomes. Ecology. 1999;80:1955–69.
- Mediavilla S, Garcia-Ciudad A, Garcia-Criado B, Escudero A. Testing the correlations between leaf life span and leaf structural reinforcement in 13 species of European Mediterranean woody plants. Funct Ecol. 2008;22:787–93.
- Mediavilla S, Babiano J, Martínez-Ortega M, Escudero A. Ontogenetic changes in anti-herbivore defensive traits in leaves of four Mediterranean co-occurring Quercus species. Ecol Res. 2018;33:1093–102.
- Cavender-Bares J, Kitajima K, Bazzaz FA. Multiple trait associations in relation to habitat differentiation among 17 Floridian oak species. Ecol Monogr. 2004;74:635–62.
- 123. Matsuki S, Koike T. Comparison of leaf life span, photosynthesis and defensive traits across seven species of deciduous broad-leaf tree seedlings. Ann Bot. 2006;97:813–7.
- Harayama H, Ishida A, Yoshimura J. Overwintering evergreen oaks reverse typical relationships between leaf traits in a species spectrum. R Soc Open Sci. 2016;3:160276.
- Coley PD. Effects of plant growth rate and leaf lifetime on the amount and type of anti-herbivore defense. Oecologia. 1988;74: 531-6.
- Niklas KJ. A mechanical perspective on foliage leaf form and function. New Phytol. 1999;143:19–31.
- Wright W, Vincent JFV. Herbivory and the mechanics of fracture in plants. Biol Rev. 1996;71:401–13.
- Peeters PJ, Sanson G, Read J. Leaf biomechanical properties and the densities of herbivorous insect guilds. Funct Ecol. 2007;21: 246–55.
- Coley PD, Barone JA. Herbivory and plant defenses in tropical forests. Annu Rev Ecol Syst. 1996;27:305–35.
- Kurokawa H, Nakashizuka T. Leaf Herbivory and decomposability in a Malaysian tropical rain forest. Ecology. 2008;89:2645–56.

#### Springer

- Pérez-Harguindeguy N, Díaz S, Vendramini F, Cornelissen JHC, Gurvich DE, Cabido M. Leaf traits and herbivore selection in the field and in cafeteria experiments. Austral Ecol. 2003;28:642–50.
- Peeters PJ. Correlations between leaf structural traits and the densities of herbivorous insect guilds. Biol J Linn Soc. 2002;77:43– 65.
- Feeny P. Seasonal changes in oak leaf tannins and nutrients as a cause of spring feeding by winter moth caterpillars. Ecology. 1970;51:565–81.
- Ivanov A, Sane P, Zeinalov Y, Malmberg G, Gardeström P, Huner N, et al. Photosynthetic electron transport adjustments in overwintering Scots pine (Pinus sylvetris L.). Planta. 2001;213: 575–85.
- 135. Peguero-Pina JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E, Morales F. Photosystem II efficiency of the palisade and spongy mesophyll in Quercus coccifera using adaxial/abaxial illumination and excitation light sources with wavelengths varying in penetration into the leaf tissue. Photosynth Res. 2009;99:49–61.
- 136.• Niinemets Ü. Does the touch of cold make evergreen leaves tougher? Tree Physiol. 2016;36:267–72 This commentary reviews the ability of sclerophyllous species to resist cold and shows how sclerophilly reduces physiological damage caused by freezing.
- Körner C, Neumayer M, Menendez-Riedl SP, Smeets-Scheel A. Functional morphology of mountain plants. Flora Elsevier. 1989;182:353–83.
- Atkin OK, Botman B, Lambers H. The causes of inherently slow growth in Alpine plants: an analysis based on the underlying carbon economies of Alpine and lowland Poa species. Funct Ecol. 1996;10:698.
- Ball MC, Wolfe J, Canny M, Hofmann M, Nicotra AB, Hughes D. Space and time dependence of temperature and freezing in evergreen leaves. Funct Plant Biol. 2002;29:1259–72.
- Fall R, Karl T, Jordan A, Lindinger W. Biogenic C5 VOCs: release from leaves after freeze-thaw wounding and occurrence in air at a high mountain observatory. Atmos Environ. 2001;35: 3905–16.
- Scholz FG, Bucci SJ, Arias N, Meinzer FC, Goldstein G. Osmotic and elastic adjustments in cold desert shrubs differing in rooting depth: coping with drought and subzero temperatures. Oecologia. 2012;170:885–97.
- Rajashekar CB, Burke MJ. Freezing characteristics of rigid plant tissues: development of cell tension during extracellular freezing. Plant Physiol. 1996;111:597–603.
- Weiser RL, Wallner SJ, Waddell JW. Cell wall and extensin mRNA changes during cold acclimation of pea seedlings. Plant Physiol. 1990;93:1021–6.
- Le Gall H, Philippe F, Domon JM, Gillet F, Pelloux J, Rayon C. Cell wall metabolism in response to abiotic stress. Plants. 2015;4: 112–66.
- González-Zurdo P, Escudero A, Babiano J, García-Ciudad A, Mediavilla S. Costs of leaf reinforcement in response to winter cold in evergreen species. Tree Physiol. 2016;36:273–86.
- Ogaya R, Peñuelas J. Leaf mass per area ratio in Quercus ilex leaves under a wide range of climatic conditions. The importance of low temperatures. Acta Oecol. 2007;31:168–73.
- 147. Wypych A, Sulikowska A, Ustrnul Z, Czekierda D. Variability of growing degree days in Poland in response to ongoing climate changes in Europe. Int J Biometeorol. 2017;61:49–59.
- Niinemets Ü, Wright IJ, Evans JR. Leaf mesophyll diffusion conductance in 35 Australian sclerophylls covering a broad range of foliage structural and physiological variation. J Exp Bot Oxford University Press. 2009;60:2433–49.
- Niinemets Ü. Is there a species spectrum within the world-wide leaf economics spectrum? Major variations in leaf functional traits

in the Mediterranean sclerophyll Quercus ilex. New Phytol Wiley Online Library. 2015;205:79–96.

- 150. Peguero-Pina JJ, Aranda I, Cano FJ, Galmés J, Gil-Pelegrín E, Niinemets Ü, et al. The role of mesophyll conductance in oak photosynthesis: among- and within-species variability. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, editors. Oaks Physiol Ecol Explor Funct divers genus Quercus L. Cham: Springer International Publishing AG; 2017. p. 303–25.
- Yang Y, Wang H, Harrison SP, Prentice IC, Wright IJ, Peng C, et al. Quantifying leaf-trait covariation and its controls across climates and biomes. New Phytol Wiley Online Library. 2019;221: 155–68.
- 152. Flexas J, Diaz-Espejo A, Gago J, Gallé A, Galmés J, Gulías J, et al. Photosynthetic limitations in Mediterranean plants: a review. Environ Exp Bot Elsevier. 2014;103:12–23.
- Adler PB, Fajardo A, Kleinhesselink AR, Kraft NJB. Trait-based tests of coexistence mechanisms. Ecol Lett Wiley Online Library. 2013;16:1294–306.
- 154.• Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, García-Nogales A, Niinemets Ü, et al. Cell-level anatomical characteristics explain high mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in sclerophyllous Mediterranean oaks. New Phytol. 2017;214:585– 96 This article shows how variations in leaf anatomical features allow evergreen Mediterranean oaks to achieve areabased photosynthesis values comparable with deciduous species despite their greater leaf mass per area.
- 155. Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Sancho-Knapik D, Díaz-Espejo A, Flexas J, Galmés J, et al. Leaf morphological and physiological adaptations of a deciduous oak (Quercus faginea Lam.) to the Mediterranean climate: a comparison with a closely related temperate species (Quercus robur L.). Tree Physiol Oxford University Press. 2016;36:287–99.
- Flexas J, Ribas-Carbó M, Diaz-Espejo A, Galmés J, Medrano H. Mesophyll conductance to CO2: current knowledge and future prospects. Plant Cell Environ. 2008;31:602–21.
- 157. Hassiotou F, Ludwig M, Renton M, Veneklaas EJ, Evans JR. Influence of leaf dry mass per area, CO2, and irradiance on mesophyll conductance in sclerophylls. J Exp Bot Oxford University Press. 2009;60:2303–14.
- 158. Hassiotou F, Renton M, Ludwig M, Evans JR, Veneklaas EJ. Photosynthesis at an extreme end of the leaf trait spectrum: how does it relate to high leaf dry mass per area and associated structural parameters? J Exp Bot. 2010;61:3015–28.
- 159. Peguero-Pina JJ, Flexas J, Galmés J, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Barredo G, et al. Leaf anatomical properties in relation to differences in mesophyll conductance to CO2 and photosynthesis in two related Mediterranean Abies species. Plant, Cell Environ Wiley Online Library. 2012;35:2121–9.
- Tomás M, Flexas J, Copolovici L, Galmés J, Hallik L, Medrano H, et al. Importance of leaf anatomy in determining mesophyll diffusion conductance to CO2across species: quantitative limitations and scaling up by models. J Exp Bot. 2013;64:2269–81.
- 161. Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, et al. Coordinated modifications in mesophyll conductance, photosynthetic potentials and leaf nitrogen contribute to explain the large variation in foliage net assimilation rates across Quercus ilex provenances. Tree Physiol Oxford University Press. 2017;37:1084–94.
- 162. Lo Gullo MA, Salleo S. Different strategies of drought resistance in three Mediterranean sclerophyllous trees growing in the same environmental conditions. New Phytol. 1988;108:267–76.
- Rhizopoulou S, Mitrakos K. Water relations of evergreen sclerophylls. I. Seasonal changes in the water relations of eleven species from the same environment. Ann Bot. 1990;65:171–8.
- Oertli JJ. The effect of cell size on cell collapse under negative turgor pressure. J Plant Physiol Elsevier. 1986;124:365–70.

- Sancho-Knapik D, Álvarez-Arenas TG, Peguero-Pina JJ, Fernández V, Gil-Pelegrín E. Relationship between ultrasonic properties and structural changes in the mesophyll during leaf dehydration. J Exp Bot. 2011;62:3637–45.
- Oertli JJ, Lips SH, Agami M. The strength of sclerophyllous cells to resist collapse due to negative turgor pressure. Acta Oecol. 1990;11:281–9.
- 167. Ding Y, Zhang Y, Zheng Q, Tyree MT. Pressure-volume curves: revisiting the impact of negative turgor during cell collapse by literature review and simulations of cell micromechanics. New Phytol Wiley Online Library. 2014;203:378–87.
- Salleo S, Nardini A, Gullo MAL. Is sclerophylly of Mediterranean evergreens an adaptation to drought? New Phytol. 1997;135:603– 12.
- Burghardt M, Riederer M. Ecophysiological relevance of cuticular transpiration of deciduous and evergreen plants in relation to stomatal closure and leaf water potential. J Exp Bot. 2003;54:1941–9.
- Galmés J, Flexas J, Savé R, Medrano H. Water relations and stomatal characteristics of Mediterranean plants with different growth forms and leaf habits: responses to water stress and recovery. Plant Soil. 2007;290:139–55.
- Scoffoni C, Rawls M, McKown A, Cochard H, Sack L. Decline of leaf hydraulic conductance with dehydration: relationship to leaf size and venation architecture. Plant Physiol. 2011;156:832–43.
- Nardini A, Pedà G, La Rocca N. Trade-offs between leaf hydraulic capacity and drought vulnerability: morpho-anatomical bases, carbon costs and ecological consequences. New Phytol. 2012;196: 788–98.
- 173. Burghardt M, Burghardt A, Gall J, Rosenberger C, Riederer M. Ecophysiological adaptations of water relations of Teucrium

chamaedrys L. to the hot and dry climate of xeric limestone sites in Franconia (southern Germany). Flora Morphol Distrib Funct Ecol Plants. 2008;203:3–13.

- 174. Schuster AC, Burghardt M, Riederer M. The ecophysiology of leaf cuticular transpiration: are cuticular water permeabilities adapted to ecological conditions? J Exp Bot. 2017;68:5271–9.
- 175. Kerstiens G. Cuticular water permeability and its physiological significance. J Exp Bot. 1996;47:1813–32.
- Schuster AC. Chemical and functional analyses of the plant cuticle as leaf transpiration barrier, PhD Thesis. Würzburg, Germany: Julius-Maximilians-University; 2016.
- 177. Bueno A. Ecophysiological adaptations of cuticular water permeability of plants to hot arid biomes, PhD Thesis. Würzburg, Germany: Julius-Maximilians-University; 2018.
- Burghardt M, Riederer M. Cuticular Transpiration. Biol Plant Cuticle. 2006;22:291–310.
- Schreiber L, Riederer M. Ecophysiology of cuticular transpiration: comparative investigation of cuticular water permeability of plant species from different habitats. Oecologia. 1996;107:426–32.
- Riederer M, Schreiber L. Protecting against water loss: analysis of the barrier properties of plant cuticles. J Exp Bot. 2001;52:2023– 32.
- 181. Bueno A, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E, Leide J, Peguero-Pina JJ, Burghardt M, et al. Cuticular wax coverage and its transpiration barrier properties in Quercus coccifera L. leaves: does the environment matter? Tree Physiol. 2020;40:827–40.

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

# Affiliations

David Alonso-Forn<sup>1</sup> • Domingo Sancho-Knapik<sup>1,2</sup> • Juan Pedro Ferrio<sup>1,3</sup> • José Javier Peguero-Pina<sup>1,2</sup> • Amauri Bueno<sup>4</sup> • Yusuke Onoda<sup>5</sup> • Jeannine Cavender-Bares<sup>6</sup> • Ülo Niinemets<sup>7</sup> • Steven Jansen<sup>8</sup> • Markus Riederer<sup>4</sup> • Johannes H.C. Cornelissen<sup>9</sup> • Yongfu Chai<sup>10</sup> • Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín<sup>1</sup>

- <sup>1</sup> Forest Resources Unit, Agrifood Research and Technology Centre of Aragón (CITA), Avenida Montañana 930, E-50059 Zaragoza, Spain
- <sup>2</sup> Instituto Agroalimentario de Aragón, IA2 (CITA-Universidad de Zaragoza), Zaragoza, Spain
- <sup>3</sup> Aragon Agency for research and development (ARAID), E-50018 Zaragoza, Spain
- <sup>4</sup> Ecophysiology and Vegetation Ecology, University of Wuerzburg, Julius-von-Sachs-Platz 3, D-97082 Würzburg, Germany
- <sup>5</sup> Division of Forest and Biomaterials Science, Graduate School of Agriculture, Kyoto University, Oiwake, Kitashirakawa, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan

- <sup>6</sup> Ecology, Evolution and Behavior, University of Minnesota, Saint Paul, MN 55108, USA
- <sup>7</sup> Crop Science and Plant Biology, Estonian University of Life Sciences, Kreutzwaldi 1, 51006 Tartu, Estonia
- <sup>8</sup> Ulm University Institute of Systematic Botany and Ecology Albert-Einstein, Allee 11, D-89081 Ulm, Germany
- <sup>9</sup> Systems Ecology, Department of Ecological Science, Faculty of Science, Vrije Universiteit, Amsterdam, De Boelelaan 1085, 1081 HV Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- <sup>10</sup> School of Life Science, Northwest University, 229 North Taibai Road, Xi'an 710069, Shaanxi Province, China

Supplementary Material

Revisiting the functional basis of sclerophylly along the wide leaf economic spectrum of oaks: different roads to Rome

By

Alonso-Forn, David; Sancho-Knapik, Domingo; Ferrio, Juan Pedro; Peguero-Pina, José Javier; Bueno, Amauri; Onoda, Yusuke; Cavender-Bares, Jeannine; Niinemets, Ülo; Jansen, Steven; Riederer, Markus; Cornelissen, Johannes H.C.; Chai, Yongfu; Gil-Pelegrín, Eustaquio

Supplementary Figures



**Fig. 1** Relation between leaf mass per area (LMA) and total leaf area lost per branch due to insect herbivory in four co-occurring Mediterranean *Quercus* species. Data redrawn from [133]



**Fig. 2** Relationship between leaf dry mass per unit area (LMA) and stomatal conductance (*g*<sub>s</sub>) for different *Quercus* species. Data obtained from literature (see Supplementary Material). Symbols as in Figure 2.



**Fig. 3** Plot of leaf cuticular water permeability versus leaf mass per area (LMA) of 13 *Quercus* species (eight deciduous, five evergreen). Data were compiled from the literature (see Supplementary material)

# Extended Methods

# Compilation of plant functional traits

Data on leaf mass per area (LMA), drought-tolerance traits (PLC50, PLC88, bulk modulus of elasticity -  $\mathcal{E}_{max}$ , cuticular conductance -  $g_{min}$ ), leaf life-span (LL), and photosynthetic traits (nitrogen content per dry mass -  $N_{mass}$  and per area -  $N_{area}$ , photosynthetic rate per mass -  $A_{mass}$  and per area -  $A_{area}$ , stomatal conductance - gs) were compiled from the literature, and eventually expanded with data retrieved from the TRY – global database on plant traits [1], retrieving relevant data for 98 oak species / subspecies worldwide (see Table S1).

Relationship between LMA and site conditions of oaks across the USA

Following Rueda et al. [2] we extracted information on oak distribution from FIA database (http://www.fia.fs.fed.us/; accessed march 2019); including all subplots and microplots with presence of oak species, but excluding observations indentified only to the genus level (Quercus sp.). Species codes and symbols were used to identify the species at the subplot and microplot level, respectively, according to the information provided in FIA reference tables (for further details about the organization of the FIA database see [3] and [4]). Soil information for plots with presence of oaks was also retrieved from FIA database [3]. Information for separate soil horizons was not available in all cases, therefore mean soil nutrient values were used, combining data from all soil layers. In the case of nitrogen, data was also available for the forest floor, and analysed separately. We finally combined vegetation and soil data at the plot level, identified as unique combinations of latitude and longitude coordinates. This resulted in 126296 sites, including soil information for 55 different oak species. Combining the two datasets, we ended up with 36 oak species with LMA data, among those included in the FIA dataset, covering 124687 sites across the USA (Table S2). Most sites (68%) had at least two different species (up to 12 species per site, with an average of 2.5 species per site), while the average number of sites per species was 8755, ranging from 191 in Q. lobata Née to 47320 in Q. alba L. Finally, we attributed to each species a typical value of LMA (based on the database and literature survey above) and then correlated this with the average site conditions across all the plots with presence of the species.

TABLE S1. Species included in the literature and dataset survey and references. The prevailing biome was determined according to the species distribution, following [5]. For simplicity, we considered as evergreen all the species having the potential to retain their leaves for at least eleven months, therefore including genuine evergreen, sub-evergreen, semi-evergreen and facultative drought-deciduous species.

Species	Biome	Leaf	LMA	Drought	Leaf Lifespan	Photosynthetic traits	
		nabit		Tolerance			
<i>Q. acuta</i> Thunb.	TEM	EVE	[6][7][8]		[6][9][7]	[10]	
<i>Q. acutissima</i> Carruth.	TEM	DEC	[11][12][13][14][8]			[15][13][16][17][12] [18][19][20]	
<i>Q. afares</i> Pomel	MED	DEC	[5]	[5]	[21]		
<i>Q. agrifolia</i> Née	MED	EVE	[22][23][24][25][26][6][27]	[28][29][30]		[27][25][17][6] [24][22][23]	
Q. alba L.	TEM	DEC	[31][29][32][24][11][33][6]	[34][29][35]		[17][6][24][33][36][37] [31][29][38][39][32]	
<i>Q. aliena</i> Blume	TEM	DEC	[11][12]	[29]		[40][12][15][41]	
<i>Q. argentata</i> Korth.	TRO	EVE	[42]			[42]	
Q. arizonica Sarg.	ARID	EVE	[43]			[11]	
<i>Q. austrina</i> Small	TEM	DEC	[44][6][45]		[6]	[45][44]	
<i>Q. baronii</i> Skan	TRO	EVE	[12]			[12]	
Q. berberidifolia Liebm.	MED	EVE	[29][11]	[28][46][47][48][49][29]		[46][50]	
Q. canariensis Willd.	MED	DEC	[11][51][52][26]		[53]	[51][54]	
Q. castaneifolia C.A.Mey.	MED	DEC	[55]				
<i>Q. cerrioides</i> (x) Willk. & Costa	MED	DEC	[51]				
Q. cerris L.	MED	DEC	[56][55][57][58][59] [60][26][6]	[35][5]	[61]	[57][60][59][58][55] [56][26][17][62]	
Q. chapmanii Sarg.	TEM	DEC	[44][6][45]		[45]	[45][44][63]	
Q. chenii Nakai	TEM	EVE	[12]			[12]	
Q. chrysolepis Liebm.	MED	EVE	[27]	[35][5]		[27][17]	

Species	Biome	Leaf	LMA	Drought	Leaf Lifespan	Photosynthetic traits
		habit		Tolerance		
Q. coccifera L.	MED	EVE	[58][64][59][11][65][60]	[66][29][5][67]	[61][69]	[27][59][65][17][57][6]
			[26][6][27]	[68]		[64][26][70][71][29][72]
<i>Q. coccinea</i> Münchh.	TEM	DEC	[31][6][14]		[6]	[17][6][73][37][74]
						[75][65][19]
<i>Q. copeyensis</i> C.H.Mull.	TEM	EVE	[65]			[65][17]
<i>Q. costaricensis</i> Liebm.	TEM	EVE	[76][65]			[65][17][76]
<i>Q. dentata</i> Thunb.	TEM	DEC	[8]			
<i>Q. douglasii</i> Hook. & Arn.	MED	DEC	[23][25][26][6][77]			[25][17][77][6][26][23]
<i>Q. dumosa</i> Nutt.	MED	EVE	[23][25][6]			[25][6][23][78]
<i>Q. ellipsoidalis</i> E.J.Hill.	TEM	DEC	[31][24][65][60][79][6]		[6]	[60][65][79][24][26]
						[31][74][75]
Q. emoryi Torr.	ARID	EVE	[43]			
<i>Q. fabri</i> Hance	TEM	DEC	[12][37]			[16][17][80][40]
						[12][37]
<i>Q. faginea</i> Lam.	MED	DEC	[57][11][65][51][60][26][6]	[81][35][82][5]	[61][69][83][21]	[65][17][57][51][73][6]
					[6]	[37][26][84][70][82][54]
<i>Q. falcata</i> Michx.	TEM	DEC	[29][44][13][6][14][45]	[34][29]	[45][6]	[44][13][17][29][45]
<i>Q. floribunda</i> Lindl.	TRO	EVE	[85]	[86]		
<i>Q. frainetto</i> Ten.	MED	DEC	[56]	[87][29][35]		
Q. fusiformis Small	TEM	EVE	[88]	[89][29][88]		
Q. gambelii Nutt.	TEM	DEC	[90][91][26][43]	[92][93][94][29]		[95][96][91][26]
<i>Q. garryana</i> Douglas ex	MED	DEC	[97]	[97]		
Hook.						
<i>Q. gemelliflora</i> Blume	TRO	EVE	[98]	[98]		
<i>Q. geminata</i> Small	TEM	EVE	[44][6][45]		[6][45]	[44][6][45]
Q. georgiana M.A.Curtis	TEM	DEC	[55]			
<i>Q. gilva</i> Blume	TEM	EVE	[12][7][8]		[7]	[17][12][37][99]
<i>Q. glauca</i> Thunb.	TRO	EVE	[12][37][100][7][8][12][37]	[98][101]	[100][7]	[99][16][17][80][12][37]
<i>Q. grisea</i> Liebm.	ARID	EVE	[43]			

Species	Biome	Leaf	LMA	Drought	Leaf Lifespan	Photosynthetic traits	
		habit		Tolerance			
Q. hemisphaerica Bartram	TEM	EVE	[44][6][45]	44][6][45] [45]		[45][44]	
Q. hypoleucoides A.Camus	ARID	EVE	[43]				
<i>Q. ilex</i> subsp. <i>ilex</i> L.	MED	EVE	[31][22][29][56][102]	[106][107][108][109]	[69][69][69][21]	[65][17][104][103][102][73][6]	
			[55][103][57][24][59]	[110][111][112][113]	[61]	[24][57][60][103][59][22][29]	
			[11][104][65][51][105]	[114][29][115][35]		[26][31][118][119][120][71]	
			[52][60][26][6][27]	[116][117]		[121][122][123][117][54][72]	
<i>Q. ilex</i> subsp. <i>rotundifolia</i>	MED	EVE	[57][11][60][26]	[106][124][35][117]	[61][83][6]	[17][6][37][84]	
Lam.			[6][27]	[5]		[70][117]	
Q. ilicifolia Wangenh.	TEM	DEC	[37]			[73][37][125]	
<i>Q. incana</i> Bartram	TEM	DEC	[44][17][6][45]		[45]	[17][45][126]	
Q. kelloggii Newb.	MED	DEC	[25][26][6]				
<i>Q. laevis</i> Walter	TEM	DEC	[31][44][11][17][45]	[81][29]	[45][6][6]	[44][17][45][74][75][126]	
<i>Q. lanata</i> Sm. in A.Rees	TRO	EVE	[85][127]	[128]			
<i>Q. lancifolia</i> Schldtl. &	TRO	EVE	E [129] [129]				
Cham.							
Q. laurifolia Michx.	TEM	DEC	[44][11][45]	[35]	[45][6]	[44][17][45]	
Q. leucotrichophora	TRO	EVE	[85]	[86]			
A.Camus							
<i>Q. liaotungensis</i> Koidz	TRO	DEC	[130]	[131][132]		[15]	
<i>Q. lobata</i> Née	MED	DEC	[23][24][25][26][6]			[25][17][6][24][26][23][133]	
<i>Q. lusitanica</i> Lam.	MED	DEC	[6]			[6]	
<i>Q. macrocarpa</i> Michx.	TEM	DEC	[31][24][11][65][60]	[134]	[6]	[65][79][26][17][74]	
			[79][26][6]			[75][135][31]	
<i>Q. margaretta</i> (Ashe) Small	TEM	DEC	[44][17][6][45]		[45]	[17][45][44][126]	
Q. marilandica	TEN	DEC	[136]	[136]			
(L.)Münchh.							
Q. michauxii Nutt.	TEM	DEC	[31][44][32][24][11][65]	[29][65]	[45][6]	[44][17][73][65][6][24][37]	
			[33][6][45]			[31][11][45][32]	
Q. minima (Sarg.)Small	TEM	EVE	[44][6][45]		[45][6]	[44][45]	

Species	Biome	Leaf	LMA Drought		Leaf Lifespan Photosynthetic traits	
		habit		Tolerance		
<i>Q. mongolica</i> Fisch. ex Ledeb.	TRO	DEC	[11][65][12][26][6][8]		[137][6]	[80][40][65][138][139][140] [141][12][26][6][142][143]
Q. muehlenbergii Engelm.	TEM	DEC	[26]	[5][134]		
Q. myrsinaefolia Blume	TEM	EVE	[31][11][33][37][8]			[33][37][144][40]
<i>Q. myrtifolia</i> Willd.	TEM	EVE	[44][6][45]		[45]	[45][44]
Q. nigra L.	TEM	DEC	[29][44][13][6][45]	[34][29][35]	[45]	[44][55][13][17][29][45]
<i>Q. oleoides</i> Schltdl. & Cham.	TEM	EVE	[145][146][147]	[148][29]		[146][145][147]
Q. palustris Münchh.	TEM	DEC	[32][14]	[115]		
<i>Q. petraea</i> (Matt.)Liebl.	TEM	DEC	[55][103][57][58][24][59] [104][149][150][65][51] [151][60][26][6]	[152][111][114][153][29] [115][35][154][155][5]		[60][59][65][156][157][104] [24][149][57][51][55][151] [150][26][37][158][159]
Q. phellos L.	TEM	DEC	[29][14]	[34][29]		[29]
Q. prinus L.	TEM	DEC	[11]	[160]		[161][162]
<i>Q. pubescens</i> Willd.1805	MED	DEC	[57][64][59][105][60][26][6]	[152][111][163][113] [114][29][116]		[71][164][72][17][60][59][58] [29][118][119][120][6][64] [105][26][37][165][166]
<i>Q. pumila</i> Walter	TEM	DEC	[6][45]		[45]	[45]
<i>Q. pyrenaica</i> Willd.	MED	DEC	[59][11][65][51][52] [60][26][6]	[35][154]	[61][69][69][69] [83][6]	[65][60][59][51][52][17][37][6] [26][84][70][54]
Q. robur L.	TEM	DEC	[31][56][103][57][167] [24][59][11][150][65] [168][17][60][26][6]	[152][152][169][114] [153][49][29][115] [35][82][5]	[61][6]	[170][171][172][156][82][57] [60][103][59][65][104][103] [168][17][55][6][73][24] [57][150][56][26][31][167]
<i>Q. robur</i> subsp. <i>brutia</i> (Ten.)O.Schwarz	TEM	DEC	[60]			
Q. rubra L.	TEM	DEC	[31][29][55][57][32][24] [59][11][104][65][17][33] [173][174][60][36] [26][6][14]	[152][175][34][114] [29][115][35][65][173]	[6]	[57][60][59][161][176][162] [177][178][179][171][172] [104][17][174][173][55][73]

Species Bior		Biome Leaf LMA		Drought	Leaf Lifespan	Photosynthetic traits	
		habit		Tolerance			
						[6][24][29][33][57][36][37]	
						[29][26][31][32]	
<i>Q. rugosa</i> Née	TRO	EVE	[43]				
<i>Q. salicina</i> Blume	TRO	EVE	[7][8][180]		[9][7]		
<i>Q. sebifera</i> Trel.	MED	EVE	[29][11]	[46][29]		[29][46][50]	
<i>Q. semecarpifolia</i> Sm. in	TRO	EVE	[127][85]	[181]			
A.Rees							
<i>Q. serrata</i> Thunb	TEM	DEC	[100][7][8][12]	[182][183][101]	[100][7]	[40][55][12]	
<i>Q. sessilifolia</i> Blume	TEM	EVE	[8]				
Q. shumardii Buckley	TEM	DEC	[11][45]		[45][6]	[45]	
Q. stellata Wangehn.	TEM	DEC	[29][11][13][6][45]	[34][29][136]	[45]	[45][13][29][73]	
<i>Q. stewardiana</i> A.Camus	TRO	EVE	[12]			[12]	
Q. suber L.	MED	EVE	[22][56][102][57][59][11][6	[124][114][184][29]	[61][69][83][21]	[60][59][58][65][17][102]	
			5]	[115][35][5]	[6]	[73][6][22][84][70][54][27]	
			[51][105][52][60][26][6][27]				
<i>Q. subpyrenaica</i> Villar	MED	DEC	[185]	[186]			
<i>Q. subsericea</i> A.Camus	TRO	EVE	[98]	[98]			
<i>Q. texana</i> Buckley	TEM	DEC	[14]				
<i>Q. turbinella</i> Greene	MED	DEC	[31][22][24][33][26][6]	[160][29]	[6]	[6][22]	
Q. vaccinifolia Kellogg	MED	EVE	[5]	[5]			
<i>Q. variabilis</i> Blume	TEM	DEC	[26][100][8]		[100]		
<i>Q. velutina</i> Lam.	TEM	DEC	[31][32][24][65][6]	[35][65]		[187][17][73][65][31][6]	
						[24][26][32]	
Q. virginiana Mill.	TEM	EVE	[31][22][44][145][24]		[45]	[44][145][22][45][74][75]	
			[6][14][45]				
Q. wislizeni A.DC.	MED	EVE	[27]	[169][29]		[27]	
<i>Q.wutaishanica</i> Mayr	TRO	DEC	[11]			[11][80][40]	
<i>Q. xalapensis</i> Bonpl.	TRO	DEC	[6]		[6]		

**Table S2.** Species included in the study of geographic variation in leaf mass per area (LMA) across the USA. For each species, we include the species code (SPCD) and symbol used in the Forest Inventory, main biome within the USA, typical leaf habit, number of sites, and mean and standard deviation of Latitude, Longitude, Elevation and LMA. LMA values based on compiled data (source: see Table S1).

			Main	Leaf					
Species	SPC D	SYMBO I	Biom	habi t	N of sites	Latitude	Longitude	Elevation (m)	LMA (g m <sup>-</sup>
	001				100			(11)	,
Q. agrifolia	801	QUAG	MED	EVE	488	36.7 ±1.8	-121.3 ±1.7	423 ±302	164 ±51 (7)
Q. alba	802	QUAL	TEM	DEC	47320	36.3 ±3.3	-85.3 ±5.6	243 ±192	82 ±13 (7)
Q. arizonica	803	QUAR	ARID	EVE	1435	33.4 ±0.9	-109.6 ±1.8	1,871 ±256	168 ±20 (1)
Q. chrysolepis	805	QUCH2	MED	EVE	2045	39.8 ±2.3	-122.0 ±1.9	953 ±433	188 ±17 (1)
Q. coccinea	806	QUCO2	TEM	DEC	15688	36.5 ±2.0	-82.8 ±4.3	341 ±245	133 ±76 (3)
Q. douglasii	807	QUDO	MED	DEC	1741	34.8 ±3.6	-102.2 ±19.0	268 ±294	137 ±14 (5)
Q. ellipsoidalis	809	QUEL	TEM	DEC	2632	$44.7 \pm 1.5$	-89.1 ±3.6	313 ±73	72 ±20 (6)
Q. emoryi	810	QUEM	ARID	EVE	784	33.1 ±1.1	-110.2 ±1.3	1,710 ±199	168 ±26 (1)
Q. falcata	812	QUFA	TEM	DEC	31302	33.8 ±2.0	-86.7 ±5.5	141 ±115	109 ±24 (6)
Q. gambelii	814	QUGA	TEM	DEC	5036	36.7 ±2.2	-108.8 ±2.5	2,282 ±261	83 ±14 (4)
Q. garryana	815	QUGA4	MED	DEC	918	42.4 ±2.4	-122.6 ±1.0	636 ±392	118 ±7 (1)
Q. grisea	846	QUGR3	ARID	EVE	393	33.2 ±1.2	-107.8 ±1.9	2,011 ±282	151 ±37 (1)
Q. hypoleucoides	843	QUHY	ARID	EVE	234	32.6 ±0.6	-109.5 ±1.1	1,997 ±252	220 ±22 (1)
Q. ilicifolia	816	QUIL	TEM	DEC	397	39.4 ±2.3	-76.7 ±4.3	311 ±288	82 ±9 (1)
Q. incana	842	QUIN	TEM	DEC	869	31.8 ±1.5	-84.7 ±4.2	72 ±51	105 ±12 (4)
Q. kelloggii	818	QUKE	MED	DEC	2033	39.9 ±1.9	-121.8 ±1.5	942 ±437	108 ±16 (3)
Q. laevis	819	QULA2	TEM	DEC	2621	31.9 ±2.0	-83.1 ±2.9	61 ±46	113 ±9 (5)
Q. laurifolia	820	QULA3	TEM	DEC	14681	31.8 ±1.8	-84.1 ±3.9	59 ±58	98 ±19 (3)
Q. lobata	821	QULO	MED	DEC	191	38.3 ±1.7	-121.8 ±1.4	561 ±365	122 ±20 (5)
Q. macrocarpa	823	QUMA2	TEM	DEC	4324	44.2 ±3.3	-92.9 ±4.4	371 ±216	68 ±15 (8)
Q. michauxii	825	QUMI	TEM	DEC	3600	33.6 ±2.3	-85.2 ±6.1	66 ±72	87 ±26 (9)
Q. minima	841	QUMI2	TEM	EVE	666	29.8 ±1.2	-83.1 ±2.3	28 ±70	162 ±19 (3)
Q.									
muehlenbergii	826	QUMU	TEM	DEC	4612	36.9 ±1.9	-88.6 ±4.3	262 ±140	51 ±0 (1)
Q. nigra	827	QUNI	TEM	DEC	36969	32.7 ±1.7	-86.2 ±5.2	86 ±70	96 ±30 (5)
Q. palustris	830	QUPA2	TEM	DEC	1288	38.8 ±2.5	-86.6 ±6.1	193 ±101	108 ±16 (2)

Q. phellos	831	QUPH	TEM	DEC	13076	33.6 ±1.9	-86.3 ±6.0	91 ±73	146 ±118 (2)
Q. prinus	832	QUPR2	TEM	DEC	13524	37.0 ±2.1	-82.1 ±3.2	460 ±265	93 ±13 (2)
Q. rubra	833	QURU	TEM	DEC	35492	39.2 ±4.0	-84.2 ±6.1	344 ±221	73 ±16 (19)
Q. rugosa	847	QURU4	ARID	EVE	361	33.2 ±1.0	-109.8 ±1.2	1,838 ±259	188 ±14 (1)
Q. shumardii	834	QUSH	TEM	DEC	2583	34.5 ±2.3	-89.5 ±4.8	164 ±116	99 ±7 (2)
Q. stellata	835	QUST	TEM	DEC	27730	34.2 ±2.1	-88.5 ±5.6	175 ±125	115 ±42 (5)
Q. texana	828	QUTE	TEM	DEC	1481	32.6 ±1.7	-91.3 ±1.8	49 ±49	122 ±24 (1)
Q. turbinella	8459	QUTU2	MED	DEC	689	34.7 ±1.3	-111.4 ±2.4	1,606 ±257	146 ±11 (6)
Q. velutina	837	QUVE	TEM	DEC	31325	36.9 ±2.8	-85.4 ±5.6	281 ±195	73 ±22 (5)
Q. virginiana	838	QUVI	TEM	EVE	5924	30.4 ±1.6	-86.6 ±7.0	116 ±194	164 ±58 (8)
Q. wislizeni	839	QUWI2	MED	EVE	715	38.1 ±1.8	-120.9 ±1.6	663 ±419	162 ±8 (1)

# References

1. Kattge J, Díaz S, Lavorel S, Prentice IC, Leadley P, Bönisch G, et al. TRY - a global database of plant traits. Glob Chang Biol. 2011;17:2905–35.

2. Rueda M, Godoy O, Hawkins BA. Spatial and evolutionary parallelism between shade and drought tolerance explains the distributions of conifers in the conterminous United States. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 2017;26:31–42.

3. FIA. The Forest Inventory and Analysis Database: Database description and user guide version 6.0.1 for Phase 3. [Online]. Available at web address: http://www.fia.fs.fed.us/library/database-documentation/: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service; 2014.

4. Burrill EA, Wilson AM, Turner JA, Pugh SA, Menlove J, Christiansen G, et al. The Forest Inventory and Analysis Database: database description and user guide version 8.0 for Phase 2. [Online]. Available at web address: http://www.fia.fs.fed.us/library/database-documentation/: U.S. Department of Agriculture, Forest Service; 2018.

5. Gil-Pelegrín E, Saz MÁ, Cuadrat JM, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D. Oaks Under Mediterranean-Type Climates: Functional Response to Summer Aridity. Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, editors. Oaks Physiol. Ecol. Explor. Funct. Divers. Genus Quercus L. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International Publishing AG; 2017.

6. Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M, Ackerly DD, Baruch Z, Bongers F, et al. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Nature. 2004;428:821–7.

7. Harayama H, Ishida A, Yoshimura J. Overwintering evergreen oaks reverse typical relationships between leaf traits in a species spectrum. R Soc Open Sci. 2016;3:160276.

8. Aiba M, Kurokawa H, Onoda Y, Oguro M, Nakashizuka T, Masaki T. Context-dependent changes in the functional composition of tree communities along successional gradients after

land-use change. J Ecol. 2016;104:1347-56.

9. Nitta I, Ohsawa M. Leaf dynamics and shoot phenology of eleven warm-temperate evergreen broad-leaved trees near their northern limit in central Japan. Plant Ecol. 1997;130:71–88.

10. Hikosaka K, Hirose T. Photosynthetic nitrogen-use efficiency in evergreen broad-leaved woody species coexisting in a warm-temperate forest. Tree Physiol. 2000;20:1249–54.

11. Maire V, Wright IJ, Prentice IC, Batjes NH, Bhaskar R, van Bodegom PM, et al. Global effects of soil and climate on leaf photosynthetic traits and rates. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 2015;24:706–17.

12. Prentice IC, Meng T, Wang H, Harrison SP, Ni J, Wang G. Evidence of a universal scaling relationship for leaf CO2 drawdown along an aridity gradient. New Phytol. 2011;190:169–80.

13. Price CA, Enquist BJ. Scaling mass and morphology in leaves: An extension of the wbe model. Ecology. 2007;88:1132–41.

14. Wu T, Zhang P, Zhang L, Wang GG, Yu M. Morphological response of eight Quercus species to simulated wind load. PLoS One. 2016;11:15–6.

15. Zheng S, Shangguan Z. Spatial patterns of photosynthetic characteristics and leaf physical traits of plants in the Loess Plateau of China. Plant Ecol. 2007;191:279–93.

16. Han W, Fang J, Guo D, Zhang Y. Leaf nitrogen and phosphorus stoichiometry across 753 terrestrial plant species in China. New Phytol. 2005;168:377–85.

17. Reich PB, Oleksyn J, Wright IJ. Leaf phosphorus influences the photosynthesis-nitrogen relation: A cross-biome analysis of 314 species. Oecologia. 2009;160:207–12.

18. Woo SY, Kwon KW, Lee JC, Choi JH, Kang BS. Recovery of net photosynthetic rate after SO2 fumigation in Quercus acutissima, Pinus densiflora, Populus albaxglandulosa, and Acanthopanax sessiliflorus. Photosynthetica. 2003;41:319–20.

19. Yang X, Zhang P, Wu Q, Yan H, Yu M, Wang G, et al. Effects of Simulated Wind Load on Leaf Photosynthesis and Carbohydrate Allocation in Eight Quercus Species . J Biobased Mater Bioenergy. 2018;11:629–34.

20. Chai Y. unpublished.

21. Cavender-Bares J, Cortes P, Rambal S, Joffre R, Miles B, Rocheteau A. Summer and winter sensitivity of leaves and xylem to minimum freezing temperatures: A comparison of co-occurring Mediterranean oaks that differ in leaf lifespan. New Phytol. 2005;168:597–612.

22. Blonder B, Violle C, Bentley LP, Enquist BJ. Venation networks and the origin of the leaf economics spectrum. Ecol Lett. 2011;14:91–100.

23. Dahlin KM, Asner GP, Field CB. Environmental and community controls on plant canopy chemistry in a Mediterranean-type ecosystem. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013;110:6895–900.

24. Kattge J, Knorr W, Raddatz T, Wirth C. Quantifying photosynthetic capacity and its relationship to leaf nitrogen content for global-scale terrestrial biosphere models. Glob Chang Biol. 2009;15:976–91.

25. Preston KA, Cornwell WK, DeNoyer JL. Wood density and vessel traits as distinct correlates of ecological strategy in 51 California coast range angiosperms. New Phytol. 2006;170:807–18.

26. Wirth C, Lichstein JW. The Imprint of Species Turnover on Old-Growth Forest Carbon Balances - Insights From a Trait-Based Model of Forest Dynamics. In: Wirth C, Gleixner G, Heimann M, editors. Old-growth For Ecol Stud (Analysis Synth vol 207. Berlin Heidelberg: Springer; 2009. p. 81–113.

27. Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, García-Nogales A, Niinemets Ü, et al. Cell-level anatomical characteristics explain high mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in sclerophyllous Mediterranean oaks. New Phytol. 2017;214:585–96.

28. Jacobsen AL, Pratt RB, Ewers FW, Davis SD. Cavitation resistance among 26 chaparral species of southern California. Ecol Monogr. 2007;77:99–115.

29. Choat B, Jansen S, Brodribb TJ, Cochard H, Delzon S, Bhaskar R, et al. Global convergence in the vulnerability of forests to drought. Nature. 2012;491:752–5.

30. Scoffoni C, Rawls M, McKown A, Cochard H, Sack L. Decline of Leaf Hydraulic Conductance with Dehydration: Relationship to Leaf Size and Venation Architecture. Plant Physiol. 2011;156:832–43.

31. Atkin OK, Bloomfield KJ, Reich PB, Tjoelker MG, Asner GP, Bonal D, et al. Global variability in leaf respiration in relation to climate, plant functional types and leaf traits. New Phytol. 2015;206:614–36.

32. Gonzalez-Akre E, McShea W, Bourg N, Anderson-Teixeira K. Leaf traits data (SLA) for 56 woody species at the Smithsonian Conservation Biology Institute-ForestGEO Forest Dynamic Plot. Front Royal, Virginia. USA. [Data set]. Version 1.0.(www.try-db.org). 2015.

33. Reich PB, Tjoelker MG, Pregitzer KS, Wright IJ, Oleksyn J, Machado JL. Scaling of respiration to nitrogen in leaves, stems and roots of higher land plants. Ecol Lett. 2008;11:793–801.

34. Maherali H, Moura CF, Caldeira MC, Willson CJ, Jackson RB. Functional coordination between leaf gas exchange and vulnerability to xylem cavitation in temperate forest trees. Plant, Cell Environ. 2006;29:571–83.

35. Corcuera L, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E. Functional groups in Quercus species derived from the analysis of pressure-volume curves. Trees - Struct Funct. 2002;16:465–72.

36. Wilson KB, Baldocchi DD, Hanson PJ. Spatial and seasonal variability of photosynthetic parameters and their relationship to leaf nitrogen in a deciduous forest. Tree Physiol. 2000;20:565–78.

37. Vergutz L, Manzoni S, Porporato A, Novais RF, Jackson RB. A Global Database of Carbon and Nutrient Concentrations of Green and Senesced Leaves [Data set]. Available on-line [http//daac.ornl.gov] from Oak Ridge Natl Lab Distrib Act Arch Center, Oak Ridge, Tennessee, USA http//dx.doi.org/103334/ORNLDAAC/1106. 2012;

38. Ellsworth DS, Reich PB, Naumburg ES, Koch GW, Kubiske ME, Smith SD. Photosynthesis, carboxylation and leaf nitrogen responses of 16 species to elevated pCO2 across four free-air CO2 enrichment experiments in forest, grassland and desert. Glob Chang Biol. 2004;10:2121–38.

39. Ellsworth DS, Thomas R, Crous KY, Palmroth S, Ward E, Maier C, et al. Elevated CO 2 affects photosynthetic responses in canopy pine and subcanopy deciduous trees over 10 years: A synthesis from Duke FACE. Glob Chang Biol. 2012;18:223–42.

40. Chen Y, Han W, Tang L, Tang Z, Fang J. Leaf nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations of woody plants differ in responses to climate, soil and plant growth form. Ecography (Cop). 2013;36:178–84.

41. Xu N, Wang R, Liu J, Lu P, Guo W. Hierarchy of plasticity traits in responses of Quercus aliena to light conditions and water availability. Dendrobiology. 2015;74:169–80.

42. Shiodera S, Rahajoe JS, Kohyama T. Variation in longevity and traits of leaves among cooccurring understorey plants in a tropical montane forest. J Trop Ecol. 2008;

43. Fallon B, Cavender-Bares J. Leaf-level trade-offs between drought avoidance and desiccation recovery drive elevation stratification in arid oaks. Ecosphere. 2018;9:e02149.

44. Cavender-Bares J, Keen A, Miles B. Phylogenetic structure of Floridian plant communities depends on taxonomic and spatial scale. Ecology. 2006;

45. Cavender-Bares J, Kitajima K, Bazzaz FA. Multiple trait associations in relation to habitat differentiation among 17 Floridian oak species. Ecol Monogr. 2004;74:635–62.

46. Bhaskar R, Valiente-Banuet A, Ackerly DD. Evolution of hydraulic traits in closely related species pairs from mediterranean and nonmediterranean environments of North America. New Phytol. 2007;176:718–26.

47. Jacobsen AL, Pratt RB, Davis SD, Ewers FW. Cavitation resistance and seasonal hydraulics differ among three arid Californian plant communities. Plant, Cell Environ. 2007;30:1599–609.

48. Jacobsen AL, Pratt RB, Davis SD, Tobin MF. Geographic And Seasonal Variation In Chaparral Vulnerability To Cavitation. Madroño. 2014;61:317–27.

49. Venturas MD, MacKinnon ED, Dario HL, Jacobsen AL, Pratt RB, Davis SD. Chaparral shrub hydraulic traits, size, and life history types relate to species mortality during California's historic drought of 2014. PLoS One. 2016;11.

50. Bhaskar R. unpublished.

51. Ogaya R, Peñuelas J. Comparative field study of Quercus ilex and Phillyrea latifolia: Photosynthetic response to experimental drought conditions. Environ Exp Bot. 2003;

52. Quero JL, Villar R, Marañón T, Zamora R, Vega D, Sack L. Relating leaf photosynthetic rate to whole-plant growth: Drought and shade effects on seedlings of four Quercus species. Funct Plant Biol. 2008;

53. Fitter AH, Peat HJ. The Ecological Flora Database. J Ecol. 1994;82:415.

54. Valladares F. unpublished.

55. Coomes DA, Heathcote S, Godfrey ER, Shepherd JJ, Sack L. Scaling of xylem vessels and veins within the leaves of oak species. Biol Lett. 2008;4:302–6.

56. Burrascano S, Copiz R, Del Vico E, Fagiani S, Giarrizzo E, Mei M, et al. Wild boar rooting intensity determines shifts in understorey composition and functional traits. Community Ecol. 2015;16:244–53.

57. Cornelissen JHC, Cerabolini B, Castro-Díez P, Villar-Salvador P, Montserrat-Martí G, Puyravaud JP, et al. Functional traits of woody plants: Correspondence of species rankings

between field adults and laboratory-grown seedlings? J Veg Sci. 2003. p. 311-22.

58. Cornelissen JHC, Diez PC, Hunt R. Seedling Growth, Allocation and Leaf Attributes in a Wide Range of Woody Plant Species and Types. J Ecol. 1996;84:755.

59. Kleyer M, Bekker RM, Knevel IC, Bakker JP, Thompson K, Sonnenschein M, et al. The LEDA Traitbase: A database of life-history traits of the Northwest European flora. J Ecol. 2008;96:1266–74.

60. Shipley B. Trade-offs between net assimilation rate and specific leaf area in determining relative growth rate: Relationship with daily irradiance. Funct Ecol. 2002;16:682–9.

61. Sancho-Knapik D. unpublished.

62. Peguero-Pina JJ. unpublished.

63. Saha S, Strazisar TM, Menges ES, Ellsworth P, Sternberg L. Linking the patterns in soil moisture to leaf water potential, stomatal conductance, growth, and mortality of dominant shrubs in the Florida scrub ecosystem. Plant Soil. Springer; 2008;313:113–27.

64. Garnier E, Lavorel S, Ansquer P, Castro H, Cruz P, Dolezal J, et al. Assessing the effects of land-use change on plant traits, communities and ecosystem functioning in grasslands: A standardized methodology and lessons from an application to 11 European sites. Ann Bot. 2007;99:967–85.

65. Niinemets Ü. Global-scale climatic controls of leaf dry mass per area, density, and thickness in trees and shrubs. Ecology. 2001;82:453–69.

66. Vilagrosa A, Bellot J, Vallejo VR, Gil-Pelegrín E. Cavitation, stomatal conductance, and leaf dieback in seedlings of two co-occurring Mediterranean shrubs during an intense drought. J. Exp. Bot. 2003. p. 2015–24.

67. Bueno A. Ecophysiological adaptations of cuticular water permeability of plants to hot arid biomes, PhD Thesis. Würzburg, Germany: Julius-Maximilians-University; 2018.

68. Bueno A, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E, Leide J, Peguero-Pina JJ, Burghardt M, et al. Cuticular wax coverage and its transpiration barrier properties in Quercus coccifera L. leaves: does the environment matter? Tree Physiol. 2019;in press.

69. Mediavilla S, Garcia-Ciudad A, Garcia-Criado B, Escudero A. Testing the correlations between leaf life span and leaf structural reinforcement in 13 species of European Mediterranean woody plants. Funct Ecol. 2008;22:787–93.

70. Mediavilla S, Escudero A. Relative growth rate of leaf biomass and leaf nitrogen content in several mediterranean woody species. Plant Ecol. 2003;168:321–32.

71. Gulias J, Flexas J, Mus M, Cifre J, Lefi E, Medrano H. Relationship between maximum leaf photosynthesis, nitrogen content and specific leaf area in Balearic endemic and non-endemic Mediterranean species. Ann Bot. 2003;92:215–22.

72. Gulias J. unpublished.

73. Kerkhoff AJ, Fagan WF, Elser JJ, Enquist BJ. Phylogenetic and growth form variation in the scaling of nitrogen and phosphorus in the seed plants. Am Nat. 2006;168.

74. Reich PB, Walters MB, Ellsworth DS, Vose JM, Volin JC, Gresham C, et al. Relationships of leaf dark respiration to leaf nitrogen, specific leaf area and leaf life-span: A test across biomes and functional groups. Oecologia. 1998;114:471–82.

75. Reich PB, Ellsworth DS, Walters MB, Vose JM, Gresham C, Volin JC, et al. Generality of leaf trait relationships: A test across six biomes. Ecology. 1999;80:1955–69.

76. Blonder B, Buzzard V, Simova I, Sloat L, Boyle B, Lipson R, et al. The leaf-area shrinkage effect can bias paleoclimate and ecology research. Am J Bot. Wiley Online Library; 2012;99:1756–63.

77. Xu L, Baldocchi DD. Seasonal trends in photosynthetic parameters and stomatal conductance of blue oak (Quercus douglasii) under prolonged summer drought and high temperature. Tree Physiol. 2003;23:865–77.

78. Goulden ML. Carbon assimilation and water-use efficiency by neighboring Mediterraneanclimate oaks that differ in water access. Tree Physiol. Heron Publishing; 1996;16:417–24.

79. Willis CG, Halina M, Lehman C, Reich PB, Keen A, McCarthy S, et al. Phylogenetic community structure in Minnesota oak savanna is influenced by spatial extent and environmental variation. Ecography (Cop). 2010;33:565–77.

80. Han W, Chen Y, Zhao FJ, Tang L, Jiang R, Zhang F. Floral, climatic and soil pH controls on leaf ash content in China's terrestrial plants. Glob Ecol Biogeogr. 2012;21:376–82.

81. Esteso-Martínez J, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E. Competitive effects of herbs on Quercus faginea seedlings inferred from vulnerability curves and spatial-pattern analyses in a Mediterranean stand (Iberian System, northeast Spain). Écoscience. 2006;13:378–87.

82. Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Sancho-Knapik D, Díaz-Espejo A, Flexas J, Galmés J, et al. Leaf morphological and physiological adaptations of a deciduous oak (Quercus faginea Lam.) to the Mediterranean climate: A comparison with a closely related temperate species (Quercus robur L.). Tree Physiol. Oxford University Press; 2016;36:287–99.

83. Mediavilla S, Babiano J, Martínez-Ortega M, Escudero A. Ontogenetic changes in antiherbivore defensive traits in leaves of four Mediterranean co-occurring Quercus species. Ecol Res. 2018;33:1093–102.

84. Mediavilla S, Escudero A. Photosynthetic capacity, integrated over the lifetime of a leaf, is predicted to be independent of leaf longevity in some tree species. New Phytol. 2003;159:203–11.

85. Singh SP, Adhikari BS, Zobel DB. Biomass, productivity, leaf longevity, and forest structure in the central Himalaya. Ecol Monogr. 1994;64:401–21.

86. Singh SP, Zobel DB, Garkoti SC, Tewari A, Negi CMS. Patterns in water relations of central Himalayan trees. Trop Ecol. 2006;47:159–82.

87. Iovi K, Kolovou C, Kyparissis A. An ecophysiological approach of hydraulic performance for nine Mediterranean species. Tree Physiol. 2009;29:889–900.

88. Johnson DM, Berry ZC, Baker K V., Smith DD, McCulloh KA, Domec JC. Leaf hydraulic parameters are more plastic in species that experience a wider range of leaf water potentials. Funct Ecol. 2018;32:894–903.

89. McElrone AJ, Pockman WT, Martínez-Vilalta J, Jackson RB. Variation in xylem structure and

function in stems and roots of trees to 20 m depth. New Phytol. 2004;163:507–17.

90. Laughlin DC, Leppert JJ, Moore MM, Sieg CH. A multi-trait test of the leaf-height-seed plant strategy scheme with 133 species from a pine forest flora. Funct Ecol. 2010;24:493–501.

91. Laughlin DC, Fulé PZ, Huffman DW, Crouse J, Laliberté E. Climatic constraints on trait-based forest assembly. J Ecol. 2011;99:1489–99.

92. Christman MA, Sperry JS, Smith DD. Rare pits, large vessels and extreme vulnerability to cavitation in a ring-porous tree species. New Phytol. 2012;193:713–20.

93. Li Y, Sperry JS, Taneda H, Bush SE, Hacke UG. Evaluation of centrifugal methods for measuring xylem cavitation in conifers, diffuse- and ring-porous angiosperms. New Phytol. 2008;177:558–68.

94. Sperry JS, Christman MA, Torres-Ruiz JM, Taneda H, Smith DD. Vulnerability curves by centrifugation: is there an open vessel artefact, and are "r" shaped curves necessarily invalid? Plant, Cell Environ. 2012;35:601–10.

95. Williams DG, Ehleringer JR. Carbon Isotope Discrimination in Three Semi-Arid Woodland Species along a Monsoon Gradient Published by : Springer in cooperation with International Association for Ecology Stable URL : http://www.jstor.org/stable/422. Oecologia. 1996;106:455–60.

96. Williams DG, Ehleringer JR. Carbon Isotope Discrimination and Water Relations of. West North Am Nat. 2000;60:121–9.

97. Hahm WJ, Dietrich WE, Dawson TE. Controls on the distribution and resilience of Quercus garryana: ecophysiological evidence of oak's water-limitation tolerance. Ecosphere. 2018;9.

98. Saito T, Naiola BP, Terashima I. Conservative decrease in water potential in existing leaves during new leaf expansion in temperate and tropical evergreen Quercus species. Ann Bot. 2007;100:1229–38.

99. Kim HR, You YH. Ecophysiological responses of Quercus gilva, endangered species and Q. glauca to long-term exposure to elevated CO 2 concentration and temperature. J Ecol F Biol. 2012;35:203–12.

100. Li X, Pei K, Kéry M, Niklaus PA, Schmid B. Decomposing functional trait associations in a Chinese subtropical forest. PLoS One. 2017;12:1–18.

101. Saito T, Soga K, Hoson T, Terashima I. The bulk elastic modulus and the reversible properties of cell walls in developing Quercus leaves. Plant Cell Physiol. 2006;47:715–25.

102. Campbell C, Atkinson L, Zaragoza-Castells J, Lundmark M, Atkin O, Hurry V. Acclimation of photosynthesis and respiration is asynchronous in response to changes in temperature regardless of plant functional group. New Phytol. 2007;176:375–89.

103. Cornelissen JHC. An Experimental Comparison of Leaf Decomposition Rates in a Wide Range of Temperate Plant Species and Types. J Ecol. 1996;84:573.

104. Medlyn BE, Badeck FW, De Pury DGG, Barton CVM, Broadmeadow M, Ceulemans R, et al. Effects of elevated [CO2] on photosynthesis in European forest species: A meta-analysis of model parameters. Plant, Cell Environ. 1999;22:1475–95.

105. Pierce S, Brusa G, Vagge I, Cerabolini BEL. Allocating CSR plant functional types: The use of leaf economics and size traits to classify woody and herbaceous vascular plants. Funct Ecol. 2013;27:1002–10.

106. Corcuera L, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E. Effects of a severe drought on Quercus ilex radial growth and xylem anatomy. Trees - Struct Funct. 2004;18:83–92.

107. Gartner BL, Roy J, Huc R. Effects of tension wood on specific conductivity and vulnerability to embolism of Quercus ilex seedlings grown at two atmospheric CO2 concentrations. Tree Physiol. 2003;23:387–95.

108. Limousin JM, Longepierre D, Huc R, Rambal S. Change in hydraulic traits of Mediterranean Quercus ilex subjected to long-term throughfall exclusion. Tree Physiol. 2010;30:1026–36.

109. Lo Gullo MA, Salleo S. Different vulnerabilities of Quercus ilex L. to freeze- and summer drought-induced xylem embolism: an ecological interpretation. Plant Cell Environ. 1993;16:511–9.

110. Martínez-Vilalta J, Prat E, Oliveras I, Piñol J. Xylem hydraulic properties of roots and stems of nine Mediterranean woody species. Oecologia. 2002;133:19–29.

111. Nardini A, Pedà G, Rocca N La. Trade-offs between leaf hydraulic capacity and drought vulnerability: Morpho-anatomical bases, carbon costs and ecological consequences. New Phytol. 2012;196:788–98.

112. Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Barrón E, Camarero JJ, Vilagrosa A, Gil-Pelegrín E. Morphological and physiological divergences within Quercus ilex support the existence of different ecotypes depending on climatic dryness. Ann Bot. 2014;114:301–13.

113. Tognetti R, Longobucco A, Raschi A. Seasonal embolism and xylem vulnerability in deciduous and evergreen mediterranean trees influenced by proximity to a carbon dioxide spring. Tree Physiol. 1999;19:271–7.

114. Tyree M, Cochard H. Summer and winter embolism in oak: impact on water relations. Ann des Sci For. 1996;53:173–80.

115. Lobo A, Torres-Ruiz JM, Burlett R, Lemaire C, Parise C, Francioni C, et al. Assessing interand intraspecific variability of xylem vulnerability to embolism in oaks. For Ecol Manage. 2018;424:53–61.

116. Tognetti R, Giovannelli A, Longobucco A, Miglietta F, Raschi A. Water relations of oak species growing in the natural CO 2 spring of Rapolano (central Italy). Ann des Sci For. 1996;53:475–85.

117. Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, et al. Coordinated modifications in mesophyll conductance, photosynthetic potentials and leaf nitrogen contribute to explain the large variation in foliage net assimilation rates across Quercus ilex provenances. Tree Physiol. Oxford University Press; 2017;37:1084–94.

118. Garnier E, Cordonnier P, Guillerm JL, Sonié L. Specific leaf area and leaf nitrogen concentration in annual and perennial grass species growing in Mediterranean old-fields. Oecologia. 1997;111:490–8.

119. Garnier E, Laurent G, Bellmann A, Debain S, Berthelier P, Ducout B, et al. Consistency of

species ranking based on functional leaf traits. New Phytol. 2001;152:69-83.

120. Navas ML, Ducout B, Roumet C, Richarte J, Garnier J, Garnier E. Leaf life span, dynamics and construction cost of species from Mediterranean old-fields differing in successional status. New Phytol. 2003;159:213–28.

121. Gratani L, Bombelli A. Differences in leaf traits among Mediterranean broad-leaved evergreen shrubs. Ann Bot Fenn. 2001;38:15–24.

122. Valladares F, Zaragoza-Castells J, Sánchez-Gómez D, Matesanz S, Alonso B, Portsmuth A, et al. Is shade beneficial for Mediterranean shrubs experiencing periods of extreme drought and late-winter frosts? Ann Bot. 2008;102:923–33.

123. Brites D, Valladares F. Implications of opposite phyllotaxis for light interception efficiency of Mediterranean woody plants. Trees - Struct Funct. 2005;19:671–9.

124. Pinto CA, David JS, Cochard H, Caldeira MC, Henriques MO, Quilhó T, et al. Droughtinduced embolism in current-year shoots of two Mediterranean evergreen oaks. For Ecol Manage. 2012;285:1–10.

125. Abrams MD, Schultz JC, Kleiner KW. Ecophysiological responses in mesic versus xeric hardwood species to an early-season drought in central Pennsylvania. For Sci. 1990;36:970–81.

126. Donovan LA, West JB, McLeod KW. Quercus species differ in water and nutrient characteristics in a resource-limited fall-line sandhill habitat. Tree Physiol. 2000;20:929–36.

127. Poudyal K. Soil and Leaf Water Potential of Quercus Semecarpifolia At Phulchowki Hill, Nepal. Ecoprint An Int J Ecol. 2014;20:115–21.

128. Poudyal K. Plant Water Relations, Phenology and Drought Adaptation Strategy of Himalayan Oak; Quercus lanata in Phulchowki Hill, Nepal. Sci Secur J Biotechnol. 2013;2:99–110.

129. Gotsch SG, Asbjornsen H, Holwerda F, Goldsmith GR, Weintraub AE, Dawson TE. Foggy days and dry nights determine crown-level water balance in a seasonal tropical montane cloud forest. Plant, Cell Environ. 2014;37:261–72.

130. An H, Shangguan Z. Generality of leaf traits relationships of dominant species along the secondary succession in the Loess Plateau of China. African J Biotechnol. 2012;11:1624–31.

131. Hara Y, Zhang W, Du S, Tamai S, Yamanaka N. Water relations of 4 afforestation species in the loess plateau, China. Nihon Ringakkai Shi/Journal Japanese For Soc. 2008;90:247–52.

132. Yan MJ, Yamamoto M, Yamanaka N, Yamamoto F, Liu G Bin, Du S. A comparison of pressure-volume curves with and without rehydration pretreatment in eight woody species of the semiarid Loess Plateau. Acta Physiol Plant. 2013;35:1051–60.

133. Hollinger DY. Photosynthesis and water relations of the mistletoe, Phoradendron villosum, and its host, the California valley oak, Quercus lobata. Oecologia. Springer; 1983;60:396–400.

134. Hamerlynck E, Knapp AK. Photosynthetic and stomatal responses to high temperature and light in two oaks at the western limit of their range. Tree Physiol. Heron Publishing; 1996;16:557–65.

135. Tjoelker MG, Craine JM, Wedin D, Reich PB, Tilman D. Linking leaf and root trait syndromes among 39 grassland and savannah species. New Phytol. 2005;167:493–508.

136. Cooper CE, Muir JP, Morgan CLS, Moore GW. Tortoise or hare: Will resprouting oaks or reseeding pines dominate following severe wildfire? For Ecol Manage. 2018;408:54–66.

137. Matsuki S, Koike T. Comparison of leaf life span, photosynthesis and defensive traits across seven species of deciduous broad-leaf tree seedlings. Ann Bot. 2006;97:813–7.

138. Koike T. Leaf Structure and Photosynthetic Performance as Related to the Forest Succession of Deciduous Broad-Leaved Trees. Plant Species Biol. 1988;3:77–87.

139. Koike T, Kitao M, Maruyama Y, Mori S, Lei TT. Leaf morphology and photosynthetic adjustments among deciduous broad-leaved trees within the vertical canopy profile. Tree Physiol. 2001. p. 951–8.

140. Kikuzawa K. Leaf survival of woody plants in deciduous broad-leaved forests. I. Tall trees ( Hokkaido, Japan). Can J Bot. 1983;61:2133–9.

141. Jiang G, Tang H, Yu M, Dong M, Zhang X. Response of photosynthesis of different plant functional types to environmental changes along Northeast China Transect. Trees - Struct Funct. 1999;14:72–82.

142. Mori AS, Shiono T, Haraguchi TF, Ota AT, Koide D, Ohgue T, et al. Functional redundancy of multiple forest taxa along an elevational gradient: Predicting the consequences of non-random species loss. J Biogeogr. 2015;42:1383–96.

143. Yan K, Chen W, He X, Zhang G, Xu S, Wang L. Responses of photosynthesis, lipid peroxidation and antioxidant system in leaves of Quercus mongolica to elevated O3. Environ Exp Bot. 2010;69:198–204.

144. Miyazawa SI, Satomi S, Terashima I. Slow leaf development of evergreen broad-leaved tree species in Japanese warm temperate forests. Ann Bot. 1998;82:859–69.

145. Cavender-Bares J, Sack L, Savage J. Atmospheric and soil drought reduce nocturnal conductance in live oaks. Tree Physiol. 2007. p. 611–20.

146. Powers JS, Tiffin P. Plant functional type classifications in tropical dry forests in Costa Rica: Leaf habit versus taxonomic approaches. Funct Ecol. 2010;24:927–36.

147. Ramírez-Valiente JA, Cavender-Bares J. Evolutionary trade-offs between drought resistance mechanisms across a precipitation gradient in a seasonally dry tropical oak (Quercus oleoides). Tree Physiol. 2017;37:889–901.

148. Brodribb TJ, Holbrook NM, Edwards EJ, Gutiérrez M V. Relations between stomatal closure, leaf turgor and xylem vulnerability in eight tropical dry forest trees. Plant, Cell Environ. 2003;26:443–50.

149. Meir P, Kruijt B, Broadmeadow M, Barbosa E, Kull O, Carswell F, et al. Acclimation of photosynthetic capacity to irradiance in tree canopies in relation to leaf nitrogen concentration and leaf mass per unit area. Plant, Cell Environ. 2002;25:343–57.

150. Milla R, Reich PB. Multi-trait interactions, not phylogeny, fine-tune leaf size reduction with increasing altitude. Ann Bot. 2011;107:455–65.

151. Scherer-Lorenzen M, Schulze ED, Don A, Schumacher J, Weller E. Exploring the functional significance of forest diversity: A new long-term experiment with temperate tree species

(BIOTREE). Perspect Plant Ecol Evol Syst. 2007;9:53-70.

152. Cochard H, Bréda N, Granier A, Aussenac G. Vulnerability to air embolism of three European oak species (Quercus petraea (Matt) Liebl, Q pubescens Willd, Q robur L). Ann des Sci For. 1992;49:225–33.

153. Urli M, Porté AJ, Cochard H, Guengant Y, Burlett R, Delzon S. Xylem embolism threshold for catastrophic hydraulic failure in angiosperm trees. Tree Physiol. 2013;33:672–83.

154. Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Pardos JA, Aranda I. Contrasting responses facing peak drought in seedlings of two co-occurring oak species. Forestry. 2010;83:369–78.

155. Burghardt M, Riederer M. Ecophysiological relevance of cuticular transpiration of deciduous and evergreen plants in relation to stomatal closure and leaf water potential. J Exp Bot. 2003;54:1941–9.

156. Ponton S, Dupouey JL, Bréda N, Dreyer E. Comparison of water-use efficiency of seedlings from two sympatric oak species: Genotype x environment interactions. Tree Physiol. 2002;22:413–22.

157. Cano FJ, Sánchez-Gómez D, Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Warren CR, Gil L, Aranda I. Effects of drought on mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic limitations at different tree canopy layers. Plant, Cell Environ. 2013;36:1961–80.

158. Epron D, Dreyer E. Long-term effects of drought on photosynthesis of adult oak trees [Quercus petraea (Matt.) Liebl. and Quercus robur L.] in a natural stand. New Phytol. 1993;125:381–9.

159. Epron D, Dreyer E, Aussenac G. A comparison of photosynthetic responses to water stress in seedlings from 3 oak species: Quercus petraea (Matt) Liebl, Q rubra L and Q cerris L. Ann Des Sci For. 1993;50:48s–60s.

160. Hacke UG, Sperry JS, Wheeler JK, Castro L. Scaling of angiosperm xylem structure with safety and efficiency. Tree Physiol. 2006;26:689–701.

161. Turnbull MH, Whitehead D, Tissue DT, Schuster WSF, Brown KJ, Engel VC, et al. Photosynthetic characteristics in canopies of Quercus rubra, Quercus prinus and Acer rubrum differ in response to soil water availability. Oecologia. 2002;130:515–24.

162. Nagel JM, Griffin KL, Schuster WSF, Tissue DT, Turnbull MH, Brown KJ, et al. Energy investment in leaves of red maple and co-occurring oaks within a forested watershed. Tree Physiol. 2002;22:859–67.

163. Tognetti R, Longobucco A, Raschi A. Vulnerability of xylem to embolism in relation to plant hydraulic resistance in Quercus pubescens and Quercus ilex co-occurring in a Mediterranean coppice stand in central Italy. New Phytol. 1998;139:437–47.

164. Gulias J, Flexas J, Abadia A, Medrano H. Photosynthetic responses to water deficit in six Mediterranean sclerophyll species: possible factors explaining the declining distribution of Rhamnus ludovici-salvatoris, an endemic Balearic species. Tree Physiol. 2002;22:687–97.

165. Zhou S, Medlyn B, Sabaté S, Sperlich D, Prentice IC. Short-term water stress impacts on stomatal, mesophyll and biochemical limitations to photosynthesis differ consistently among tree species from contrasting climates. Tree Physiol. Oxford University Press; 2014;34:1035–46.

166. Sperlich D, Chang CT, Peñuelas J, Gracia C, Sabate S. Seasonal variability of foliar photosynthetic and morphological traits and drought impacts in a Mediterranean mixed forest. Tree Physiol. Oxford University Press; 2015;35:501–20.

167. Hattermann D, Elstner C, Bernhardt-Römermann M, Eckstein L. Measurements from the project "Relative effects of local and regional factors as drivers for plant community diversity, functional trait diversity and genetic structure of species on Baltic uplift islands" funded by the German Research Foundation - DFG: B. 2019;

168. Ordoñez JC, Van Bodegom PM, Witte JPM, Bartholomeus RP, Van Hal JR, Aerts R. Plant strategies in relation to resource supply in mesic to wet environments: Does theory mirror nature? Am Nat. 2010;

169. Tobin MF, Pratt RB, Jacobsen AL, De Guzman ME. Xylem vulnerability to cavitation can be accurately characterised in species with long vessels using a centrifuge method. Plant Biol. 2013;15:496–504.

170. Kazda M, Salzer J, Reiter I. Photosynthetic capacity in relation to nitrogen in the canopy of a Quercus robur, Fraxinus angustifolia and Tilia cordata flood plain forest. Tree Physiol. 2000;20:1029–37.

171. Oleksyn BYJ, Karolewski P, Giertych MJ, Zytkowiak R, Reich PB, Tjoelker MG. Primary and secondary host plants differ in leaf-level photosynthetic response to herbivory: Evidence from Alnus and Betula grazed by the alder beetle, Agelastica alni. New Phytol. 1998;140:239–49.

172. Oleksyn J, Żytkowiak R, Reich PB, Tjoelker MG, Karolewski P. Ontogenetic patterns of leaf CO 2 exchange, morphology and chemistry in Betula pendula trees. Trees - Struct Funct. 2000;14:271–81.

173. Sack L, Cowan PD, Jaikumar N, Holbrook NM. The "hydrology" of leaves: Co-ordination of structure and function in temperate woody species. Plant, Cell Environ. 2003;26:1343–56.

174. Sack L, Melcher PJ, Liu WH, Middleton E, Pardee T. How strong is intracanopy leaf plasticity in temperate deciduous trees? Am J Bot. 2006;93:829–39.

175. Cochard H, Tyree MT. Xylem dysfunction in Quercus: vessel sizes, tyloses, cavitation and seasonal changes in embolism. Tree Physiol. 1990;6:393–407.

176. Gower ST, Reich PB, Son Y. Canopy dynamics and aboveground production of five tree species with different leaf longevities. Tree Physiol. 1993;12:327–45.

177. Bassow SL, Bazzaz FA. Intra- and inter-specific variation in canopy photosynthesis in a mixed deciduous forest. Oecologia. 1997;109:507–15.

178. Jurik TW. Temporal and spatial patterns of specific leaf weight in successional northern hardwood tree species. Am J Bot. 1986;73:1083–92.

179. Jurik TW. Seasonal patterns of leaf photosynthetic capacity in successional northern hardwood tree species. Am J Bot. 1986;73:131–8.

180. Onoda Y, Saluñga JB, Akutsu K, Aiba S ichiro, Yahara T, Anten NPR. Trade-off between light interception efficiency and light use efficiency: Implications for species coexistence in one-sided light competition. J Ecol. 2014;102:167–75.

181. Poudyal K. Maintenance of Turgor in Response To Drought in Schima Wallichii and Quercus Semecarpifolia At Phulchowki Hill, Kathmandu, Nepal. J Biol Sci Opin. 2013;1:145–50.

182. Saito T, Terashima I. Reversible decreases in the bulk elastic modulus of mature leaves of deciduous Quercus species subjected to two drought treatments. Plant, Cell Environ. 2004;27:863–75.

183. Saito T, Tanaka T, Tanabe H, Matsumoto Y, Morikawa Y. Variations in transpiration rate and leaf cell turgor maintenance in saplings of deciduous broad-leaved tree species common in cool temperate forests in Japan. Tree Physiol. 2003;23:59–66.

184. Vaz M, Cochard H, Gazarini L, Graça J, Chaves MM, Pereira JS. Cork oak (Quercus suber L.) seedlings acclimate to elevated CO2 and water stress: Photosynthesis, growth, wood anatomy and hydraulic conductivity. Trees - Struct Funct. 2012;26:1145–57.

185. Abadía A, Gil-Pelegrin E, Morales F, Montañés L, Montserrat G, Abadía J. Marcescence and senescence in a submediterranean oak (Quercus subpyrenaica E.H. del Villar): Photosynthetic Characteristics and nutrient composition. Plant, Cell Environ. 1996;19:685–94.

186. Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Martín P, Saz MÁ, Gea-Izquierdo G, Cañellas I, et al. Evidence of vulnerability segmentation in a deciduous Mediterranean oak (Quercus subpyrenaica E. H. del Villar). Trees - Struct Funct. 2015;29:1917–27.

187. Craine JM, Elmore AJ, Aidar MPM, Bustamante M, Dawson TE, Hobbie EA, et al. Global patterns of foliar nitrogen isotopes and their relationships with climate, mycorrhizal fungi, foliar nutrient concentrations, and nitrogen availability. New Phytol. 2009. p. 980–92.

# Capítulo III

Deciduous and evergreen oaks show contrasting adaptative responses in leaf mass per area across environments



# Deciduous and evergreen oaks show contrasting adaptive responses in leaf mass per area across environments



<sup>1</sup>Centro de Investigación y Tecnología Agroalimentaria de Aragón (CITA), Unidad de Recursos Forestales, Avda. Montañana 930, Zaragoza 50059, Spain; <sup>2</sup>Instituto Agroalimentario de Aragón – IA2 (CITA-Universidad de Zaragoza), Zaragoza 50013, Spain; <sup>3</sup>Departamento de Ecología, Facultad de Biología, Universidad de Salamanca, Salamanca 37071, Spain; <sup>4</sup>Department of Biological Sciences, California State University, Los Angeles, CA 90032, USA; <sup>5</sup>Ecology, Evolution and Behavior, University of Minnesota, Saint Paul, MN 55108, USA; <sup>6</sup>ITEFI-CSIC, Serrano 144, Madrid 28006, Spain; <sup>7</sup>Research Group on Plant Biology under Mediterranean Conditions, Universitat de les Illes Balears-INAGEA, Ctra. Valldemossa km. 7.5, Palma, Illes Balears 07122, Spain; <sup>8</sup>Aragon Agency for Research and Development (ARAID), Zaragoza E-50018, Spain

#### **Summary**

Author for correspondence: Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín Email: egilp@aragon.es

Received: *30 July 2020* Accepted: *11 December 2020* 

*New Phytologist* (2021) **do**i: 10.1111/nph.17151

**Key words:** climate, deciduous, evergreen, leaf density, leaf mass per area, leaf thickness, *Quercus*.

• Increases in leaf mass per area (LMA) are commonly observed in response to environmental stresses and are achieved through increases in leaf thickness and/or leaf density. Here, we investigated how the two underlying components of LMA differ in relation to species native climates and phylogeny, across deciduous and evergreen species.

• Using a phylogenetic approach, we quantified anatomical, compositional and climatic variables from 40 deciduous and 45 evergreen *Quercus* species from across the Northern Hemisphere growing in a common garden.

• Deciduous species from shorter growing seasons tended to have leaves with lower LMA and leaf thickness than those from longer growing seasons, while the opposite pattern was found for evergreens. For both habits, LMA and thickness increased in arid environments. However, this shift was associated with increased leaf density in evergreens but reduced density in deciduous species.

• Deciduous and evergreen oaks showed fundamental leaf morphological differences that revealed a diverse adaptive response. While LMA in deciduous species may have diversified in tight coordination with thickness mainly modulated by aridity, diversification of LMA within evergreens appears to be dependent on the infrageneric group, with diversification in leaf thickness modulated by both aridity and cold, while diversification in leaf density is only modulated by aridity.

## Introduction

Sclerophyllous leaves are tough and frequently hard and stiff (Grubb, 1986; Turner, 1994; Read & Sanson, 2003). To obtain a quantitative proxy value for this leaf trait, most ecophysiological studies calculate either the specific leaf area or its inverse, the leaf mass per unit area (LMA) (e.g. Witkowski & Lamont, 1991; Groom & Lamont, 1999; Osone *et al.*, 2008; Poorter *et al.*, 2012; Gil-Pelegrín *et al.*, 2017). Although the ecological and functional significance of LMA is still under debate (Kikuzawa *et al.*, 2013; Alonso-Forn *et al.*, 2020), it is widely accepted that an increase in LMA is a general response to environmental stress (Onoda *et al.*, 2011; Alonso-Forn *et al.*, 2020). Thus, many studies have reported a higher LMA under conditions of drought stress (Turner, 1994; Reich *et al.*, 1999; Jordan *et al.*, 2005), low winter temperatures (Ogaya & Peñuelas, 2007; González-Zurdo *et al.*, 2016; Niinemets, 2016), or under conditions of low

nutrient availability (Loveless, 1962; Niinemets et al., 2009; Hassiotou et al., 2010). A high LMA has also been traditionally interpreted as a trait that increases the structural resistance of leaves, as it may protect the leaf against herbivory or mechanical damage (Turner, 1994; Reich et al., 1999; Sack et al., 2013) and so expecting to achieve longer lifespans (Coley et al., 1985; Reich et al., 1999). However, Alonso-Forn et al., (2020) recently revisited the role of these four factors (drought, cold, nutrient availability and leaf longevity) on sclerophylly within the genus Quercus L. and they concluded that no sole factor could explain all the variation observed in LMA, suggesting that these constraints may have a synergistic effect. Additionally, the mechanisms driving higher LMA at lower temperatures across species are still unclear (Alonso-Forn et al., 2020), urging the consideration that both severity of cold and length of the cold season be considered together in ecological studies. This segregation between the duration (length of time during which stress occurs)
and intensity (extreme value or accumulated value of a climatic stress factor) has been previously incorporated in studies when analysing drought stress (e.g. Granier *et al.*, 1999), but rarely when considering cold stress.

LMA, defined above as the ratio between leaf mass and leaf area, is also related to leaf thickness (LT, µm) and leaf density (LD, mg cm<sup>-3</sup>, i.e. dry mass per hydrated volume), given that LMA (g m<sup>-2</sup>) = LT × LD (Witkowski & Lamont, 1991; Poorter et al., 2009; John et al., 2017). These structural variables can also depend on other parameters associated with leaf anatomy and chemical composition. While variation in LT is mainly attributed to changes in mesophyll thickness, LD is dependent (amongst other things) on the chemistry of cell walls and vein traits (Villar et al., 2013; John et al., 2017; Peguero-Pina et al., 2017a). In addition, variation in LMA related to changes in LT or LD has been suggested to have two major and potentially contrasting consequences for leaf function, linked to leaf economic spectrum theory (Wright et al., 2004; Shipley et al., 2006). First, as performing photosynthesis is the main function of the mesophyll, we might expect that the increase in LMA would be associated with an increase in mesophyll thickness, to lead to a greater capacity for C assimilation per unit leaf area due to a higher amount of photosynthetic tissue per unit area (Niinemets, 1999; Niinemets, 2001; Peguero-Pina et al., 2017a). Moreover, a higher instantaneous photosynthetic rate per unit leaf area would compensate for a shorter favourable season caused by a higher duration of stressful seasonally climatic events such as aridity or cold (Kikuzawa et al., 2013; Peguero-Pina et al., 2016a; Berdugo et al., 2020). However, an increase in mesophyll thickness may increase the nitrogen content per unit area (Onoda et al., 2017) and, therefore, increase the risk for herbivory (Meloni et al., 2012). Thus, if changes in LMA are associated with changes in photosynthetically competent tissues, thicker leaves that result in high LMA would achieve higher instantaneous assimilation rates per unit area compensating for a longer duration of climate stress events, but at the expense of a lower protection given by a stronger herbivore pressure (Scenario 1, Fig. 1). Second, changes in LMA associated with LD imply variation in the relative amount of cell types or variation in biomass allocation (Niinemets, 2001; Hassiotou et al., 2010; Griffith et al., 2016). For instance, a higher cell wall fraction with respect to cytoplasm should lead to an increase in LD (Poorter et al., 2009) giving more structural resistance to the cell (Wyka & Oleksyn, 2014) needed under more intense climate stress events (Oertli et al., 1990; Scholz et al., 2012; Ding et al., 2014; Alonso-Forn et al., 2020), but inevitably reducing the efficiency of photosynthesis due to a reduction in cell wall permeability to CO2 and N allocation in photosynthetic proteins (Onoda et al., 2017). Similarly, higher vein density, which can also contribute to increasing LD (Alonso-Forn et al., 2020), has been observed to be greater in more arid biomes (Sack & Scoffoni, 2013), to the potential detriment of reducing the amount of photosynthetic tissues. Therefore, higher LMA associated with an increase in LD, and thus of 'protective' traits against intense climatic stresses, could trigger an increase in leaf lifespan, compensating for the lower instantaneous C assimilation rate caused by an increase in the proportion of nonphotosynthetic tissues (Kikuzawa, 1995; Niinemets, 2001; Kikuzawa & Lechowicz, 2011; Scenario 2, Fig. 1).

In general, LMA and leaf functioning differ between deciduous and evergreen species. Deciduous and evergreen species indeed have been shown to differ in: (1) LMA values, with lower values in deciduous species (e.g. Castro-Díez *et al.*, 2000; Poorter *et al.*, 2009), (2) the leaf structural traits behind increases in LMA (de la Riva *et al.*, 2016), (3) biomass allocation (Puglielli



**Fig. 1** Schematic representation of the two leaf mass per area (LMA) diversification scenarios. Scenario 1 (Scn 1): leaf thickness (LT) increases LMA to increase  $A_{area}$  in order to compensate for a shorter favourable season. Scenario 2 (Scn 2): leaf density (LD) increases LMA as a protective mechanism against severe climatic factors.  $A_{area}$ , carbon assimilation per area.

New Phytologist (2021) www.newphytologist.com © 2020 The Authors New Phytologist © 2020 New Phytologist Foundation

et al., 2020), and (4) leaf longevity (Kikuzawa, 1991; Wright et al., 2005; Kikuzawa et al., 2013). For instance, a recent metaanalysis highlighted that, although variations in LMA were associated with LT and LD within both leaf habits, the variation across deciduous oak species was mainly due to variation in LT, while variation across evergreen oaks was better explained by variation in LD (Escudero et al., 2017). In this sense, assuming that species from both leaf habits can fit into the two LMA diversification scenarios, the relative importance of Scenario 1 (LT increases LMA in order to compensate photosynthetically for a shorter favourable season) and Scenario 2 (LD increases LMA as a protective mechanism against severe climatic factors) within each leaf habit is also expected to be different. While variation of LMA within deciduous species could be more strongly associated with Scenario 1, variation within evergreen species might be more strongly associated with Scenario 2. Furthermore, it is imperative to investigate these scenarios within a phylogenetic framework, to help understand why plants have evolved certain leaf traits rather than others, which is a central question in evolutionary biology (Pigliucci, 2007).

In this study, we investigated the two LMA diversification scenarios in terms of several leaf traits enabling variation of LMA across deciduous and evergreen Quercus species. We quantified 14 leaf anatomical, morphological and chemical traits in a set of 40 deciduous and 45 evergreen Quercus species growing in a common garden in northern Spain. On the one hand, the genus Quercus is an excellent system to perform this study, as it not only minimises phylogenetic variation (compared with studies performed across diverse species), but also displays strong variation in LMA across species adapted to a large variety of climatic conditions, from those in nemoral-temperate areas to those in Mediterranean or tropical environments (Gil-Pelegrín et al., 2017). Therefore, the genus Quercus constitutes a unique living laboratory to understand global adaptive patterns along the leaf economic spectrum in forest trees (Alonso-Forn et al., 2020). On the other hand, by allowing the contribution of environmental variation to be ruled out as a factor in phenotypic variation, common gardens allow interspecific comparisons of traits that result from long-term adaptation to the environmental conditions where different species have evolved. LMA could therefore be analysed in relation to the species' native climate.

Four main objectives were addressed: (1) to quantify and contrast the diversification in leaf morphology, anatomy and chemical composition between deciduous and evergreen oaks; (2) to elucidate within each leaf habit which of the two components, LT or LD, was more relevant in the evolution of LMA in Quercus; (3) to identify for each leaf habit which anatomical and compositional traits are associated with increases in LT and LD; and (4) to investigate the role of climate in the differential diversification of LMA within deciduous and evergreen oaks. We hypothesised that diversification in LT was the main driver behind the diversification in LMA within deciduous oaks, whereas the diversification in LD would be more important within evergreen oaks. We also hypothesised that the duration of climatic stress would have a greater impact than stress intensity

using IMAGEJ analysis software (http://rsb.info.nih.gov/nih-ima ge/). Afterwards, leaves were oven dried for 3 d at 70°C and weighed using an analytical balance (Sartorius AG Model BP221S; Sartorius AG, Goettingen, Germany). LMA was then calculated as the ratio of the foliage dry mass to foliage area. Later, leaves were ground with a bead mill (TissueLyser II; Qiatration are available in Table S1.

Research 3

within deciduous species on LMA, but would have similar or less importance within evergreens.

#### **Materials and Methods**

#### Plant material

To perform this study, 85 oak species from across the Northern Hemisphere (Supporting Information Table S1) were sampled from living collections in the Jardín Botánico de Iturrarán (43°13'N, 02°01'W, 70 m asl, Gipuzkoa, Spain, www.iturraran. org). This common garden features temperate climatic conditions with a mean annual temperature of 14.5°C and a total annual precipitation of 1631 mm (Peguero-Pina et al., 2016b). Current year, fully developed leaves were collected from southern-exposed branches of three trees per species during the early morning (07:00-09:00 h, solar time). All trees sampled were mature trees (15-25 yr old) to ensure leaf traits were measured at similar ontogenic changes (Puglielli et al., 2020). Leaves were sealed in plastic bags and carried to the laboratory in portable coolers. As LT and LD variations can be explored through a series of anatomical and chemical traits (Villar et al., 2013; John et al., 2017), we used one set of 10 leaves per species (three or four leaves per tree) to measure leaf area, leaf mass and leaf fibre concentration, and another set of five leaves per species (one or two leaves per tree) to measure diverse anatomical parameters (details to be described later). Oak species were classified according to their leaf habit as evergreen (45 species), if they retained their leaves during the whole year and leaf lifespan was at least 12 months, and deciduous (40 species), if they lost all leaves during the winter season (Table S1). This classification was carried out with personal observations on the specimens of the common garden. We did not observe any species that retained their leaves during the whole year with a leaf lifespan lower than 12 months. Finally, climatic information based on the natural distribution range of each oak species was obtained to study the leaf traits in relation to dimatic variables (to be described later).

#### Leaf mass per unit area and fibre concentration

gen, Hilden, Germany) for fibre analysis. Hemicellulose, cellulose and lignin+cutin concentration were obtained by quantifying neutral detergent fibre and acid detergent lignin following the method of Goering & Van Soest (1970). Fibre concentration, obtained from a bulk of 10 leaves, was expressed as milligrams of fibre per gram of leaf dry mass. Abbreviations and units of these traits are shown in Table 1(a). The mean values  $(\pm SE)$  of leaf area and LMA, and the bulk values of fibre concen-

	Units	Abbreviation	Scenario
(a) Leaf traits			
Leaf mass per unit area	g m <sup>-2</sup>	LMA	1, 2
Leaf thickness	μm	LT	1
Leaf tissue density	mg cm <sup>-3</sup>	LD	2
Leaf area	cm <sup>2</sup>	LA	1, 2
Hemicellulose concentration	mg g <sup>-1</sup>	HC	2
Cellulose concentration	mg g <sup>-1</sup>	CC	2
Lignin+cutin concentration	mg g <sup>-1</sup>	LCC	2
Palisade mesophyll thickness	μm	PMT	1
Spongy mesophyll thickness	μm	SMT	1
Palisade mesophyll cell rows	count	PCR	1
Palisade cell length	μm	PCL	1, 2
Palisade cell width	μm	PCW	1, 2
Interveinal distance	μm	IVD	2
Bundle sheath extension width	μm	BSEW	2
(b) Climatic variables			
Mean monthly temperature	°C	tm	1, 2
Monthly precipitation	mm	D <sub>m</sub>	1.2
Growing season. Number of months with $t_m > 5^{\circ}C$	Month	GS	1
Period of full plant growth. Number of months with t <sub>m</sub> >10°C	Month	FPG	1
Arid period. Number of months with $t_m > 10^{\circ}$ C and 2 $t_m > p_m$	Month	AP	1
Annual mean temperature	°C	Т	1, 2
Minimum temperature of coldest month	°C	TMIN	2
Mean temperature of driest guarter	°C	TDRY	2
Annual precipitation	mm	Р	1, 2
Arid intensity. Sum of (2 $t_m - p_m$ ) for m with $t_m > 10^{\circ}$ C and 2 $t_m > p_m$	nonths	Al	2

 Table 1
 List, units, abbreviations and association with the scenarios for (a)

 leaf traits and (b) climatic variables.

#### Leaf cross-sectional anatomy

A transverse section (c.  $3 \times 2$  mm) was cut between the secondary veins of the middle part of each leaf. Sections were fixed in paraffin and embedded in paraffin blocks (Ruzin, 1999). Leaf crosssections (20 µm in thickness) were obtained from the blocks using a rotary microtome (HM 350 S; Microm International GmbH, Walldorf, Germany). Cross-sections were deparaffinised and stained following the procedure of Johansen's safranin and fast green (Johansen, 1940; Ruzin, 1999). Afterwards, images of the cross-sections were taken using a digital camera (Optikam Pro 5; Optika Microscopes, Ponteranica, Italy) coupled to a light microscope (Optika B-600TiFL; Optika Microscopes, Ponteranica, Italy) (Fig. 2). Anatomical parameters including LT, palisade and spongy mesophyll thickness, number of palisade cell row layers, palisade cell size, interveinal distance (IVD) and bundle sheath extension width (BSEW), were then measured from the images using IMAGEJ software (Fig. 2). We measured one value per cross-section for each anatomical parameter, except for IVD and BSEW, for which we measured two values, and for palisade cell size for which we measured palisade cell length and width of

20 cells per cross-section. Finally, for each species, the LD was calculated as the ratio between LMA and LT (Witkowski & Lamont, 1991; Niinemets, 1999). Abbreviations of leaf anatomy traits, their units and their association with the scenarios are shown in Table 1(a). The mean values ( $\pm$ SE) of these anatomical traits for each species are available in Table S1.

#### Climatic variables

Climatic information (bioclimatic variables; mean monthly temperature,  $t_{\rm m}$ ; and monthly precipitation,  $p_{\rm m}$ ) of species natural distributions was obtained from the WorldClim database (http:// www.worldclim.org/) using geographical distribution coordinates obtained from herbarium data (Gil-Pelegrín et al., 2017). From this climatic information, we selected six climatic variables related to the duration and intensity of the seasonal stress, including cold and arid-related variables. Indeed, we used two climatic variables related to cold stress duration: the growing season and the period of full plant growth, defined as the number of months when monthly temperatures were higher than 5°C and higher than 10°C, respectively (Wypych et al., 2017). We further selected one climatic variable related to arid stress duration: the aridity period, which we based off climatic diagrams (Breckle, 2002) that define aridity as the number of months where  $2 \times \text{monthly}$ temperature  $(t_m) > monthly precipitation (p_m)$ , considering only those months with mean temperatures higher than 10°C. We selected one climatic variable that characterises cold stress intensity, the minimum temperature of the coldest month. We finally selected two climatic variables characterising aridity stress intensity: the aridity intensity, defined as the sum of  $(2t_m - p_m)$  for months with  $2t_m > p_m$  and  $t_m > 10^{\circ}$ C, and the temperature of the driest quarter (TDRY) (Table 1b). For a better understanding of TDRY, we identified the season of the year with the driest quarter by analysing the monthly precipitation of the localities for each species. This analysis showed that most of the species included in this study had their driest quarter either during summer (June, July, August) or during winter (December, January, February) (Fig. S1). Additionally, we include in the analyses the mean annual temperature and the mean annual precipitation as standard variables for comparative purposes with other studies. Abbreviations of climatic variables, their units and their association with each scenario are shown in Table 1(b). The mean values  $(\pm SE)$  of the eight climatic variables used in this study for each species are available in Table S2.

These climatic variables from all species were previously analysed using principal components analysis in order to identify the species within the eight climatic variables considered (Fig. S2). This previous analysis also showed that thermal-related variables (including the growing season and the period of full plant growth) weighed more in the first component, while arid variables weighed more in the second component.

#### Data analysis

First, Student's t-tests were used to compare the leaf trait values between deciduous and evergreen species in order to identify

#### New Phytologist



**Fig. 2** Leaf mesophyll cross-sections of two deciduous (a, b) and two evergreen (c, d) *Quercus* species differing in leaf mass per area (LMA). (a) *Quercus robur* (LMA = 86 g m<sup>-2</sup>). (b) *Quercus marilandica* (108 g m<sup>-2</sup>). (c) *Quercus insignis* (90 g m<sup>-2</sup>). (d) *Quercus miquihuanensis* (198 g m<sup>-2</sup>). BSEW, bundle sheath extension width; IVD, interveinal distance; LT, leaf thickness; PCL, palisade cell length; PCW, palisade cell width; PMT, palisade mesophyll thickness; SMT, spongy mesophyll thickness. Bars, 100  $\mu$ m.

their differences in terms of LMA, anatomy and chemical composition.

Second, evolutionary dynamics of traits following the approach of previous studies (Chatelet et al., 2013; Scoffoni et al., 2016) were examined with the aim of analysing within each leaf habit which of the two components, LT or LD, was more associated to the diversification of LMA in oaks. A phylogenetic tree was inferred from Hermida-Carrera et al. (2017), pruned to match species measured in this study. The phylogenetic tree was constructed using rbcL sequences from 85 Quercus species and Fagus crenata as a root species (see Table S3 for GenBank accession numbers), resulting in a tree similar to that shown by Hipp et al. (2020) and consistent in the assignment of species to subgenera (subgenus Cerris and subgenus Quercus) and sections (Denk et al., 2017). Then, to visualise how increases in either LT and/or LD related to increases in LMA, we calculated the divergence of LT and LD from LMA across the study's oak species by first standardising the species means for all three traits to values between 0 and 100. Then, we calculated the absolute value of the difference between the standardised LMA and the standardised LT and LD values respectively for each species. As such, a divergence value close to 0 between LT and LMA across species would mean that both traits co-evolved very tightly. We also calculated the divergence of the two first climatic principal components (Fig. S2) from LMA, LT and LD in order to elucidate whether climate was tightly coordinated with these leaf traits across species.

Third, we compared the fit of three different models of trait evolution: a Brownian motion (BM) model, an Ornstein–Uhlenbeck (OU) model with a single global optimum (OU1) and an OU model with two optima either evergreen or deciduous species (OU2). The best fit model for each variable was chosen using the computed Akaike Information Criterion corrected for small sample size, and the corresponding variable was transformed appropriately. Then, relationships between leaf traits and climatic variables across different species within each leaf habit were explored with regression and correlation analyses (SPSS statistical package; SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Analyses were performed using phylogenetically independent contrasts (PICS) (Harvey & Pagel, 1992). Interspecific differences in leaf traits were tested by one-way ANOVA (SPSS).

All analyses were performed in R (v.3.6.1) using the packages Analysis of Phylogenetics and Evolution (APE; Paradis *et al.*, 2004), Ornstein–Uhlenbeck models for phylogenetic Comparative Hypotheses (OUCH; Butler & King, 2004), and Analysis of Evolutionary Diversification (GEIGER; Harmon *et al.*, 2008).

#### Results

## Variation in anatomical and chemical composition across species and leaf habits

All leaf traits analysed exhibited strong interspecific variability, with leaf area showing the highest coefficient of variation (Table 2). LMA, palisade and spongy mesophyll thickness, and IVD showed intermediate coefficients of variation, whereas LD showed fewer differences between the different species. Hemicellulose and cellulose concentration and palisade cell size also showed relatively low variability (Table 2).

The coefficients of variation for LMA, LT, LD, leaf area, hemicellulose content, spongy mesophyll thickness and palisade cell length were 1.2–1.9-fold higher for evergreen than for deciduous species (Table 2). Evergreen and deciduous leaf habits also showed significant differences in the mean values of most leaf traits (P<0.05; Table 2). Evergreen oaks had 1.4-fold higher LMA and LT than deciduous species, but 2.3-fold smaller leaf area. Cellulose concentration and lignin + cutin concentration were 1.3-fold and 1.1-fold higher,

	LMA	LT	۲D	LA	НС	cc	LCC	PMT	SMT	PCR	PCL	PCW	IVD	BSEW
DEC (mean)	92 ± 2 a	135 ± 5 a	695±19 a	42±5a	180±5a	150±4a	129±6a	62±3a	44±2 a	1.7±0.1 a	38±2 a	7.4±0.2 a	301 ± 17 a	$12.6 \pm 0.5$
EVE (mean)	$130\pm6\mathrm{b}$	$191 \pm 7 \mathrm{b}$	694±27 a	$19\pm 2$ b	$169\pm 6a$	$193 \pm 4 b$	$148\pm6\mathrm{b}$	$88 \pm 4 \mathrm{b}$	74±3b	$2.2\pm0.1~\mathrm{b}$	40±1a	$8.1\pm0.2~\mathrm{b}$	$198 \pm 7 b$	$15.7\pm0.6$
DEC (max)	129	232	1058	141	252	210	260	137	69	ŝ	65	11	584	21.4
DEC (min)	53	87	487	ŝ	119	104	74	24	28	~	23	9	173	5.4
EVE (max)	223	337	1205	75	270	290	264	161	135	e	56	11	346	25.1
EVE (min)	62	106	435	2	78	128	76	36	35	~	23	6	118	9.6
DEC (CV)	17	22	17	75	18	16	32	32	25	27	28	13	35	27
EVE (CV)	31	26	26	88	24	16	26	31	30	25	17	13	25	25
All species (CV)	32	30	22	91	22	20	29	36	39	29	22	14	39	28
All species (CV)	32	30	77	91	77	20	67	36	39	79	77	14	39	~

*New Phytologist* (2021) www.newphytologist.com

6 Research

ı.

0 a 1

New Phytologist

respectively, in evergreen than in deciduous species. The larger thickness of evergreen species was due to the thicker mesophyll, mainly due to the 1.7-fold larger spongy mesophyll contribution (Table 2). There were also differences in the vascular bundle traits. Evergreen oaks showed a significant 1.5-fold lower IVD and, therefore, a higher vein density, and a significant 1.3-fold higher value of BSEW than deciduous oaks (Table 2). By contrast, LD, hemicellulose concentration and palisade cell length did not show significant differences between the two leaf habits (P < 0.05; Table 2).

#### Dynamics and models of trait evolution

Across species, LT and LD evolved in coordination with shifts in LMA, such that the direction and magnitude of evolutionary shifts in LT or LD corresponded to shifts in LMA (Fig. S3). However, LMA appears to have evolved in tighter coordination with LT than it did with LD; 83% of all deciduous oak species and 66% of the evergreen species belonging to subgenus *Quercus* showed a tighter coordination between LT and LMA (expressed as lower divergence between the traits; Fig. 3). By contrast, LD showed tighter coordination with LMA in *c.* 70% of the evergreen oaks within the subgenus *Cerris* (Fig. 3). Notably, high values of LMA could be found in any clade, but were preferably associated with evergreen species (Fig. 3).

Concerning the coordination between LMA and climate, 71% of the species showed a divergence value below 15, with at least one of the climatic principal components, that is LMA showed a very tight coordination with climate in most species analysed (Fig. 3). Across species from subgenus *Cerris*, LMA, LT and LD showed a slight tighter coordination with PC1 (the thermal component; Fig. S2) than they did with PC2 (the arid component; Figs 3,S2,S4). Within subgenus *Quercus*, LMA and LT also showed a slight tighter coordination with PC1, while LD showed a tighter coordination with PC2 (Figs 3,S4).

Comparing the fit of the three different models of trait evolution (BM, OU1 and OU2), the model that best fitted most of our trait variables (e.g. LMA, LT) was the OU2 model with two trait optimum (for deciduous and evergreen species) (Table S4). However, for some variables (e.g. LD) the fit of OU2 was similar or slightly lower than OU1 (single trait optimum).

### Correlations in anatomical and chemical composition within leaf habits

Within deciduous species, LMA showed a positive association with LT (including its thickness components palisade and spongy mesophyll thickness and number of palisade cell rows), LD, palisade cell length, cellulose concentration and lignin + cutin concentration (R=0.436-0.643, P<0.01), and a negative association with IVD (R=-0.596, P<0.001; Table 3a; Fig. 4). LT was positively associated with the thickness of the different tissue layers, with palisade cell rows, BSEW, cellulose and lignin + cutin concentration (R=0.316-0.737, P<0.05; Table 3a). LT was also negatively associated with LD and leaf area (R=-0.408 and -0.457, P<0.01; Table 3a). LD showed

© 2020 The Authors New Phytologist © 2020 New Phytologist Foundation New Phytologist



**Fig. 3** (a) *Quercus* phylogenetic tree based on rbcL showing the evolution of leaf mass per area (LMA) in coordination with leaf thickness (LT), leaf density (LD) and climate. Darker colour for LMA indicates a higher value. Darker colours for LT, LD and the two first climatic principal components (PC1, PC2, see Supporting Information Fig. S2) indicate tight coordinated evolution with LMA (= low divergence) across our study's species. Bolded and nonbolded species names indicate evergreen and deciduous species, respectively. (b, c) Percentage of species showing a higher coordination (= lower divergence) between LMA and LT (white), LMA and LD (green), LMA and PC1 (grey), and LMA and PC2 (orange) for both leaf habits and both subgenera.

© 2020 The Authors New Phytologist © 2020 New Phytologist Foundation New Phytologist (2021) www.newphytologist.com Table 3 Correlation coefficients between leaf traits for (a) deciduous (DEC) and (b) evergreen (EVE) Quercus species using phylogenetically independent contrasts (PICS).

(a) DEC	LMA	LT	LD	LA	(b) EVE	LMA	LT	LD	LA
LT	0.567***				LT	0.686***			
LD	0.449**	-0.408**			LD	0.405**	-0.354*		
LA		-0.457**			LA		-0.444**		
HC				0.572***	HC				
CC	0.525***	0.546***			CC	0.577***	0.474**		
LCC	0.465**	0.372*			LCC	0.317*			
PMT	0.575***	0.605***			PMT	0.817***	0.909***		-0.350*
SMT	0.590***	0.737***	-0.369*	-0.712***	SMT	0.528***	0.729***	-0.499*	-0.364*
PCR	0.436**	0.318*			PCR	0.774***	0.715***		
PCL	0.643***			-0.459**	PCL	0.536***	0.468**	-0.355*	-0.537***
PCW					PCW			-0.382*	
IVD	-0.596***		-0.489**	0.326*	IVD				
BSEW		0.316*	-0.475**	-0.513***	BSEW	0.584***	0.732***		-0.304*

Leaf traits notation as in Table 1. Significance levels: \*, P < 0.05; \*\*, P < 0.01; \*\*\*, P < 0.001.

negative correlations with spongy mesophyll thickness, IVD and with BSEW (R = -0.369 to -0.489, P < 0.05; Table 3a).

Within the evergreen species – as in the deciduous species – LMA showed positive associations with LT (including palisade and spongy mesophyll thickness and number of palisade cell rows), LD, palisade cell length, cellulose and lignin + cutin concentration (R=0.317-0.817, P<0.05), being also associated with BSEW (R=0.584, P<0.001; Table 3b; Fig. 4). LT was positively related to the thickness of the different mesophyll tissue layers, palisade cell rows and cell length, BSEW and to cellulose concentration (R=0.468-0.909, P<0.01) and negatively related to LD and leaf area (R = -0.354 and -0.444, P<0.05; Table 3b), similar to the deciduous species. Within the evergreen species, LD also showed a negative correlation with spongy mesophyll thickness and palisade cell size, including palisade cell length and width (R=-0.366 to -0.499, P<0.05; Table 3b).

#### Relationship of climate and leaf anatomy within leaf habits

Within deciduous species, LMA was positively correlated with the growing season (R=0.376, P<0.05) and to mean temperature of driest quarter (TDRY; R = 0.345, P < 0.04; Table 4a). Leaf area was also related to TDRY, but the trend was the opposite of that found for LMA (Table 4a). Additionally, leaf area also showed a negative correlation coefficient with minimum temperature of the coldest month (TMIN; R = -0.393, P < 0.05; Table 4a). Surprisingly, LT within deciduous species was correlated with all climatic variables considered in this study, being positively associated with growing season, full plant growth period, aridity period, aridity intensity, mean annual temperature, TMIN and TDRY (R=0.341-0.521, P<0.05), and negatively associated with annual precipitation (R = -0.483,  $P \le 0.01$ ; Table S4). LD was positively correlated with annual precipitation (R=0.523, P<0.001) and negatively correlated with aridity period and aridity intensity (R=-0.465 and −0.537, *P*<0.01; Table 4a).

For the evergreen species, LMA and LT were negatively correlated with the period of full plant growth (R= -0.350 and

-0.432,  $P \le 0.05$ ), a trend that was opposite to that found in the deciduous species between these leaf traits and the growing season (Table 4a). LMA and LT were also negatively correlated with annual mean temperature, minimum temperature of coldest month and annual precipitation (R = -0.471 to -0.663, $P \le 0.01$ ), and positively correlated with aridity period (R=0.381-0.581; P < 0.05; Table 4b). LMA was also positively correlated with aridity intensity (R=0.401, P<0.01; Table 4b). By contrast, leaf area showed positive correlations with minimum temperature of coldest month and annual precipitation  $(R=0.645 \text{ and } 0.742, P \le 0.001)$  and negative correlations with aridity period and aridity intensity (R = -0.420 and -0.344,  $P \le 0.05$ ), trends that were opposite to those found for LMA (Table 4b). Finally, LD was positively correlated with mean temperature of driest quarter, aridity period and aridity intensity (*R*=0.316–0.494, *P*<0.05; Table 4b).

#### Discussion

In this study, we analysed leaves from 85 *Quercus* species from across the Northern Hemisphere but living in a common garden. Our results showed that the evolution of leaf traits follows the OU2 model, which clearly segregates oaks in two main functional groups, deciduous and evergreen. Irrespective of the phylogeny or the species' natural habitats, these two groups differed in anatomical leaf attributes such as LMA, LT or leaf area (Table 2), as previously reported by other studies (Corcuera *et al.*, 2002; Escudero *et al.*, 2017). By contrast, they did not differ in LD despite their significant differences in leaf traits related to density, such as cellulose concentration, IVD and bundle sheet extension width (Table 2). This fact could be due to the thicker spongy mesophyll of evergreens that may promote a larger amount of intercellular airspaces, counteracting the effect of these other leaf traits on LD (Escudero *et al.*, 2017).

Taking into account the segregation given by the OU2 model, we evaluated variation in LMA related to changes in LT or LD within each leaf habit according to two scenarios (Fig. 1) linked to the leaf economic spectrum theory (Wright *et al.*, 2004).





Fig. 4 Relationships between leaf mass per area (LMA) and key leaf traits for deciduous (blue) and evergreen (pink) Quercus species. Regression coefficients for the phylogenetic independent contrasts (PICS) are shown in Table 3. Each circle is the mean value of one particular species.

LMA (g m<sup>-2</sup>)

# Scenario 1: LMA associated with photosynthetically competent tissues to compensate a shorter favourable season

LMA (g  $m^{-2}$ )

As leaves are essentially organs utilised for photosynthesis (Turner, 1994), Scenario 1 contemplated that an increase in LMA would be achieved by thicker leaves in order to increase the instantaneous carbon assimilation rates per unit area to compensate for shorter favourable seasons in stressful climatic environments (Fig. 1). When this scenario was analysed within evergreen oak species, our results effectively showed that evergreen oaks living in environments with lower periods of full plant growth (i.e. longer cold periods) and/or with higher aridity period, increased LMA by increasing LT (Table 4; Fig. 5). This suggested that evergreen oaks inhabiting higher altitudes (e.g. the subtropicals *Q. rehderiana* and *Q. rugosa*), with longer dry periods (e.g. the subtropical *Q. obtusata*) or at higher latitudes under more

continental climatic conditions and longer dry summers (e.g. the Mediterranean oaks Q. chrysolepis and Q. ilex ssp. rotundifolia), tended to exhibit a higher LMA due to a higher LT than those evergreen oaks inhabiting lower altitudes, lower latitudes and with a minimal hot dry season (e.g. the subtropicals Q. sagraeana, Q. seemannii or Q. insignis, Fig. S2). By contrast, when analysing Scenario 1 within deciduous species, our results showed that the deciduous oaks with higher LMA due to a higher LT inhabited environments with shorter cold periods (which was opposite to our prediction in Scenario 1) but with longer and more intense aridity periods. This opposite pattern related to the length of the growing season found for deciduous species compared with the evergreens seemed to be consistent with global patterns (Wright et al., 2005) and prediction based on a cost-benefit model (Kikuzawa et al., 2013). However, for deciduous species, a longer aridity period may counteract the effect of a shorter cold period by shortening the favourable season (Peguero-Pina et al., 2016a).

LMA (g  $m^{-2}$ )

Table 4 Correlation coefficients between leaf traits and climatic variables for (a) deciduous (DEC) and (b) evergreen (EVE) Quercus species using phylogenetically independent contrasts (PICS).

(a) DEC	LMA	LT	LD	LA	(b) EVE	LMA	LT	LD	LA
GS	0.376*	0.427**			GS				
FPG		0.341*			FPG	-0.350*	-0.432**		
AP		0.521***	-0.465**		AP	0.581***	0.381*	0.327*	-0.420**
Т		0.370*			Т	-0.598***	-0.638***		
TMIN		0.325*		-0.393*	TMIN	-0.471**	-0.611***		0.645***
TDRY	0.345*	0.502**		-0.348*	TDRY			0.494***	
Р		-0.483**	0.523***		Р	-0.495***	-0.663***		0.742***
AI		0.445**	-0.537***		AI	0.401**		0.316*	-0.344*

Leaf traits and climatic variables notation as in Table 1. Significance levels: \*, P<0.05; \*\*, P<0.01; \*\*\*, P<0.001.

This counteracted effect, together with the positive association between aridity intensity and LT, pointed to aridity stress as the main driver increasing LT within deciduous species. In this sense, a higher LT not only would increase the instantaneous carbon assimilation rates per unit area when water is more readily available, but would also improve water use efficiency under drought conditions (Wright *et al.*, 2001; Gil-Pelegrín *et al.*, 2017). Examples of such deciduous species inhabiting arid environments could be the subtropical *Q. mexicana* or the European and North American Mediterranean-type oaks *Q. ithaburensis* and *Q. garryana* (Fig. S2).

The increase in LT that promoted an increase in LMA was given by increasing the mesophyll thickness mainly through increasing the number of cell layers, both within deciduous and evergreen (Table 3; Fig 4), which has been previously observed across diverse species (de la Riva et al., 2016; John et al., 2017). This increase in mesophyll thickness has the potential to increase photosynthetic rates per unit leaf area (Aarea) (Niinemets et al., 1999). However, this assumption should be made carefully as there are other leaf traits that could modify Aarea (Peguero-Pina et al., 2017b). For example, increases in cell wall thickness that promote higher cellulose concentration (Terashima et al., 2006) may result in a reduction in Aarea (Peguero-Pina et al., 2017a,c). Therefore, the positive correlation found in this study between palisade mesophyll thickness and cellulose concentration, both in deciduous (R=0.333, P<0.05) and evergreen (R=0.607,  $P \le 0.001$ ; data not shown) species, could counteract the presumed positive effect of a higher mesophyll thickness on Aarea. Additionally, the presumed increase in Aarea could also be negated by an increase in nonphotosynthetic tissues. Our results showed that a higher LT is coordinated with a higher BSEW in both leaf habits, and reduces the amount of photosynthetic tissues (Table 3; Fig. 5). This relationship suggests that thicker leaves might have higher mesophyll structural reinforcement, which may prevent thickness shrinkage during dehydration processes (Sancho-Knapik et al., 2011). In these two cases (a higher cell wall thickness and thicker bundle sheath extensions), LT and density could be considered coupled rather than being a trade-off relationship (Onoda et al., 2017). Finally, the assumed higher Aarea of oak species with higher LT may also be diminished at the leaf level by the reduction of leaf area (Tables 3, 4). Given that reduction in leaf size is a key modification that allows plants to

withstand water deficit (Baldocchi & Xu, 2007), oaks inhabiting arid environments could increase LT to increase  $A_{area}$  in order to compensate for their smaller leaf area (Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2016a).

#### Scenario 2: LMA as a protective mechanism against severe climatic factors

Protection will require further investment that would promote tougher, harder and stiffer leaves that might increase the leaf lifespan of a particular species (Turner, 1994; Read & Sanson, 2003). Therefore, our Scenario 2 considered that an increase in LMA would be associated with denser leaves, in order to increase their resistance under stressed climatic conditions, and therefore to increase their lifespan (Fig. 1). When analysing Scenario 2 within evergreen oaks, our results showed that those species living in environments with higher aridity intensity and higher temperature of the driest quarter (TDRY), increased LMA by increasing LD (Table 4b; Fig. 5). As TDRY can mostly occur during winter or during summer (Fig. S1), it seems that those evergreens with denser leaves are those inhabiting environments with drier summers (e.g. the Mediterranean Q. calliprinos and Q. coccifera, Fig. S2). By contrast with evergreens and contrary to our Scenario 2, an increase in aridity intensity within deciduous oaks was directly associated with an increase in LMA through increases in LT, as mention above, but with decreases in LD (Table 4a). This result suggested that, within deciduous oaks, higher aridity promotes thicker and less dense leaves (e.g. in the Mediterranean-type Q. garryana or Q. lusitanica), which may improve Aarea by increasing CO2 mesophyll conductance (Niinemets et al., 2009).

The positive relationship found between LMA and LD within each leaf habit, as reported before by other authors (Groom & Lamont, 1997; Poorter *et al.*, 2009; Read *et al.*, 2016), was negatively influenced by the increase in spongy mesophyll thickness, both in evergreen and deciduous oaks. In other words, a higher spongy thickness might promote a larger volume of intercellular air spaces that could decrease the overall LD and, therefore, weaken other relationships. However, we found that a higher LD was associated with a reduction in cell size within evergreen species, and with a lower IVD (i.e. higher vein density) through a decrease in leaf area within deciduous species, anatomical



Fig. 5 Schematic representation of the main associations found for anatomical (Table 3) and climatic variables (Table 4) for deciduous and evergreen *Quercus* species. A blue arrow indicates a positive association, while a pink arrow indicates a negative association between two traits. The dashed line indicates an indirect association. LD, leaf density; LMA, leaf mass per area; LT, leaf thickness.

modifications that have been reported as protective adaptations to withstand water stress (Oertli et al., 1990; Scoffoni et al., 2011; Ding et al., 2014; Nardini et al., 2014). Furthermore, we can also highlight other protection mechanisms within evergreen oaks found in this study related to LT. As abundant intercellular air spaces provide room to accommodate extracellular ice (Wyka & Oleksyn, 2014), the higher LT due to a higher spongy mesophyll thickness found in evergreen species inhabiting colder environments (Tables 3, 4; Fig. 5), may protect evergreen species against frost damage. Additionally, as low winter temperatures may cause damage by absorption of excess light under limiting conditions for photosynthesis, being thicker may also reduce the probability for photodamage (Peguero-Pina et al., 2009). To our knowledge, there has been no previous report of cold intensity as a determinant factor of interspecific variation in LMA, although Wright et al. (2005) observed similar effects of mean annual temperature in evergreen species. However, other authors observed intraspecific trends in the LMA of evergreen species also related to gradients in winter temperatures (Ogaya & Peñuelas, 2007; Mediavilla et al., 2012; González-Zurdo et al., 2016; Niinemets, 2016). Moreover, minimum temperature of the coldest month in our study was also positively related to the length of the growing season (R=0.8, P<0.001; Fig. S5), suggesting that environments with colder winters are also sites with shorter growing seasons, and therefore sites with longer winters (van Ommen Kloeke et al., 2012). Taking into account that our results showed that an increase in LMA may constitute an adaptation against both cold duration and cold intensity in evergreen oaks (Fig. 5), further research is needed to partition these two effects and pinpoint whether a higher LMA is a direct response to one and/or the other.

#### Diversity in evolutionary trends

Our results showed that across most of the oaks included in this study, LMA evolved in greater coordination with LT than with LD (Fig. 3). This trend was found in deciduous oaks and in the evergreen species from the subgenus *Quercus*, mainly belonging to

© 2020 The Authors *New Phytologist* © 2020 New Phytologist Foundation the Lobatae and Quercus sections (Denk et al, 2017). By contrast, in the evergreen oaks from the subgenus Cerris - mainly belonging to sections Ilex and Cyclobalanopsis - LMA converged more with LD (Fig. 3). This discrepancy within evergreen oaks, could be due to the ancestral origin of each group. While the ancestors of sections Lobatae and Quercus are inferred to have occurred at higher latitudes (Hipp et al., 2018; Cavender-Bares, 2019), the ancestors of Ilex and Cyclobalanopsis may have inhabited lower latitudes (Barrón et al., 2017; Jiang et al., 2019). Consequently, ancestors of Lobatae and Quercus could have increased LMA by increasing LT in order to achieve higher carbon assimilation rates to compensate for a shorter favourable season typical of higher latitude environments where daylength varies considerably from summer to winter solstice. By contrast, ancestors of Ilex and Cyclobalanopsis could have increased LMA by increasing LD in order to protect their leaves against stress factors (e.g. mechanical damage) and, therefore, to increase their leaf lifespan under environments with longer growing seasons, typical of lower latitudes. The possibility that different oaks ancestors could depend primarily on the length of the growing season could help to explain why the thermal climatic component- which also includes the growing-season length variables - was slightly more important in explaining variation in LMA than the arid component. Further research is needed to fully test these new hypotheses. However, our results clearly showed that LMA was tightly coordinated with climate, independently of leaf habit or the climatic component considered. This reinforces climate as an important driver of leaf functioning in oaks; this was recently pointed out by Ramírez-Valiente et al. (2020) and supported by work in oaks across altitudinal gradients (Fallon & Cavender-Bares, 2018).

Finally, our data also revealed that within *Lobatae* oaks, LMA changed according to the latitude of the species distribution (Fig. S6). All *Lobatae* oaks inhabiting higher latitudes (c. 40°) are deciduous, and tend to have lower LMA values than *Lobate* oaks found at middle latitudes (c. 25°). This variation within deciduous *Lobatae* oaks is tightly coordinated with changes in the length of the growing season and temperature. At middle latitudes (c. 25°), there is a shift in leaf habit in our set of species, from

New Phytologist (2021) www.newphytologist.com

#### 12 Research

deciduous to evergreen, all having higher LMA than those living at lower latitudes (c.  $10-15^{\circ}$ ). According to our data, the variation in LMA within evergreen *Lobatae* oaks is associated with changes in temperature and precipitation of species climatic niches (Fig. S6). The association of LMA with latitude within *Lobatae* oaks could be a consequence of the radiation from a high-latitude ancestor (Hipp *et al.*, 2018) towards lower latitudes across North and Central America (Cavender-Bares, 2019). However, these outcomes within *Lobatae* oaks should be considered carefully, as not all *Lobatae* oaks were included in our study. Further research is needed to confirm this result and to elucidate the main drivers of leaf trait evolution within the others infrageneric groups.

#### Acknowledgements

Financial support from Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria (INIA) grant no. RTA2015-00054-C02-01, from Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación grant number PID2019-106701RR-I00 and from Gobierno de Aragón H09\_20R research group. The work of DAF was supported by a FPI-INIA contract BES-2017-081208. The work of CS was supported by a National Science Foundation (NSF)-CAREER grant no. 231715. We thank Elena Martí Beltrán for her valuable help searching the species distribution and obtaining the climatic data. We thank Ruth Cuevas Calvo for helping in the anatomy crosssection process. We thank Francisco Garin García for his meaningful support in the recollection of oak leaves and identification of the species leaf habit. We also thank Jardín Botánico de Iturrarán for allowing us to collect oak leaf samples from their garden. Finally, we would like to thank the anonymous reviewers for their careful reading of our manuscript and their insightful and valuable suggestions.

#### Author contributions

DS-K, TGA-A, JJP-P and EG-P planned and designed the research. DS-K, DA-F and JJP-P performed the measurements. DS-K, AE, SM, JZ and AM generated phylogenetic data. DS-K, AE, SM, CS, JZ, JC-B, DA-F, JPF, JJP-P and EG-P analysed dimatic and phylogenetic data. DS-K, AE and CS drafted the manuscript. All authors edited the manuscript with valuable inputs.

#### ORCID

David Alonso-Forn D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1467-1943 Jeannine Cavender-Bares D https://orcid.org/0000-0003-3375-9630

Alfonso Escudero D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-2063-9851 Juan Pedro Ferrio D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-5904-7821 Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín D https://orcid.org/0000-0002-4053-6681

Tomás Gómez Álvarez-Arenas 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-1971-7402

José Javier Peguero-Pina 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0002-8903-2935

*New Phytologist* (2021) www.newphytologist.com



Domingo Sancho-Knapik D https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9584-7471

Joseph Zailaa 🕩 https://orcid.org/0000-0001-9103-190X

#### Data availability

Data that support the findings of this study are openly available in TRY at http://doi.org/10.17871/TRY.64.

#### References

- Alonso-Forn D, Sancho-Knapik D, Ferrio JP, Peguero-Pina JJ, Bueno A, Onoda Y, Cavender-Bares J, Ülo N, Jansen S, Riederer M et al. 2020. Revisiting the functional basis of sclerophylly within the leaf economics spectrum of oaks: different roads to Rome. Current Forestry Reports 6: 260–281.
- Baldocchi DD, Xu L. 2007. What limits evaporation from Mediterranean oak woodlands – the supply of moisture in the soil, physiological control by plants or the demand by the atmosphere? *Advances in Water Resources* 30: 2113–2122.
- Barrón E, Averyanova A, Kvaček Z, Momohara A, Pigg KB, Popova S, Postigo-Mijarra JM, Tiffney BH, Utescher T, Zhou ZK. 2017. The fossil history of *Quercus*. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, eds. Oaks physiological ecology. Exploring the functional diversity of genus Quercus L. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International, 39–105.
- Berdugo M, Delgado-Baquerizo M, Soliveres S, Hernández-Clemente R, Zhao Y, Gaitán JJ, Gross N, Saiz H, Maire V, Lehman A et al. 2020. Global ecosystem thresholds driven by aridity. Science 367: 787–790.
- Breckle SW. 2002. Walter's vegetation of the Earth. The ecological systems of the Geo-Biosphere, 4th edn. Berlin, Germany: Springer.
- Butler MA, King AA. 2004. Phylogenetic comparative analysis: a modeling approach for adaptive evolution. *American Naturalist* 164: 683–695.
- Castro-Díez P, Puyravaud JP, Cornelissen JHC. 2000. Leaf structure and anatomy as related to leaf mass per area variation in seedlings of a wide range of woody plant species and types. *Oecologia* 124: 476–486.
- Cavender-Bares J. 2019. Diversification, adaptation, and community assembly of the American oaks (*Quercus*), a model clade for integrating ecology and evolution. *New Phytologist* 221: 669–692.
- Chatelet DS, Clement WL, Sack L, Donoghue MJ, Edwards EJ. 2013. The evolution of photosynthetic anatomy in *Viburnum* (Adoxaceae). *International Journal of Plant Science* 174: 1277–1291.
- Coley PD, Bryant JP, Chapin FS. 1985. Resource availability and plant antiherbivore defense. *Science* 230: 895.
- Corcuera L, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2002. Functional groups in *Quercus* species derived from the analysis of pressure-volume curves. *Trees Structure* and Function 16: 465–472.
- De la Riva EG, Olmo M, Poorter H, Ubera JL, Villar R. 2016. Leaf mass per area (LMA) and its relationship with leaf structure and anatomy in 34 mediterranean woody species along a water availability gradient. *PLoS ONE* 11: 1–18.
- Denk T, Grimm GW, Manos PS, Deng M, Hipp AL. 2017. An updated infrageneric classification of the oaks: review of previous taxonomic schemes and synthesis of evolutionary patterns. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, eds. Oaks physiological ecology. Exploring the functional diversity of genus Quercus L. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International, 13–38.
- Ding Y, Zhang Y, Zheng QS, Tyree MT. 2014. Pressure-volume curves: revisiting the impact of negative turgor during cell collapse by literature review and simulations of cell micromechanics. *New Phytologist* 203: 378–387.
- Escudero A, Mediavilla S, Olmo M, Villar R, Merino J. 2017. Coexistence of deciduous and evergreen oak species in mediterranean environments: costs associated with the leaf and root traits of both habits. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, eds. Oaks physiological ecology. Exploring the functional diversity of genus Quercus L. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International. 195–238.
- Fallon B, Cavender-Bares J. 2018. Leaf-level trade-offs between drought avoidance and desiccation recovery drive elevation stratification in arid oaks. *Ecosphere* 9: e02149.

© 2020 The Authors New Phytologist © 2020 New Phytologist Foundation

#### New Phytologist

- Gil-Pelegrín E, Saz MA, Cuadrat JM, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D. 2017. Oaks under mediterranean-type climates: functional response to summer aridity. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, eds. Oaks physiological ecology. Exploring the functional diversity of genus Quercus L. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International, 137–193.
- Goering HK, Van Soest PJ. 1970. Forage fiber analyses (apparatus, reagents, procedures, and some applications). Washington DC, USA: US Government Publishing Office.
- González-Zurdo P, Escudero A, Babiano J, García-Ciudad A, Mediavilla S. 2016. Costs of leaf reinforcement in response to winter cold in evergreen species. *Tree Physiology* 36: 273–286.
- Granier A, Bréda N, Biron P, Villette S. 1999. A lumped water balance model to evaluate duration and intensity of drought constraints in forest stands. *Ecological Modelling* 116: 269–283.
- Griffith DM, Quigley KM, Anderson TM. 2016. Leaf thickness controls variation in leaf mass per area (LMA) among grazing-adapted grasses in Serengeti. *Oecologia* 181: 1035–1040.
- Groom PK, Lamont BB. 1997. Xerophytic implications of increased sclerophylly: interactions with water and light in *Hakea psilorrhyncha* seedlings. *New Phytologist* 136: 231–237.
- Groom PK, Lamont BB. 1999. Which common indices of sclerophylly best reflect differences in leaf structure? *Écoscience* 6: 471–474.
- Grubb PJ. 1986. Sclerophylls, pachyphylls and pycnophylls: the nature and significance of hard leaf surfaces. In: Juniper BE, Southwood TRE, eds. *Insects* and the plant surface. London, UK: Edward Arnold, 137–150.
- Harmon IJ, Weir JT, Brock CD, Glor RE, Challenger W. 2008. GEIGER: investigating evolutionary radiations. *Bioinformatics* 24: 129–131.
- Harvey PH, Pagel MD. 1992. The comparative method in evolutionary biology. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.
- Hassiotou F, Renton M, Ludwig M, Evans JR, Veneklaas EJ. 2010. Photosynthesis at an extreme end of the leaf trait spectrum: How does it relate to high leaf dry mass per area and associated structural parameters? *Journal of Experimental Botany* **61**: 3015–3028.
- Hermida-Carrera C, Mario A, Fares MA, Fernández A, Gil-Pelegrín E, Kapralov MV, Mir A, Molins A, Peguero-Pina JJ, Rocha J et al. 2017. Positively selected amino acid replacements within the RuBisCO enzyme of oak trees are associated with ecological adaptations. *PLoS ONE* 12: e0188984.
- Hipp AL, Manos PS, González-Rodríguez A, Hahn M, Kaproth M, McVay JD, Valencia Avalos S, Cavender-Bares J. 2018. Sympatric parallel diversification of major oak clades in the Americas and the origins of Mexican species diversity. *New Phytologist* 217: 439–452.
- Hipp AL, Manos PS, Hahn M, Avishai M, Bodénès C, Cavender-Bares J, Crowl AA, Deng M, Denk T, Sorel Fitz-Gibbon S et al. 2020. Genomic landscape of the global oak phylogeny. New Phytologist 226: 1198–1212.
- Jiang XL, Hipp AL, Deng M, Su T, Zhou Z-K, Yan M-X. 2019. East Asian origins of European holly oaks (*Quercus* section *Ilex* Loudon) via the Tibet-Himalaya. *Journal of Biogeography* 46: 2203–2214.
- Johansen DA. 1940. *Plant Microtechnique*. New York, NY, USA: McGraw-Hill. John GP, Scoffoni C, Buckley TN, Villar R, Poorter H, Sack L 2017. The anatomical
- and compositional basis of leaf mass per area. *Ecology Letters* 20: 412–425. Jordan GJ, Dillon RA, Weston PH. 2005. Solar radiation as a factor in the evolution of scleromorphic leaf anatomy in Proteaceae. *American Journal of*
- Botany 92: 789–796. Kikuzawa K. 1991. A cost-benefit analysis of leaf habit and leaf longevity of trees
- and their geographical patterns. *American Naturalist* **138**: 1250–1263. **Kikuzawa K. 1995**. The basis for variation in leaf longevity of plants. *Vegetatio*
- 121: 89–100. Kikuzawa K, Lechowicz MJ. 2011. Ecology of leaf longevity. Tokyo, Japan:
- Springer Science & Business Media. Kikuzawa K, Onoda Y, Wright IJ, Reich PB. 2013. Mechanisms underlying global temperature-related patterns in leaf longevity. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 22: 982–993.
- Loveless AR. 1962. Further evidence to support a nutritional interpretation of sclerophylly. *Annals of Botany* 26: 551–561.
- Mediavilla S, Gallardo-López V, González-Zurdo P, Escudero A. 2012. Patterns of leaf morphology and leaf N content in relation to winter temperatures in

© 2020 The Authors *New Phytologist* © 2020 New Phytologist Foundation three evergreen tree species. International Journal of Biometeorology 56: 915–926.

- Meloni F, Lopes NP, Varanda EM. 2012. The relationship between leaf nitrogen, nitrogen metabolites and herbivory in two species of Nyctaginaceae from the Brazilian Cerrado. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 75: 268– 276.
- Nardini A, Lo Gullo MA, Trifiló P, Salleo S. 2014. The challenge of the Mediterranean climate to plant hydraulics: Responses and adaptations. *Environmental and Experimental Botany* 103: 68–79.
- Niinemets Ü. 1999. Research review. Components of leaf dry mass per area thickness and density – alter leaf photosynthetic capacity in reverse directions in woody plants. *New Phytologist* 144: 35–47.
- Niinemets Ü. 2001. Global-scale climatic controls of leaf dry mass per area, density, and thickness in trees and shrubs. *Ecology* 82: 453–469.
- Niinemets Ü. 2016. Does the touch of cold make evergreen leaves tougher? *Tree Physiology* 36: 267–272.
- Niinemets Ü, Kull O, Tenhunen JD. 1999. Variability in leaf morphology and chemical composition as a function of canopy light environment in coexisting deciduous trees. *International Journal of Plant Sciences* 160: 837–848.
- Niinemets Ü, Wright IJ, Evans JR. 2009. Leaf mesophyll diffusion conductance in 35 Australian sclerophylls covering a broad range of foliage structural and physiological variation. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 60: 2433–2449.
- Oertli JJ, Lips SH, Agami M. 1990. The strength of sclerophyllous cells to resist collapse due to negative turgor pressure. *Acta Oecologica* 11: 281–289.
- Ogaya R, Peñuelas J. 2007. Leaf mass per area ratio in *Quercus ilex* leaves under a wide range of climatic conditions. The importance of low temperatures. *Acta Oecologica* 31: 168–173.
- Onoda Y, Westoby M, Adler PB, Choong AMF, Clissold FJ, Cornelissen JHC, Díaz S, Dominy NJ, Elgart A, Enrico L et al. 2011. Global patterns of leaf mechanical properties. *Ecology Letters* 14: 301–312.
- Onoda Y, Wright IJ, Evans JR, Hikosaka K, Kitajima K, Niinemets Ü, Poorter H, Tosens T, Westoby M. 2017. Physiological and structural tradeoffs underlying the leaf economics spectrum. *New Phytologist* 214: 1447–1463.
- Osone Y, Ishida A, Tateno M. 2008. Correlation between relative growth rate and specific leaf area requires associations of specific leaf area with nitrogen absorption rate of roots. *New Phytologist* 179: 417–427.
- Paradis E, Claude J, Strimmer K. 2004. APE: Analyses of Phylogenetics and Evolution in R language. *Bioinformatics* 20: 289–290.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Aranda I, Cano FJ, Galmés J, Gil-Pelegrín E, Niinemets U, Sancho-Knapik D, Flexas J. 2017c. The role of mesophyll conductance in oak photosynthesis: among- and within-species variability. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, eds. *Oaks physiological ecology. Exploring the functional diversity of genus Quercus L*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer International, 303–325.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E, Morales F. 2009. Photosystem II efficiency of the palisade and spongy mesophyll in *Quercus coccifera* using adaxial/abaxial illumination and excitation light sources with wavelengths varying in penetration into the leaf tissue. *Photosynthesis Research* 99: 49–61.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2017b. Ancient cell structural traits and photosynthesis in today's Environment. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 68: 1389–1392.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Sancho-Knapik D, Díaz-Espejo A, Flexas J, Galmés J, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2016a. Leaf morphological and physiological adaptations of a deciduous oak (*Quercus faginea* Lam.) to the Mediterranean climate: a comparison with a closely related temperate species (*Quercus robur* L.). Tree Physiology 36: 287–299.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Fernández-Marín B, Flexas J, Galmés J, García-Plazaola JI, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2016b. Leaf functional plasticity decreases the water consumption without further consequences for carbon uptake in *Quercus coccifera* L. under Mediterranean conditions. *Tree Physiology* 36: 356–367.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, García-Nogales A, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Saz MA, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2017a. Cell-level anatomical characteristics explain high mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in sclerophyllous Mediterranean oaks. *New Phytologist* 214: 585–596.
- Pigliucci M. 2007. Finding the way in phenotypic space: the origin and maintenance of constraints on organismal form. *Annals of Botany* 100: 433–438.

*New Phytologist* (2021) www.newphytologist.com

#### New Phytologist

#### 14 Research

Poorter H, Niinemets Ü, Poorter L, Wright IJ, Villar R. 2009. Causes and consequences of variation in leaf mass per area (LMA): a meta-analysis. *New Phytologist* 82: 565–588.

Poorter H, Niklas KJ, Reich PB, Oleksyn J, Poot P, Mommer L. 2012. Biomass allocation to leaves, stems and roots: meta-analyses of interspecific variation and environmental control. *New Phytologist* 193: 30–50.

Puglielli G, Laanisto L, Poorter H, Niinemets Ü. 2020. Global patterns of biomass allocation in woody species with different tolerance of shade and drought: evidence for multiple strategies. *New Phytologist* 229: 308– 322.

Ramírez-Valiente JA, López R, Hipp AL, Aranda I. 2020. Correlated evolution of morphology, gas exchange, growth rates and hydraulics as a response to precipitation and temperature regimes in oaks (*Quercus*). *New Phytologist* 227: 794–809.

Read J, Sanson GD. 2003. Characterising sclerophylly: the mechanical properties of a diverse range of leaf types. *New Phytologist* 160: 81–99.

Read J, Sanson G, Pérez Trautmann MF. 2016. Leaf traits in Chilean matorral: sclerophylly within, among, and beyond matorral, and its environmental determinants. *Ecology and Evolution* 6: 1430–1446.

Reich PB, Ellsworth DS, Walters MB, Vose JM, Gresham C, Volin JC, Bowman WD. 1999. Generality of leaf trait relationships: a test across six biomes. *Ecology* 80: 1955–1969.

Ruzin SE. 1999. Plant microtechnique and microscopy. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press.

Sack L, Scoffoni C. 2013. Leaf venation: structure, function, development, evolution, ecology and applications in the past, present and future. *New Phytologist* 198: 983–1000.

Sack L, Scoffoni C, John GP, Poorter H, Mason CM, Méndez-Alonzo R, Donovan LA. 2013. How do leaf veins influence the worldwide leaf economic spectrum? Review and synthesis. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 64: 4053– 4080.

Sancho-Knapik D, Álvarez-Arenas TG, Peguero-Pina JJ, Fernández V, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2011. Relationship between ultrasonic properties and structural changes in the mesophyll during leaf dehydration. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 62: 3637–3645.

Scholz FG, Bucci SJ, Arias N, Meinzer FC, Goldstein G. 2012. Osmotic and elastic adjustments in cold desert shrubs differing in rooting depth: coping with drought and subzero temperatures. *Oecologia* 170: 885–897.

Scoffoni C, Chatelet DS, Pasquet-kok J, Rawls M, Donoghue MJ, Erika J, Edwards EJ, Sack L. 2016. Hydraulic basis for the evolution of photosynthetic productivity. *Nature Plants* 2.

Scoffoni C, Rawls M, McKown A, Cochard H, Sack L. 2011. Decline of leaf hydraulic conductance with dehydration: relationship to leaf size and venation architecture. *Plant Physiology* 156: 832–843.

Shipley B, Lechowicz MJ, Wright I, Reich PB. 2006. Fundamental trade-offs generating the worldwide leaf economics spectrum. *Ecology* 87: 535–541.

Terashima I, Hanba YT, Tazoe Y, Vyas P, Yano S. 2006. Irradiance and phenotype: comparative eco-development of sun and shade leaves in relation to photosynthetic CO<sub>2</sub> diffusion. *Journal of Experimental Botany* 57: 343–354.

Turner IM. 1994. Sclerophylly: primarily protective? *Functional Ecology* 8: 669–675.

Van Ommen Kloeke AEE, Douma JC, Ordoñez JC, Reich PB, Van Bodegom PM. 2012. Global quantification of contrasting leaf life span strategies for deciduous and evergreen species in response to environmental conditions. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 21: 224–235.

Villar R, Ruiz-Robleto J, Ubera JL, Poorter H. 2013. Exploring variation in leaf mass per area (LMA) from leaf to cell: An anatomical analysis of 26 woody species. *American Journal of Botany* 100: 1969–1980.

Witkowski ETF, Lamont BB. 1991. Leaf specific mass confounds leaf density and thickness. *Oecologia* 88: 486–493. Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M. 2001. Strategy shifts in leaf physiology, structure and nutrient content between species of high- and low-rainfall and high- and low-nutrient habitats. *Functional Ecology* 15: 423–434.

Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M, Ackerly DD, Baruch Z, Bongers F, Cavender-Bares J, Chapin T, Cornelissen JHC, Diemer M et al. 2004. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. *Nature* 428: 821–827.

Wright IJ, Reich PB, Cornelissen JH, Falster DS, Groom PK, Hikosaka K, Lee W, Lusk CH, Niinemets Ü, Oleksyn J *et al.* 2005. Modulation of leaf economic traits and trait relationships by climate. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 14: 411–421.

Wyka TP, Oleksyn J. 2014. Photosynthetic ecophysiology of evergreen leaves in the woody angiosperms – a review. *Dendrobiology* 72: 3–27.

Wypych A, Sulikowska A, Ustrnul Z, Czekierda D. 2017. Variability of growing degree days in Poland in response to ongoing climate changes in Europe. *International Journal of Biometeorology* 61: 49–59.

#### **Supporting Information**

Additional Supporting Information may be found online in the Supporting Information section at the end of the article.

Fig. S1 Season location of the driest quarter of the year.

Fig. S2 Principal components analysis of the climatic variables.

Fig. S3 Oak phylogenetic trees showing the evolution of leaf mass per area, leaf thickness and leaf density.

Fig. S4 Divergence of the climatic principal components from leaf thickness and density.

Fig. S5 Relationship between minimum temperature and length of the favourable season.

Fig. S6 Relationships within section *Lobatae* between leaf mas per area, latitude and climatic variables.

Table S1 Leaf habit and leaf traits mean values of the study's species.

 Table S2 Climatic variables mean values of the species' climatic origins.

Table S3 Quercus GenBank accession numbers for rbcL gen.

 
 Table S4 Model fitting using Brownian motion and the Ornstein–Uhlenbeck models.

Please note: Wiley-Blackwell are not responsible for the content or functionality of any supporting information supplied by the authors. Any queries (other than missing material) should be directed to the *New Phytologist* Central Office.

*New Phytologist* (2021) www.newphytologist.com

© 2020 The Authors New Phytologist © 2020 New Phytologist Foundation



#### New Phytologist Supporting Information

## Article title: Deciduous and evergreen oaks show contrasting adaptive responses in leaf mass per area across environments

Authors: Domingo Sancho-Knapik, Alfonso Escudero, Sonia Mediavilla, Christine Scoffoni, Joseph Zailaa, Jeannine Cavender-Bares, Tomas Gómez Ávarez-Arenas, Arántzazu Molins, David Alonso-Forn, Juan Pedro Ferrio, José Javier Peguero-Pina, Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín.

Article acceptance date: 11 December 2020

The following Supporting Information is available for this article:

Fig. S1 Season location of the driest quarter of the year.

Fig. S2 Principal components analysis of the climatic variables.

Fig. S3 Oak phylogenetic trees showing the evolution of leaf mass per area, leaf thickness and

leaf density.

Fig. S4 Divergence of the climatic principal components from leaf thickness and density.

Fig. S5 Relationship between minimum temperature and length of the favorable season.

Fig. S6 Relationships within section *Lobatae* between leaf mas per area, latitude and climatic

variables.

Table S1 Leaf habit and leaf traits mean values of the study's species.

Table S2 Climatic variables mean values of the species' climatic origins.

Table S3 Quercus GenBank accession numbers for rbcL gen.

Table S4 Model fitting using the Brownian Motion and the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck models.



**Fig. S1** Season location of the driest quarter of the year for deciduous (DEC) and evergreen (EVE) *Quercus* species considered in this study. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE.





**Fig. S2** Principal components analysis of the climatic variables taking into account all *Quercus* species. Climatic notation as in Table 1b. Roman numerals indicate an estimated position within the climatic variables of several main Zonobiomes (Zb) (Breckle, 2002). II, Zb of the Humido-arid Tropical Summer Rain Region; III, Zb of Subtropical Arid Climates; IV, Zb of the Arido-Humid Winter Rain (Mediterranean) Region; V, Zb of the Warm-Temperate Humid Climate; VI, Zb of the Temperate Nemoral Climate; VII, Zb of the Arid-Temperature Climate.

**Breckle SW. 2002.** Walter's vegetation of the Earth. The ecological systems of the Geo-Biosphere. 4th-edition. Berlin, DE: Springer





**Fig. S3** Oak phylogenetic trees showing the evolution of (a, b) leaf mass per area (LMA), (a) leaf thickness (LT) and (b) leaf density (LD) across the study's species. Bolded and non-bolded species names indicate evergreen and deciduous species respectively.









**Fig. S4** (a) Divergence of the two first climatic principal components (PC1, PC2) from leaf thickness (LT) and leaf density (LD). Bolded and non-bolded *Quercus* species names indicate evergreen (EVE) and deciduous (DEC) species respectively. (b, c) Percentage of *Quercus* species showing a lower divergence (i.e. higher coordination) between LT (b), LD (c) and the principal components (PC1 in grey and PC2 in orange) for both leaf habits and both subgenus.





**Fig. S5** Relationships between the minimum temperature of coldest month (TMIN) and the length (number of months) of the growing season (GS) and the period of full plant growth (FPG) for deciduous (DEC) and evergreen (EVE) *Quercus* species. Species with TMIN >  $10^{\circ}$ C were not considered for the correlations. P<0.001.





**Fig. S6** Relationships within *Quercus* section *Lobatae* between leaf mas per area (LMA) and latitude, growing season (GS), minimum temperature of coldest month (TMIN), mean temperature of driest quarter (TDRY) and annual precipitation (P). DEC, deciduous; EVE, evergreen. Latitude was obtained from herbarium data. Each circle is the mean value of one particular species. Climatic variables not included in this figure showed non-significant correlations with LMA within *Quercus* section *Lobatae* for both leaf habits.





**Table S1** Leaf habit and leaf traits mean values ( $\pm$  SE) of the study's oak species growing in a common garden in northern Spain (separate XLSX file). These data are openly available in TRY at http://doi.org/10.17871/TRY.64

 Table S2 Climatic variables mean values (±se) of the oak species' climatic origins (separate XLSX file).

**Table S3** *Quercus* GenBank accession numbers for rbcL gen. All sequences were obtained from Hermida-Carrera *et al.* (2017) except those in bold, that were newly analyzed for this study following the same procedure described in Hermida-Carrera *et al.* (2017), and that underlined that was directly obtained from the GenBank.

Hermida-Carrera C, Mario A, Fares MA, Fernández A, Gil-Pelegrín E, Kapralov MV, Mir A, Molins A, Peguero-Pina JJ, Rocha J *et al.* 2017. Positively selected amino acid replacements within the RuBisCO enzyme of oak trees are associated with ecological adaptations. *PLoS ONE* 12: e0188984

Accession	Species	Accession
MF044967	O. leucotrichophora	MF044850
MF044890	Q. libani	MF044946
MF044941	Q. lobata	MF044851
MF044942	$\tilde{Q}$ . longispica	MF044957
MF044891	$\tilde{Q}$ . lusitanica	MF044852
MF044819	Q. macranthera	MF044853
MF044893	$\tilde{Q}$ . macrocarpa	MF044854
MF044825	Q. malacotricha	MF044855
MF044895	Q. marilandica	MF044920
MF044953	Q. mexicana	MF044921
MF044827	Q. microphylla	MF044859
MF044898	Q. miquihuanensis	MT646902
MF044828	Q. mongolica	MF044861
MF044943	Q. montana	MF044862
MF044829	Q. muehlenbergii	MF044863
MF044964	Q. myrsinifolia	MF044972
MF044953	Q. myrtifolia	MF044922
MF044900	Q. nigra	MF044923
MF044902	Q. obtusata	MF044865
MF044907	Q. pagoda	MF044924
	Accession number MF044967 MF044890 MF044890 MF044942 MF044891 MF044893 MF044893 MF044825 MF044825 MF044825 MF044827 MF044828 MF044828 MF044828 MF044828 MF044829 MF044943 MF044964 MF044902 MF044902 MF044907	Accession numberSpeciesMF044967Q. leucotrichophoraMF044890Q. libaniMF044890Q. libaniMF044941Q. lobataMF044942Q. longispicaMF044891Q. lusitanicaMF044819Q. macrantheraMF044825Q. malacotrichaMF044895Q. marilandicaMF044827Q. microphyllaMF044828Q. miquihuanensisMF044829Q. mongolicaMF044943Q. montanaMF044953Q. myrsinifoliaMF044900Q. nigraMF044901Q. nigraMF044902Q. obtusataMF044907Q. pagoda



Q. dysophylla	MF044908	Q. pal
Q. emoryi	MF044909	Q. pet
Q. engleriana	MF044833	$Q.\ phi$
Q. faginea	MF044835	Q. pyr
Q. faginea ssp. broteroi	MF044826	Q. rap
Q. falcata	MF044911	Q. reh
Q. frainetto	MF044836	Q. rhy
Q. fusiformis	LM652999	Q. roł
Q. garryana	MF044838	Q. rug
Q. germana	MF044840	Q. sag
Q. gilva	MF044969	Q. sch
Q. glabrescens	MF044841	Q. see
Q. greggii	MF044842	Q. sen
Q. gulielmi-treleasei	MF044913	Q. ser
Q. hemisphaerica	MF044914	Q. shi
Q. hintoniorum	MT646901	Q. ski
Q. hypoxantha	MT646903	Q. suł
Q. ilex ssp. ilex	MF044956	Q. tris
Q. ilex ssp. rotundifolia	MF044962	Q. vai
Q. insignis	MF044847	Q. vas
Q. ithaburensis	MF044945	Q. vel
Q. lanata	MF044848	Q. yur
Q. laurina	MF044919	Fagus

Q. palustris	MF044925
Q. petraea	MF044871
Q. phillyreoides	MF044959
Q. pyrenaica	MF044875
Q. rapurahuensis	MF044927
Q. rehderiana	MF044960
Q. rhysophylla	MF044928
Q. robur	MF044876
Q. rugosa	MF044877
Q. sagraeana	MF044830
Q. schottkyana	MF044974
Q. seemannii	MF044932
Q. semecarpifolia	MF044963
Q. serrata	MF044879
Q. shumardii	MF044933
Q. skinneri	MF044934
Q. suber	MF044949
Q. tristis	MF044936
Q. variabilis	MF044951
Q. vaseyana	MF044883
Q. velutina	MF044938
Q. yunnanensis	MF044887
Fagus crenata	MF044982



**Table S4** Model fitting for *Quercus* species using the Brownian Motion (BM) and the Ornstein-Uhlenbeck models either with a single global optimum (OU1) or with two phenologically driven optimas (OU2). AICc: Akaike Information Criterion corrected. Traits notation as in Table 1.

AICc					OU Parameters					
Trait	BM.AICc	OU1.AICc	OU2.AICc	Best Fit Model	C al	0U1 pha	OU1 optimum	OU2 alpha	OU2 optimum1	OU2 optimum2
LMA	1012	857	831	OU2	12	203	112	1579	132	91
LT	1060	910	881	OU2	8	32	166	1428	194	135
LD	1221	1099	1104	OU1	4	67	692	402	698	692
LA	1072	807	794	OU2	58	8918	30	75610	19	41
HC	1099	862	863	OU1/OU2	16	5730	174	131789	169	181
CC	1079	847	812	OU2	49	366	173	5814	194	152
LCC	1053	875	874	OU1/OU2	22	247	140	2533	149	130
PMT	957	806	787	OU2	5	87	77	978	90	63
SMT	919	778	737	OU2	8	888	59	2144	73	43
PCR	298	149	129	OU2	5	575	2	710	2	2
PCL	761	613	617	OU1	6	609	39	1002	40	38
PCW	496	260	255	OU2	45	5087	8	90430	8	7
IVD	1154	1019	992	OU2	7	76	247	1316	196	308
BSEW	744	480	471	OU2	80	)246	14	51222	16	13
GS	425	285	261	OU2	6	514	11	992	11	10
FPG	547	368	342	OU2	1′	753	9	5772	10	8
AP	628	371	366	OU2	82	2032	2	19641	3	2
Т	557	440	432	OU2	3	23	15	351	16	14
TMIN	739	527	504	OU2	56	5248	2	10790	4	-1
TDRY	720	567	568	OU1/OU2	12	258	13	1662	14	12
Р	1511	1320	1318	OU1/OU2	7	128	1113	38548	1245	963
AI	1105	940	943	OU1	65	5825	49	94128	55	43

# **Capítulo IV**

Disentangling leaf structural and material properties in relation to their anatomical and chemical compositional traits in oaks (Quercus L.)

# Disentangling leaf structural and material properties in relation to their anatomical and chemical compositional traits in oaks (*Quercus* L.)

David Alonso-Forn<sup>1</sup>, Domingo Sancho-Knapik<sup>1,2</sup>, María Dolores Fariñas<sup>3</sup>, Miquel Nadal<sup>1</sup>, Rubén Martín-Sánchez<sup>1</sup>, Juan Pedro Ferrio<sup>1,4</sup>, Víctor Resco de Dios<sup>5,6,7</sup>, José Javier Peguero-Pina<sup>1,2</sup>, Yusuke Onoda<sup>8</sup>, Jeannine Cavender-Bares<sup>9</sup>, Tomás Gómez Álvarez Arenas<sup>3</sup>, Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Agricultural and Forest Systems and the Environment, Agrifood Research and Technology Centre of Aragon (CITA). Avda. Montañana 930, 50059 Zaragoza, Spain.

<sup>2</sup>Instituto Agroalimentario de Aragón - IA2 (CITA-Universidad de Zaragoza), Zaragoza, Spain.

<sup>3</sup>Sensors and Ultrasonic Technologies Department, Information and Physics Technologies Institute, Spanish National Research Council (CSIC), Madrid, Spain.

<sup>4</sup>Aragon Agency for research and development (ARAID), E-50018 Zaragoza, Spain.

<sup>5</sup>School of Life Science and Engineering, Southwest University of Science and Technology, Mianyang, China.

<sup>6</sup>Department of Crop and Forest Sciences, Universitat de Lleida, E-25198 Lleida, Spain.

<sup>7</sup>JRU CTFC-Agrotecnio-CERCA Center, E-25198 Lleida, Spain.

<sup>8</sup>Division of Forest and Biomaterials Science, Graduate School of Agriculture, Kyoto University. Oiwake, Kitashirakawa, Kyoto, 606-8502 Japan.

<sup>9</sup>Ecology, Evolution and Behavior, University of Minnesota, Saint Paul, MN 55108, USA

#### Abstract

- *Background and Aims*: The existence of sclerophyllous plants has been considered an adaptive strategy against different environmental stresses. As it literally means "hard-leaved", it is essential to quantify the leaf mechanical properties to understand sclerophylly. However, the relative importance of each leaf trait on mechanical properties is not yet well established.
- *Methods*: Genus *Quercus* is an excellent system to shed light on this since it minimizes phylogenetic variation while having a wide variation in sclerophylly. Thus, leaf anatomical traits and cell wall composition were measured, analyzing their relationship with LMA and leaf mechanical properties in a set of 25 oak species.
- *Key results*: The upper epidermis outer wall had a strong and direct contribution to the leaf mechanical strength. Moreover, cellulose plays a critical role in increasing leaf strength and toughness. The PCA plot based on leaf trait values clearly separated *Quercus* species into two groups corresponding to evergreen and deciduous species.
- *Conclusions*: Sclerophyllous *Quercus* species are tougher and stronger due to their thicker epidermis outer wall and/or higher cellulose concentration. Furthermore, section *Ilex* species share common traits regardless of they occupy quite different climates. In addition, evergreen species living in Mediterranean-type climates share common leaf traits irrespective of their different phylogenetic origin.

**Key words:** Biomechanics, leaf anatomical traits, leaf mechanical resistance, leaf mass per area (LMA), oaks (*Quercus*), sclerophylly.

#### 4.1. Introduction

Sclerophyllous leaves have been considered a universal adaptive strategy in response to different environmental stresses (Alonso-Forn *et al.*, 2020). Thus, stress factors such as water deficit (e.g., Schimper, 1903; Oertli *et al.*, 1990), nutrient shortage (Loveless, 1961, 1962; Beadle, 1966), low temperatures (Koppel and Heinsoo, 1994; Lamontagne *et al.*, 1998) and physical damage (Chabot and Hicks, 1982; Grubb, 1986) would have a synergistic effect that may explain the variation in sclerophylly. This trait is a characteristic recognized by botanists according to a physiognomic criterion. Thus, botanists have described sclerophyllous leaves as hard, tough, stiff and leathery (Schimper, 1903; Seddon, 1974; Turner, 1994). Given that the concept of sclerophylly is a perception, it is difficult to obtain an accurate measure or objective classification of sclerophylly (Edwards *et al.*, 2000). Moreover, as sclerophylly literally means "hard-leaved" it is essential to quantify the leaf mechanical properties to understand this trait.

Most ecophysiological studies use the leaf mass per unit area (LMA) as a quantitative proxy value for sclerophylly (e.g., Niinemets, 2001; Wright *et al.*, 2004). LMA is a combination of leaf thickness (LT) and leaf density (LD), which in turn depend on a great variety of anatomical and compositional leaf traits such as vein density, vein diameter, number of cell layers, cell size, air space fraction or fiber content (Mediavilla *et al.*, 2008; John *et al.*, 2017; Sancho-Knapik *et al.*, 2021). Sclerophylly has been well studied in the genus *Quercus*, and in this regard, Sancho-Knapik *et al.* (2021) recently found that LT influences the increase in LMA more than LD. While LMA provides a good proxy for leaf "hardness", it is not necessarily a measure of leaf mechanical resistance (Onoda *et al.*, 2011).

Direct approaches to quantify leaf sclerophylly require the measurement of leaf mechanical properties (Aranwela *et al.*, 1999; Read and Sanson, 2003; Onoda *et al.*, 2011). These include fracture-related properties, such as strength and toughness, which refer to the ability to resist an applied force and applied work, respectively (Cherrett, 1968; Williams, 1954; Coley, 1983; Choong *et al.*, 1992). A higher structural strength (i.e., maximum force to fracture), a higher structural toughness (i.e., work to fracture) and their thickness-normalized properties namely specific strength and specific toughness have been previously associated with a higher leaf sclerophylly (Edwards *et al.*, 2000; Wright and Cannon, 2001; Read and Sanson, 2003). Leaf mechanical properties can be analyzed in relation to their underlying components, which is analogous to the decomposition of LMA into LD and LT (Lucas *et al.*, 2000; Kitajima and Poorter, 2010; Lusk *et al.*, 2010). In the punch-and-die test, structural mechanical properties such as maximum force or work to fracture per unit fracture length (punch strength and punch toughness) can be decomposed into material properties (specific punch strength and specific punch toughness) and LT (Onoda *et al.*, 2008; Onoda *et al.*, 2011; Westbrook *et al.*, 2011). Material properties can be further analyzed in relation to tissue density or cell wall fiber content (percentage of hemicellulose, cellulose, and lignin per unit leaf dry mass or per unit volume).

The relative importance of each element of leaf tissue (e.g., cuticle, epidermis, palisade mesophyll, spongy mesophyll and vascular bundle extension) on the mechanical properties is not well established because their relative volume fraction have different influences on LMA and mechanical properties. Actually, several studies found that some anatomical variables strongly influenced leaf toughness through the reinforcement of certain structures with little effect on the amount of accumulated biomass per unit surface area (Edwards *et al.*, 2000; Westbrook *et al.*, 2011; Onoda *et al.*, 2012, 2015). Onoda *et al.* (2015) showed that some structural traits such as cuticle thickness have a significant impact on mechanical strength and toughness. The main objectives of the present study were to determine the leaf anatomical and compositional traits underlying a higher leaf strength and cell wall fibre composition and analyzing their relationship with both LMA and leaf mechanical properties.

The genus *Quercus* is an excellent system to perform this study, as it not only minimizes phylogenetic variation (compared to studies performed across diverse species), but also displays a wide variation in leaf sclerophylly across species (Gil-Pelegrín *et al.*, 2017). In particular, section *Ilex* species has been considered as pre-adapted to dry climates (He *et al.*, 2014). Although their ancestors occupied tropical and subtropical wet forests in the Himalaya-Hengduan mountains, some species exhibit xeromorphic-like traits (Het *et al.*, 2014; Jiang *et al.*, 2019). These traits would have allowed them to cope with hotdry seasonal conditions that occur in Mediterranean-type climates (Martín-Sánchez et al. 2022). The present study was performed on a set of 25 oak species (*Quercus* spp.) with different leaf habits (deciduous and evergreen) grown in a common garden in Northeastern Spain. We analysed 41 leaf structural, morphological, physicochemical and anatomical traits on these species (for species names see **Fig. 5)**. Specifically, we address the following hypotheses. (i) While structural mechanical properties are better correlated with leaf anatomical traits, leaf material properties are better correlated with cell wall composition. (ii) Sclerophyllous leaves are stronger and tougher due to their thicker epidermis outer wall and/or higher cellulose concentration.

#### 4.2. Material and Methods

#### 4.2.1. Plant Material

For this study, leaves were sampled from a living collection of 25 oak species, maintained in the experimental fields from CITA de Aragón (41°390N, 0°520W, 200 m a.s.l., Zaragoza, Spain). This common garden features Mediterranean climatic conditions with a mean annual temperature of 15.4 °C and total annual precipitation of 298 mm. Oak trees were *ca.* 20 years old; they were drop irrigated twice per week and pruned if it was necessary. Current year, fully developed, mature leaves were collected from south-exposed branches of one individual per species during the early morning. Leaves were stored in sealed plastic bags and carried to the laboratory in portable coolers. One set of 10 leaves was used for punch and die tests to measure the mechanical properties, leaf strength and toughness. A second set of nine leaves was aimed to phenolic compounds analysis. A third set of 10 leaves was utilized to obtain LMA. A fourth set of 10 leaves was used for leaf fibre content analysis, and a fifth set of 10 leaves was used to obtain the morphological and anatomical traits.

Abbr.	Parameter	Units	Abbr.	Parameter	Units
BSE_cp	Bundle sheath extension	%	LT	Leaf thickness	μm
	cover percentage				
BSE_d	Bundle sheath extension	mm mm <sup>-2</sup>	N.LD	Nitrogen per unit volume	mg cm-3
	density				
BSE_w	Bundle sheath extension	μm	Ncw_Ntotal	Nitrogen in cell	
CID	width		Nitatal	wall:Nitrogen	- 100 1 - 1
C.LD	Carbon per unit volume	mg cm <sup>-3</sup>	Intotal	Nitrogen content	g 100-1 g-1
CC	Cellulose content	mg g <sup>-1</sup>	PM_cl	Palisade mesophyll cell	μm
Ccw Ctotal	Carbon in cell wall:Carbon		PM cw	Palisade mesophyll cell	um
een_erona				width	h
CD	Cellulose per unit volume	mg cm <sup>-3</sup>	PM_nl	Palisade mesophyll number	
				of layers	
Ctotal	Carbon content	g 100-1 g-1	PMT	Palisade mesophyll thickness	μm
Ctotal_Ntotal	Ratio carbon:nitrogen		PS	Punch strength	kN m <sup>-1</sup>
HC	Hemicellulose content	mg g <sup>-1</sup>	SM_p	Spongy mesophyll porosity	%
HCD	Hemicellulose per unit	mg cm <sup>-3</sup>	SMT	Spongy mesophyll thickness	μm
	volume				
LCC	Lignin and cutin content	mg g-1	SPS	Specific Punch Strength	MN m <sup>-2</sup>
LCD	Lignin and cutin per unit	mg cm <sup>-3</sup>	SWF	Specific Work to Fracture	kJ m <sup>-2</sup>
	volume				
LD	Leaf density	mg cm-3	UE_latw	Upper epidermis lateral wall	μm
LE_latw	Lower epidermis lateral	μm	UE_lu	Upper epidermis lumen cell	μm²
	wall				
LE_lu	Lower epidermis lumen cell	$\mu m^2$	UE_lul	Upper epidermis lumen	μm
				length	
LE_lul	Lower epidermis lumen	μm	UE_luw	Upper epidermis lumen	μm
	length			width	
LE_luw	Lower epidermis lumen	μm	UE_ow	Upper epidermis outer wall	μm
LE ow	Lower epidermis outer wall	um	UET	Upper epidermis thickness	um
LET		1	ME	Monte of freedure	I ma-1
	Lower epidermis thickness	μm a m- <sup>2</sup>	VVF	work of fracture	J M <sup>-1</sup>
LIVIA	Lear mass per unit area	g m -			

**Table 1**. List of leaf mechanical properties, anatomical and compositional traits with their abbreviations and units.

#### 4.2.2. Mechanical properties: punch and die test

Punch and die tests consisted of punching a hole through the leaf lamina. As the punch contacts the leaf surface, the tip applies pressure until it overcomes the tensile strength of the leaf, causing a fracture. As a result, a leaf hole is produced and the compressive forces on the punch are released. A flat-ended and sharp-edged cylindrical punch made of steel of 2 mm diameter with a clearance of 0.05 mm was built and mounted onto the moving head of the mechanical tester Mach-1 V500C MA001 system (Biomomentum, Inc., Québec, Canada). Similar to Read and Sanson (2003) a die designed to fit the punch was located in the threaded base of the machine. A typical trial allowed the punch to penetrate the die to a depth of 2 mm at a speed of 30 mm min<sup>-1</sup>. Data for all punch tests were collected at a rate of 100 Hz and were used to generate force-displacement curves (Fig. **S1a**). Before every set of measurements, a blank test was performed as a calibration in order to account for measuring the load forces due to the background friction caused by the proximity of the die walls to the punch tip. Leaf thickness (LT) was also measured with a micrometer (GT-H10L, Keyence, Osaka, Japan) attached to an amplifier unit (GT-75AP, Keyence, Osaka, Japan) just before each punch and die test.

To minimize variation in results due to differences between leaves of the same species, the leaf tissue tested was standardized: major veins were avoided and all trials were made halfway between the secondary veins delimiting the upper and lower borders of the intercostal panel. When the size of the species under study was big enough, four tests were conducted on each of the five leaves selected. Otherwise, two tests were performed and ten leaves were selected (Fig. **S1b**). All the mechanical tests were taken at room temperature with leaves fully hydrated.

The analysis of the curves allowed to obtain the following parameters: maximum force ( $F_{max}$ ) defined as the highest load value, punch strength (PS) calculated as  $F_{max}$  divided by the circumference of the punch, and the leaf toughness or work of fracture (WF), calculated as the area below the curve between the initial contact of the punch with the leaf and  $F_{max}$  (Fig. **S1a**). The starting point of the curve was counted from 10% of  $F_{max}$ , to avoid the effect of the leaf's three-dimensional structure. Afterwards, the specific punch strength (SPS) and the specific work of fracture (SWF) were expressed per unit area of fracture (see all abbreviations and units in **Table 1**).

4.2.3. Leaf mass per area, compositional content, lignification and arid intensity

To calculate LMA, one disc (12.6 mm<sup>2</sup> in area) per leaf was obtained between the secondary veins of 10 leaves per species. Discs were oven-dried for 3 days at 70 °C and afterwards, they were weighed to obtain their dry mass. LMA was then calculated as the ratio between the dry mass and the disc area. Additionally, leaf density (LD) was calculated as the ratio between LMA and LT (Niinemets, 1999; Sancho-Knapik *et al.*, 2021).

For fibre content calculation, 10 fresh leaves were oven-dried for 3 days at 70 °C. Then, the petiole and mid-rib were removed. The rest of the plant material was ground and values of hemicellulose content (HC), cellulose content (CC) and lignin + cutin content (LCC) were obtained by quantifying neutral detergent fibre (NDF) and acid detergent lignin (ADL) following the method of Goering and Van Soest (1970). The amount of total foliar nitrogen and carbon (Ntotal and Ctotal, respectively) in dry leaves was measured using an organic element analyzer (Flash EA 112, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). The cellular composition was obtained after the neutral detergent fibre (NDF) procedure according to the method of Goering and Van Soest (1970). The nitrogen content of the cell wall fraction was further estimated using the elemental analyzer described above.

To detect the presence of lignified anatomical structures, 15-20 µm crosssections were cut with a microtome (HM 350 S, MICROM GmbH, Walldorf, Germany). Then, cross-sections were stained with a drop of phloroglucinol-HCl solution or Wiesner stain, prepared as a mixture of 2:1 of 3 % phloroglucinol in absolute ethanol and concentrated HCl (Pradhan and Loqué, 2014). Sections were observed under a light microscope (OPTIKA B-600TiFL, Optika Microscopes, Ponteranica, Italy) where lignified tissues appeared as fuchsia in colour. A few drops of Safranin and AstraBlue 0.1% double stain were added to confirm tissue lignification with a second method. After 30 seconds, the samples were rinsed with distilled water and observed under light and epifluorescence microscopy (OPTIKA B-600TiFL, Optika Microscopes, Ponteranica, Italy) using a green filter.

We selected a climatic variable to characterise aridity stress intensity: the arid intensity, defined as the sum of  $(2t_m - p_m)$  for months with  $2t_m > p_m$  and  $t_m > 10^{\circ}$ C. Being  $t_m$ , the mean monthly temperature and  $p_m$ , the mean monthly precipitation. Data was obtained from Sancho-Knapik *et al.* (2019).

#### 4.2.4. Anatomical traits



**Fig. 1** Leaf mesophyll cross section of *Quercus myrsinifolia* (a), detail of the upper epidermis of *Q. chrysolepis* (b), and detail of leaf venation of *Q. shumardii* (c), showing diverse anatomical leaf traits measured in this study. Trait notation as in **Table 1**.

Vein morphological parameters were determined in a set of five mature leaves per species following the method described in Scoffoni *et al.* (2011) with some modifications. Leaf sections obtained between secondary veins were chemically cleared with 5% NaOH in an aqueous solution, washed with a bleach solution, dehydrated in an ethanol dilution series (70, 90, 95 and 100 %) and stained with safranin. Afterwards, one image (40x) per sample was taken using a camera (Canon EOS M100) coupled to a microscopy (OPTIKA B-600TiFL, Optika Microscopes, Ponteranica, Italy) and venation-related traits were measured in three fields per leaf using the ImageJ software. Bundle sheath extension density (BSE\_d) was calculated as the ratio between the sum of all bundle sheath extension lengths and sampled area. The cover percentage of the leaf surface occupied by bundle sheath extension (BSE\_cp) and the mean width of the bundle sheath extension (BSE\_w; Fig. **1c**) were obtained using the Image J software.

Finally, anatomical sections of five leaves per species were obtained by gradual dehydration with ethanol, propylene oxide as a transition agent and

inclusion in Araldite. One mesophyll image (200x) per leaf section was taken using a camera (Canon EOS M100) coupled to a microscope (OPTIKA B-600TiFL, Optika Microscopes, Ponteranica, Italy) and the following parameters were measured in five fields of each image: palisade and spongy mesophyll thickness (PMT and SMT, respectively; Fig. **1a**), number of cell layers in the palisade mesophyll (PM\_nl), palisade mesophyll cell width and length (PM\_cw and PM\_cl, respectively), spongy mesophyll porosity (SM\_p), upper and lower epidermis thickness (UET and LET, respectively; Fig. **1a**), upper and lower epidermis outer wall (UE\_ow and LE\_ow, respectively; Fig. **1b**), upper and lower epidermis lumen width and length (UE\_luw, UE\_lul, LE\_luw and LE\_lul, respectively; Fig. **1b**), upper and lower epidermis lateral wall (UE\_latw and LE\_latw, respectively; Fig. **1b**) and cell lumen size (UE\_lu and LE\_lu, respectively). See all parameters, abbreviations and units in **Table 1**.

#### 4.2.5. Structural equation models (SEM)

The correlation analyses identified the independent variables most correlated to punch strength and specific punch strength (Fig. **S2**). With this information in mind, we proposed two mechanistic models including the most representative variables to estimate the network of correlations between traits related to leaf mechanical properties, which were assessed with structural equation models (SEM). In the first model, the leaf structural properties (i.e., leaf thickness, palisade mesophyll thickness, spongy mesophyll thickness, upper - lower epidermis thickness and upper - lower epidermis outer wall thickness) were related to punch strength (Fig. **3a**). In the second model, the leaf material properties (leaf density, cellulose content, hemicellulose content, and lignin and cutin content) were related to the specific punch strength (Fig. **3b**).

#### 4.2.6. Leaf construction cost

Leaf samples from the seven studied species were oven dried at 70 °C for 3 d until constant mass, ground and homogenized. Total leaf N concentration was determined with an Organic Elemental Analyzer (Flash EA 112, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., MA, USA). Ash concentration was determined gravimetrically after the combustion of duplicated samples for at least 4 h at 500 °C. The heat of combustion was determined in triplicate samples of 18-24 mg with an adiabatic bomb calorimeter (Phillipson Gentry Instruments, Inc., USA) with
correction for ignition wire melting (Villar and Merino, 2001), following the procedure of Phillipson (1964). Leaf construction cost (CC) (g glucose g<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated according to Williams *et al.* (1987) as:

$$CC = \frac{\left(0.06968H_c - 0.065\right)\left(1 - [A]\right) + \frac{7.5kN}{14.0067}}{Eg}$$
(10)

where  $H_c$  is the ash-free heat of combustion (kJ g<sup>-1</sup>), [A] is the ash concentration (g ash g<sup>-1</sup> dry mass), N is the tissue nitrogen concentration (g g<sup>-1</sup> dry mass), *E.g.*, is the growth efficiency (0.89 for woody leaves; Williams *et al.*, 1987) and k is the oxidation state of the nitrogen source (+5 for nitrate or –3 for ammonium). In well-aerated Mediterranean soils, nitrate is the main source of nitrogen and thus, k = +5. However, given that nitrate reduction in leaves can occur at the expense of reductive equivalents generated at a light with no apparent cost, we note that the nitrogen contribution to the construction cost also depends on the share of nitrate reduction above- and belowground (Niinemets, 1997; Niinemets, 1999).

#### 4.2.7. Statistical analysis

Data passed Shapiro–Wilk and Bartlett tests for normality and equality of variances, respectively. Interspecific differences in leaf traits were evaluated by one-way ANOVA. All analyses were performed in R (R Core Team, 2021). To summarize the multivariate relationships among anatomical traits and *Quercus* species, a principal components analysis (PCA) with two components was carried out. This PCA was conducted using the FactoMineR: PCA package (Josse and Husson, 2008). To find correlations between all studied parameters, a Pearson's correlation matrix was performed using 'corrplot' package (Wei and Simko, 2021). SEM were implemented using 'lavaan' package (Rosseel, 2012). Standardized major axis (SMA) regressions (Warton *et al.*, 2006) were fitted to summarise the "scaling" relationship between two variables. To ensure our results did not artificially arise from a lack of phylogenetic independence, we additionally performed phylogenetic generalized least squares analysis assuming that trait evolution mimics Brownian motion and using the phylogeny from Hipp *et al.* (2020).

#### 4.3. Results



### 4.3.1. Leaf mass per area and leaf traits behind mechanical properties

**Fig. 2** Main relationships between physical parameters (punch strength and specific punch strength) and leaf mass per area, leaf thickness, and leaf density, for deciduous (DEC; blue) and evergreen (EVE; pink) *Quercus* species. Each point belongs to a *Quercus* species and represents its mean value. Black continuous line is the correlation considering all species when correlation was significative (p < 0.05).

Leaf mass per area (LMA), which is a combination of leaf thickness (LT) and leaf density (LD), ranged from 64.2 to 223.9 g m<sup>-2</sup>. LT ranged from 169 to 487  $\mu$ m and showed a good correlation (r = 0.84, p < 0.001) with LMA. However, LD showed less variation from 273 to 579 mg cm<sup>-3</sup> and had a moderate correlation (r = 0.52, p = 0.008) with LMA. Oak species in this study showed a wide range in the values of the leaf mechanical properties measured. Punch strength (PS) and specific punch strength (SPS) ranged from 0.59 to 4.47 kN m<sup>-1</sup> and from 2.63 to 11.11 MN m<sup>-2</sup>, respectively (Fig. **2**), work of fracture (WF) from 0.07 to 1.31 J m<sup>-1</sup>,

specific work of fracture (SWF) from 0.33 to 3.26 kJ m<sup>-2</sup>. The species that showed the highest values of these mechanical parameters were *Quercus chrysolepis*, *Q*. phillyreoides, Q. coccifera and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia. In contrast, the species with the overall lowest values were Q. lobata, Q. robur and Q. cerris. In general, measured mechanical properties showed a good correlation (r > 0.7, p < 0.001) with LMA (Fig. 2) even when phylogeny was considered (r > 0.73, p < 0.01; Fig. S4). PS showed a strong positive correlation (r = 0.75, p < 0.001) with LT, but a weak correlation (r = 0.4, p = 0.045) with LD. Moreover, PS can be mathematically expressed as the product of SPS, and LT with LT having a relative contribution of 0.51 to PS. SPS was better correlated (r = 0.62, p < 0.001) with LD than with LT (r = 0.38, P > 0.05; Fig. 2). Furthermore, leaves showed higher PS and WF at a given LMA as the scaling coefficients of the standardized major axis slopes were significantly steeper than 1 (1.47 for PS and 2.06 for WF; see Fig. S3). As has been seen in LMA and leaf mechanical resistance measurements, a wide range of variation was found in the compositional and anatomical variables (see table S1 and TRY dataset).

Both material and mechanical properties were positively correlated with cellulose concentration (CC; r > 0.72, p < 0.001), palisade and spongy mesophyll thicknesses (PMT and SMT, respectively; r = 0.50 and 0.86, repectively p < 0.05) including the components palisade mesophyll cell width and number of layers (PM\_ct and PM\_nl, respectively; r = 0.43 to 0.79, p < 0.05), upper epidermis and lower epidermis outer wall and lateral wall (UE\_ow, UE\_latw and LE\_ow, LE\_latw; r = 0.59 to 0.86, p < 0.01) and bundle sheet extension density, width and cover percentage (BSE\_d, BSE\_w and BSE\_cp, respectively; r = 0.42 to 0.79, p < 1000.05; Fig. S2). Upper epidermis lumen cell (UE\_lul) were negatively correlated with mechanical properties (r < -0.61). The rest of the anatomical and compositional traits showed less significant correlation coefficients (r < 0.5) or did not show significant correlations with the mechanical properties (Fig. S2). The presence of lignified anatomical structures was detected in all species, specifically in the bundle sheath. However, clearly lignified epidermis only appeared in the most sclerophyllous species (eg. Q. chrysolepis, Q. phyllireoides and *Q. coccifera*).

Leaf carbon concentration and nitrogen concentration in cell wall (Ncw\_Ctotal and Ncw\_Ntotal) were not related to leaf mechanical traits. However, leaf carbon concentration and C/N ratio did have a moderate

correlation with PS (C.LD and C\_N; r = 0.40, p = 0.049 and r = 0.41, p = 0.044, respectively).



### 4.3.3 Structural equation models (SEM)

**Fig. 3** Structural equation models (SEM) for the contribution of (a) anatomical and (b) compositional variables to leaf strength. punch strength (PS) and b) specific punch strength (SPS). The figure shows the full model, with significant correlations (p < 0.05) highlighted by solid arrows. PS, punch strength; SPS, specific punch strength; LT, leaf thickness; LD, leaf density; PMT and SMT, palisade and spongy mesophyll thickness, respectively; ET, summatory of upper and lower epidermis thickness; UE\_ow, upper epidermis outer wall; CD, cellulose content per unit volume; HCD, hemicellulose content per unit volume; LCD, lignin and cutin content per unit volume. Numbers denote standardized path coefficients.

In the designed paths for SEMs, leaf traits were divided, on the one hand, into anatomical traits (thickness of the different tissue layers) related to LT and SPS (Fig. **3a**), and, on the other hand, into compositional traits (cell wall components) related to LD and SPS/LD (Fig. **3b**). In the anatomical traits model, both LT and SPS showed a high contribution to PS (r = 0.49 and r = 0.7, respectively). Regarding anatomical traits, LT was highly explained by PMT (r = 0.46) while SMT and ET showed a non-significant association with LT (Fig. **3a**). On the other hand, SPS was strongly associated with the upper epidermis outer wall thickness (UE\_ow) (r = 0.78) while it did not influence LT. Furthermore, the sum of upper and lower epidermis thickness (ET) had a moderate influence on

SPS (r = 0.33). UE\_ow and ET together explained much of the variation in SPS ( $R^2 = 0.54$ ).

In the compositional traits model, SPS was strongly associated with both LD (r = 0.55) and SPS/LD (r = 0.77). As expected, LD was explained by a combination of compositional traits, especially hemicellulose content per unit volume (HCD, r = 0.62) and cellulose content per unit volume (CD, r = 0.36). SPS/LD was explained by a strong (r = 0.78) direct influence of CD (Fig. **3b**).



## 4.3.4. Principal component analysis and phylogeny

**Fig. 4** Principal component analysis (PCA) of leaf variables (black lines) in 25 *Quercus* species (dots). Each symbol corresponds to a genus *Quercus* section. Variables: PS, punch strength; SPS, specific punch strength; LMA, leaf dry mass per unit area; LT, leaf thickness; LD, leaf density; CD, cellulose content per unit volume; HCD, hemicellulose content per unit volume; LCD, lignin and cutin content per unit volume; PMT, palisade mesophyll thickness; SMT, spongy mesophyll thickness; UET, upper epidermis thickness; LET, lower epidermis thickness; UE\_ow, upper epidermis outer wall; LE\_ow, lower epidermis outer wall; BSE\_cp, bundle sheath extension cover

percentage; BSE\_w, bundle sheath extension width; N, Nitrogen content; UE\_lu, upper epidermis cell lumen size; LE\_lu, lower epidermis cell lumen size. Images of the epidermis of (1) *Q. shumardii* and (2) *Q. phillyreoides*. Scale bar, 20 µm.

A principal component analysis (PCA) based on a selection of the strongest correlations between variables in the correlation matrix (Fig. **S2**) and considering the SEM, was performed. This PCA showed that the first main component (explaining the 62.4% variability) grouped PS, LMA, CD, PMT, SMT, UE\_ow and BSE\_w, whereas the second main component (explaining the 15.7% variability), grouped LD and HCD (Fig. **4**). The scores of the studied *Quercus* species in the PCA biplot indicated that the mechanical, compositional and anatomical traits analyzed clear differentiated deciduous and evergreen species although could not differentiate the species according to the climate (Fig. **4**).



**Fig. 5** a) *Quercus* phylogenetic tree based on Hipp *et al.* (2020). Colors in the tree represent *Quercus* sections; in orange, section *Cyclobalanopsis*; dark green, section *Cerris*; light green, section *Ilex*; red, section *Lobatae*; fuchsia, section *Protobalanus*; blue, section *Quercus*. PC1 and PC2. b) Relationship between PC1 and PC2 and Arid intensity (AI). The colors of the circles refer to the phylogenetic tree sections. It should be noted that the lower the AI value, the higher the degree of aridity.

Regarding the phylogeny, all the species of the *Quercus* section, except *Q. mohriana*, which is evergreen, tend to have low LMA, PS, cellulose content, thin mesophylls and UE\_ow (Fig. **5a**). In contrast, all species of the *llex* sect. had a strong coordination with those traits related to sclerophylly as high LMA, PS, cellulose content, thick mesophyll and UE\_ow, although they inhabit very different climates. *Q. chrysolepis* (sect. *Protobalanus*), presented sclerophyllous traits. Among the studied sect. *Lobatae* species, those evergreens (*Q. agrifolia* and *Q. wislizeni*) had a strong coordination with sclerophyllous traits, while *Q. shumardi* had less relation to sclerophyllous traits and a strong coordination with LD and hemicellulose content. In the case of *Q. myrsinifolia* (sect. *Cyclobalanopsis*), it had moderate coordination with both main components. In the case of the sect. *Cerris*, the only species with sclerophyllous traits was *Q. suber*. Regarding climate, no significant relationship was found between arid intensity and the main components of PCA (Fig. **5b**; Fig. **S5**).

# 4.3.5. Differences in construction cost and underlying traits among the evergreen oaks

Leaf construction cost of the seven species ranged from  $1.43 \pm 0.05$  g glucose g<sup>-1</sup> (*Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*) to  $1.61 \pm 0.06$  g glucose g<sup>-1</sup> (*Q. agrifolia* and *Q. coccifera*), while the mean leaf construction cost for the seven studied species was  $1.53 \pm 0.07$  g glucose g<sup>-1</sup> (**Table S2**). All the studied species showed construction cost values in the range published for sclerophyllous evergreen leaves (Villar and Merino, 2001). The ash fraction does not contribute to the construction cost, while the nitrogen concentration increases the construction cost due to extra costs required for nitrogen assimilation. However, the energy content (*H*<sub>c</sub>) was the main determinant of the leaf construction cost; therefore, the highest *H*<sub>c</sub> values corresponded to the highest construction cost values (**Table S2**). Thus, *Q. suber*, with the highest leaf N concentration, but also with the highest ash content, and low energy content had the lowest leaf construction cost (**Table S2**).

### 4.4. Discussion

In this study, we analysed 41 leaf mechanical, morphological, physicochemical and anatomical traits of 25 *Quercus* species grown in a common garden in Northeastern Spain to determine the leaf traits underlying

sclerophylly. Although most ecophysiological studies have used leaf mass per unit area (LMA) as a proxy value for sclerophylly, sclerophylly actually means "hard-leaved," implying that mechanical properties of leaves are important in understanding this attribute (Alonso-Forn *et al.*, 2020). As previously observed (Wright *et al.*, 2004; Onoda *et al.*, 2011), our results showed that, mechanical properties were strongly correlated with LMA in studied *Quercus* species.

The inability of LMA to account adequately for the wide variation in punch strength in our dataset reveals that there are variations in the mechanical properties that do not contribute to an increase in the accumulated mass per surface area. In this sense, we found a variation range in punch strength (PS) measures of 7.5-fold and in work to fracture (WF) of 18-fold, while LMA only varied 3.5-fold. Moreover, leaves showed higher PS and WF at a given LMA as the scaling coefficients of the standardized major axis slopes were significantly steeper than 1 (1.47 for PS and 2.08 for WF; see Fig. S3). Although the increase in LMA in *Quercus* has previously been attributed mainly to an increase in leaf thickness (LT) (Sancho-Knapik et al., 2021), we found that when accounting for the effect of LT, the specific work to fracture (SWF) still increased with LMA (Fig. 2; S3). These results suggest that LMA could have more implications besides leaf strength. Although high LMA species can have lower photosynthetic rate per unit leaf area (Wright et al., 2004), Sancho-Knapik et al. (2021) suggested that accumulation of photosynthetic tissues enable plants to generate higher assimilation rates when facing certain environmental limitations. Moreover, some sclerophyllous evergreen oaks, despite their larger LMA, were able to achieve area-based net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation values equivalent to congeneric deciduous species due to an increased chloroplast surface area exposed to intercellular air space (Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2017; Onoda *et al.*, 2017).

According to our models, the upper epidermis outer wall had a strong and direct contribution to the leaf mechanical strength (measured as specific punch strength, SPS) (Fig. **3a**) which is consistent with previous studies (Onoda *et al.*, 2012; Westbrook *et al.*, 2011; He *et al.*, 2019). Thus, an increase in the thickness of this layer appears to lead to a tougher epidermis without great changes in the accumulated mass per unit leaf surface area. Onoda *et al.* (2012) showed that leaves with relatively thicker cuticles had higher leaf mechanical resistance because the cuticle is made of very stiff material. Although a thicker cuticle may imply a higher investment (Poorter and Villar, 1997), it does not result in

substantial changes in leaf thickness, total accumulated mass per surface nor construction cost (Villar and Merino, 2001; **Table S2**). In this sense, although *Q. chrysolepis* a notably higher (>60%) LMA than *Q. agrifolia*, their construction costs are very similar (**Table S2**). In addition, its extra cost can be offset by its greater mechanical resistance to biotic and abiotic stresses which might confer longer leaf lifespans among evergreen species (Krauss *et al.*, 1997; Riederer and Schreiber, 2001; Wright *et al.*, 2004; Carver and Gurr, 2006; Onoda *et al.*, 2012).

The cellulose concentration per unit volume had a strong direct contribution to SPS/LD (Fig. **3b**) which indicates that cellulose plays a critical role in increasing leaf strength and toughness, a result also found in tropical plants (Kitajima and Poorter, 2010). In the correlation analysis (Fig. **S2**), cellulose concentration was tightly correlated with the bundle sheath extension width and cover percentage, and the outer wall thickness, suggesting that these anatomical components, which are rich in cellulose, play key roles in mechanical resistance.

The PCA plots based on foliar trait values indicated a clear separation of two groups along the first component axis corresponding to evergreen and deciduous species (Fig. 4). Foliar mechanical properties, including punch strength, LMA, cellulose content, mesophylls thickness upper epidermis outer wall thickness, Bundle Sheath Extension width and cover percentage separated these contrasting leaf habits. Deciduous oaks from Quercus, Cerris and Lobatae sections, showed common leaf attributes regardless of their phylogenetic lineage. This group of species is characterized by softer and thinner leaves, narrower bundle sheath extension, less coverage of bundle sheath extension, lower cellulose content, as well as thinner cuticles and outer walls that are not lignified. Thus, Q. robur (section Quercus) from central Europe and Q. shumardii (section Lobatae) from eastern North America share these leaf traits (Fig. 5). Moreover, these leaf features do not seem to depend on the average climate of the native habitat. Temperate species (e.g., Q. robur) share characters with species that inhabit Mediterranean climates (e.g., Q. faginea and Q. cerris; Gil-Pelegrín et al., 2017).

Evergreen oaks also share common features irrespective of their phylogenetic lineage. These species share harder and thicker leaves, wider bundle sheath extensions, a higher coverage of wider bundle sheath extensions, higher cellulose content and an epidermis with thick cuticles and cell walls that are often lignified. Regarding this second group, some interesting insights emerge. Species of sect. Ilex show similar foliar features, regardless of their climate of origin. They occupy quite contrasting climates that range in arid intensity from 0 (e.g., Q. phyllireoides) to 261 (e.g., Q. calliprinus) (Fig. 5b) and there is still a great variation when we consider the phylogeny (Fig. S5). These shared features may be explained by their common phylogenetic origin in the palaeotropical flora in East Asia (Jiang et al., 2019) (Fig. 5a). Species from this section are currently found in diverse climates, from humid temperate or subtropical climates (e.g., Q, phillyreoides and Q. semecarpifolia; cf. Jiang et al., 2019), to semi-arid Mediterranean areas (e.g., Q. coccifera; cf. Vilagrosa et al., 2003; Gil-Plegrín et al., 2017). According to fossil record, xeromorphic-like traits were already present in the ancestor of the sect. *Ilex, Q. yangyiensis* that lived in warm aseasonal tropical conditions (Zhou et al., 2007; He et al., 2014). Under conditions favorable year-round growth, maintaining an evergreen leaf habit would have been favored over a deciduous leaf habit (Kikuzawa 1991, 1995). Evergreen species with longer leaf lifespan necessitated more durable leaves with traits that allow them to resist tearing and wear due to abiotic (Nikklas, 1999) and biotic (Wrigth and Vincent, 1996; Peeters et al., 2007) interactions with the environment (Turner, 1994). The increase in the level of sclerophyll through the accumulation of structural carbohydrates could improve leaf persistence. In this way, the improved leaf protection would help to resist for a longer time (Turner, 1994; Takashima et al., 2004). Moreover, habitats with several ecological limitations (e.g., drought, nutrient scarcity, low temperatures during the vegetative period or mechanical damage) are the ones where sclerophylly is more prevalent, as exemplified by the case of Mediterranean evergreens (Alonso-Forn et al., 2020) and references therein).

Although the leaf features of evergreen sclerophylls are extremely functional in Mediterranean-type climate conditions, Ackerly (2004) proposed that these qualities originated in ancestral non-Mediterranean-type habitats in many lineages. Thus, previously mentioned sclerophyllous features can be inferred to have contributed to the later success of section *Ilex* with the expansion of the relatively recent Mediterranean-type climates (Ackerly, 2004; Deng *et al.*, 2017). Sect. *Ilex* species may thus have evolved foliar traits under ancestral climates that pre-adapted them to Mediterranean-type climates (Verdú *et al.*, 2003). All American oak clades share a common high latitude temperate ancestor (Hipp *et al.*, 2018). Thus, some oaks studied here that occupy habitats in

Mediterranean climates in the Nearctic (e.g., *Q. agrifolia* or *Q. wislizeni*, section *Lobatae*), have been suggested to have evolved from temperate ancestors (Hipp *et al.*, 2018). Nevertheless, species of section *Protobalanus* are evergreen and are restricted to mild climates. It appears likely that both conservatism in foliar traits linked to shared ancestry and evolutionary legacies of adaptation to ancient climates as well as evolutionary convergence in foliar traits from different sections contributes to the observed patterns of sclerophyllous traits among lineages and leaf habits. To conclude, there is an evolutionary progression towards sclerophyllous leaf traits in sect. *Protobalanus* and sect. *Lobatae* that inhabit dry climates, while sect. *Ilex* may have evolved to a lesser degree because its tropical ancestors had foliar traits that were pre-adaptated to some extent.

# Funding

This work was supported by Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria (INIA) [grant number RTA2015-00054-C02-01] and funded by Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación/ Agencia Estatal de Investigación [grant PID2019-106701RR-I00 /AEI/ (Spain) 10.13039/501100011033] and from Gobierno de Aragón H09 20R research group. Work of DA-F is supported by an INIA contract [BES-2017-081208]. Work of MDF is supported by a Juan de la Cierva-Incorporación contract [JC2020-043487-I] provided by Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación (Spain) and by European Union (NextGenerationEU). Work of R.M-S. is supported by a predoctoral Gobierno de Aragón scholarship. Work of MN is supported by postdoctoral fellowship Juan de la Cierva-Formación [FJC2020-043902-I], financed by Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación/ Agencia Estatal de Investigación (Spain) and the European Union (NextGenerationEU/PRTR).

# **Author Contribution**

DA-F, DS-K, JJP-P, TGA-A and EG-P planned and designed the research. DA-F, DS-K, MDF, RM-S, JJP-P, JPF and EG-P performed the measurements. DA-F, DS-K, MN, JPF and VRD analysed data. DA-F, DS-K, YO and JC-B drafted the manuscript. All authors edited the manuscript with valuable inputs.

# Data availability

Data that support the findings of this study are openly available in TRY Plant Trait Database at <u>http://doi.org/10.17871/TRY.86</u>.

David Alonso-Forn, Domingo Sancho-Knapik, María Dolores Fariñas, Rubén Martín-Sánchez, Juan Pedro Ferrio, José Javier Peguero-Pina, Tomás Gómez Álvarez Arenas, Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín. 2022. Mean leaf trait values of 25 *Quercus* species. TRY Plant Data Base. <u>http://doi.org/10.17871/TRY.86</u>

# **Competing interests**

None declared.

### 4.5. References

- Alonso-Forn D, Sancho-Knapik D, Ferrio JP *et al.* 2020. Revisiting the functional basis of sclerophylly within the leaf economics spectrum of oaks: different roads to Rome. *Current Forestry Reports* **6**: 260–281.
- Ackerly D. 2004. Functional strategies of chaparral shrubs in relation to seasonal water deficit and disturbance. *Ecological Monographs* 74: 25-44.
- Aranwela N, Sanson G, Read J. 1999. Methods of assessing leaf-fracture properties. *New Phytologist* 144: 369–393.
- **Beadle NCW. 1966.** Soil phosphate and its role in molding segments of the australian flora and vegetation, with special reference to xeromorphy and sclerophylly. *Ecology* **47**: 992–1007.
- Bennett RN, Wallsgrove RM. 1994. Secondary metabolites in plants defense mechanisms. *New Phytologist* 127: 617–633.
- **Carver TLW, Gurr SJ. 2006.** Filamentous fungi on plant surfaces. Pages 368 397 in: *Biology of the Plant Cuticle*. Riederer M and Müller M, eds. Blackwell Publishing Ltd., Oxford.
- **Chabot BF, Hicks DJ. 1982.** The ecology of leaf life spans. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* **13**: 229–259.
- **Cherrett JM. 1968.** A Simple Penetrometer for Measuring Leaf Toughness in Insect Feeding Studies. *Journal of Economic Entomology* **61**: 1736–1738.
- Choong MF, Lucas PW, Ong JSY, Pereira B, Tan HTW, Turner IM. 1992. Leaf fracture toughness and sclerophylly: their correlations and ecological implications. *New Phytologist* 121: 597–610.
- **Coley PD. 1983.** Herbivory and Defensive Characteristics of Tree Species in a Lowland Tropical Forest. *Ecology Monographs* **53**: 209–234.
- **Coley PD, Barone JA. 1996.** Herbivory and plant defenses in tropical forests. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics* **27**: 305–335.
- Edwards C, Read J, Sanson G. 2000. Characterising sclerophylly: Some mechanical properties of leaves from heath and forest. *Oecologia* 123: 158– 167.
- **Feeny P. 1970.** Seasonal Changes in Oak Leaf Tannins and Nutrients as a Cause of Spring Feeding by Winter Moth Caterpillars. *Ecology* **51**: 565–581.
- Gil-Pelegrín E, Saz MA, Cuadrat JM, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D. 2017. Oaks under Mediterranean-type climates: functional response to summer aridity. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, eds. *Oaks*

*Physiological Ecology. Exploring the Functional Diversity of Genus Quercus L.* Springer International Publishing AG, Cham, Switzerland.

- Goering HK, Van Soest PJ. 1970. Forage fiber analyses (apparatus, reagents, procedures, and some applications). USDA–ARS Agriculture Handbook, U.S. Gov. Print. Office, Washington, DC.
- **Gonçalves-Alvim SJ, Korndorf G, Fernandes GW. 2006.** Sclerophylly in *Qualea parviflora* (Vochysiaceae): Influence of herbivory, mineral nutrients, and water status. *Plant Ecology* **187**: 153–162.
- **Grubb PJ. 1986.** Sclerophylls, pachyphylls and pycnophylls: the nature and significance of hard leaf surfaces. In: Juniper B, Southwood R, eds. *Insects and the plant surface*. London: Edward Arnold.
- Harborne JB. 1990. Constraints on the evolution of biochemical pathways. *Journal of Linnean Society* **39**: 135–151.
- **Hennig C, Liao TF. 2013.** How to find an appropriate clustering for mixed-type variables with application to socio-economic stratification. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society: Series C (Applied Statistics)* **62**: 309–369.
- Hipp AL, Manos PS, Hahn M *et al.* 2020. Genomic landscape of the global oak phylogeny. *New Phytologist* 226: 1198-1212.
- Jiang X-L, Hipp AL, Deng M, Su T, Zhou Z-K, Yan M-X. 2019. East Asian origins of European holly oaks (Quercus section Ilex Loudon) via the Tibet-Himalaya. *Journal of Biogeography* 46: 2203–2214.
- Johansen, D.A. 1940. Plant Microtechnique. McGraw-Hill, New York.
- John GP, Scoffoni C, Buckley TN, Villar R, Poorter H, Sack L. 2017. The anatomical and compositional basis of leaf mass per area. *Ecology Letters* 20: 412–425.
- Lê S, Josse J, Husson F. 2008. FactoMineR: an R package for multivariate analysis. *Journal of Statistical Software* 25: 1–18.
- Kaufman L, Rousseeuw PJ. 1987. Clustering by means of medoids. In: Dodge Y, ed. Statistical Data Analysis Based on the L1 Norm and Related Methods, Basel: Birkhäuser Publishing.
- **Kikuzawa, K. 1991.** A cost-benefit analysis of leaf habit and leaf longevity of trees and their geographical patterns. *The American Naturalist* **138**: 1250-1263.
- **Kikuzawa, K. 1995.** The basis for variation in leaf longevity of plants. *Vegetatio* **121**: 89-100.
- Kikuzawa K, Onoda Y, Wright IJ, Reich PB. 2013. Mechanisms underlying global temperature-related patterns in leaf longevity. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 22: 982–993.

- **Kitajima K, Poorter L. 2010.** Tissue-level leaf toughness, but not lamina thickness, predicts sapling leaf lifespan and shade tolerance of tropical tree species. *New Phytologist* **186**: 708-721.
- **Koppel A, Heinsoo K. 1994.** Variability in cuticular resistance of *Picea abies* (L.) karst. and its significance in winter desiccation. *Proceedings of the Estonian Academy of Sciences* **4**: 56–63.
- Kouki M, Manetas Y. 2002. Toughness is less important than chemical composition of Arbutus leaves in food selection by *Poecilimon* species. *New Phytologist* **154**: 399–407.
- Krauss P, Markstädter C, Riederer M. 1997. Attenuation of UV radiation by plant cuticles from woody species. *Plant, Cell and Environment* 20: 1079– 1085.
- Lamontagne M, Margolis H, Bigras F. 1998. Photosynthesis of black spruce, jack pine, and trembling aspen after artificially induced frost during the growing season. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research* 28: 1–12.
- **Loveless AR. 1961.** A nutritional interpretation of sclerophylly based on differences in the chemical composition of sclerophyllous and mesophytic leaves. *Annals of Botany* **25**: 168–184.
- Loveless AR. 1962. Further evidence to support a nutritional interpretation of Sclerophylly. *Annals of Botany* 26: 551–560.
- Matsuki S, Koike T. 2006. Comparison of Leaf Life Span, Photosynthesis and Defensive Traits Across Seven Species of Deciduous Broad-leaf Tree Seedlings. *Annals of Botany* 97: 813–817.
- Makkar HPS, Bluemmel M, Borowy NK, Becker K. 1993. Gravimetric determination of tannins and their correlations with chemical and protein precipitation methods. *Journal of the Science of Food and Agriculture* **61**: 161–165.
- Mediavilla S, Garcia-Ciudad A, Garcia-Criado B, Escudero A. 2008. Testing the correlations between leaf life span and leaf structural reinforcement in 13 species of European Mediterranean woody plants. *Functional Ecology* 22: 787–793.
- Mediavilla S, Babiano J, Martínez-Ortega M, Escudero A. 2018. Ontogenetic changes in anti-herbivore defensive traits in leaves of four Mediterranean co-occurring *Quercus* species. *Ecological Research* 33: 1093–1102.
- Moles AT, Peco B, Wallis IR *et al.* 2013. Correlations between physical and chemical defences in plants: tradeoffs, syndromes, or just many different ways to skin a herbivorous cat? *New Phytologist* **198**: 252-263.

- **Niinemets Ü. 1997.** Energy requirement for foliage construction depends on tree size in young *Picea abies* trees. *Trees Structure and Function* **11**: 420-431.
- Niinemets Ü. 1999. Research review. Components of leaf dry mass per area thickness and density alter leaf photosynthetic capacity in reverse directions in woody plants. *New Phytologist* 144: 35–47.
- Niinemets Ü. 2001. Global-scale climatic controls of leaf dry mass per area, density, and thickness in trees and shrubs. *Ecology* 82: 453–469.
- **Niklas KJ. 1999.** A mechanical perspective on foliage leaf form and function. *New Phytologist* **143**: 19–31.
- Nikolopoulos D, Liakopoulos G, Drossopoulos I, Karabourniotis G. 2002. The relationship between anatomy and photosynthetic performance of heterobaric leaves. *Plant Physiologist* **129**: 235-243.
- **Onoda Y, Westoby M, Adler PB** *et al.* **2011.** Global patterns of leaf mechanical properties. *Ecology Letters* **14**: 301-312.
- **Onoda Y, Richards L, Westoby M. 2012.** The importance of leaf cuticle for carbon economy and mechanical strength. *New Phytologist* **196**: 441–447.
- **Onoda Y, Schieving F, Anten NPR. 2015.** A novel method of measuring leaf epidermis and mesophyll stiffness shows the ubiquitous nature of the sandwich structure of leaf laminas in broad-leaved angiosperm species. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **66**: 2487–2499.
- **Oertli JJ, Lips SH, Agami M. 1990.** The strength of sclerophyllous cells to resist collapse due to negative turgot pressure. *Acta Oecologica* **11**: 281-290.
- **Peeters PJ. 2002.** Correlations between leaf structural traits and the densities of herbivorous insect guilds. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* **77**: 43–65.
- **Peeters PJ, Sanson G, Read J. 2007.** Leaf biomechanical properties and the densities of herbivorous insect guilds. *Functional Ecology* **21**: 246–255.
- **Peguero-Pina JJ, Aranda I, Cano FJ** *et al.* **2017.** The Role of Mesophyll Conductance in Oak Photosynthesis: Among- and Within-Species Variability. In: *Oaks Physiological Ecology. Exploring the Functional Diversity of Genus Quercus L.* Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, eds. Springer International Publishing.
- Pérez-Harguindeguy N, Díaz S, Vendramini F, Cornelissen JHC, Gurvich DE, Cabido M. 2003. Leaf traits and herbivore selection in the field and in cafeteria experiments. *Austral Ecology* 28: 642–650.
- **Phillipson J. 1964.** A miniature bomb calorimeter for small biological samples. *Oikos* 15: 130-139.

- **Porter LJ, Hrstich LN, Chan BG. 1986.** The conversion of procyanidins and prodelphinidins to cyanidin and delphinidin. *Phytochemistry* **25**: 223–230.
- **Poorter H, Niinemets Ü, Poorter L, Wright IJ, Villar R. 2009.** Causes and consequences of variation in leaf mass per area (LMA): A meta-analysis. *New Phytologist* **182**: 565–588.
- **Poorter H, Villar R. 1997.** The fate of acquired carbon in plants: chemical composition and construction costs. In: Bazzaz FA, Grace J, eds. *Plant resource allocation*. San Diego, CA, USA: Academic Press.
- **Pradhan Mitra P, Loqué D. 2014.** Histochemical staining of Arabidopsis thaliana secondary cell wall elements. *Journal of Visualized Experiments* **87**: 51381.
- **R Core Team. 2021.** *R: A language and environment for statistical computing.* R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. URL https://www.R-project.org/.
- Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Sancho-Knapik D, Martin-StPaul NK, Limousin JM, McDowell NG, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2017. Drought-Induced Oak Decline— Factors Involved, Physiological Dysfunctions, and Potential Attenuation by Forestry Practices. In: Oaks Physiological Ecology. Exploring the Functional Diversity of Genus Quercus L. Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, eds. Springer International Publishing.
- **Rosseel, Y. 2012.** lavaan: An R Package for Structural Equation Modeling. *Journal of Statistical Software* **48**: 1–36.
- Sancho-Knapik D, Escudero A, Mediavilla S *et al.* 2021. Deciduous and evergreen oaks show contrasting adaptive responses in leaf mass per area across environments. *New Phytologist* 230: 521–534.
- Scoffoni C, Rawls M, McKown A, Cochard H, Sack L. 2011. Decline of leaf hydraulic conductance with dehydration: relationship to leaf size and venation architecture. *Plant Physiology* 156: 832–843.
- Thomas FM, Blank R, Hartmann G. 2002. Abiotic and biotic factors and their interactions as causes of oak decline in Central Europe. *Forest Pathology* 32: 277–307.
- **Turner IM. 1994.** Sclerophylly: primarily protective? *Functional Ecology* **8**: 669–675.
- Verdú M, Dávila P, García-Fayos P, Flores-Hernández N, Valiente-Banuet A. 2003. 'Convergent' traits of mediterranean woody plants belong to premediterranean lineages, *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society* 78: 415–427.
- Vilagrosa A, Bellot J, Vallejo VR, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2003. Cavitation, stomatal conductance, and leaf dieback in seedlings of two co-occurring

Mediterranean shrubs during an intense drought. *Journal of Experimental Botany* **54**: 2015–2024.

- Villar R, Merino J. 2001. Comparison of leaf construction costs in woody species with differing leaf life-spans in contrasting ecosystems. *New Phytologist* 151: 213-226.
- Warton DI, Wright IJ, Falster DS, Westoby M. 2006. Bivariate line-fitting methods for allometry. Biol Rev Camb Philos Soc. 81(2):259-91. doi: 10.1017/S1464793106007007.
- Wei T, Simko V. 2021. R package 'corrplot': Visualization of a Correlation Matrix. (Version 0.92), https://github.com/taiyun/corrplot.
- Williams LH. 1954. The Feeding Habits and Food Preferences of Acrididae and the Factors Which Determine Them. *Transactions of the Entomological Society of London*. 105: 423–454.
- Williams K, Percival F, Merino J, Mooney HA. 1987. Estimation of tissue construction cost from heat of combustion and organic nitrogen content. *Plant Cell & Environment* 10: 725-734.
- Wright IJ, Cannon K. 2001. Relationships between leaf lifespan and structural defences in a low-nutrient, sclerophyll flora. *Functional Ecology* 15: 351– 359.
- Wright W, Vincent JFV. 1996. Herbivory and the mechanics of fracture in plants. Biological Reviews 71: 401–413.
- Wright IJ, Reich PB, Westoby M *et al.* 2004. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Nature 428: 821–827.
- **Zhou Z, Yang Q, Xia K. 2007.** Fossils of *Quercus* sect. *Heterobalanus* can help explain the uplift of the Himalayas. *Chinese Science Bulletin* **52**: 238-247.

# 4.6. Supporting Information

The following Supporting Information is available for this article:

**Table S1** Mean value, maximum (Max.) and minimum (Min.) values, standard deviation (SD) and coefficient of variation (CV) of leaf traits for *Quercus* species. **Table S2** Heat of combustion, ash, nitrogen concentration (N) and construction

cost of leaves for the seven studied *Quercus* species.

**Fig. S1** Example of force-displacement curves and points of the leaf were punch and die tests were conducted.

**Fig. S2** Correlation coefficients matrix of leaf mechanical properties, compositional and anatomical traits.

**Fig. S3** The bivariate trait relationships between leaf structural properties and leaf mass per area (LMA).

**Fig. S4** Corrected main relationships using phylogenetic generalized least squares analysis.

**Fig. S5** Corrected relationship between PC1 and PC2 and Arid intensity (AI) using phylogenetic generalized least squares analysis.

# **Supporting Information**

# Article title: **Disentangling leaf structural and material properties in relation to their anatomical and chemical compositional traits in oaks (***Quercus* L.**)**

Authors: David Alonso-Forn, Domingo Sancho-Knapik, María Dolores Fariñas, Miquel Nadal, Rubén Martín-Sánchez, Juan Pedro Ferrio, Víctor Resco de Dios, José Javier Peguero-Pina, Yusuke Onoda, Jeannine Cavender-Bares, Tomás Gómez Álvarez Arenas, Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín

The following Supporting Information is available for this article:

**Table S1** Mean value, maximum (Max.) and minimum (Min.) values, standard deviation (SD) and coefficient of variation (CV) of leaf traits for *Quercus* species.

**Table S2** Heat of combustion, ash, nitrogen concentration (N) and construction cost (CC) of leaves for the seven studied *Quercus* species.

**Fig. S1** Example of force-displacement curves and points of the leaf where punch and die tests were conducted.

**Fig. S2** Correlation coefficients matrix of leaf mechanical properties compositional and anatomical traits.

**Fig. S3** The bivariate trait relationships between leaf structural properties and leaf mass per area (LMA).

Fig. S4 Corrected main relationships using phylogenetic generalized least squares analysis.

**Fig. S5** Corrected relationship between PC1 and PC2 and Arid intensity (AI) using phylogenetic generalized least squares analysis.

**Table S1** Mean value, maximum (Max.) and minimum (Min.) values, standard deviation (SD) and coefficient of variation (CV) of leaf traits for *Quercus* species.

Abbr.	Variable	Units	Mean	Min.	Max.	SD	CV
PS	Punch strength	kN m <sup>-1</sup>	1.81	0.59	4.47	1.01	0.56
SPS	5 Specific Punch Strength		5.79	2.63	11.1	1.98	0.34
WF	Work of fracture	J m <sup>-1</sup>	0.42	0.07	1.31	0.35	0.81
SWF	Specific Work to Fracture	kJ m <sup>-2</sup>	1.26	0.33	3.26	0.76	0.60
LMA	Leaf mass per unit area	g m-2	134	64.0	224	48.5	0.36
LT	LT Leaf thickness		300	169	487	92.4	0.31
LD	LD Leaf density		448	273	579	86.0	0.19
HC	Hemicellulose content	mg g-1	192	134	262	28.1	0.15
CC	Cellulose content		160	96.0	246	41.3	0.26
LCC	Lignin and cutin content	mg g <sup>-1</sup>	74.6	32.0	110	18.4	0.25
HCD	Hemicellulose per unit volume	mg cm-3	86.5	39.1	139	23.5	0.27
CD	Cellulose per unit volume	mg cm <sup>-3</sup>	72.4	31.0	132	26.0	0.36
LCD	Lignin and cutin per unit volume	mg cm-3	32.9	16.2	53.4	8.93	0.27
Ntotal	Nitrogen content	g 100-1 g-1	1.37	0.95	1.78	0.26	0.19
Ctotal	Carbon content	g 100-1 g-1	47.7	41.2	50.7	2.30	0.05
N.LD	Nitrogen per unit volume	mg cm-3	6.11	2.86	8.37	1.46	0.24
C.LD	Carbon per unit volume	mg cm <sup>-3</sup>	213	126	280	41.5	0.19
Ncw_Ntotal	Nitrogen in cell wall:Nitrogen		0.41	0.23	0.74	0.13	0.32
Ccw_Ctotal	Carbon in cell wall:Carbon		0.48	0.31	0.66	0.08	0.17
C_N	Ratio carbon:nitrogen		36.0	26.0	52.3	7.38	0.20

	Palisade mesophyll						
PMT	thickness	μm	79.7	42.5	148	29.3	0.37
PM_nl	Palisade mesophyll layers		1.52	1	3	0.59	0.39
Palisade mesophyll cell <b>PM_cl</b> length		μm	54.3	32.6	80.2	12.4	0.23
PM_ct	Palisade mesophyll cell width	μm	8.74	6.99	12.1	1.56	0.18
SMT	Spongy mesophyll thickness	μm	96.9	49.3	163	36.2	0.37
SM_p	Spongy mesophyll porosity	%	36.5	21.5	47.5	6.37	0.17
UET	Upper epidermis thickness	μm	18.2	14.1	24.4	2.78	0.15
UE_ow	Upper epidermis outer wall	μm	5.49	2.80	9.66	2.07	0.38
UE_luw	Upper epidermis lumen width	μm	11.6	6.60	18.1	3.34	0.29
UE_lul	Upper epidermis lumen length	μm	18.16	10.6	24.6	4.41	0.24
UE_latw	Upper epidermis lateral wall	μm	3.12	1.30	6.42	1.16	0.37
UE_lu	Upper epidermis lumen cell	$\mu m^2$	200	70.4	312	77.2	0.39
LET	Lower epidermis thickness	μm	11.8	8.30	16.7	2.02	0.17
LE_ow	Lower epidermis outer wall	μm	3.56	1.10	6.20	1.50	0.42
LE_luw	Lower epidermis lumen width	μm	7.12	4.53	9.46	1.08	0.15
LE_lul	Lower epidermis lumen length	μm	10.9	7.00	14.1	2.10	0.19
LE_latw	Lower epidermis lateral wall	μm	1.31	0.71	2.14	0.43	0.33

Abbr.	Variable	Units	Mean	Min.	Max.	SD	CV
BSE_d	Bundle sheath extension density	mm mm <sup>-2</sup>	7.40	4.96	9.60	1.38	0.19
BSE_cp	Bundle sheath extension cover percentage	%	34.3	8.87	59.0	15.1	0.44
BSE_w	Bundle sheath extension width	μm	26.1	12.3	35.9	7.02	0.34

**Table S2** Heat of combustion, ash, nitrogen concentration (N) and construction cost (CC) of leaves for the seven studied *Quercus* species. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE. Different letters indicate significant differences among species (Tukey's test, *P* < 0.05).

Species	Heat of combustion	Ash	N	СС
	(kJ g <sup>-1</sup> )	(g g-1)	(g g-1)	(g glucose g <sup>-1</sup> )
Q. chrysolepis	$22.2 \pm 0.3^{b}$	$0.0736 \pm 0.0004^{\circ}$	$0.012 \pm 0.001^{a}$	$1.58 \pm 0.02^{bc}$
Q. agrifolia	$21.9\pm0.3^{\rm ab}$	$0.0465 \pm 0.0004^{\rm b}$	$0.014 \pm 0.002^{a}$	$1.61\pm0.02^{\rm bc}$
Q. wislizeni	$19.8 \pm 0.6^{a}$	$0.0392 \pm 0.0005^{b}$	$0.014 \pm 0.003^{a}$	$1.46\pm0.04^{\text{a}}$
Q. coccifera	$22.0\pm0.9^{\rm ab}$	$0.0487 \pm 0.0002^{\rm b}$	$0.014 \pm 0.002^{a}$	$1.61\pm0.06^{\rm bc}$
Q. ilex subsp. ilex	$20.8 \pm 2.1^{ab}$	$0.0558 \pm 0.0006^{bc}$	$0.011 \pm 0.003^{a}$	$1.50 \pm 0.16^{\mathrm{abc}}$
Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia	$20.0\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	$0.0257 \pm 0.0004^{a}$	$0.011 \pm 0.001^{a}$	$1.49 \pm 0.06^{\mathrm{ab}}$
Q. suber	$20.3 \pm 0.7^{a}$	$0.0856 \pm 0.0004^{\circ}$	$0.017 \pm 0.002^{a}$	$1.43 \pm 0.05^{a}$

**Fig. S1** (a) Example of force-displacement curves of *Quercus robur* obtained from punch and die test showing maximum force ( $F_{max}$ ) and work to fracture (WF) calculated as the area below the curve between the initial contact of the punch with the leaf and Fmax. (b) Examples of the points were punch and die tests were conducted in leaves of *Q. coccifera* (left) and *Q. robur* (right), avoiding major veins and delimiting upper and lower borders of the intercostal panel.



**Fig. S2** Correlation coefficients in matrix form between leaf mechanical properties, compositional and anatomical traits. The matrix includes the correlations graduated according to the legend. Abbreviations as in Table 1.



**Fig. S3** The bivariate trait relationships between leaf structural properties and leaf mass per area (LMA). Note that graph axes are log10 scaled.



**Fig. S4** Corrected main relationships using phylogenetic generalized least squares analysis assuming that trait evolution mimics Brownian motion and using the phylogeny from Hipp *et al.* (2020). Physical parameters (punch strength and specific punch strength) and leaf mass per area, leaf thickness, and leaf density, for deciduous (DEC; blue) and evergreen (EVE; pink) *Quercus* species. Each circle belongs to a *Quercus* species and represents its mean value. The blue continuous line is the correlation considering all species.



**Fig. S5** Corrected relationship between PC1 and PC2 and Arid intensity (AI) using phylogenetic generalized least squares analysis assuming that trait evolution mimics Brownian motion and using the phylogeny from Hipp *et al.* (2020). Each circle belongs to a Quercus species and represents its mean value. The colours of the circles represent the different sections of studied *Quercus* (see **Fig. 5**).



# Capítulo V

Cell-level anatomy explains leaf agedependent declines in mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in the evergreen Mediterranean oak *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*  Tree Physiology 00, 1–15 https://doi.org/10.1093/treephys/tpac049

## **Research paper**

Cell-level anatomy explains leaf age-dependent declines in mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in the evergreen Mediterranean oak *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* 

David Alonso-Forn<sup>1</sup>, José Javier Peguero-Pina<sup>1,2,6</sup>, Juan Pedro Ferrio<sup>1,3</sup>, José Ignacio García-Plazaola<sup>4</sup>, Rubén Martín-Sánchez<sup>1</sup>, Ülo Niinemets<sup>5</sup>, Domingo Sancho-Knapik<sup>1,2</sup> and Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Departamento de Sistemas Agrícolas, Forestales y Medio Ambiente, Centro de Investigación y Tecnología Agroalimentaria de Aragón (CITA), Avda Montañana 930, Zaragoza 50059, Spain; <sup>2</sup>Instituto Agroalimentario de Aragón -IA2- (CITA-Universidad de Zaragoza), Zaragoza, Spain; <sup>3</sup>Aragon Agency for Research and Development (ARAID), Zaragoza E-50018, Spain; <sup>4</sup>Department of Plant Biology and Ecology, University of the Basque Country (UPV/EHU), Apdo 644, Bilbao 48080, Spain; <sup>5</sup>Crop Science and Plant Biology, Estonian University of Life Sciences, Kreutzwaldi 1, 51006 Tartu, Estonia; <sup>6</sup>Corresponding author (jipeguero@aragon.es)

Received January 11, 2022; accepted April 13, 2022; handling Editor Antonio Diaz-Espejo

Leaves of Mediterranean evergreen tree species experience a reduction in net  $CO_2$  assimilation ( $A_N$ ) and mesophyll conductance to  $CO_2$  ( $g_m$ ) during aging and senescence, which would be influenced by changes in leaf anatomical traits at cell level. Anatomical modifications can be accompanied by the dismantling of photosynthetic apparatus associated to leaf senescence, manifested through changes at the biochemical level (i.e., lower nitrogen investment in photosynthetic machinery). However, the role of changes in leaf anatomy at cell level and nitrogen content in  $g_m$  and  $A_N$  decline experienced by old non-senescent leaves of evergreen trees with long leaf lifespan is far from being elucidated. We evaluated age-dependent changes in morphological, anatomical, chemical and photosynthetic traits in *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* Lam., an evergreen oak with high leaf longevity. All photosynthetic traits decreased with increasing leaf age. The relative change in cell wall thickness ( $T_{cw}$ ) was less than in chloroplast surface area exposed to intercellular air space ( $S_c/S$ ), and  $S_c/S$  was a key anatomical trait explaining variations in  $g_m$  and  $A_N$  among different age classes. The reduction of  $S_c/S$  was related to ultrastructural changes in chloroplasts associated to leaf aging, with a concomitant reduction in cytoplasmic nitrogen. Changes in leaf anatomy and biochemistry were responsible for the age-dependent modifications in  $g_m$  and  $A_N$ . These findings revealed a gradual physiological deterioration related to the dismantling of the photosynthetic apparatus in older leaves of Q. *ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*.

Keywords: holm oak, leaf aging, leaf anatomy, mesophyll conductance, nitrogen, photosynthesis.

#### Introduction

The ecological implications of differences in leaf lifespan have been analyzed by cost–benefit models that optimize leaf lifetime carbon gain in different environments (Chabot and Hicks 1982, Kikuzawa 1991, Ackerly 1999). These models postulate that leaves should be replaced when leaf maintenance costs during unfavorable periods surpass the carbon gain in favorable periods or, alternatively, the potential future gain is less than the cost of losing the leaves in terms of carbon and nutrient investment (Chabot and Hicks 1982). It is widely acknowledged that developing leaves show a rise in photosynthesis to maximum levels that is followed by an age-dependent decrease in photosynthetic potential until leaf senescence (Freeland 1952, Chabot and Hicks 1982, Niinemets et al. 2004, 2006, 2009, 2012, Harayama et al. 2016).

Evergreen tree species with long leaf lifespan retain several cohorts of foliage that can contribute significantly to canopy photosynthesis (Niinemets et al. 2005, Warren 2006,

© The Author(s) 2022. Published by Oxford University Press. All rights reserved. For permissions, please e-mail: journals.permissions@oup.com

#### 2 Alonso-Forn et al.

Peguero-Pina et al. 2007, Yasumura and Ishida 2011). Indeed, Escudero and Mediavilla (2003) analyzed the decline in photosynthetic performance of several evergreen species from Mediterranean-type climates with long lifespan, concluding that the retention of old leaves resulted in a higher whole-canopy net  $CO_2$  assimilation, despite their lower assimilation rate.

Studies have also found evidence for increased photosynthetic limitation in older leaves of different plant species due to a reduced mesophyll conductance to  $CO_2$  ( $g_m$ ) (Loreto et al. 1994, Flexas et al. 2007a, Zhang et al. 2008, Niinemets et al. 2009), including Mediterranean evergreen tree species during aging and senescence (Niinemets et al. 2005, 2006). In fact,  $g_m$  plays a predominant role in the photosynthetic process of Mediterranean evergreen tree species, being often the most limiting factor for net  $CO_2$  assimilation (Flexas et al. 2014, Galmés et al. 2014, Niinemets and Keenan 2014, Peguero-Pina et al. 2016a, Peguero-Pina et al. 2017a, Peguero-Pina et al. 2018, Alonso-Forn et al. 2021).

Values of  $g_m$  for a given plant species can be influenced by different leaf anatomical traits, mainly the cell wall thickness, the mesophyll and chloroplast surface area exposed to intercellular air space per unit leaf area  $(S_m/S \text{ and } S_c/S, \text{ respectively})$  and the chloroplast size (Terashima et al. 2011, Tomás et al. 2013, Peguero-Pina et al. 2016b, 2017b, Sáez et al. 2017, Sáez et al. 2018, Carriquí et al. 2019). Given the strong control of leaf anatomy on  $g_{\rm m}$ , Niinemets et al. (2005) suggested that the drawdown of photosynthesis and  $g_{\rm m}$  in older leaves of Mediterranean evergreen tree species could be associated with increases in the thickness of mesophyll cell walls with increasing leaf age. Moreover, Niinemets et al. (2009) proposed that the dismantling of the photosynthetic apparatus associated to leaf senescence would reduce  $S_c/S$ , which could explain the reduction of both  $g_{\rm m}$  and net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation. Recently, Clarke et al. (2021) concluded that reduced  $g_{\rm m}$  in older leaves of the annual forb Nicotiana tabacum was associated with cell wall thickening and reduction in  $S_c/S$ . However, to the best of our knowledge, there is a lack of empirical studies of age-dependent changes in leaf anatomical traits (i.e., cell wall thickness,  $S_c/S_c$ chloroplast number and size) as the mechanistic explanation for the decline in photosynthetic potential of older leaves in species with long leaf lifespan.

Moreover, the dismantling of photosynthetic apparatus associated to leaf senescence can be manifested through a decrease in leaf nitrogen content and/or lower fractions of nitrogen in photosynthetic enzymes of functional chloroplasts (i.e., Rubisco and rate-limiting components of photosynthetic electron transport). Reallocation of N from older to younger leaves has been interpreted as a mechanism to improve whole-canopy photosynthesis (Thomas and Stoddart 1980, Chabot and Hicks 1982, Field 1983, Field and Mooney 1983, Smart 1994, Kitajima et al. 1997). Indeed, Warren (2006) and Kuusk et al. (2018) found that the concentrations of nitrogen and the maximum rate of carboxylation ( $V_{cmax}$ ) decreased with needle age in different *Pinus* species. On the other hand, Hikosaka (2005) suggested that the decrease in photosynthetic potential in evergreen species with a longer leaf lifespan is not necessarily coupled with leaf nitrogen content. In this regard, Niinemets et al. (2005) only found minor changes in nitrogen content per unit area in older leaves of Mediterranean evergreens despite the fact that the capacities for photosynthetic electron transport ( $J_{max}$ ) and  $V_{cmax}$  decreased fivefold on an area basis.

Therefore, the role of leaf anatomy and nitrogen content in determining  $g_{\rm m}$  and photosynthetic capacity in old nonsenescent leaves of evergreen trees with long leaf lifespan is far from being elucidated. We hypothesized that (i) changes in leaf anatomical traits (e.g., increased cell wall thickness and/or decreased  $S_c/S$ ) in older leaves of evergreen species with long leaf lifespan are primarily responsible for decreases in foliage photosynthetic potentials in older leaves and (ii) anatomical modifications are accompanied by age-dependent changes at biochemical level (e.g., the decrease in nitrogen investment in photosynthetic machinery). To test these hypotheses, we evaluated the age-dependent changes in morphological, anatomical, chemical and photosynthetic traits in Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia Lam., a Mediterranean evergreen oak with high leaf longevity (ca 28 months, according to Mediavilla and Escudero 2003) and a high fraction of leaves > 1 year old that play an important role in canopy photosynthesis (Sala i Serra 1992, Corcuera et al. 2005).

#### Materials and methods

#### Plant material and experimental conditions

This study was carried out with adult ca 5 m tall trees of Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia ('Cazorla' provenance, seed origin: 38°06' N, 02°33' W, 1236 m above sea level, Spain) growing outdoors at CITA de Aragón (41°39' N, 0°52' W, Zaragoza, Spain) under Mediterranean conditions (mean annual temperature 15.4 °C, total annual precipitation 298 mm). All trees were exposed to the same environmental conditions and drip-irrigated every 2 days. Physiological measurements were carried out in September 2018 in current-year (0-year-old), 1-year-old and 2-yearold leaves from three branches of three 15-year-old trees. The same measurements were repeated during September 2020 in current-year (O-year-old), 1-year-old and 2-year-old leaves from the same three branches of the same trees. Thus, the current-year leaves (0-year-old) measured in September 2018 correspond to the 2-year-old leaves measured in September 2020.

Light environment was characterized with three HOBO Pendant temp/light sensors (ONSET, Bourne, MA, USA) placed along a branch to determine the average light intensity above each of the three leaf cohorts studied (0-year-old, 1-year-old and 2-year-old). Measurements were recorded every 1 min

#### Age-related changes in photosynthesis of holm oak 3

during three sunny days of September 2018 (Figure S1 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online). The integrated daily quantum flux density ( $Q_{int}$ , mol m<sup>-2</sup> day<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated for each leaf cohort from the mean values of incident solar radiation (Cescatti and Zorer 2003) (Figure S2 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online).

# Leaf gas-exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements

Simultaneous gas-exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements were carried out between 09:00 and 10:00 h (solar time) with a portable photosystem system CIRAS-2 (PP-Systems, Amesbury, MA, USA) fitted with an automatic universal leaf cuvette (PLC6-U, PP-Systems) and an FMS II portable pulse amplitude modulated fluorometer (Hansatech Instruments Ltd, Norfolk, UK). All measurements were conducted under the following standard environmental conditions: CO2 concentration surrounding the leaf ( $C_a$ ) of 400  $\mu$ mol mol<sup>-1</sup>, leaf temperature of 25 °C, vapor pressure deficit of 1.25 kPa and saturating photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) of 1500  $\mu$  mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>. Additional measurements were also performed under lower PPFD of 350 and 750  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> in September 2018. After steady state gas-exchange rate was reached, the net assimilation rate  $(A_N)$ , the stomatal conductance  $(q_S)$  and the effective quantum yield of PSII ( $\Phi_{PSII}$ ) were estimated.  $\Phi_{PSII}$ was calculated as  $(F'_{M}-F_{S})/F'_{M}$ , where  $F_{S}$  is the steady-state fluorescence yield and  $P_{M}$  is the maximum fluorescence yield during an 1 s saturating light pulse of ca 8000  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> (Genty et al. 1989). Photosynthetic electron transport rate  $(J_{flu})$ was then calculated according to Krall and Edwards (1992), following the methodology described in Peguero-Pina et al. (2016a). Leakage of CO2 in and out of the cuvette was determined for the same range of CO2 concentrations as described in Flexas et al. (2007b) and used to correct the values of  $A_{\rm N}$ and corresponding substomatal  $CO_2$  concentration ( $C_i$ ).

# Estimation of mesophyll conductance, $g_m$ and maximum velocity of carboxylation ( $V_{cmax}$ ) by gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence

Mesophyll conductance  $(g_m)$  and maximum velocity of carboxylation ( $V_{cmax}$ ) were estimated according to the variable J method of Harley et al. (1992) (Eq. (1)) and the one-point method of De Kauwe et al. (2016) (Eq. (2)), respectively, as follows:

$$g_{\rm m} = \frac{A_{\rm N}}{C_{\rm i} - \frac{\Gamma^*(J_{\rm F} + 8(A_{\rm N} + R_{\rm L}))}{J_{\rm F} - 4(A_{\rm N} + R_{\rm L})}}$$
(1)

$$V_{\rm cmax} = \frac{A_{\rm N}}{\left(\frac{C_{\rm I} - \Gamma^*}{C_{\rm I} + K_{\rm m}}\right) - 0.015} \tag{2}$$

where  $A_N$  and  $C_i$  values used correspond to the gas-exchange measurements at saturating light. The chloroplastic CO<sub>2</sub> compensation point in the absence of mitochondrial respiration

 $(\Gamma^*)$  and the respiration rate in the light  $(R_{\rm L})$  were estimated as in Flexas et al. (2007*a*), whereas  $K_{\rm m}$  (the effective Michaelis– Menten constant) was estimated as in De Kauwe et al. (2016).

#### Morphological and anatomical measurements and leaf nitrogen concentration

Sections of 1 mm imes 1 mm were cut between the main veins from the same leaves used for gas-exchange and processed for anatomical measurements following the methodology described in Peguero-Pina et al. (2016c). Semi-thin (0.8  $\mu$ m) and ultrathin (90 nm) cross-sections were cut with an ultramicrotome (Reichert and Jung model Ultracut E). Semi-thin cross-sections were stained with 1% toluidine blue and viewed under a light microscope (Optika B-600TiFL, Optika Microscopes, Ponteranica, Italy). Ultrathin cross-sections were contrasted with uranyl acetate and lead citrate and viewed under a transmission electron microscope (H600, Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan). Light and electron microscopy images were analyzed with ImageJ software (http://rsb.info.nih.gov/nih-image/) to determine leaf anatomical characteristics. Light micrographs were used to measure leaf thickness, mesophyll thickness between the two epidermal layers, number of palisade layers, fraction of the mesophyll tissue occupied by the intercellular air spaces  $(f_{ias})$ , and mesophyll  $(S_m/S)$  and chloroplast  $(S_c/S)$  surface area facing intercellular air spaces per leaf area (Evans et al. 1994, Syvertsen et al. 1995, Tomás et al. 2013). Electron micrographs were used to measure the cell wall thickness  $(T_{CW})$ , cytoplasm thickness  $(T_{cyt})$ , chloroplast length  $(L_{chl})$  and chloroplast thickness  $(T_{chl})$ (Tomás et al. 2013). Moreover, total chloroplast area  $(A_{chl})$ and total area occupied by starch grains and plastoglobuli (Ast and Aplg, respectively) were also measured to estimate the percentage of functional area per chloroplast as  $(A_{chl}-A_{stg}-A_{plg})$ imes 100. Each anatomical trait was measured in three different sections and four to six different fields of view.

Leaf dry mass per unit area (LMA) was measured in September 2018 and September 2020 in nine leaves per cohort from the same branches previously used for gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements (three leaves of each age from each of the three trees used for measurements). Leaf area was measured after scanning the leaves with the ImageJ software. Leaf dry mass was determined after leaves were oven dried at 70 °C for 3 days. The LMA was calculated as the ratio of foliage dry mass to foliage area.

Total leaf nitrogen ( $N_{total}$ ) was quantified in dried leaves using an Organic Elemental Analyzer (Flash EA 112, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). For the leaves measured in September 2020, the cell wall fraction was obtained after performing the neutral fiber detergent (NDF) following the method of Goering and Van Soest (1970). Nitrogen content of the cell wall fraction ( $N_{cell wall}$ ) was further estimated using the elemental analyzer as aforementioned. The fraction of nitrogen

Tree Physiology Online at http://www.treephys.oxfordjournals.org

#### 4 Alonso-Forn et al.

allocated in the cytoplasm (N<sub>cytoplasm</sub>) was calculated as follows: N<sub>cytoplasm</sub> = (N<sub>total</sub>  $\times$  100–N<sub>cell wall</sub>  $\times$  NDF)/(100–NDF).

# Mesophyll conductance modeled on the basis of anatomical traits

Mesophyll diffusion conductance estimated using the measured leaf anatomical traits  $(g_{m,a})$  was calculated as a composite conductance of within-leaf gas and liquid diffusion pathways, according to the one-dimensional gas diffusion model of Niinemets and Reichstein (2003) as applied by Tosens et al. (2012):

$$g_{m,a} = \frac{1}{\frac{1}{g_{ias}} + \frac{R \bullet T_k}{H \bullet g_{liq}}}$$
(3)

where  $g_{\text{las}}$  is the gas phase conductance from substomatal cavities to outer surface of cell walls,  $g_{\text{liq}}$  is the conductance in the liquid and lipid phases from the outer surface of cell walls to chloroplasts, R is the gas constant (Pa m<sup>3</sup> K<sup>-1</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup>),  $T_{\text{k}}$  is the absolute temperature (K) and H is the Henry's law constant for CO<sub>2</sub> (Pa m<sup>3</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup>).  $g_{\text{m,a}}$  is defined as a gas-phase conductance, and thus  $H/(RT_{\text{k}})$ , the dimensionless form of the Henry's law constant converts  $g_{\text{liq}}$  to the corresponding gas-phase equivalent conductance (Niinemets and Reichstein 2003).

The gas-phase conductance (and the reciprocal term,  $r_{ias}$ ) was calculated as described in Niinemets and Reichstein (2003):

$$g_{\rm ias} = \frac{1}{r_{\rm ias}} = \frac{D_{\rm A} \bullet f_{\rm ias}}{\Delta L_{\rm ias} \bullet \tau} \tag{4}$$

where  $\Delta L_{\rm las}$  (m) is the average gas-phase thickness,  $\tau$  is the diffusion path tortuosity (1.57 m m<sup>-1</sup>, Syvertsen et al. 1995),  $D_{\rm A}$  is the diffusivity of the CO<sub>2</sub> in the air (1.51·10<sup>-5</sup> m<sup>2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> at 25 °C) and  $f_{\rm las}$  is the fraction of intercellular air spaces.  $\Delta L_{\rm las}$  was taken as the half of the mesophyll thickness. Total liquid phase conductance ( $g_{\rm liq}$ ) from the outer surface of cell walls to the carboxylation sites in the chloroplasts is the sum of serial resistances of the cell wall ( $r_{\rm cw}$ ), the plasmalemma ( $r_{\rm pl}$ ) and the liquid phase inside the cell ( $r_{\rm cel,tot}$ ) (Tomás et al. 2013):

$$g_{\text{liq}} = \frac{S_{\text{m}}}{\left(r_{\text{cw}} + r_{\text{pl}} + r_{\text{cel,tot}}\right) \bullet S}$$
(5)

Cell wall conductance was calculated as described in Peguero-Pina et al. (2012). We used a value of 0.028 for the porosity of cell wall as previously estimated by Tomás et al. (2013) for *Q. ilex*. We used an estimate of 0.0035 m s<sup>-1</sup> for the conductance of plasma membrane (Tosens et al. 2012). The conductance inside the cell was calculated considering two different pathways of CO<sub>2</sub> (one for cell wall parts lined with chloroplasts and the other for interchloroplastial areas, Tholen et al. 2012) as described by Tomás et al. (2013).

#### Quantitative limitations analyses of $A_N$

The relative controls on  $A_{\rm N}$  were separated into their functional components according to the quantitative limitation analysis of Grassi and Magnani (2005) as applied in Tomás et al. (2013). This methodology allows comparing relative changes in limitations to net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation into limitations due to limited  $g_{\rm S}$  to CO<sub>2</sub> ( $g_{\rm S,CO2}$ ; stomatal limitations,  $l_{\rm S}$ ),  $g_{\rm m}$  (mesophyll limitations,  $l_{\rm m}$ ) and leaf biochemistry (biochemical limitations,  $l_{\rm b}$ ). Each of the three components,  $l_{\rm S}$ ,  $l_{\rm m}$  and  $l_{\rm b}$ , can vary between zero and one ( $l_{\rm S} + l_{\rm m} + l_{\rm b} = 1$ ). They were calculated as:

$$I_{\rm s} = \frac{g_{\rm tot}/g_{\rm s,CO2} \bullet \delta A_{\rm N}/\delta C_{\rm c}}{g_{\rm tot} + \delta A_{\rm N}/\delta C_{\rm c}} \tag{6}$$

$$I_{\rm m} = \frac{g_{\rm tot}/g_{\rm m} \bullet \delta A_{\rm N}/\delta C_{\rm c}}{g_{\rm tot} + \delta A_{\rm N}/\delta C_{\rm c}} \tag{7}$$

$$I_{\rm b} = \frac{g_{\rm tot}}{g_{\rm tot} + \delta A_{\rm N} / \delta C_{\rm c}} \tag{8}$$

where  $g_{\text{tot}}$  is the total conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> from leaf surface to carboxylation sites in the chloroplasts  $(1/g_{\text{tot}} = 1/g_{\text{s,CO2}} + 1/g_{\text{m}})$ . The values of  $g_{\text{m}}$  (Eq. (1)) were used to calculate the chloroplastic CO<sub>2</sub> concentration ( $C_{\text{c}}$ ) as  $C_{\text{c}} = C_{\text{I}} - A_{\text{N}}/g_{\text{m}}$ .  $\delta A_{\text{N}}/\delta C_{\text{c}}$  was calculated as the slope of the relationship between  $C_{\text{c}}$  and  $A_{\text{N}}$ , considering a  $C_{\text{c}}$  range of 50–100  $\mu$  mol mol<sup>-1</sup>.

#### Chlorophyll measurements

Discs from the leaves measured in September 2020 were wrapped in aluminum foil, frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -20 °C. Pigments were extracted with acetone (100%) in presence of Na-ascorbate. Extracts were thawed on ice, filtered through a 0.45- $\mu$ m filter and chlorophylls were determined spectrophotometrically (V-1100, J.P. Selecta, Abrera, Spain) according to Lichtenthaler (1987).

#### Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  standard error of the mean. One-way analyses of variance were performed to identify the leaf age effect on each of the measured traits. Multiple comparisons were carried out among 0-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves using the post hoc Tukey's honestly significant difference test. Student's *t*-tests were used to compare current-year leaves (0year-old) measured in September 2018 with 2-year-old leaves measured in September 2020 to evaluate the changes of the measured traits due to leaf aging within the same cohort of leaves. Principal components analysis (PCA) was used to summarize the multivariate relationships among the measured traits of 0-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves. All statistical analyses were performed in the R software environment (version 4.0.0, R Development Core Team 2018).

#### Results

For measurements performed both in 2018 and in 2020, all photosynthetic characteristics decreased with increasing leaf

Tree Physiology Volume 00, 2022
#### Age-related changes in photosynthesis of holm oak 5



Figure 1. Photosynthetic characteristics for 0- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of Q ilex subsp. rotundifolia measured in 2018 and 2020:  $A_N$ , net assimilation rate;  $g_s$ , stomatal conductance;  $g_m$ , mesophyll conductance;  $J_{flu}$ , photosynthetic electron transport rate;  $V_{cmax}$ , maximum velocity of carboxylation. Data are means  $\pm$  SE. Different letters indicate significant differences among 0-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves (Tukey's test, P < 0.05). Asterisks indicate significant differences between current-year leaves measured in 2018 and 2-year-old leaves measured in September 2020 (striped bars) (Student's *t*-test, P < 0.05).

age within the individual branches (Figure 1). In addition, for the same cohorts of leaves measured in two different years (O-year-old leaves in 2018 and 2-year-old leaves in 2020), leaf photosynthetic traits were also greater in O-year-old leaves measured in 2018 than in 2-year-old leaves measured in 2020 (Figure 1). Analogously, leaf nitrogen concentration (N) decreased with increasing leaf age, although exclusively in terms of nitrogen allocated in the cytoplasm (Figure 2). The LMA varied less, and only the current-year leaves measured in 2018 had a lower LMA than 1- and 2-year-old leaves (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Leaf mass per area (LMA) (upper panel) and total leaf nitrogen concentration (N) on mass basis (medium panel) for O- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 and 2020. Lower panel shows cytoplasmic and cell wall N concentrations on mass basis for O- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2020. Data are means  $\pm$  SE. Different letters indicate significant differences among O-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves (Tukey's test, *P* < 0.05). Asterisk indicates significant differences between current-year leaves measured in 2018 and 2-year-old leaves, *P* < 0.05).

Leaf age-dependent differences in net assimilation rate ( $A_N$ ) were primarily driven by mesophyll conductance ( $g_m$ ) and maximum velocity of carboxylation ( $V_{cmax}$ ). Thus, the correlations between  $A_N$  and  $g_m$  ( $r^2 = 0.94$ , P < 0.001) and between  $A_N$  and  $V_{cmax}$  ( $r^2 = 0.91$ , P < 0.001) were stronger than those found between  $A_N$  and  $g_s$  ( $r^2 = 0.32$ , P < 0.001) and between  $A_N$  and  $J_{flu}$  ( $r^2 = 0.26$ , P < 0.001) (Figure 3). Analysis of the partitioning of photosynthetic limitations further confirmed that  $A_N$  was mainly limited by  $g_m$  and the relative importance of mesophyll limitation ( $I_m$ ) increased with leaf age (P < 0.05, Figure S3 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online).  $A_N$  ( $r^2 = 0.40$ , P < 0.001) and  $V_{cmax}$  ( $r^2 = 0.36$ , P < 0.001) increased with increasing N concentration on area basis (Figure 4). No significant correlations were found between LMA and  $A_N$  and between LMA and N (P > 0.01, Figure 4).

Two-year-old leaves had a lower chloroplast surface area facing intercellular air spaces  $(S_c/S)$  than current and 1-yearold leaves (Figure 5). Moreover, S<sub>c</sub>/S for 2-year-old leaves measured in 2020 was much lower than that for O-year-old leaves measured in 2018 (Student's *t*-test, P < 0.05) (Figure 5). This primarily reflected presence of fewer chloroplasts in older leaves (Figure 6). Furthermore, a sharp decrease in the percentage of functional area per chloroplast was observed in 2-year-old leaves, both in 2018 and 2020, mainly due to a strong increase in the size of starch grains and plastoglobuli (Figures 6 and 7). The percentage of functional area per chloroplast was also lower for 2-year-old leaves measured in 2020 than in current-year leaves measured in 2018 (Figure 7). Cell wall thickness  $(T_{cw})$ was greater in 2-year-old leaves than in O- and 1-year-old leaves both in 2018 and 2020 (Figure 5). There were no age-related changes in chloroplast thickness ( $T_{chl}$ ) (Figure 5). Mesophyll surface area facing intercellular air spaces per leaf area  $(S_m/S)$ also did not differ among leaf cohorts, except for a higher value in O-year-old than in 1- and 2-year-old leaves measured in 2018 (Figure 5).  $T_{cw}$ ,  $T_{chl}$  and  $S_m/S$  did not display significant differences between O-year-old leaves measured in 2018 and 2-year-old leaves measured in 2020 (Figure 5).

Across leaf ages, a strong positive relationship was observed between  $S_c/S$  and  $A_N$  ( $r^2 = 0.61$ , P < 0.001) and a negative relationship between  $T_{cw}$  and  $A_N$  ( $r^2 = 0.39$ , P < 0.05) (Figure 8). No correlations were detected between  $T_{chl}$  and  $S_m/S$  and  $A_N$  (P > 0.05, Figure 8). A positive linear relationship was observed between measured values of  $g_m$  (Eq. (1)) and  $g_m$  values modeled using leaf anatomical traits ( $g_{m,a}$ , Eq. (3)) ( $r^2 = 0.44$ , P < 0.001, Figure S4 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online). Together with the correlations of  $A_N$  with  $S_c/S$  and  $T_{cw}$  (Figure 8), this underscores the importance of leaf anatomy in determining the differences in  $g_m$  and  $A_N$  among the different leaf age classes in Q. *ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*.

In the PCA, the first and second principal components accounted for 53% and 15% of the total variation (Figure S5

Age-related changes in photosynthesis of holm oak 7



Figure 3. Relationships between net assimilation rate ( $A_N$ ) and (i) stomatal conductance ( $g_s$ ) (upper left panel), (ii) mesophyll conductance ( $g_m$ ) (upper right panel), (iii) photosynthetic electron transport rate ( $J_{flu}$ ) (lower left panel) and (iv) maximum velocity of carboxylation ( $V_{cmax}$ ) (lower right panel) for O- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of Q. *ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 and 2020. \*\*\*P < 0.001.

available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online). The first component integrated the variation in  $A_n$ , positively associated with  $g_m$ ,  $S_c/S$ ,  $V_{cmax}$  (and, to a lesser extent, N,  $g_s$  and  $J_{flu}$ ), but negatively associated with  $T_{cw}$ . Conversely, the second component was not related with  $A_n$ , but showed positive weights for  $S_m/S$  and  $T_{chl}$ , and negative weights for  $g_s$  and  $J_{flu}$ . The scores of the studied leaf cohorts in the PCA biplot indicated that the functional and anatomical traits analyzed clearly differentiated O-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves of Q. *ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. In particular, the three leaf age classes differed clearly along the first component ( $A_n$  and associated

traits), whereas the second component explained the variability within each leaf cohort.

#### Discussion

Our study demonstrated a major decline in the photosynthetic activity with leaf age in *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*, an evergreen Mediterranean oak with long leaf lifespan (Figure 1). Thus, this work agrees with the previous findings for this species by Escudero and Mediavilla (2003) and Niinemets et al. (2005, 2006). Furthermore, we have established a clear link between



Figure 4. Relationships between LMA and (i) net assimilation rate ( $A_N$ ) (upper left panel) and (ii) total leaf nitrogen concentration (N) on mass basis (upper right panel) for O- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of Q. *ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 and 2020. Relationships between total leaf nitrogen concentration (N) on area basis and (iii) net assimilation rate ( $A_N$ ) (lower left panel), and (iv) maximum velocity of carboxylation ( $V_{cmax}$ ) (lower right panel) for O-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves of Q. *ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 and 2020. N.s. means non-significant relationship (P > 0.05). \*\*\*P < 0.001.

the decrease in  $A_N$  and the changes in  $g_m$  experienced by the different leaf cohorts (Figure 3) as indicated by Niinemets et al. (2005) for some Mediterranean evergreen tree species. This link has been also evidenced for *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* when describing the within-species variation in  $g_m$  and  $A_N$ (Peguero-Pina et al. 2017*b*) and the response of these traits to water stress (Peguero-Pina et al. 2018, Alonso-Forn et al. 2021). In fact, the results here obtained support the idea that  $A_N$  was mainly limited by  $g_m$  and the relative importance of mesophyll limitation ( $l_m$ ) increased with increasing leaf age (P < 0.05, Figure S3 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online).

The good relationship between modeled and measured  $g_m$  (Figure S4 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online) largely underpins a predominant role of anatomical traits in determining photosynthetic differences among different leaf age classes in *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. However, it should be noted that  $g_m$  measured with the Harley et al. (1992)



Figure 5. Cell wall thickness ( $T_{cw}$ ), chloroplast thickness ( $T_{chl}$ ) and mesophyll ( $S_m/S$ ) and chloroplast ( $S_c/S$ ) surface area facing intercellular air spaces per leaf area for O- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 and 2020. Data are means  $\pm$  SE. Different letters indicate significant differences among O-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves (Tukey's test, P < 0.05). Asterisk indicates significant differences between current-year leaves measured in 2018 and 2-year-old leaves measured in September 2020 (striped bars) (Student's *t*-test, P < 0.05).

method was higher than  $g_m$  modeled with anatomical traits, which is contrary to expectations as modeled  $g_m$  usually gives the maximum theoretical value. This fact suggests the existence of other factors that might also influence the age-dependent changes in  $g_m$  displayed by *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. In this regard, Roig-Oliver et al. (2021) demonstrated that short-term changes in cell wall composition (i.e., pectins enhancement) were associated with  $g_m$  decline under water deficit in *Helianthus annuus* L. Therefore, it would be possible that long-term changes in cell wall composition might affect cell wall conductance and photosynthesis in *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*, although this is a matter that deserves further investigation.

In any case, regarding leaf anatomy, the reduction of both  $g_m$  and  $A_N$  in older leaves of this species was clearly induced by increases in cell wall thickness ( $T_{cw}$ ) and reductions in chloroplast surface area exposed to intercellular air space per unit leaf area ( $S_c/S$ ) (Figures 8 and S5 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online). To the extent of our knowledge, this is the first study that provides empirical evidence demonstrating changes in ultrastructural leaf anatomical traits as the explanation for the drawdown of photosynthesis and  $g_m$  with leaf age in species with high leaf longevity. Concerning cell wall thickness, Sugiura et al. (2020) stated that the decrease in  $g_m$  in old senescing leaves of *Glycine max* and *Phaseolus vulgaris* could



Figure 6. Transverse sections of O- (current) (a, b), 1- (c, d) and 2-year-old (e, f) leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 (a, c, e) and 2020 (b, d, f). GR, grana; SG, starch grain; PG, plastoglobulus. Bars, 2  $\mu$ m.

be partly attributable to an increase in cell wall mass. Carriquí et al. (2021) also reported that leaf aging was associated with increases in Tcw in Arabidopsis thaliana, albeit without effects on  $g_{\rm m}$  and photosynthesis probably due to a compensatory association between increased  $T_{cw}$  and decreased chloroplast thickness. Niinemets et al. (2005) suggested that the agedependent increase in LMA in Mediterranean species reflected the higher investments in cell wall during leaf aging, with a concomitant effect on the CO2 drawdown from internal air spaces to chloroplasts due to limited  $g_m$ . However, in our study, we only found minor changes in LMA among different leaf cohorts (Figure 2), and found no correlation between LMA and  $A_{\rm N}$  (Figure 4). In addition, changes in  $T_{\rm cw}$  during leaf aging, although correlated with AN, were relatively small (Figures 8 and 9). By contrast, the stronger relationship found between  $A_{\rm N}$  and  $S_c/S$  (Figure 8) demonstrated that  $S_c/S$  is the key anatomical trait dominating the variations in  $g_m$  and  $A_N$  among different leaf age classes in this species. Although the cell walls typically exert the strongest control on  $g_m$  (Peguero-Pina et al. 2017a, Veromann et al. 2017), other components such as  $S_c/S$  as



Figure 7. Functional area per chloroplast (%) for O- (current), 1and 2-year-old leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 and 2020. Data are means  $\pm$  SE. Different letters indicate significant differences among O-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves (Tukey's test, *P* < 0.05). Asterisk indicates significant differences between current-year leaves measured in 2018 and 2-year-old leaves measured in September 2020 (striped bars) (Student's *t*-test, *P* < 0.05). Micrographs located at the right of the panel show a representative chloroplast for each of the studied age classes.

observed in our study and in Veromann-Jürgenson et al. (2020), chloroplast thickness (Peguero-Pina et al. 2012) or the liquidphase pathway length between cytosol and chloroplasts (Lei et al. 2021) can dominate changes in  $g_m$ . In fact, irrespective of the leaf age class, all  $T_{cw}$  values found in our study were relatively high, implying a major control on  $g_m$  (Terashima et al. 2011). However, the relative age-dependent change in  $T_{cw}$  was less than  $S_c/S$ , implying that age-dependent modifications in  $g_m$  were dominated by  $S_c/S$  in our study. Analogously, needle age-dependent reductions in  $g_m$  in three Mediterranean *Pinus* species were associated with reductions in  $S_c/S$  (Kuusk et al. 2018).

The reduction of  $S_c/S$  in old leaves may be related to the progressive dismantling of the photosynthetic apparatus associated to leaf aging (Niinemets et al. 2009, 2012). Chloroplast dismantling, i.e., the transition to the so-called 'gerontoplasts', is an essential process in leaf senescence that is characterized by ultrastructural changes such as the increase in size and number of plastoglobuli (Niinemets et al. 2012, Mulisch and Krupinska 2013, Domínguez and Cejudo 2021). In our study, chloroplasts in older leaves were characterized by a sharp decrease in their functional area (Figure 7), which could be associated to the size increase experienced by starch grains and plastoglobuli in 2-year-old leaves of Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia (Figure 6). Leaf aging was also manifested in a decrease in total leaf nitrogen concentration, mainly in terms of nitrogen allocated in the cytoplasm of 2-year-old leaves (Figure 2). Consequently, it might be expected that the dismantling of the photosynthetic apparatus could have a strong impact on the amount of Rubisco, explaining the sharp decrease in  $V_{cmax}$ 

#### Age-related changes in photosynthesis of holm oak 11



Figure 8. Relationships between net assimilation rate ( $A_N$ ) and (i) cell wall thickness ( $T_{cw}$ ) (upper left panel), (ii) chloroplast thickness ( $T_{chl}$ ) (upper right panel), (iii) mesophyll surface area facing intercellular air spaces per leaf area ( $S_m/S$ ) (lower left panel) and (iv) chloroplast surface area facing intercellular air spaces per leaf area ( $S_m/S$ ) (lower left panel) and (iv) chloroplast surface area facing intercellular air spaces per leaf area ( $S_m/S$ ) (lower left panel) and (iv) chloroplast surface area facing intercellular air spaces per leaf area ( $S_c/S$ ) (lower right panel) for O- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of Q ilex subsp. rotundifolia measured in 2018 and 2020. N.s. denotes a non-significant relationship (P > 0.05). \*\*P < 0.05.

experienced by 2-year-old leaves (Figure 1), with a substantial impact on the photosynthetic capacity of this species (Figure 3 and 4).

At this point, the next question is, which is triggering the agedependent decline of photosynthetic potential in *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*? Different authors have argued that this could be the consequence of self-shading of older leaves within the crown as they age (Field and Mooney 1983, Kitajima et al. 1997, Ackerly 1999, Ishida et al. 1999, Niinemets et al. 2004, 2006, 2009). Thus, Terashima et al. (2005) stated that self-shading of older leaves might be involved in chlorophyll degradation and the regulation of leaf senescence. On the other hand, reacclimation of evergreen leaves to reduced light conditions is typically associated with increased chlorophyll content to harvest more light (Brooks et al. 1994, 1996). In addition, in these studies, chlorophyll a to b content also decreased upon reacclimation of older leaves after shading (Brooks et al. 1996), indicating a greater share of chlorophyll associated with the light harvesting complex II (Lichtenthaler et al. 2007). We observed a decrease in light availability in 1- and 2-year-old leaves with respect to current-year leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* (Figures S1 and S2 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online), but without major consequences for the total amount of chlorophylls (Chl a + Chl b, Table S2 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online). However, contrary to other studies, the ratio Chl a/Chl b was higher in 2-year-old than in 1-year-old leaves (Table S2 available as Supplementary data at *Tree Physiology* Online), indicating

#### 12 Alonso-Forn et al.

limited acclimation of pigment-protein complexes to altered light level but an acclimation to a higher light energy excess in *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*.

Self-shading could also promote a decrease of nitrogen in older foliage due to the retranslocation from shaded to sunlit leaves (Hikosaka 2005). The concurrent decrease of  $A_{\rm N}$  and nitrogen should imply the absence of changes in photosynthetic nitrogen-use efficiency (PNUE) with leaf age (Mooney et al. 1981, Field and Mooney 1983). However, in our study, we observed a strong decrease in PNUE with leaf age in Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia, as demonstrated in other evergreen oak species (Escudero and Mediavilla 2003, Niinemets et al. 2004, Yasumura and Ishida 2011). This reflected a much greater decrease in net CO2 assimilation than in leaf nitrogen content (Table S1 available as Supplementary data at Tree Physiology Online). Thus, this species has a substantial fraction of older leaves with an inherently low photosynthetic potential and nitrogen-use efficiency, irrespective of the amount of incident light (Table S1 available as Supplementary data at Tree Physiology Online). Despite this, 2-year-old leaves maintained a positive carbon balance, so the retention of these leaves would yield a higher whole-canopy net CO2 assimilation despite their low PNUE and intrinsic water-use efficiency (iWUE =  $A_N/g_s$ ) (Table S1 available as Supplementary data at Tree Physiology Online).

Besides self-shading, a possible increase in the allocation of nitrogen to cell walls with leaf age could also decrease photosynthetic activity and PNUE (Niinemets et al. 2009). A higher investment on cell wall biomass is expected to lead to an increase of LMA (Onoda et al. 2004). However, as stated above, we only found minor changes in LMA among different leaf cohorts (Figure 2), which was in line with the results obtained by Yasumura and Ishida (2011) for the evergreen oak *Quercus myrsinaefolia*. Moreover, we did not observe an increase in the nitrogen content per dry mass in the cell wall with leaf age (Figure 2), and  $T_{cw}$  did not show differences between the same cohort of leaves measured in 2018 (current-year) and in 2020 (2-year-old) (Figure 5).

Therefore, it is not well established the triggering factor for the age-dependent physiological deterioration evidenced by leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. In this regard, the role of leaf hydraulic conductance decline as the causing factor of photosynthetic decay in senescent leaves should be also considered. The role of leaf hydraulics in leaf senescence was suggested early by Neumann and Stein (1984), who hypothesized that the sequential pattern of leaf senescence observed during plant development in *P. vulgaris* L. may be related to progressive changes in the hydraulic architecture of the plant. Brodribb and Holbrook (2003) found a declining leaf hydraulic conductance that was probably linked to the loss of photosynthetic capacity during leaf senescence in two deciduous tree species (Calycophyllum candidissimum and Rhedera trinervis). In line with this, Locke and Ort (2014) showed that hydraulic decline in G. max during senescence was accompanied by gradual decreases in leaf water status and photosynthesis, although they could not conclude if this decline triggered photosynthetic decline and senescence. This mechanism was described by Giraldo et al. (2013), who proposed that the timing of leaf senescence in Solanum lycopersicum L. was determined by an agedependent decline in leaf hydraulic conductance limiting gas exchange. However, these authors did not find evidence of this phenomenon in deciduous tree species such as Acer saccharum Marsh, and Quercus rubra L. In any case, to the best of our knowledge, no studies have dealt with this issue in evergreen trees with long leaf lifespan. More research is needed to clarify the possible involvement of leaf hydraulics decline in the age-dependent changes of photosynthetic capacity observed in Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia.

#### Conclusions

In conclusion, our study demonstrates major age-dependent changes in leaf photosynthetic capacity that were driven by alterations in mesophyll conductance due to anatomical modification. However, the age-dependent decrease in the foliage photosynthetic potentials was weakly associated with selfshading and/or an increase in cell wall biomass. By contrast, confirming our hypotheses, we observed that changes in leaf anatomical (i.e., a strong decrease in  $S_c/S$ ) and biochemical (i.e., a decrease in leaf nitrogen content and nitrogen investments in photosynthetic machinery) traits were responsible for the age-dependent modifications. These changes reflect a gradual physiological deterioration related to the dismantling of the photosynthetic apparatus. Further research is needed to elucidate the ultimate causing factor that triggers the physiological deterioration of leaves of evergreen trees with long leaf lifespan.

#### Authors' contributions

D.A.-F., JJ.P.-P., J.P.E., D.S.-K. and E.G.-P. planned and designed the research. D.A.-F., JJ.P.-P., J.P.E., R.M.-S. and D.S.-K. performed the experiments. D.A.-F., JJ.P.-P., J.P.F., J.I.G.-P., Ü.N., D.S.-K. and E.G.-P. analyzed the data. D.A.-F., JJ.P.-P and E.G.-P. drafted the manuscript. All authors edited the manuscript with valuable inputs.

#### Supplementary data

Supplementary data for this article are available at *Tree Physiol*ogy Online.

#### Funding

This research was funded by Grant PID2019-106701RR-IOO funded by MCIN/AEI/10.13039/501100011033 and by Gobierno de Aragón HO9\_20R research group. The work of D.A.-F. is supported by an FPI-INIA contract BES-2017-081208 and that of R.M.-S. is supported by a pre-doctoral Gobierno de Aragón scholarship.

#### Conflict of interest

None declared.

#### References

- Ackerly D (1999) Self-shading, carbon gain and leaf dynamics: a test of alternative optimality models. Oecologia 119:300–310.
- Alonso-Forn D, Peguero-Pina JJ, Ferrio JP, Mencuccini M, Mendoza-Herrer Ó, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E (2021) Contrasting functional strategies following severe drought in two Mediterranean oaks with different leaf habit: *Quercus faginea* and *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. Tree Physiol 41:371–387.
- Brodribb TJ, Holbrook NM (2003) Changes in leaf hydraulic conductance during leaf shedding in seasonally dry tropical Forest. New Phytol 158:295–303.
- Brooks JR, Hinckley TM, Sprugel DG (1994) Acclimation responses of mature *Abies amabilis* sun foliage to shading. Oecologia 100:316–324.
- Brooks JR, Sprugel DG, Hinckley TM (1996) The effects of light acclimation during and after foliage expansion on photosynthesis of *Abies amabilis* foliage within the canopy. Oecologia 107: 21–32.
- Carriquí M, Roig-Oliver M, Brodribb TJ et al. (2019) Anatomical constraints to nonstomatal diffusion conductance and photosynthesis in lycophytes and bryophytes. New Phytol 222: 1256–1270.
- Carriquí M, Nadal M, Flexas J (2021) Acclimation of mesophyll conductance and anatomy to light during leaf aging in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Physiol Plant 172:1894–1907.
- Cescatti A, Zorer R (2003) Structural acclimation and radiation regime of silver fir (*Abies alba* Mill.) shoots along a light gradient. Plant Cell Environ 26:429–442.
- Chabot BF, Hicks DJ (1982) The ecology of leaf life spans. Annu Rev Ecol Evol Syst 13:229–259.
- Clarke VC, Danila FR, von Caemmerer S (2021) CO<sub>2</sub> diffusion in tobacco: a link between mesophyll conductance and leaf anatomy. Interface Focus 11:20200040.
- Corcuera L, Morales F, Abadía A, Gil-Pelegrín E (2005) Seasonal changes in photosynthesis and photoprotection in a *Quercus ilex* subsp. *ballota* woodland located in its upper altitudinal extreme in the lberian peninsula. Tree Physiol 25:599–608.
- De Kauwe MG, Lin Y-S, Wright IJ et al. (2016) A test of the 'one-point method' for estimating maximum carboxylation capacity from field-measured, light-saturated photosynthesis. New Phytol 210:1130–1144.
- Domínguez F, Cejudo FJ (2021) Chloroplast dismantling in leaf senescence. J Exp Bot 72:5905–5918.
- Escudero A, Mediavilla S (2003) Decline in photosynthetic nitrogen use efficiency with leaf age and nitrogen resorption as determinants of leaf life span. J Ecol 91:880–889.
- Evans JR, von Caemmerer S, Setchell BA, Hudson GS (1994) The relationship between CO<sub>2</sub> transfer conductance and leaf anatomy in transgenic tobacco with a reduced content of rubisco. Aust J Plant Physiol 21:475–495.

#### Age-related changes in photosynthesis of holm oak 13

- Field C (1983) Allocating leaf nitrogen for the maximization of carbon gain: leaf age as a control on the allocation program. Oecologia 56:341–347.
- Field C, Mooney HA (1983) Leaf age and seasonal effects on light, water, and nitrogen use efficiency in a California shrub. Oecologia 56:348–355.
- Flexas J, Ortuño MF, Ribas-Carbo M, Diaz-Espejo A, Flórez-Sarasa ID, Medrano H (2007*a*) Mesophyll conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. New Phytol 175:501–511.
- Flexas J, Díaz-Espejo A, Berry JA, Galmés J, Cifre J, Kaldenhoff R, Medrano H, Ribas-Carbó M (2007b) Analysis of leakage in IRGA's leaf chambers of open gas exchange systems: quantification and its effects in photosynthesis parameterization. J Exp Bot 58:1533–1543.
- Flexas J, Díaz-Espejo A, Gago J, Gallé A, Galmés J, Gulías J, Medrano H (2014) Photosynthetic limitations in Mediterranean plants: a review. Environ Exp Bot 103:12–23.
- Freeland RO (1952) Effect of age of leaves upon the rate of photosynthesis in some conifers. Plant Physiol 27:685–690.
- Galmés J, Andralojc PJ, Kapralov MV, Flexas J, Keys J, Molins A, Parry MAJ, Conesa MÅ (2014) Environmentally driven evolution of rubisco and improved photosynthesis and growth within the C3 genus *Limonium* (Plumbaginaceae). New Phytol 203: 989–999.
- Genty B, Briantais JM, Baker NR (1989) The relationship between the quantum yield of photosynthetic electron transport and quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence. Biochim Biophys Acta 990: 87–92.
- Giraldo JP, Wheeler JK, Huggett BA, Holbrook NM (2013) The role of leaf hydraulic conductance dynamics on the timing of leaf senescence. Funct Plant Biol 41:37–47.
- Goering HK, Van Soest PJ (1970) Forage fiber analyses (apparatus, reagents, procedures, and some applications). US Government Publishing Office, Washington DC, USA.
- Grassi G, Magnani F (2005) Stomatal, mesophyll conductance and biochemical limitations to photosynthesis as affected by drought and leaf ontogeny in ash and oak trees. Plant Cell Environ 28:834–849.
- Harayama H, Ishida A, Yoshimura J (2016) Overwintering evergreen oaks reverse typical relationships between leaf traits in a species spectrum. R Soc Open Sci 3:160276.
- Harley PC, Loreto F, Di Marco G, Sharkey TD (1992) Theoretical considerations when estimating the mesophyll conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> flux by analysis of the response of photosynthesis to CO<sub>2</sub>. Plant Physiol 98:1429–1436.
- Hikosaka K (2005) Leaf canopy as a dynamic system: ecophysiology and optimality in leaf turnover. Ann Bot 95:521–533.
- Ishida A, Uemura A, Koike N, Matsumoto Y, Hoe AL (1999) Interactive effects of leaf age and self-shading on leaf structure, photosynthetic capacity and chlorophyll fluorescence in the rain forest tree, *Dryobalanops aromatica*. Tree Physiol 19:741–747.
- Kikuzawa K (1991) A cost-benefit analysis of leaf habit and leaf longevity of trees and their geographical pattern. Am Nat 138:1250–1263.
- Kitajima K, Mulkey SS, Wright SJ (1997) Decline of photosynthetic capacity with leaf age in relation to leaf longevities for five tropical canopy tree species. Am J Bot 84:702–708.
- Krall JP, Edwards GE (1992) Relationship between photosystem II activity and CO<sub>2</sub> fixation in leaves. Physiol Plant 86:180–187.
- Kuusk V, Niinemets Ü, Valladares F (2018) Structural controls on photosynthetic capacity through juvenile-to-adult transition and needle ageing in Mediterranean pines. Funct Ecol 32:1479–1491.
- Lei Z, Liu F, Wright IJ et al. (2021) Comparisons of photosynthetic and anatomical traits between wild and domesticated cotton. J Exp Bot 73:873–885.
- Lichtenthaler HK (1987) Chlorophylls and carotenoids: pigments of photosynthetic biomembranes. Methods Enzymol 148:350–382.

#### 14 Alonso-Forn et al.

- Lichtenthaler HK, Ac A, Marek MV, Kalina J, Urban (2007) Differences in pigment composition, photosynthetic rates and chlorophyll fluorescence images of sun and shade leaves of four tree species. Plant Physiol Biochem 45:577–588.
- Locke AM, Ort DR (2014) Leaf hydraulic conductance declines in coordination with photosynthesis, transpiration and leaf water status as soybean leaves age regardless of soil moisture. J Exp Bot 65:6617–6627.
- Loreto F, di Marco G, Tricoli D, Sharkey TD (1994) Measurements of mesophyll conductance, photosynthetic electron transport and alternative electron sinks of field grown wheat leaves. Photosynth Res 41:397–403.
- Mediavilla S, Escudero A (2003) Leaf life span differs from retention time of biomass and nutrients in the crowns of evergreen species. Funct Ecol 17:541–548.
- Mooney HA, Field C, Gulmon SL, Bazzaz FA (1981) Photosynthetic capacity in relation to leaf position in desert versus old-field annuals. Oecologia 50:109–112.
- Mulisch M, Krupinska K (2013) Ultrastructural analyses of senescence associated dismantling of chloroplasts revisited. In: Biswal B, Krupinska K, Biswal UC (eds) Plastid development in leaves during growth and senescence. Advances in photosynthesis and respiration (including bioenergy and related processes), vol. 36. Springer, Dordrecht, pp 307–335.
- Neumann PM, Stein Z (1984) Relative rates of delivery of xylem solutes to shoot tissues: possible relationship to sequential leaf senescence. Physiol Plant 62:390–397.
- Niinemets Ü, Keenan TF (2014) Photosynthetic responses to stress in Mediterranean evergreens: mechanisms and models. Environ Exp Bot 103:24–41.
- Niinemets Ü, Reichstein M (2003) Controls on the emission of plant volatiles through stomata: a sensitivity analysis. J Geophys Res 108:4211.
- Niinemets Ü, Tenhunen JD, Beyschlag W (2004) Spatial and agedependent modifications of photosynthetic capacity in four Mediterranean oak species. Funct Plant Biol 31:1179–1193.
- Niinemets Ü, Cescatti A, Rodeghiero M, Tosens T (2005) Leaf internal diffusion conductance limits photosynthesis more strongly in older leaves of Mediterranean evergreen broad-leaved species. Plant Cell Environ 28:1552–1566.
- Niinemets Ü, Cescatti A, Rodeghiero M, Tosens T (2006) Complex adjustments of photosynthetic capacity and internal mesophyll conductance to current and previous light availabilities and leaf age in Mediterranean evergreen species *Quercus ilex*. Plant Cell Environ 29:1159–1178.
- Niinemets Ü, Díaz-Espejo A, Flexas J, Galmés J, Warren CR (2009) Role of mesophyll diffusion conductance in constraining potential photosynthetic productivity in the field. J Exp Bot 60:2249–2270.
- Niinemets Ü, García-Plazaola JI, Tosens T (2012) Photosynthesis during leaf development and ageing. In: Flexas J, Loreto F, Medrano H (eds) Terrestrial photosynthesis in a changing environment. A molecular, physiological and ecological approach. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, UK, pp. 353–372.
- Onoda Y, Hikosaka K, Hirose T (2004) Allocation of nitrogen to cell walls decreases photosynthetic nitrogen-use efficiency. Funct Ecol 18:419–425.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Camarero JJ, Abadía A, Martín E, González-Cascón R, Morales F, Gil-Pelegrín E (2007) Physiological performance of silverfir (*Abies alba* Mill.) populations under contrasting climates near the south-western distribution limit of the species. Flora 202:226–236.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Flexas J, Galmés J, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Barredo G, Villarroya D, Gil-Pelegrín E (2012) Leaf anatomical properties in relation to differences in mesophyll conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> and photosynthesis in two related Mediterranean *Abies* species. Plant Cell Environ 35:2121–2129.

- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Fernández-Marín B, Flexas J, Galmés J, García-Plazaola JI, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E (2016*a*) Leaf functional plasticity decreases the water consumption without further consequences for carbon uptake in *Quercus coccifera* L. under Mediterranean conditions. Tree Physiol 36: 356–367.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Flexas J, Galmés J, Niinemets Ü, Gil-Pelegrín E (2016b) Light acclimation of photosynthesis in two closely related firs (*Abies pinsapo* Boiss. and *Abies alba* Mill.): the role of leaf anatomy and mesophyll conductance to CO<sub>2</sub>. Tree Physiol 36:300–310.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Sancho-Knapik D, Díaz-Espejo A, Flexas J, Galmés J, Gil-Pelegrín E (2016c) Leaf morphological and physiological adaptations of a deciduous oak (*Quercus faginea* Lam.) to the Mediterranean climate: a comparison with a closely related temperate species (*Quercus robur* L.). Tree Physiol 36:287–299.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, García-Nogales A, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Saz MÁ, Gil-Pelegrín E (2017*a*) Cell level anatomical characteristics explain high mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in sclerophyllous Mediterranean oaks. New Phytol 214:585–596.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E (2017b) Coordinated modifications in mesophyll conductance, photosynthetic potentials and leaf nitrogen contribute to explain the large variation in foliage net assimilation rates across *Quercus ilex* provenances. Tree Physiol 37: 1084–1094.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Mendoza-Herrer Ó, Gil-Pelegrín E, Sancho-Knapik D (2018) Cavitation limits the recovery of gas exchange after severe drought stress in holm oak (*Quercus ilex* L.). Forests 9: 443.
- R Development Core Team (2018) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Retrieved from http://www.R-project.org/.
- Roig-Oliver M, Bresta P, Nikolopoulos D, Bota J, Flexas J (2021) Dynamic changes in cell wall composition of mature sunflower leaves under distinct water regimes affect photosynthesis. J Exp Bot 72:7863–7875.
- Sáez P, Bravo LA, Cavieres LA, Vallejos V, Sanhueza C, Font-Carrascosa M, Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Galmés J (2017) Photosynthetic limitations in Antarctic vascular plants: importance of the leaf anatomical traits and rubisco kinetics parameters. J Exp Bot 68: 2871–2883.
- Sáez PL, Cavieres LA, Galmés J et al. (2018) In situ warming in the Antarctic: effects on growth and photosynthesis in Antarctic vascular plants. New Phytol 218:1406–1418.
- Sala i Serra A (1992) Water relations, canopy structure, and canopy gas exchange in a *Quercus ilex* forest: variation in time and space. In: PhD Thesis. Universitat de Barcelona, Facultat de Biologia, Departament d'ecologia, Barcelona, Spain.
- Smart CM (1994) Gene expression during leaf senescence. New Phytol 126:419–448.
- Sugiura D, Terashima I, Evans JR (2020) A decrease in mesophyll conductance by cell-wall thickening contributes to photosynthetic downregulation. Plant Physiol 183:1600–1611.
- Syvertsen JP, Lloyd J, McConchie C, Kriedemann PE, Farquhar GD (1995) On the relationship between leaf anatomy and CO<sub>2</sub> diffusion through the mesophyll of hypostomatous leaves. Plant Cell Environ 18:149–157.
- Terashima I, Araya T, Miyazawa S-I, Sone K, Yano S (2005) Construction and maintenance of the optimal photosynthetic systems of the leaf, herbaceous plant and tree: an eco-developmental treatise. Ann Bot 95:507–519.
- Terashima I, Hanba YT, Tholen D, Niinemets Ü (2011) Leaf functional anatomy in relation to photosynthesis. Plant Physiol 155:108–116.

Tree Physiology Volume 00, 2022

#### Age-related changes in photosynthesis of holm oak 15

- Tholen D, Ethier G, Genty B, Pepin S, Zhu X (2012) Variable mesophyll conductance revisited: theoretical background and experimental implications. Plant Cell Environ 35: 2087–2103.
- Thomas H, Stoddart JL (1980) Leaf senescence. Annu Rev Plant Physiol 31:83–111.
- Tomás M, Flexas J, Copolovici L, et al. (2013) Importance of leaf anatomy in determining mesophyll diffusion conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> across species: quantitative limitations and scaling up by models. J Exp Bot 64:2269–2281.
- Tosens T, Niinemets Ü, Vislap V, Eichelmann H, Castro-Díez P (2012) Developmental changes in mesophyll diffusion conductance and photosynthetic capacity under different light and water availabilities in *Populus tremula*: how structure constrains function. Plant Cell Environ 35:839–856.
- Veromann L-L, Tosens T, Laanisto L, Niinemets Ü (2017) Extremely thick cell walls and low mesophyll conductance: welcome to the world of ancient living! J Exp Bot 68:1639–1653.
- Veromann-Jürgenson L-L, Brodribb TJ, Niinemets Ü, Tosens T (2020) Variability in the chloroplast area lining the intercellular airspace and cell walls drives mesophyll conductance in gymnosperms. J Exp Bot 71:4958–4971.
- Warren CR (2006) Why does photosynthesis decrease with needle age in *Pinus pinaster*? Trees 20:157–164.
- Yasumura Y, Ishida A (2011) Temporal variation in leaf nitrogen partitioning of a broad-leaved evergreen tree, *Quercus myrsinaefolia*. J Plant Res 124:115–123.
- Zhang SB, Hu H, Li ZR (2008) Variation of photosynthetic capacity with leaf age in an alpine orchid, *Cypripedium flavum*. Acta Physiol Plant 30:381–388.

### **Supporting Information**



**Figure S1.** Photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) during three sunny days of September 2018 for each of the three leaf cohorts studied (0- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves) of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*.

**Figure S2.** Integrated daily quantum flux density ( $Q_{int}$ ) during three sunny days of September 2018 for each of the three leaf cohorts studied (0- (current), 1- and 2-year-old) of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. Different letters indicate significant differences among 0-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves (Tukey's test, *P* < 0.05).



**Figure S3.** Relative stomatal ( $l_s$ ), mesophyll ( $l_m$ ) and biochemical ( $l_b$ ) photosynthesis limitations for 0-(current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 and 2020. The increase of  $l_m$  with increasing leaf age was statistically significant at *P* < 0.05 both in 2018 and 2020.



**Figure S4.** Relationship between mesophyll conductance ( $g_m$ ) modelled with anatomical traits (Eq. 3) and  $g_m$  measured with the Harley et al. (1992) method (Eq. 1) for 0- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of *Q*. *ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 and 2020. \*\*\* - *P* < 0.001.



**Figure S5.** Relationship between the first two principal components (PC1 vs. PC2) of the principal component analysis (PCA) computed on the measured traits obtained for 0- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 and 2020. Variables: *A*<sub>N</sub>, net assimilation rate; *g*<sub>s</sub>, stomatal conductance; *g*<sub>m</sub>, mesophyll conductance; *J*<sub>flu</sub>, photosynthetic electron transport rate; *V*<sub>cmax</sub>, maximum velocity of carboxylation; LMA, leaf dry mass per unit area; N, total leaf nitrogen concentration; *T*<sub>cw</sub>, cell wall thickness; *T*<sub>chl</sub>, chloroplast thickness; *S*<sub>m</sub>/*S* and *S*<sub>c</sub>/*S*, mesophyll and chloroplast surface area facing intercellular air spaces per leaf area.



**Table S1.** Photosynthetic characteristics for 0- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2018 at three photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) conditions (1500, 750 and 350 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>): *A*<sub>N</sub>, net assimilation rate; *g*<sub>s</sub>, stomatal conductance; *g*<sub>m</sub>, mesophyll conductance; *V*<sub>cmax</sub>, maximum velocity of carboxylation;  $\Phi_{PSII}$ , effective quantum yield of PSII; iWUE, intrinsic water use efficiency (*A*<sub>N</sub>/*g*<sub>s</sub>); PNUE, photosynthetic nitrogen use efficiency (*A*<sub>N</sub>/N). Different letters indicate significant differences among 0-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves (Tukey's test, *P* < 0.05).

		Leaf	PPFD (µmol photons m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )		
		Age			
			1500	750	350
A <sub>N</sub>	(µmol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	0	$14.5 \pm 0.5^{a}$	$11.7 \pm 1.6^{a}$	$7.4 \pm 0.6^{a}$
		1	$11.8 \pm 0.2^{\mathrm{b}}$	$10.7 \pm 0.9^{a}$	$7.1 \pm 0.6^{a}$
		2	$5.1 \pm 0.5^{\circ}$	$6.3 \pm 0.7^{\mathrm{b}}$	$4.9\pm0.6^{\mathrm{b}}$
gs		0	$0.367 \pm 0.023^{a}$	$0.265 \pm 0.049^{a}$	$0.276 \pm 0.046^{a}$
	(mol H <sub>2</sub> O m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	1	$0.321 \pm 0.016^{a}$	$0.245 \pm 0.032^{a}$	$0.256 \pm 0.035^{a}$
		2	$0.208 \pm 0.018^{b}$	$0.182 \pm 0.029^{a}$	$0.192 \pm 0.031^{a}$
g <sub>m</sub>	(mol CO <sub>2</sub> m <sup>-2</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	0	$0.067 \pm 0.004^{a}$	$0.065 \pm 0.011^{a}$	$0.035 \pm 0.004^{a}$
		1	$0.051 \pm 0.002^{b}$	$0.053 \pm 0.005^{a}$	$0.032 \pm 0.004^{a}$
		2	$0.020 \pm 0.003^{\circ}$	$0.026 \pm 0.004^{\text{b}}$	$0.020 \pm 0.003^{\text{b}}$
ØPSII		0	$0.37 \pm 0.02^{a}$	$0.46 \pm 0.03^{a}$	$0.55 \pm 0.02^{a}$
		1	$0.35 \pm 0.02^{a}$	$0.46 \pm 0.02^{a}$	$0.58 \pm 0.01^{a}$
		2	$0.21 \pm 0.04^{\mathrm{b}}$	$0.35 \pm 0.02^{b}$	$0.51 \pm 0.02^{b}$
iWUE		0	$41.1 \pm 3.4^{a}$	$47.6 \pm 3.2^{a}$	$31.2 \pm 3.6^{a}$
	(µmol CO2 mol <sup>-1</sup> H2O)	1	$37.5 \pm 2.2^{a}$	$45.8 \pm 2.3^{ab}$	$30.1 \pm 2.7^{\underline{a}}$
		2	$25.8 \pm 3.2^{\mathrm{b}}$	$38.2 \pm 3.7^{b}$	$28.9 \pm 3.3^{a}$
PNUE	(µmol CO2 mol N <sup>-1</sup> s <sup>-1</sup> )	0	$82.1 \pm 2.2^{\underline{a}}$	$65.0 \pm 8.3^{a}$	$41.9\pm3.3^{\underline{a}}$
		1	$67.0 \pm 1.1^{\rm b}$	$60.9 \pm 5.4^{a}$	$40.4 \pm 3.4^{a}$
		2	35.7 ± 3.1°	$46.3 \pm 5.9^{a}$	$35.8 \pm 4.6^{a}$

**Table S2.** Total chlorophyll concentration (Chl a + Chl b) and the ratio between Chl a and Chl b concentrations for 0- (current), 1- and 2-year-old leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* measured in 2020. Different letters indicate significant differences among 0-, 1- and 2-year-old leaves (Tukey's test, P < 0.05).

LoofAgo	Chl a + Chl b	Chl a / Chl b	
Leal Age	(µmol m <sup>-2</sup> )	(mol mol <sup>-1</sup> )	
0	$458.6\pm4.0^{\rm ab}$	$3.0 \pm 0.2^{ab}$	
1	$541.6 \pm 2.9^{a}$	$2.7 \pm 0.1^{a}$	
2	$364.2 \pm 2.3^{b}$	$3.1 \pm 0.1^{\mathrm{b}}$	

# Capítulo VI

Contrasting functional strategies following severe drought in two Mediterranean oaks with different leaf habit: *Quercus faginea* and *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* 



#### **Research paper**

### Contrasting functional strategies following severe drought in two Mediterranean oaks with different leaf habit: *Quercus faginea* and *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*

David Alonso-Forn<sup>1</sup>, José Javier Peguero-Pina<sup>1,2,6</sup>, Juan Pedro Ferrio<sup>1,3</sup>, Maurizio Mencuccini<sup>4,5</sup>, Óscar Mendoza-Herrer<sup>1</sup>, Domingo Sancho-Knapik<sup>1,2</sup> and Eustaquio Gil-Pelegrín<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Unidad de Recursos Forestales, Centro de Investigación y Tecnología Agroalimentaria de Aragón (CITA), Avda Montañana 930, 50059, Zaragoza, Spain; <sup>2</sup>Instituto Agroalimentario de Aragón -IA2-(CITA-Universidad de Zaragoza), Zaragoza, Spain; <sup>3</sup>Aragon Agency for Research and Development (ARAID), E-50018 Zaragoza, Spain; <sup>4</sup>Centre de Recerca Ecològica i Aplicacions Forestals (CREAF), Campus UAB, Cerdanyola del Vallés, 08193 Spain; <sup>5</sup>Institució Catalana de Recerca i Estudis Avançats (ICREA), Barcelona, 08010, Spain; <sup>6</sup>Corresponding author (jipeguero@aragon.es)

Received May 27, 2020; accepted October 8, 2020; handling Editor Roberto Tognetti

Nowadays, evergreen sclerophyllous and winter-deciduous malacophyllous oaks with different paleogeographical origins coexist under Mediterranean-type climates, such as the mixed forests of the evergreen Quercus ilex subsp. rotundifolia Lam. and the winter-deciduous Quercus faginea Lam. Both Mediterranean oaks constitute two examples of contrasting leaf habit, so it could be expected that they would have different functional strategies to cope with summer drought. In this study, we analysed photosynthetic, photochemical and hydraulic traits of different organs for Q. faginea and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia under well-watered conditions and subjected to very severe drought. The coordinated response between photosynthetic and hydraulic traits explained the higher photosynthetic capacity of Q. faginea under wellwatered conditions, which compensated its shorter leaf life span at the expense of higher water consumption. The progressive imposition of water stress evidenced that both types of Mediterranean oaks displayed different functional strategies to cope with water limitations. Specifically, the decrease in mesophyll conductance associated with edaphic drought seems to be the main factor explaining the differences found in the dynamics of net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation throughout the drought period. The sharp decline in photosynthetic traits of Q. faginea was coupled with a strong decrease in shoot hydraulic conductance in response to drought. This fact probably avoided extensive xylem embolism in the stems (i.e., 'vulnerability segmentation'), which enabled new leaf development after drought period in Q. faginea. By contrast, leaves of Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia showed effective photoprotective mechanisms and high resistance to drought-induced cavitation, which would be related with the longer leaf life span of the evergreen Mediterranean oaks. The co-occurrence of both types of Mediterranean oaks could be related to edaphic conditions that ensure the maintenance of soil water potential above critical values for Q. faginea, which can be severely affected by soil degradation and climate change.

*Keywords*: hydraulic traits, Mediterranean-type climates, mesophyll conductance, photoprotection, photosynthesis, vulnerability segmentation, water stress.

© The Author(s) 2020. Published by Oxford University Press. All rights reserved. For permissions, please e-mail: journals.permission@oup.com.

#### 372 Alonso-Forn et al.

#### Introduction

Two types of oaks (Quercus L.; Fagaceae) currently coexist in locations under genuine Mediterranean-type climates, i.e., the well-known evergreen sclerophyllous type and the sparsely accepted winter-deciduous malacophyllous type (see Gil-Pelegrín et al. 2017 and references therein). Several authors have reported such co-occurrence (Tognetti et al. 1998, Nardini et al. 1999, Montserrat-Martí et al. 2009) and considered as a peculiarity of the Mediterranean biome (Baldocchi et al. 2010). The evergreen sclerophyllous oaks have been considered keystone Mediterranean tree species that would have their origin in pre-Mediterranean lineages of the Palaeotropical geoflora (Valiente-Banuet et al. 2006, Denk et al. 2017, Jiang et al. 2019) and display morphological traits traditionally associated to Mediterranean-type climates with dry and hot summers (Traiser et al. 2005, Walter 1985). Nevertheless, most of the winter-deciduous Mediterranean oak species, in spite of having an Arcto-Tertiary origin (Grímsson et al. 2015), seem to be able to cope with the extreme summer aridity period in a similar way to their evergreen relatives (Radoglou 1996, Scarascia-Mugnozza et al. 2000), and some of them inhabit under extremely dry Mediterranean sub-types (Dufour-Dror and Ertas 2004).

The mixed forests of the evergreen sclerophyllous Quercus ilex subsp. rotundifolia Lam. and winter-deciduous Quercus faginea Lam. located in the inland areas of the Iberian Peninsula would be a good example of this situation (Forner et al. 2018a, Montserrat-Martí et al. 2009). These areas are characterized by the occurrence of two potential stress periods throughout the year, the cold winter and the dry and hot summer (Mediavilla and Escudero 2004, Montserrat-Martí et al. 2009). Leaf shedding during the autumn allows Q. faginea to evade the negative effect of low temperatures experienced by the leaves of Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia (Corcuera et al. 2005a, 2005b). However, the incidence of a dry period during summer severely affects the performance and growth of the two co-occurring species (Corcuera et al. 2004a, 2004b). In this context, it is crucial for Mediterranean tree species to develop different mechanisms and strategies to survive under situations of water deficit (Baldocchi et al. 2010, Forner et al. 2018b).

Stomatal closure under drought conditions regulates water consumption at the expense of a reduction in photosynthesis, which has been extensively reported for both types of Mediterranean oaks (Acherar and Rambal 1992, Mediavilla and Escudero 2003, 2004, Peguero-Pina et al. 2008*a*, 2009, 2018). Besides stomatal limitations, the decrease of the diffusion of CO<sub>2</sub> from the sub-stomatal cavities to the sites of carboxylation (i.e., a reduced mesophyll conductance,  $g_m$ ) is also one of the key factors limiting photosynthesis under water stress (Flexas et al. 2012, Niinemets and Keenan 2014). However, to the extent of our knowledge, only a few studies have dealt with this topic in Mediterranean oaks (Peguero-Pina et al. 2017*a* and references therein). An increase of limitations to photosynthesis in response to drought implies that light incident on the leaf surface may exceed the amount that can be used for photosynthesis. Under this situation, different mechanisms allow the protection of the photosynthetic apparatus, such as the non-photochemical quenching (NPQ) of chlorophyll fluorescence and the de-epoxidation of the xanthophyll cycle, which have been described for some evergreen and deciduous oaks in response to moderate or severe drought conditions (see García-Plazaola et al. 2017 and references therein).

Another efficient strategy to survive under water deficit is the development of xylem with a high resistance to water stressinduced embolism, as the failure of the water transport system is a primary cause of plant mortality during drought (Martin-StPaul et al. 2017, Rodriguez-Dominguez et al. 2018). This seems to be the case in both types of Mediterranean oaks, which show very negative values of water potential inducing 50% and 88% loss of hydraulic conductivity in the stems (PLC<sub>50</sub> and PLC<sub>88</sub>, respectively), as reviewed by Gil-Pelegrín et al. (2017). Thus, the combination of an early stomatal closure together with a high resistance of the stem to embolism (i.e., a wide hydraulic safety margin, Martin-StPaul et al. 2017) in Mediterranean oaks would constitute a key factor for increasing the survival under Mediterranean severe drought conditions (Vilagrosa et al. 2010).

Besides stem vulnerability, plant tolerance to drought would be constrained by the capacity of other plant organs to withstand xylem embolism (Skelton et al. 2018). This phenomenon is known as 'vulnerability segmentation' (Hochberg et al. 2017), and could create hydraulic fuses within the plant in order to confine the drought-induced cavitation to the most expendable parts of the plant (e.g., leaves) and further protect the more costly tissues (e.g., stems or roots) (Creek et al. 2018, Rodriguez-Dominguez et al. 2018). However, contrastingly to stem xylem embolism, only a few studies have dealt with the dynamic of leaf or shoot hydraulic conductance under water stress conditions in Mediterranean oaks (Nardini et al. 2012, Nardini and Tyree 1999, Peguero-Pina et al. 2015, Scoffoni et al. 2012, Skelton et al. 2018). Furthermore, leaf hydraulic conductance is also considered a key factor for net CO2 assimilation (Scoffoni et al. 2012), possibly through its covariation with stomatal and mesophyll conductance (Flexas et al. 2013, Wang et al. 2018).

In particular, regarding *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*, a considerable number of studies have dealt with its physiological performance under drought stress from different viewpoints. Thus, a drop in water potential increased the diffusive and non-diffusive limitations to net  $CO_2$  assimilation in this species (Limousin et al. 2010, Gallé et al. 2011, Zhou et al. 2014, Peguero-Pina et al. 2018), which responded through photoprotective mechanisms for dissipating the excess of light energy

Tree Physiology Volume 41, 2021

(Peguero-Pina et al. 2009, Sancho-Knapik et al. 2018). Moreover, the reported curves of stem xylem cavitation seem to indicate a high resistance to drought-induced cavitation (e.g.,  $PLC_{50}$  ca -6.5 MPa according to Peguero-Pina et al. 2014). Nevertheless, the tolerance of other tissues (i.e., leaves or shoots) of Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia to drought-induced cavitation has not been studied yet. A high resistance would be also expected, as recently found by Rodriguez-Dominguez et al. (2018) in Olea europaea, another very resilient Mediterranean evergreen tree that is able to resist high level of water stress. In contrast, concerning Q. faginea, several studies have reported an early stomatal closure in response to water scarcity, even more marked than that found for Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia (Acherar and Rambal 1992, Forner et al. 2018a, Mediavilla and Escudero 2003, 2004). However, as far as we know, no studies have dealt with the dynamic of mesophyll conductance, the role of non-stomatal limitations to photosynthesis and the existence of efficient photoprotective mechanisms when this species is subjected to severe water shortage. Regarding hydraulic traits, although Esteso-Martínez et al. (2006) reported a relatively low sensitivity of the stem xylem of seedlings of Q. faginea to drought-induced cavitation (PLC<sub>50</sub> = -3.9 MPa), there is a lack of studies about the sensitivity or leaves or shoots to drought-induced cavitation in Q. faginea.

Therefore, it could be expected that both species show different functional strategies to cope with water limitations that go beyond that they constitute two examples of contrasting leaf habit (Escudero et al. 2017). Very few comparative ecophysiological studies have analysed simultaneously the response to intense water deficit of photosynthetic, photochemical and hydraulic traits of different organs involving co-occurring Mediterranean oaks with contrasting leaf habits (Ramírez-Valiente et al. 2020). In this sense, the specific objectives of this study are: (i) to analyse the existence of a differential response to very severe drought in photosynthetic, photochemical and hydraulic traits of *Q. faginea* and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*, and (ii) to elucidate the possible existence of a coordination among these traits for both species to withstand water shortage.

#### Materials and methods

#### Plant material and experimental conditions

This study was carried out with plants of *Quercus faginea* Lam. and *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* from the same provenance ('Alcarria-Serranía de Cuenca' provenance, 40°19'N, 2°15'W, 950 m above sea level, Spain). Acorns from both species were sown and cultivated in 2009 under the same conditions with a mixture of 80% compost (Neuhaus Humin Substrat N6; Klasman-Deilmann GmbH, Geeste, Germany) and 20% perlite in 0.5 I containers inside a greenhouse. After the first growth cycle, seedlings were transplanted to 25 I containers filled with the same mixture described above and cultivated outdoors in a common garden at CITA de Aragón (41°39'N, 0°52'W, Zaragoza, Spain) under Mediterranean conditions (mean annual temperature 15.4 °C, total annual precipitation 298 mm). A slow-release fertilizer (15:9:12 nitrogen:phosphorous:potassium (N:P:K), Osmocote Plus, Sierra Chemical, Milpitas, CA, USA) was added twice a year to the top 10-cm layer of substrate (3 g l<sup>-1</sup> growth substrate). All plants were grown under the same environmental conditions, drip-irrigated to field capacity every 2 days and pruned when necessary until just before the beginning of the vegetative period of 2018.

Two weeks before the onset of the experiment, five potted plants per species (10 years old) were placed under a polyethylene roof (200 µm thickness) with open sides that allowed passing 90% of photosynthetic photon flux density (PPFD) ( ${\sim}1800~\mu mol$  photons  $m^{-2}~s^{-1}$  at midday, over the course of the experiment). We used this cover to avoid re-watering by unwanted precipitation events throughout the drought period. Irrigation was stopped on 11 July 2018 and all measurements started on 12 July 2018 under well-watered conditions in the five plants per species (thereafter 'stressed plants'). During the following days, all measurements were simultaneously performed in the same five stressed plants per species every 2-4 days with increasing levels of drought: 12, 16, 19, 23, 25, 27, 30 July and 1 August 2018 for Q. faginea; 12, 16, 20, 24, 28 July and 1 August 2018 for Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia. Drought stress was imposed until 2 August 2018, when the percentage of green leaves was almost negligible for both species (11% for Q. faginea and 12% for Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia, Figure 1). Subsequently, stressed plants were irrigated again to field capacity after the last measurement under drought conditions.

Plants of *Q. faginea* burst buds again at the end of the summer; we took advantage of this event to examine the hydraulic capacity of the new stems (hereafter 'second growth') and those that experienced the drought period (hereafter 'first growth') in the stressed plants. For comparative purposes, we also measured the hydraulic capacity of the first and second growth in another set of five plants of *Q. faginea* that were grown under the same environmental conditions than stressed plants although drip-irrigated to field capacity every 2 days throughout the summer (hereafter 'control plants').

#### Water potential measurements

Leaf water potential was measured at predawn and midday ( $\Psi_{\text{PD}}$  and  $\Psi_{\text{MD}}$ , respectively, MPa) throughout the drought period in one shoot of each one of the five studied stressed plants per species (with leaves still attached to the shoots) with a Scholander pressure chamber, according to the methodology described by Turner (1988).



Figure 1. Time course of the percentage of green, yellow and brown leaves with predawn water potential ( $\Psi_{PD}$ ) for Q faginea (A) and Q. *ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* (B) during the drought period. Data are mean  $\pm$  standard error (SE) of each date when stressed plants were measured (see Materials and methods for details). Asterisks indicate the point of the drought period when the decrease of the percentage of green leaves was statistically significant (pairwise *t*-test, P < 0.05) compared with well-watered conditions (first point of the graph).

### Percentage of leaf damage using visual scoring and spectral reflectance

Percentage of green, yellow and brown leaves was estimated by means of visual scoring (VS) throughout the drought period for each one of the five studied stressed plants per species. To test that colour changes were associated to changes in leaf chlorophyll concentration, we made spectral reflectance measurements between 9 and 10 h (solar time) in one green, yellow and brown fully developed current-year attached leaf for each one of the five studied stressed plants per species throughout the drought period. To do this, we used a visible/near-infrared spectroradiometer USB-2000 (Ocean Optics, Dunedin, FL, USA) connected into one end of a bifurcated fibre optic cable, which were also connected into the other end to a tungsten halogen light source LS-1-LL (Ocean Optics). Leaf reflectance was calculated by dividing leaf spectral radiance by the radiance of a white standard (Spectralon, Labsphere, North Sutton, NH, USA). Integration time was 200 ms. The normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) was used for the estimation of changes in leaf chlorophyll concentration and calculated as ( $R_{750} - R_{705}$ )/( $R_{750} + R_{705}$ ), where  $R_{750}$  and  $R_{705}$  represent, respectively, the reflectance at 750 and 705 nm (Richardson and Berlyn 2002).

#### Leaf gas exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements

Chlorophyll (Chl) fluorescence parameters were measured firstly at predawn on fully developed current-year attached leaves and cortical bark chlorenchyma of each one of the five studied stressed plants of Q. faginea and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia. Measurements were performed with a FMS II modulated fluorometer (Hansatech Instruments, Norfolk, UK) on one green, yellow and brown leaf per studied stressed plant, and the weighted mean was calculated for each plant according to the percentage of each leaf type (Figure 1). Initial Chl fluorescence in the darkadapted state ( $F_0$ ) was measured only with the modulated light (0.6 kHz, PPFD <0.4  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>), which avoids electron transport through photosystem II (PSII). Maximal Chl fluorescence in the dark-adapted state  $(F_{\rm M})$  was measured by closing reaction centres with a 0.8-s pulse of 6000  $\mu mol~m^{-2}~s^{-1}$  of white light (20 kHz). Fo was measured in presence of farred light that fully oxidizes the PSII acceptor side (Belkhodja et al. 1998). The dark-adapted, maximum quantum efficiency of PSII was calculated as  $F_V/F_M$  (Abadía et al. 1999), being  $F_{\rm V} = F_{\rm M} - F_{\rm O}$ , both for leaves and cortical bark chlorenchyma (Peguero-Pina et al. 2008b).

Afterwards, simultaneous gas-exchange and chlorophyll fluorescence measurements were carried out in the same leaves between 9 and 10 h (solar time) with the portable photosystem CIRAS-2 (PP-Systems, Amesbury, MA, USA) fitted with an automatic universal leaf cuvette (PLC6-U, PP-Systems) and the FMS Il portable fluorometer mentioned above. All measurements were conducted under controlled conditions for CO2 concentration surrounding the leaf ( $C_a = 400 \ \mu mol \ mol^{-1}$ ), leaf temperature (25 °C), vapour pressure deficit (1.25 kPa) and saturating PPFD (1500  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>). After steady-state in terms of gas exchange was reached (typically  $\sim$ 10 min after leaf clamping), net photosynthesis (A<sub>N</sub>, µmol CO<sub>2</sub> m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>), stomatal conductance ( $g_s$ , mmol H<sub>2</sub>O m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>) and Chl fluorescence at steadystate photosynthesis  $(F_S)$  were recorded. The maximum Chl fluorescence in the light-adapted state  $(F'_{M})$  was subsequently determined with a 0.8-s pulse of 6000  $\mu$ mol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> of white light. Finally, the minimum Chl fluorescence in the light-adapted state ( $F'_0$ ) was determined after switching off the actinic light and in presence of far-red light (7 µmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup>).

The actual ( $\Phi_{PSII}$ ) and intrinsic ( $\Phi_{exc}$ ) PSII efficiency were calculated according to Genty et al. (1989) as  $(F'_{\rm M}-F_{\rm S})/F'_{\rm M}$  and  $(F'_{\rm M}-F'_{\rm O})/F'_{\rm M}$ , respectively. NPQ was calculated as  $(F_{\rm M}/F'_{\rm M})-1$  (Bilger and Björkman 1990). The fraction of light absorbed that is dissipated in the PSII antenna ( $1-\Phi_{exc}$ ) was also estimated (Morales et al. 1998). Photosynthetic electron transport rate ( $I_{\rm F}$ ) was determined according to Krall and Edwards (1992). The measured fluxes were corrected by quantifying the leakage of CO<sub>2</sub> in and out of the cuvette with a photosynthetically inactive leaf obtained by heating (Flexas et al. 2007*a*).

Mesophyll conductance ( $g_m$ ) and maximum velocity of carboxylation ( $V_{cmax}$ ) were estimated according to the variable J method of Harley et al. (1992) (Eq. 1) and the one-point method of De Kauwe et al. (2016) (Eq. 2), respectively, as follows:

$$g_{\rm m} = \frac{A_{\rm N}}{C_{\rm I} - \frac{\Gamma^*(J_{\rm F} + 8(A_{\rm N} + R_{\rm L}))}{J_{\rm F} - 4(A_{\rm N} + R_{\rm L})}} \tag{1}$$

$$V_{c\,\text{max}} = \frac{A_{\rm N}}{\left(\frac{C_{\rm i} - \Gamma^*}{C_{\rm i} + \mathcal{K}_{\rm m}}\right) - 0.015},\tag{2}$$

where  $A_{\rm N}$  and the substomatal CO<sub>2</sub> concentration ( $C_{\rm I}$ ) were taken from the gas-exchange measurements at saturating light. The chloroplastic CO<sub>2</sub> compensation point in the absence of mitochondrial respiration ( $\Gamma^*$ ) and the respiration rate in the light ( $R_{\rm L}$ ) were estimated as described in Flexas et al. (2007b), whereas  $K_{\rm m}$  (the Michaelis–Menten constant) was estimated as described in De Kauwe et al. (2016).

The relative controls on  $A_{\rm N}$  were separated into their functional components according to the proposal by Jones (1985) as implemented and comprehensively described by Grassi and Magnani (2005). This methodology allows comparing relative changes in limitations to net CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation into different components related to  $g_{\rm S}$  (stomatal limitations,  $l_{\rm S}$ ),  $g_{\rm m}$  (mesophyll limitations,  $l_{\rm m}$ ) and leaf biochemistry (biochemical limitations,  $l_{\rm b}$ ).  $l_{\rm s}$ ,  $l_{\rm m}$  and  $l_{\rm b}$ , with value between zero and one ( $l_{\rm s} + l_{\rm m} + l_{\rm b} = 1$ ), were calculated as:

$$I_{\rm s} = \frac{g_{\rm tot}/g_{\rm s} \bullet \delta A_{\rm N}/\delta C_{\rm c}}{g_{\rm tot} + \delta A_{\rm N}/\delta C_{\rm c}},\tag{3}$$

$$l_{\rm m} = \frac{g_{\rm tot}/g_{\rm m} \bullet \delta A_{\rm N}/\delta C_{\rm c}}{q_{\rm tot} + \delta A_{\rm N}/\delta C_{\rm c}},\tag{4}$$

$$l_{\rm b} = \frac{g_{\rm tot}}{g_{\rm tot} + \delta A_{\rm N} / \delta C_{\rm c}},\tag{5}$$

where  $g_s$  is the stomatal conductance to CO<sub>2</sub>,  $g_m$  is the mesophyll conductance according to Harley et al. (1992) (Eq. 1), and  $g_{tot}$  is the total conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> from leaf surface to carboxylation sites in the chloroplasts ( $1/g_{tot} = 1/g_s + 1/g_m$ ).

The values of  $g_{\rm m}$  obtained were used to calculate the chloroplastic CO<sub>2</sub> concentration ( $C_{\rm c}$ ) using the equation  $C_{\rm c} = C_{\rm I} - A_{\rm N}/g_{\rm m}$ .  $\delta A_{\rm N}/\delta C_{\rm c}$  was calculated for *Q. faginea* and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* as the slope of the relationship between  $C_{\rm c}$  and  $A_{\rm N}$  obtained for each species, considering a  $C_{\rm c}$  range of 50–100 µmol mol<sup>-1</sup> (Peguero-Pina et al. 2017b).

#### Native xylem embolism

Native xylem embolism was determined throughout the drought period in current-year twigs of Q. faginea and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia collected from branches of each one of the five studied stressed plants per species where  $\Psi_{\text{MD}}$  had previously been measured. We used the same experimental procedure that is described in Peguero-Pina et al. (2018). Twigs were cut under water in the experimental field and immediately transported to the laboratory while maintaining them under water and covered with a plastic bag. Once there, stem segments of the twigs were recut under water (50 mm long), and both ends were shaved with a razor blade. Segments were placed in a tubing immersed in distilled water to avoid desiccation and to maintain a near constant temperature, and connected to a digital mass flowmeter Ligui-Flow (Bronkhorst High-Tech, Ruurlo, The Netherlands). We perfused distilled, degassed and filtered (0.22 µm) water containing 0.005% (volume/volume) Micropur (Katadyn Products, Wallisellen, Switzerland) to prevent microbial growth. The hydraulic conductivity ( $K_{stem}$ , kg m  $s^{-1}$  MPa<sup>-1</sup>) was measured at a pressure of 0.005 MPa and after removing air embolisms at a pressure of 0.15 MPa for 60-90 s. Native embolism was calculated as the ratio between  $K_{\text{stem}}$  values obtained before and after removing embolism.

#### Shoot hydraulic conductance (Kshoot)

Shoot hydraulic conductance ( $K_{\text{shoot}}$ , mmol m<sup>-2</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup>) was measured for Q. faginea and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia throughout the drought period following the methodology detailed in Brodribb et al. (2005). One sun-exposed branch of each one of the five studied stressed plants per species was sampled at 07:00-08:00 h (solar time), minimizing the possibility for midday reduction in leaf hydraulic conductance ( $K_{\text{leaf}}$ ) (Brodribb and Holbrook 2004). Branches were enclosed in sealed plastic bags to impede water loss, and stored in complete darkness during at least 1 h to achieve complete stomatal closure. This procedure ensures that all leaves from the same branch reached the same water potential, which is assumed to be that of the leaves before rehydration ( $\Psi_0$ ). Afterwards, one shoot per branch was cut under water to avoid air entry and allowed to take up water for 30 to 60 s (t). The water potential after rehydration was subsequently measured ( $\Psi_{\rm f}$ ). The leaf hydraulic conductance was calculated as:

$$K_{\text{shoot}} = \frac{C \bullet \ln\left(\frac{\psi_0}{\psi_f}\right)}{t},\tag{6}$$

where *C* (mol MPa<sup>-1</sup> m<sup>-2</sup>) is the shoot capacitance for each species, calculated as the initial slope of the pressure-volume relationships, normalized by the leaf area (Brodribb et al. 2005). pressure-volume relationships for *Q. faginea* and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* were determined in six leaves per species following the free-transpiration method (Vilagrosa et al. 2003).

### Nitrogen, phosphorus and potassium concentration in green, yellow and brown leaves

The macro-nutrients N, P and K were selected to document nutrient resorption prior to abscission in response to leaf damage for *Q faginea* and *Q ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. Nitrogen P and K concentration were analysed for each one of the studied stressed plants in (i) green leaves at the beginning of the experiment, and (ii) green, yellow and brown leaves at the end of the drought period. N was quantified using an Organic Elemental Analyzer (Flash EA 112, Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA). Phosphorus and K were quantified using an inductively coupled plasma optical emission spectrometer (Varian 725 ES, Varian Inc., Palo Alto, CA, USA).

## Stem hydraulic conductivity in Q. faginea after the drought period

As explained above, we examined the hydraulic capacity of the new stems ('second growth') and the possible hydraulic recovery of the stems that experienced the drought period ('first growth') in the five stressed plants of Q. faginea. Moreover, for comparative purposes, we also measured the hydraulic capacity of the first and second growth in another set of five control plants of Q. faginea that were well irrigated throughout the summer. To do this,  $K_{\text{stem}}$  was determined 2 months after the end of experiment (1-2 October 2018) in one stem segment of each one of the five control and the five stressed plants of Q faginea before and after removing air embolisms, and native embolism was then calculated as described above and expressed as percentage loss of conductivity (PLC, %). Leafspecific conductivity (LSC, kg m<sup>-1</sup> s<sup>-1</sup> MPa<sup>-1</sup>) was calculated as the ratio between  $K_{\text{stem}}$  before removing air embolism and total leaf surface area supplied. Leaf area was measured by digitalizing the leaves and using the Imagel image analysis software (http://rsb.info.nih.gov/nih-image/).

#### Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as means  $\pm$  standard error of the mean. Student's *t*-tests were used to determine the point during the drought period when the change for each measured parameter was statistically significant compared with well-watered conditions. PLC<sub>50</sub> values were calculated for stems and shoots by adjusting pairs of data ( $\Psi_{MD}$  vs. percentage of maximum  $K_{stem}$ and  $\Psi_{MD}$  vs percentage of maximum  $K_{shoot}$ , respectively) by using a sigmoidal function according to Pammenter and Van der Willigen (1998). One-way analyses of variance were performed to identify the effect of the type of leaf (green, yellow and brown) on NDVI and nutrient composition for stressed plants of both species. Multiple comparisons were carried out among types of leaf for NDVI and nutrient composition using post hoc Tukey's Honest Significant Difference test. Student's *t*-tests were used to compare the values of  $K_{\text{stem}}$ , PLC, LSC and total leaf area between control and stressed plants both for the first and the second growth of *Q. faginea* 2 months after the drought period. All statistical analyses were performed in the R software environment (version 4.0.0, R Development Core Team, 2018).

#### Results

We found a differential response to changes in water potential between Q. faginea and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia in terms of leaf damage (Figure 1). Thus, Q. faginea showed a gradual decrease in the percentage of green leaves for a  $\Psi_{PD}$  range between ca -2 MPa and -4 MPa, as the percentage of yellow and brown leaves gradually increased (Figure 1A). The percentage of green leaves experienced a drastic reduction (15%) when  $\Psi_{\text{PD}}$  was below -4.5 MPa in comparison with the values under well-watered conditions (100%) and the percentage of brown leaves showed its maximum value (64%) at the end of the drought period ( $\Psi_{PD} = -5.6$  MPa) (Figure 1A). By contrast, Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia maintained all the leaves green at this stage ( $\Psi_{PD} = -5.2$  MPa), and only experienced a sharp increase in the percentage of brown leaves (88%) at the end of the drought period ( $\Psi_{PD} = -8$  MPa) (Figure 1B). It should be noted that Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia never showed yellow leaves throughout the drought period (Figure 1B).

Leaf damage in *Q* faginea was subsequently followed by a decrease in  $F_V/F_M$  in yellow and, especially, brown leaves with respect to green leaves (Figure 2A). Thus, at the end of the drought period, when the percentage of green leaves was almost negligible,  $F_V/F_M$  in yellow and brown leaves were ~0.5 and 0.1, respectively (Figure 2A). Nonetheless,  $F_V/F_M$ in stems of *Q*. faginea remained high throughout the drought period (Figure 2B). By contrast, *Q*. ilex subsp. rotundifolia did not show this pattern, as  $F_V/F_M$  showed a decrease in green leaves and, albeit delayed, also in stems, reaching very low values at the end of the drought period (~0.2 and 0.3, respectively) (Figure 2C and D).

The values of the NDVI of green leaves were much higher than those measured for yellow or brown leaves for drought stressed plants of both species (P < 0.05, Figure S1 available as Supplementary Data at *Tree Physiology* Online), suggesting that leaf discoloration was associated to a decrease in chlorophyll concentration. The NDVI did not show statistically significant differences (P > 0.05) throughout the drought period within each leaf type (i.e., green, yellow or brown) for drought stressed plants of either *Q. faginea* or *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* (data not shown). The drop in NDVI associated to changes in



Figure 2. Time course of the maximum potential PSII efficiency ( $F_V/F_M$ ) with predawn water potential ( $\Psi_{PD}$ ) for *Q. faginea* and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* leaves (A and C, respectively) and stems (B and D, respectively) during the drought period. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE of each date when stressed plants were measured (see Materials and methods for details). Asterisks indicate the point of the drought period when the decrease was statistically significant (pairwise *t*-test, P < 0.05) compared with well-watered conditions (first point of the graph).

leaf colour was accompanied in *Q. faginea* by a decrease in N, P and K concentrations, especially for brown leaves (Figure S2 available as Supplementary Data at *Tree Physiology* Online). In contrast, *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* did not experience changes in N/P/K content between green and brown leaves (Figure S2 available as Supplementary Data at *Tree Physiology* Online). No differences in N/P/K concentrations were found between green leaves under well-watered conditions at the beginning of the drought period (Gr\_i) and the leaves that remained green at the end of the drought period (Gr\_f) for stressed plants of *Q. faginea* and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* (Figure S2 available as Supplementary Data at *Tree Physiology* Online).

The values of net photosynthesis and stomatal conductance  $(A_N \text{ and } g_s)$  for *Q. faginea* were 1.4- and 1.6-fold higher, respectively, than those recorded for *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* at the beginning of the experiment (i.e., when  $\Psi_{PD}$  was about -0.2 MPa) (Figure 3A and B). The intrinsic water-use efficiency (iWUE =  $A_N/g_s$ ) did not show statistically significant differences (P > 0.05) between for both species at this stage (Figure 3C).

Both  $A_N$  and  $g_s$  decreased in Q. faginea and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia when  $\Psi_{PD}$  became more negative, reaching negative values for  $A_{\rm N}$  and almost negligible values for  $g_{\rm s}$  at the end of the drought period (Figure 3). The main difference in the response to changes in water potential between the two species was found when water stress was moderate (i.e., when  $\Psi_{PD}$ ranged between ca -1 and -2 MPa). At this stage, Q. faginea experienced a sharp decrease in  $A_N$  (Figure 3B), even higher than that found for  $q_s$  (Figure 3A), with a concomitant reduction in iWUE when  $\Psi_{PD}$  reached -1.5 MPa (Figure 3C). By contrast, Q. ilex subsp rotundifolia showed a more gradual decrease in  $A_{\rm N}$  and  $g_{\rm s}$ , displaying higher values that Q. faginea at this stage (Figure 3A and B). Moreover, the drops in  $A_N$  and  $g_s$  in Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia when  $\Psi_{PD}$  became more negative were coordinated, such that iWUE remained fairly constant for this species throughout the drought period (Figure 3C). This pattern was also observed for mesophyll conductance  $(q_m)$ and maximum velocity of carboxylation ( $V_{cmax}$ ), with higher values for Q. faginea at the beginning of the experiment but

#### 378 Alonso-Forn et al.

a sharp decrease than *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* throughout the drought period (Figure 4). The analysis of the partitioning of photosynthetic limitations revealed that  $A_N$  was mainly limited by mesophyll conductance ( $l_m$ ) for *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*, with a gradual increase throughout the drought period (Figure 5B). Stomatal ( $l_s$ ) and biochemical ( $l_b$ ) limitations for this species slightly decreased and remained fairly constant, respectively, during the drought period (Figure 5A and C). Regarding *Q. faginea*,  $A_N$  was mainly limited by  $l_m$  and  $l_b$  at the beginning of the experiment (Figure 5). However, when  $\Psi_{PD}$  became more negative,  $l_b$  strongly decreased at the expense of a sharp increase in  $l_m$ , whereas  $l_s$  only experienced a slight reduction (Figure 5).

The rest of parameters derived from Chl fluorescence measurements also showed outstanding differences between the two species. The actual PSII efficiency ( $\Phi_{PSII}$ ) was much higher in Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia than in Q. faginea at the beginning of the drought period (i.e., when  $\Psi_{\text{PD}}$  was about -0.2 MPa) (Figure 6A). However, contrary to Q. faginea,  $\Phi_{PSII}$ in Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia experienced a strong decrease when  $\Psi_{PD}$  diminished, showing lower values than Q. faginea even when stress was moderate (i.e., when  $\Psi_{\text{PD}}$  was ca -1 MPa) (Figure 6A). The fraction of light absorbed that is dissipated in the PSII antenna (1  $- \Phi_{exc}$ ) and NPQ were much lower for Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia at the beginning of the drought period, while both parameters experienced a sharp increase in this species when water stress was moderate (Figure 6B and C). By contrast, the increase in  $\Phi_{exc}$  and NPQ throughout the drought period was more gradual in Q. faginea (Figure 6B and C).

The increasing levels of maximum daily drought stress (estimated through the measurement of  $\Psi_{MD}$ ) induced a progressive loss of hydraulic conductivity in *Q. faginea* and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*, both in shoots ( $K_{shoot}$ ) and stems ( $K_{stem}$ ) (Figure 7). Regarding  $K_{stem}$ , *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* reached values of native xylem embolism ~50% at water potential values similar than *Q. faginea* (ca -5.9 and -5.5 MPa, respectively, Figure 7B). By contrast, the water potential inducing the 50% loss of hydraulic conductivity in the shoots occurred at water potential values much more negative in *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* than in *Q. faginea* (ca -6.8 and - 4.9 MPa, respectively, Figure 7A).

Two months after the end of the experiment, the values of the PLC in the stems that were subjected to the drought period (first growth) of stressed plants of *Q. faginea* were much higher than that for the first growth of control plants (Figure 8B), which implied a strong reduction in  $K_{\text{stem}}$  (Figure 8A). PLC in the second growth was almost negligible for both control and stressed plants (Figure 8B). In spite of this,  $K_{\text{stem}}$  in the second growth of stressed plants was much lower than that for control plants (Figure 8A), which can be explained by the strong decrease in the conductive xylem area (data not shown).



Figure 3. Time course of (A) net photosynthesis ( $A_N$ ), (B) stomatal conductance ( $g_s$ ) and (C) iWUE with predawn water potential ( $\Psi_{PD}$ ) for Q. faginea (white symbols) and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia (grey symbols) leaves during the drought period. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE of each date when stressed plants were measured (see Materials and methods for details). Measurements were performed on green, yellow and brown leaves when present, and the weighted mean was calculated for each plant according to the percentage of each leaf type (Figure 1). Data were adjusted for a better visualization and interpretation of the results. Asterisks indicate the point of the drought period when the decrease was statistically significant (pairwise *t*-test, P < 0.05) compared with well-watered conditions (first point of the graph). Triangles represent unreliable iWUE values due to the combination of negative  $A_N$  and extremely low  $g_s$  at the end of the drought period.



Figure 4. Time course of (A) mesophyll conductance ( $g_m$ ) and (B) maximum velocity of carboxylation ( $V_{cmax}$ ) with predawn water potential ( $\Psi_{PD}$ ) for *Q. faginea* (white symbols) and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* (grey symbols) leaves during the drought period. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE of each date when stressed plants were measured (see Materials and methods for details). Measurements were performed on green, yellow and brown leaves when present, and the weighted mean was calculated for each plant according to the percentage of each leaf type (Figure 1). Data were adjusted for a better visualization and interpretation of the results. Asterisks indicate the point of the drought period when the decrease was statistically significant (pairwise *t*-test, *P* < 0.05) compared with well-watered conditions (first point of the graph).

LSC did not show differences (P > 0.05) between control and stressed plants for the first growth (Figure 8C) due to the strong reduction in supported leaf area experienced by stressed plants (Figure 8D), which compensated the differences in  $K_{\text{stem}}$  (Figure 8A). The differences in LSC between control and stressed plant for the second growth (Figure 8C) reflected the differences in  $K_{\text{stem}}$  (Figure 8A), as supported leaf area did not show differences (P > 0.05) between both types of plants for the second growth (Figure 8D).

#### Responses to drought in two Mediterranean oaks 379



Figure 5. Time course of relative (A) stomatal ( $l_s$ ), (B) mesophyll ( $l_m$ ) and (C) biochemical ( $l_b$ ) photosynthesis limitations with predawn water potential ( $\Psi_{PD}$ ) for *Q. faginea* (white symbols) and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* (grey symbols) leaves during the drought period. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE of each date when stressed plants were measured (see Materials and methods for details). Measurements were performed on green, yellow and brown leaves when present, and the weighted mean was calculated for each plant according to the percentage of each leaf type (Figure 1). Asterisks indicate the point of the drought period when the change was statistically significant (pairwise t-test, P < 0.05) compared with well-watered conditions (first point of the graph).



Figure 6. Time course of (A) actual PSII efficiency ( $\Phi_{PSII}$ ), (B) the fraction of light absorbed that is dissipated in the PSII antenna ( $1 - \Phi_{exc}$ ) and (C) NPQ with predawn water potential ( $\Psi_{PD}$ ) for *Q. faginea* (white symbols) and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* (grey symbols) leaves during the drought period. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE of each date when stressed plants were measured (see Materials and methods for details). Measurements were performed on green, yellow and brown leaves when present, and the weighted mean was calculated for each plant according to the percentage of each leaf type (Figure 1). Data were adjusted for a better visualization and interpretation of the results. Asterisks indicate the point of the drought period when the change was statistically significant (pairwise *t*-test, *P* < 0.05) compared with well-watered conditions (first point of the graph).



Figure 7. Relationship between midday water potential ( $\Psi_{MD}$ ) and the percentage of (A) shoot hydraulic conductance ( $K_{shoot}$ ) and (B) stem hydraulic conductivity ( $K_{stem}$ ) for *Q. faginea* (white symbols) and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* (grey symbols) leaves during the drought period. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE of each date when stressed plants were measured (see Materials and methods for details). Asterisks indicate the point of the drought period when the decrease was statistically significant (pairwise t-test, P < 0.05) compared with well-watered conditions (first point of the graph). Vertical dashed lines indicate the water potential inducing 50% loss of hydraulic conductivity (PLC<sub>50</sub>) in shoots and stems.

#### Discussion

### Segregation between Q. faginea and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia in the absence of water stress

This study has evidenced that *Q. faginea* displayed higher values of  $A_N$ ,  $g_s$  and  $g_m$  than *Q. ilex* subsp. rotundifolia under wellwatered conditions at the beginning of the experiment (first point of the graphs in Figures 3 and 4), with similar values than those previously reported for *Q. faginea* (Peguero-Pina et al. 2016) and for *Q. ilex* subsp. rotundifolia (Peguero-Pina



Figure 8. (A) Stem hydraulic conductivity ( $K_{stem}$ ), (B) PLC, (C) LSC and (D) supported leaf area for the first and the second growth in control (white bars) and stressed (grey bars) plants of *Q. faginea* 2 months after the end of the drought period. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE. Asterisks indicate statistically significant differences between control and stressed plants (P < 0.05).

et al. 2017b, 2018). Regarding this, some comparative studies already stated the lower  $g_s$  and  $A_N$  in Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia when compared with Q. faginea in the absence of water stress (Forner et al. 2018a, Juárez-López et al. 2008, Mediavilla and Escudero 2003, 2004). Our results also show that, under wellwatered conditions at the beginning of the experiment,  $K_{shoot}$ was much higher for Q. faginea than for Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia  $(45.4 \pm 3.9 \text{ and } 27.2 \pm 1.4 \text{ mmol m}^{-2} \text{ s}^{-1} \text{ MPa}^{-1}, \text{ respectively})$ (data not shown). Taken together, these facts reflect the existence of a coordinated response between gas exchange and leaf hydraulic when these species are compared under wellwatered conditions, as the evergreen Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia showed a similar percentage of decrease for these parameters with respect to the winter-deciduous Q. faginea (i.e., 34%, 39%, 45% and 40% for  $A_{\rm N}, g_{\rm s}, g_{\rm m}$  and  $K_{\rm shoot}$ , respectively). Previous studies have established that the link between photosynthesis and leaf hydraulic arises from  $q_s$  (Brodribb et al. 2007, Scoffoni et al. 2016), as water loss and CO<sub>2</sub> uptake share a common pathway through stomata (Boyer 2015). Moreover, several

studies have also pointed out the existence of a coordination of  $g_m$  and leaf hydraulic (Flexas et al. 2013, Lu et al. 2019, Xiong et al. 2017, 2018), as recently reviewed by Xiong and Nadal (2020). These authors suggested that water movement in mesophyll tissues also share a common pathway with CO<sub>2</sub> transport through the gas phase that would connect  $g_m$  and the outside-xylem component of leaf hydraulic conductance ( $K_{ox}$ ). Overall, this coordination would explain the increased ability for carbon assimilation found in *Q. faginea* when compared with *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* in the absence of water stress, albeit at the expense of a higher water consumption under the atmospheric evaporative demand experienced by this species during summer (Pequero-Pina et al. 2016).

## The progressive imposition of water stress induced a differential physiological response between Q. faginea and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia

We confirmed that winter-deciduous Mediterranean oaks such as *Q. faginea* showed a higher stomatal sensitivity to soil water

deficit than evergreen Mediterranean oaks such as *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* (Figure 3B), as previously reported by Acherar and Rambal (1992) and Mediavilla and Escudero (2003). This phenomenon minimized water losses in *Q. faginea* at the expense of an extreme reduction in  $A_N$ , and may explain the slightly higher rates of  $A_N$  in *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* at low water potentials (Figure 3) (Forner et al. 2018a). However, unlike previous studies, this is the first comparative research between two species representing the two types of Mediterranean oaks dealing with the role of non-stomatal factors constraining photosynthetic activity under drought conditions.

According to our results, the differential response of  $g_{\rm m}$  to edaphic drought seems to be the main factor explaining the differences found between Q. faginea and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia in the dynamics of net CO $_2$  assimilation when  $\Psi_{\text{PD}}$  became more negative (Figure 4). Thus, we have demonstrated for the first time the important role of  $q_{\rm m}$  in determining the photosynthetic response of Q. faginea to water stress, with increasing relative importance under progressive drought (Figure 5). Specifically, when water stress was moderate, the decrease in  $q_{\rm m}$  in Q. faginea ( $\sim$ 95%) were more pronounced than those estimated for Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia (~51%) (Figure 4), which could explain the additional decrease in  $A_N$  (~96%) with respect to  $g_{s}$  (~80%) experienced by Q. faginea (Figure 3). Similar observations were obtained in other winter-deciduous oaks, such as Quercus pubescens (Zhou et al. 2014), Quercus robur (Grassi and Magnani 2005) and Quercus petraea (Cano et al. 2013). The underlying mechanisms to the response of  $q_{\rm m}$  to drought are yet to be elucidated, but they may be associated to changes in aquaporin conductance and/or carbonic anhydrase expression (Cano et al. 2013). In parallel to  $g_{\rm m}$ , we also observed a sharp decrease in V<sub>cmax</sub> for Q. faginea under progressive water deficit, which strongly limited the fixation of CO2 into sugars (Figure 5). By contrast, Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia, regardless of the predominant role of mesophyll limitations throughout the drought period (Figure 5), showed a higher degree of coregulation in the response of  $A_{\rm N}, g_{\rm s}, g_{\rm m}$  and  $V_{\rm cmax}$  to progressive drought, which allowed this species to maintain fairly constant values of iWUE throughout the drought period (Figures 3 and 4).

Besides photosynthetic traits, the ability of plants to supply water to transpiring leaves can be strongly limited under drought conditions, as it happens to both species here studied (Figure 7). In spite of this common trend, *Q. faginea* experienced an early decrease of  $K_{\text{shoot}}$  in response to drought, with a PLC<sub>50</sub> value less negative than that estimated for *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* (ca -4.9 and -6.8 MPa, respectively, Figure 7A). This differential response in leaf hydraulic resembled the one observed in photosynthetic traits. Recently, Xiong and Nadal (2020) stated that only a few studies have examined the coordination of photosynthetic and leaf hydraulic traits upon water stress, especially considering  $g_{\rm m}$ . Thus, Wang et al. (2018) proposed that the drought-induced decrease in leaf hydraulic conductance could act as a potential trigger for declines in  $g_s$  and  $g_m$  in *Oryza sativa*. In contrast, Theroux-Rancourt et al. (2014) reported a delayed response of  $g_m$  with respect to  $g_s$  and leaf hydraulic conductance in poplar clones exposed to soil drying. Therefore, the interdependence between photosynthetic and hydraulic traits could be species-dependant (Xiong and Nadal 2020). In our case, we observed an early response in  $g_s$  and  $g_m$  with respect to  $K_{shoot}$  for both species, but especially pronounced in *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. This situation agrees with the hypothesis of stomata as a safety valve to prevent hydraulic failure under moderate drought conditions (Flexas et al. 2018, Hochberg et al. 2017).

In contrast to  $K_{\text{shoot}}$ , both species showed a similar evolution of  $K_{\text{stem}}$  with increasing levels of drought stress (Figure 7). In other words, PLC<sub>50</sub> in shoots was lower than in stems of Q. faginea (ca -4.9 and -5.5 MPa, respectively), which is consistent with the 'vulnerability segmentation' hypothesis (Hochberg et al. 2017). Skelton et al. (2018) also found that leaves were more vulnerable than stems in Q. douglasii, a winter-deciduous Mediterranean oak that experiences leaf shedding under severe drought associated with leaf embolism and avoidance of extensive xylem embolism (i.e., 'vulnerability segmentation'). In our study, a similar behaviour was described for Q faginea, as the percentage of green leaves experienced a drastic reduction when  $\Psi_{PD}$  was ca. -4.5 MPa (Figure 1A), as reported by Hinckley et al. (1983) for the winter-deciduous Mediterranean oak Q. pubescens. This  $\Psi_{PD}$  value corresponded to a  $\Psi_{MD}$  value ca -5.7 MPa during the drought period (data not shown), which would imply a reduction of  $K_{\text{shoot}}$  <20% of its initial value (Figure 7A) while  $K_{\rm stem}$  was reduced only to  $\sim$ 50% of the initial value (Figure 7B). Peguero-Pina et al. (2015) suggested that 'vulnerability segmentation' in the winter-deciduous Mediterranean Quercus subpyrenaica explained the premature leaf withering during intense summer drought as a way to reduce water losses by transpiration, ensuring bud survival and subsequent new leaf development. This last phenomenon was observed in Q faginea several weeks after the end of the drought period, probably because the embolism threshold for irreversible drought damage (88% loss of stem conductivity, Urli et al. 2013) was not reached (Figure 7B), as also indicated the lack of  $F_V/F_M$  decrease in the stems of this species (Figure 2B). The new bud bursting in previously stressed plants of Q. faginea was not associated to xylem refilling in the stems that experienced water stress (i.e., first growth), but to the formation of new xylem without embolism (i.e., second growth) after drought period (Figure 8B). In line with this, Creek et al. (2018) also found that three arid zone Australian species with 'vulnerability segmentation' did not refill xylem embolisms, and hydraulic recovery was dependent on new plant growth after drought. However, the hydraulic capacity of the second growth of Q. faginea was much lower than that for control plants

Tree Physiology Volume 41, 2021

#### Responses to drought in two Mediterranean oaks 383

(Figure 2A) for an equivalent supported leaf area (Figure 2D), which implied a strong reduction of LSC in the new xylem of previously stressed plants (Figure 2C). Another negative consequence of premature withering in *Q. faginea* could be a decrease in nutrient-use efficiency (Montserrat-Martí et al. 2009), as resorption of N, P and K was only partial in yellow and brown leaves (Figure S2 available as Supplementary Data at *Tree Physiology* Online).

By contrast, PLC<sub>50</sub> in shoots of Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia was even higher than in stems (ca -6.8 and -5.9 MPa, respectively). Indeed, Skelton et al. (2018) did not find evidences of 'vulnerability segmentation' for the evergreen Mediterranean oaks of California, and even Quercus sadleriana showed the opposite trend, in line with the results here obtained for Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia. In this way, Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia maintained all the leaves green throughout almost all the drought period (Figure 1B), which pointed out the high resistance of their leaves to drought-induced cavitation. Peguero-Pina et al. (2015) suggested that this strategy could be related with the longer leaf life span of the evergreen species and the ability of Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia for maintaining its photosynthetic capacity for more than one vegetative period (Corcuera et al. 2005a). Therefore, this species ensures the keeping of foliage by avoiding irreversible damage even under intense drought conditions (i.e., when  $\Psi_{\text{PD}}$  was ca -5 MPa).

To do this, besides leaf hydraulic resistance, Mediterranean evergreen oaks have developed a great capacity for protecting the photosynthetic apparatus through the thermal dissipation of the excess of energy in response to water scarcity (García-Plazaola et al. 2017, Peguero-Pina et al. 2009, Sancho-Knapik et al. 2018). Thus, we have shown that Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia showed an early strong decrease in  $\Phi_{PSII}$  in response to drought (Figure 6A), downregulating the photosynthetic electron transport when CO<sub>2</sub> assimilation is severely limited. Furthermore, this species also showed a sharp increase in the fraction of light absorbed that is dissipated in the PSII antenna  $(1 - \Phi_{exc})$  and in the NPQ in response to drought (Figure 6B and C, respectively). However, although these mechanisms were also present in Q. faginea, our results indicated a limited capacity to cope with water stress in terms of photoprotection when compared with Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia (Figure 6).

#### Ecophysiological implications

Both *Q. faginea* and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* are wellknown representatives of the two co-occurring types of Mediterranean oaks, with different leaf type, paleogeographical origin and contrasting strategies to cope with water limitations. Winter-deciduous Mediterranean oaks have been considered components of the so-called 'sub-Mediterranean' vegetation (Sánchez de Dios et al. 2009), inhabiting transitional areas where the Mediterranean summer aridity is partially mitigated by a higher annual precipitation and a lower mean temperature (Martín-Gómez et al. 2017, Río and Penas 2006). Their coexistence with the evergreen congeneric species in many areas of the western Mediterranean basin is a complex matter that has been examined in several ecophysiological studies (e.g., Montserrat-Martí et al. 2009, Nardini et al. 1999, Peguero-Pina et al. 2015), but further research is needed to fully understand it.

On one hand, the leaf life span of the winter-deciduous Mediterranean oaks limits the photosynthetic activity to a shorter period, which would explain the coordination between hydraulic and photosynthetic traits in order to maximize the ability for carbon assimilation in Q. faginea under favourable conditions. On the other hand, the great water consumption required under the high atmospheric evaporative demand experienced by this species during summer (Peguero-Pina et al. 2016) could induce an additional drop in soil water availability that could negatively affect leaf hydraulics and gas exchange (Mediavilla and Escudero 2003, 2004), and, ultimately, can induce a premature leaf withering. This fact may definitively shorten the vegetative period and explain the large dependence of Q. faginea on edaphic conditions that ensure the maintenance soil water potential values above critical values for this species (Esteso-Martínez et al. 2006). Thus, when soil water was depleted, leaves of *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* exhibited a more conservative water-use strategy and a higher resistance to drought-induced cavitation than Q. faginea (Figures 3C and 6B, respectively). This conservative leaf strategy of the evergreen Mediterranean oaks allows them to assimilate carbon throughout a longer time period during summer and other periods of the year such as the early spring or late autumn, as reported by Corcuera et al. (2005a) for Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia. Therefore, the co-occurrence of both types of Mediterranean oaks in these transitional areas of the western Mediterranean basin could be associated with local edaphic conditions that result in a lower water storage capacity as a consequence of the soil degradation associated to the human management Corcuera et al. (2005a, 2005b). This situation would be exacerbated in the context of climate change, which predicts an increase in temperature and aridity in several regions, especially in the Mediterranean basin (Klausmeyer and Shaw 2009, Ruiz-Labourdette et al. 2012). For this reason, there are some prediction models that indicate a notable reduction in the potential distribution range of winter-deciduous Mediterranean oaks (e.g., Q. faginea) and their substitution by evergreen Mediterranean oaks such as Q. ilex (Sánchez de Dios et al. 2009).

#### Conclusions

We have evidenced in the present study that Q. *faginea* and Q. *ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* show a differential response in terms of photosynthetic, photochemical and hydraulic traits, both in

Tree Physiology Online at http://www.treephys.oxfordjournals.org

#### 384 Alonso-Forn et al.

the absence of water stress and under intense drought. The contrasting leaf life span may condition the different functional strategies shown by different organs (i.e., leaves, shoots and stems) of these species, with important consequences for the co-occurrence of both types of Mediterranean oaks, which could be dependent on local conditions related to soil water availability.

Thus, the shorter leaf life span of the winter deciduous Q. faginea was compensated through an increased ability for carbon assimilation by means of enhanced  $g_{\rm m},\,V_{\rm cmax}$  and  $K_{\rm shoot},$ although at the expense of a higher water consumption under favourable conditions. However, this advantage in terms of carbon gain was rapidly supressed, even when soil water deficit was moderate, due to the sharp decline in  $g_{\rm m}$  , the most limiting factor for photosynthetic activity in Q. faginea. This fact was coupled with an early increase in leaf embolism and the lack of effective photoprotective mechanisms, which could trigger the drastic reduction of green leaves in response to drought. As a counterpart, stems of Q. faginea were protected from extensive xylem embolism, which allowed new leaf development after drought period. This fact could be crucial for the survival and growth of this species, as well as partially offsetting the loss of competitiveness with co-occurring evergreen Mediterranean oaks with longer leaf life span. This was the case of Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia, which showed a conservative leaf strategy, characterized by a high resistance to drought-induced cavitation and effective photoprotective mechanisms, which kept their leaves functional even under intense drought conditions for more than one vegetative period. This conservative strategy would confer a competitive advantage with respect to winterdeciduous Mediterranean oaks when soil water availability is restricted.

#### Supplementary Data

Supplementary Data for this article are available at *Tree Physiology* Online.

#### **Conflict of interest**

None declared.

#### Funding

This research was funded by Instituto Nacional de Investigación y Tecnología Agraria y Alimentaria (INIA) grant number RTA2015-00054-C02-01, by Ministerio de Ciencia e Innovación grant number PID2019-106701RR-I00/AEI/10.13039/ 501100011033 and from Gobierno de Aragón H09\_20R research group. The work of D.A.-F. is supported by a FPI-INIA contract BES-2017-081208.

#### References

- Abadía J, Morales F, Abadía A (1999) Photosystem II efficiency in Iow chlorophyll, iron-deficient leaves. Plant Soil 215:183–192.
- Acherar M, Rambal S (1992) Comparative water relations of four Mediterranean oak species. Vegetatio 99–100:177–184.
- Baldocchi DD, Ma S, Rambal S, Misson L, Ourcival JM, Limousin JM, Papale D (2010) On the differential advantages of evergreenness and deciduousness in Mediterranean oak woodlands: a flux perspective. Ecol Appl 20:1583–1597.
- Belkhodja R, Morales F, Quílez R, López-Millán AF, Abadía A, Abadía J (1998) Iron deficiency causes changes in chlorophyll fluorescence due to the reduction in the dark of the photosystem II acceptor side. Photosynth Res 56:265–276.
- Bilger W, Björkman (1990) Role of the xanthophyll cycle in photoprotection elucidated by measurements of light-induced absorbance changes, fluorescence and photosynthesis in leaves of *Hedera canatiensis*. Photosynth Res 25:173–185.
- Boyer JS (2015) Turgor and the transport of CO<sub>2</sub> and water across the cuticle (epidermis) of leaves. J Exp Bot 66:2625–2633.
- Brodribb TJ, Holbrook NM (2004) Diurnal depression of leaf hydraulic conductance in a tropical tree species. Plant Cell Environ 27:820–827.
- Brodribb TJ, Holbrook NM, Zwieniecki MA, Palma B (2005) Leaf hydraulic capacity in ferns, conifers and angiosperms: impacts on photosynthetic maxima. New Phytol 165:839–846.
- Brodribb TJ, Field TS, Jordan GJ (2007) Leaf maximum photosynthetic rate and venation are linked by hydraulics. Plant Physiol 144:1890–1898.
- Cano FJ, Sánchez-Gómez D, Rodríguez-Calcerrada J, Warren CR, Gil L, Aranda I (2013) Effects of drought on mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic limitations at different tree canopy layers. Plant Cell Environ 36:1961–1980.
- Corcuera L, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E (2004*a*) Effects of a severe drought on *Quercus ilex* radial growth and xylem anatomy. Trees 18:83–92.
- Corcuera L, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E (2004*b*) Effects of a severe drought on growth and wood anatomical properties of *Quercus faginea*. IAWA J 25:185–204.
- Corcuera L, Morales F, Abadía A, Gil-Pelegrín E (2005*a*) Seasonal changes in photosynthesis and photoprotection in a *Quercus ilex* subsp. *ballota* woodland located in its upper altitudinal extreme in the lberian peninsula. Tree Physiol 25:599–608.
- Corcuera L, Morales F, Abadía A, Gil-Pelegrín E (2005*b*) The effect of low temperatures on the photosynthetic apparatus of *Quercus ilex* ssp *ballota* at its lower and upper altitudinal limits in the lberian peninsula and during a single freezing-thawing cycle. Trees 19:99–108.
- Creek D, Blackman CJ, Brodribb TJ, Choat B, Tissue DT (2018) Coordination between leaf, stem, and root hydraulics and gas exchange in three arid-zone angiosperms during severe drought and recovery. Plant Cell Environ 41:2869–2881.
- De Kauwe MG, Lin Y-S, Wright IJ et al. (2016) A test of the 'one-point method' for estimating maximum carboxylation capacity from field-measured, light-saturated photosynthesis. New Phytol 210:1130–1144.
- Denk T, Velitzelos D, Güner TH, Bouchal JM, Grímsson F, Grimm G (2017) Taxonomy and palaeoecology of two widespread western Eurasian Neogene sclerophyllous oak species: *Quercus drymeja* Unger and *Q. mediterranea* Unger. Rev Palaeobot Palynol 241: 98–128.
- Dufour-Dror JM, Ertas A (2004) Bioclimatic perspectives in the distribution of *Quercus ithaburensis* Decne. Subspecies in Turkey and in the Levant. J Biogeogr 31:461–474.

Tree Physiology Volume 41, 2021

#### Responses to drought in two Mediterranean oaks 385

- Escudero A, Mediavilla S, Olmo M, Villar R, Merino J (2017) Coexistence of deciduous and evergreen oak species in Mediterranean environments: costs associated with the leaf and root traits of both habits. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D (eds) Oaks physiological ecology. Exploring the functional diversity of genus Quercus L. Springer International Publishing, Basel, Switzerland, pp 195–237.
- Esteso-Martínez J, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E (2006) Competitive effects of herbs on *Quercus faginea* seedlings inferred from vulnerability curves and spatial-pattern analyses in a Mediterranean stand (Iberian system, northeastern Spain). Ecoscience 13:378–387.
- Flexas J, Díaz-Espejo A, Berry JA, Galmés J, Cifre J, Kaldenhoff R, Medrano H, Ribas-Carbó M (2007*a*) Analysis of leakage in IRGA's leaf chambers of open gas exchange systems: quantification and its effects in photosynthesis parameterization. J Exp Bot 58: 1533–1543.
- Flexas J, Ortuño MF, Ribas-Carbó M, Díaz-Espejo A, Flórez-Sarasa ID, Medrano H (2007b) Mesophyll conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. New Phytol 175:501–511.
- Flexas J, Barbour MM, Brendel O et al. (2012) Mesophyll diffusion conductance to CO<sub>2</sub>: an unappreciated central player in photosynthesis. Plant Sci 193–194:70–84.
- Flexas J, Scoffoni C, Gago J, Sack L (2013) Leaf mesophyll conductance and leaf hydraulic conductance: an introduction to their measurement and coordination. J Exp Bot 64:3965–3981.
- Flexas J, Carriquí M, Nadal M (2018) Gas exchange and hydraulics during drought in crops: who drives whom? J Exp Bot 69: 693791–693795.
- Forner A, Valladares F, Aranda I (2018*a*) Mediterranean trees coping with severe drought: avoidance might not be safe. Environ Exp Bot 155:529–540.
- Forner A, Valladares F, Bonal D, Granier A, Grossiord C, Aranda I (2018*b*) Extreme droughts affecting Mediterranean tree species' growth and water-use efficiency: the importance of timing. Tree Physiol 38:1127–1137.
- Gallé A, Flórez-Sarasa I, El Aououad H, Flexas J (2011) The Mediterranean evergreen *Quercus ilex* and the semi-deciduous *Cistus alb*idus differ in their leaf gas exchange regulation and acclimation to repeated drought and re-watering cycles. J Exp Bot 14:5207–5216.
- García-Plazaola JI, Hernández A, Fernández-Marín B, Esteban R, Peguero-Pina JJ, Verhoeven A, Cavender-Bares J (2017) Photoprotective mechanisms in the genus *Quercus* in response to winter cold and summer drought. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D (eds) Oaks physiological ecology. Exploring the functional diversity of genus Quercus L. Springer International Publishing, Basel, Switzerland, pp 361–391.
- Genty B, Briantais JM, Baker NR (1989) The relationship between the quantum yield of photosynthetic electron transport and quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence. Biochim Biophys Acta 990:87–92.
- Gil-Pelegrín E, Saz MA, Cuadrat JM, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D (2017) Oaks under Mediterranean type dimates: Functional response to summer aridity. In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D (eds) Oaks physiological ecology. Exploring the functional diversity of genus Quercus L. Springer International Publishing, Basel, Switzerland, pp 137–193.
- Grassi G, Magnani F (2005) Stomatal, mesophyll conductance and biochemical limitations to photosynthesis as affected by drought and leaf ontogeny in ash and oak trees. Plant Cell Environ 28:834–849.
- Grímsson F, Zetter R, Grimm GW, Pedersen GK, Pedersen AK, Denk T (2015) Fagaceae pollen from the early Cenozoic of West Greenland: revisiting Engler's and Chaney's Arcto-tertiary hypotheses. Plant Syst Evol 301:809–832.
- Harley PC, Loreto F, Di Marco G, Sharkey TD (1992) Theoretical considerations when estimating the mesophyll conductance to  $CO_2$

flux by analysis of the response of photosynthesis to  $\mbox{CO}_2.$  Plant Physiol  $98{:}1429{-}1436.$ 

- Hinckley TM, Duhme F, Hinckley AR, Richter H (1983) Drought relations of shrub species: assessment of the mechanism of drought resistance. Oecologia 59:344–350.
- Hochberg U, Windt CW, Ponomarenko A, Zhang YJ, Gersony J, Rockwell FE, Holbrook NM (2017) Stomatal closure, basal leaf embolism, and shedding protect the hydraulic integrity of grape stems. Plant Physiol 174:764–775.
- Jiang X-L, Hipp AL, Deng M, Su T, Zhou Z-K, Yan M-X (2019) East Asian origins of European holly oaks (*Quercus* section *liex* Loudon) via the Tibet-Himalaya. J Biogeogr 46:2203–2214.
- Jones HG (1985) Partitioning stomatal and non-stomatal limitations to photosynthesis. Plant Cell Environ 8:95–104.
- Juárez-López J, Escudero A, Mediavilla S (2008) Ontogenetic changes in stomatal and biochemical limitations to photosynthesis of two cooccurring Mediterranean oaks differing in leaf life span. Tree Physiol 28:367–374.
- Klausmeyer KR, Shaw MR (2009) Climate change, habitat loss, protected areas and the climate adaptation potential of species in Mediterranean ecosystems worldwide. PLoS One 4:e6392.
- Krall JP, Edwards GE (1992) Relationship between photosystem II activity and CO<sub>2</sub> fixation in leaves. Physiol Plant 86:180–187.
- Limousin JM, Misson L, Lavoir AV, Martin NK, Rambal S (2010) Do photosynthetic limitation of evergreen *Quercus ilex* leaves change with long-term increased drought severity? Plant Cell Environ 33:863–875.
- Lu Z, Xie K, Pan Y, Ren T, Lu J, Wang M, Shen Q, Guo S (2019) Potassium mediates coordination of leaf photosynthesis and hydraulic conductance by modifications of leaf anatomy. Plant Cell Environ 42:2231–2244.
- Martín-Gómez P, Aguilera M, Pemán J, Gil-Pelegrín E, Ferrio JP (2017) Contrasting ecophysiological strategies related to drought: the case of a mixed stand of scots pine (*Pinus sylvestris*) and a submediterranean oak (*Quercus subpyrenaica*). Tree Physiol 37:1478–1492.
- Martin-StPaul N, Delzon S, Cochard H (2017) Plant resistance to drought depends on timely stomatal closure. Ecol Lett 20:1437–1447.
- Mediavilla S, Escudero A (2003) Stomatal responses to drought at a Mediterranean site: a comparative study of co-occurring woody species differing in leaf longevity. Tree Physiol 23:987–996.
- Mediavilla S, Escudero A (2004) Stomatal responses to drought of mature trees and seedlings of two co-occurring Mediterranean oaks. For Ecol Manage 187:281–294.
- Montserrat-Martí G, Camarero JJ, Palacio S, Pérez-Rontomé C, Milla R, Albuixech J, Maestro M (2009) Summer-drought constrains the phenology and growth of two co-existing Mediterranean oaks with contrasting leaf habit: implications for their persistence and reproduction. Trees 23:787–799.
- Morales F, Abadía A, Abadía J (1998) Photosynthesis, quenching of chlorophyll fluorescence and thermal energy dissipation in iron deficient sugar beet leaves. Aust J Plant Physiol 25:403–412.
- Nardini A, Tyree MT (1999) Root and shoot hydraulic conductance of seven *Quercus* species. Ann For Sci 56:371–377.
- Nardini A, Lo Gullo MA, Salleo S (1999) Competitive strategies for water availability in two Mediterranean *Quercus* species. Plant Cell Environ 22:109–116.
- Nardini A, Giulia Pedà G, La Rocca N (2012) Trade-offs between leaf hydraulic capacity and drought vulnerability: morpho-anatomical bases, carbon costs and ecological consequences. New Phytol 196:788–798.
- Niinemets Ü, Keenan T (2014) Photosynthetic responses to stress in Mediterranean evergreens: mechanisms and models. Environ Exp Bot 103:24–41.

#### 386 Alonso-Forn et al.

- Pammenter NW, Van der Willigen C (1998) A mathematical and statistical analysis of the curves illustrating vulnerability of xylem to cavitation. Tree Physiol 18:589–593.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Morales F, Flexas J, Gil-Pelegrín E, Moya I (2008*a*) Photochemistry, remotely sensed physiological reflectance index and de-epoxidation state of the xanthophyll cycle in *Quercus coccifera* under intense drought. Oecologia 156:1–11.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Morales F, Gil-Pelegrín E (2008*b*) Frost damage in *Pinus sylvestris* L. stems assessed by chlorophyll fluorescence in cortical bark chlorenchyma. Ann For Sci 65:813.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Morales F, Flexas J, Gil-Pelegrín E (2009) Differential photosynthetic performance and photoprotection mechanisms of three Mediterranean evergreen oaks under severe drought stress. Funct Plant Biol 36:453–462.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Barrón E, Camarero JJ, Vilagrosa A, Gil-Pelegrín E (2014) Morphological and physiological divergences within *Quercus ilex* support the existence of different ecotypes depending on dimatic dryness. Ann Bot 114:301–313.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Martín P, Saz MA, Gea-Izquierdo G, Cañellas I, Gil-Pelegrín E (2015) Evidence of vulnerability segmentation in a deciduous Mediterranean oak (*Quercus subpyrenaica* E. H. del Villar). Trees 29:1917–1927.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Sancho-Knapik D, Díaz-Espejo A, Flexas J, Galmés J, Gil-Pelegrín E (2016) Leaf morphological and physiological adaptations of a deciduous oak (*Quercus faginea* lam.) to the Mediterranean climate: a comparison with a closely related temperate species (*Quercus robur* L.). Tree Physiol 36:287–299.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Aranda I, Cano FJ, Galmés J, Gil-Pelegrín E, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Flexas J (2017*a*) The role of mesophyll conductance in oak photosynthesis: among and within-species variability.
  In: Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D (eds) Oaks physiological ecology. Exploring the functional diversity of genus Quercus L. Springer International Publishing, Basel, Switzerland, pp. 303–325.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, García-Nogales A, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Saz MÁ, Gil-Pelegrín E (2017b) Celllevel anatomical characteristics explain high mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in sclerophyllous Mediterranean oaks. New Phytol 214:585–596.
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Mendoza-Herrer Ó, Gil-Pelegrín E, Sancho-Knapik D (2018) Cavitation limits the recovery of gas exchange after severe drought stress in holm oak (*Quercus ilex* L.). Forests 9:443.
- Radoglou K (1996) Environmental control of  $CO_2$  assimilation rates and stomatal conductance in five oak species growing under field conditions in Greece. Ann For Sci 53:269–278.
- Ramírez-Valiente JA, López R, Hipp AL, Aranda I (2020) Correlated evolution of morphology, gas exchange, growth rates and hydraulics as a response to precipitation and temperature regimes in oaks (*Quercus*). New Phytol 227:794–809.
- R Development CoreTeam (2018) R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing Retrieved from http://www.R-project.org/.
- Richardson AD, Berlyn GP (2002) Spectral reflectance and photosynthetic properties of *Betula papyrifera* (Betulaceae) leaves along an elevational gradient on Mt. Mansfield, Vermont, USA. Am J Bot 89:88–94.
- Río S, Penas Á (2006) Potential distribution of semi-deciduous forests in castile and Leon (Spain) in relation to climatic variations. Plant Ecol 185:269–282.
- Rodriguez-Dominguez CM, Carins Murphy MR, Lucani C, Brodribb TJ (2018) Mapping xylem failure in disparate organs of whole plants reveals extreme resistance in olive roots. New Phytol 218:1025–1035.

- Ruiz-Labourdette D, Nogués-Bravo D, Saínz-Ollero H, Schmitz MF, Pineda FD (2012) Forest composition in Mediterranean mountains is projected to shift along the entire elevational gradient under climate change. J Biogeogr 39:162–176.
- Sánchez de Dios R, Benito-Garzón M, Sainz-Ollero H (2009) Present and future extension of the Iberian submediterranean territories as determined from the distribution of marcescent oaks. Plant Ecol 204:189–205.
- Sancho-Knapik D, Mendoza-Herrer Ó, Gil-Pelegrín E, Peguero-Pina JJ (2018) Chl fluorescence parameters and leaf reflectance indices allow monitoring changes in the physiological status of *Quercus ilex* L. under progressive water deficit. Forests 9:400.
- Scarascia-Mugnozza G, Oswald H, Piussi P, Radoglou K (2000) Forests of the Mediterranean region: gaps in knowledge and research needs. For Ecol Manage 132:97–109.
- Scoffoni C, McKown AD, Rawls M, Sack L (2012) Dynamics of leaf hydraulic conductance with water status: quantification and analysis of species differences under steady state. J Exp Bot 63: 643–658.
- Scoffoni C, Chatelet DS, Pasquet-kok J, Rawls M, Donoghue MJ, Edwards EJ, Sack L (2016) Hydraulic basis for the evolution of photosynthetic productivity. Nat Plants 2:16072.
- Skelton RP, Dawson TE, Thompson SE, Shen Y, Weitz AP, Ackerly D (2018) Low vulnerability to xylem embolism in leaves and stems of North American oaks. Plant Physiol 177:1066–1077.
- Theroux-Rancourt G, Ethier G, Pepin S (2014) Threshold response of mesophyll CO<sub>2</sub> conductance to leaf hydraulics in highly transpiring hybrid poplar dones exposed to soil drying. J Exp Bot 65:741–753.
- Tognetti R, Longobucco A, Raschi A (1998) Vulnerability of xylem to embolism in relation to plant hydraulic resistance in *Quercus pubescens* and *Quercus ilex* co-occurring in a Mediterranean coppice stand in Central Italy. New Phytol 139:347–448.
- Traiser C, Klotz S, Uhl D, Mosbrugger V (2005) Environmental signals from leaves a physiognomic analysis of European vegetation. New Phytol 166:465–484.
- Turner NC (1988) Measurement of plant water status by pressure chamber technique. Irrig Sci 9:289–308.
- Urli M, Porté AJ, Cochard H, Guengant Y, Burlett R, Delzon S (2013) Xylem embolism threshold for catastrophic hydraulic failure in angiosperm trees. Tree Physiol 33:672–683.
- Valiente-Banuet A, Rumebe AV, Verdú M, Callaway RM (2006) Modern quaternary plant lineages promote diversity through facilitation of ancient tertiary lineages. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103:16812–16817.
- Vilagrosa A, Bellot J, Vallejo VR, Gil-Pelegrín E (2003) Cavitation, stomatal conductance, and leaf dieback in seedlings of two cooccurring Mediterranean shrubs during an intense drought. J Exp Bot 54:2015–2024.
- Vilagrosa A, Morales F, Abadía A, Bellot J, Cochard H, Gil-Pelegrin E (2010) Are symplast tolerance to intense drought conditions and xylem vulnerability to cavitation coordinated? An integrated analysis of photosynthetic, hydraulic and leaf level processes in two Mediterranean drought-resistant species. Environ Exp Bot 69: 233–242.
- Walter H (1985) Vegetation of the Earth and ecological systems of the geo-biosphere, 3rd edn. Springer, Berlin, p 318.
- Wang X, Du T, Huang J, Peng S, Xiong D (2018) Leaf hydraulic vulnerability triggers the decline in stomatal and mesophyll conductance during drought in rice. J Exp Bot 69:4033–4045.
- Xiong D, Nadal M (2020) Linking water relations and hydraulics with photosynthesis. Plant J 101:800–815.
- Xiong D, Flexas J, Yu T, Peng S, Huang J (2017) Leaf anatomy mediates coordination of leaf hydraulic conductance and mesophyll conductance to CO<sub>2</sub> in *Oryza*. New Phytol 213:572–583.

Tree Physiology Volume 41, 2021
#### Responses to drought in two Mediterranean oaks 387

- Xiong D, Douthe C, Flexas J (2018) Differential coordination of stomatal conductance, mesophyll conductance, and leaf hydraulic conductance in response to changing light across species. Plant Cell Environ 41:436–450.
- Zhou S, Medlyn B, Sabaté S, Sperlich D, Prentice IC (2014) Shortterm water stress impacts on stomatal, mesophyll and biochemical limitations to photosynthesis differ consistently among tree species from contrasting climates. Tree Physiol 34:1035–1046.

# Supplementary Data



**Fig. S1.** Box-plot representation of the normalized difference vegetation index (NDVI) for green, yellow and brown leaves of (A) *Q. faginea* and (B) *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. Different letters indicate significant differences among leaf types (P < 0.05).



**Fig. S2**. N, P and K concentration (%) for green leaves at the beginning of the experiment, green, yellow and brown leaves at the end of the drought period (Gr\_i, Gr\_f, Ye, Br, respectively) of *Q. faginea* and *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. Data are mean  $\pm$  SE. Different letters indicate significant differences among leaf types (P < 0.05).

# Capítulo VII

# Discusión general y conclusiones

#### 7.1. Discusión general

Como se vio en el **primer capítulo** de esta tesis, la diversidad dentro del denominado genéricamente clima mediterráneo, así como la gran variabilidad fisionómica y funcional de los robles de estos ecosistemas, no permite definir un único y genuino prototipo de roble mediterráneo. En la actualidad se distinguen dos tipos de robles bien diferenciados que coexisten en las regiones mediterráneas: el roble perennifolio esclerófilo con un origen en la Flora Paleotropical y el caducifolio malacófilo con un origen arctoterciario (Barbero *et al.,* 1992; Damesin *et al.,* 1998; Mediavilla y Escudero, 2004). La coexistencia de *Quercus* perennifolios y caducifolios permite estudiar el papel de los dos patrones fenológicos desde un punto de vista funcional (Kikuzawa, 1991), especialmente bajo las restricciones ambientales impuestas por el clima mediterráneo (Montserrat-Martí *et al.,* 2009).

Las condiciones poco favorables a las que están sometidos los robles mediterráneos acortan su periodo vegetativo y disminuyen su actividad fotosintética durante el invierno y el verano (García-Plazaola *et al.*, 1999; Corcuera *et al.*, 2005). Estas restricciones producen una fragmentación del periodo vegetativo (Mitrakos, 1980) y una limitación del funcionamiento en estas especies. Por lo general, los robles caducifolios mediterráneos, como es el caso de *Q. faginea*, compensan la corta duración del periodo vegetativo con altas tasas de asimilación de carbono cuando las condiciones son favorables (van Ommen Kloeke *et al.*, 2012; Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2015). Por su parte, los perennifolios mediterráneos, como *Q. ilex*, contrarrestan esas restricciones con una mayor longevidad foliar que les permite asimilar carbono tan pronto como las condiciones son propicias (Corcuera *et al.*, 2005).

Para abordar el estudio de las adaptaciones a las restricciones impuestas por el clima mediterráneo, en esta tesis se han usado *Q. faginea* y *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* como paradigmas de los dos tipos de robles coexistentes. El primero es un claro ejemplo de roble caducifolio mediterráneo con origen arctoterciario (sección *Quercus*), mientras que el segundo representa el modelo de perennifolio esclerófilo de origen paleotropical (sección *Ilex*). Ambos provienen de ambientes no mediterráneos, por lo que han pasado por procesos de adaptación a este clima (Suc, 1984; Minnich, 1985; Blumler, 1991; Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2016). Estos procesos convergen en algunas características comunes, como es la reducción del área foliar, que puede alcanzar valores 10 veces más bajos en los robles mediterráneos o áridos respecto de aquellos que viven en climas templados (Gil-Pelegrín *et al.*, 2017; Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2020). Esta característica permite soportar la escasez de agua en los robles mediterráneos (Baldocchi y Xu, 2007) al reducir la superficie transpirante, a la vez que modera el sobrecalentamiento foliar (Voguel, 1970, 2009; Schuepp, 1993) y mejora la relación entre la conductividad hidráulica del tallo en relación con la superficie foliar sustentada, o conductividad foliar específica (Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2015). Otra característica común de los robles mencionados es la mayor resistencia hidráulica del tallo respecto de otros robles que viven en ambientes templados (Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2015). Así, *Q. faginea* registra valores de conductividad hidráulica en el tallo siete veces menores que los presentados por *Q. robur* (sección *Quercus*), un congénere muy próximo filogenéticamente que habita climas templados (Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2015).

En este sentido, se explicaría el beneficio directo de la reducción de la superficie foliar en cuanto a la mejora de la capacidad de suministrar agua a las hojas transpirantes en *Q. faginea*, compensando la notable diferencia encontrada en la conductividad hidráulica entre ambas especies. Otra diferencia entre *Q. faginea* y *Q. robur* es su resistencia a la embolia. De este modo, la especie mediterránea soporta niveles muy superiores de tensión en el xilema sin sufrir pérdida en su conductividad por cavitación. Esta cualidad de los robles propios de clima mediterráneo se presenta en un buen número de especies (Gil-Pelegrín *et al.,* 2017), aunque no es una condición general dentro de este conjunto de especies (Martín-Sánchez *et al.,* 2022).

Sin embargo, estos dos tipos de robles presentan un gran número de rasgos funcionales que los diferencian. Estos rasgos funcionales agrupan las características morfo-fisio-fenológicas que influyen en su adecuación al ambiente (Violle *et al.*, 2007).

#### Atributos morfológicos

Entre las características diferenciadoras de los dos tipos de robles mediterráneos destaca la textura foliar. Así, se diferencian el tipo no esclerófilo o malacófilo (*e.g.*, *Q. faginea*) y el tipo esclerófilo (*e.g.*, *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*).

Aunque no se pudo definir un solo factor que explicara la esclerofilia, se evidenció un efecto sinérgico de todos ellos en cuanto al desarrollo de hojas esclerófilas en el género *Quercus* (**capítulo II**). Por consiguiente, en aquellos hábitats en los que convergen varios de esos factores la esclerofilia es más frecuente. Este es el caso de *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* que habita suelos degradados con escasez de agua, falta de nutrientes, altas temperaturas y presenta hojas con alta longevidad.

En el **capítulo II**, se concluyó que, desde un punto de vista funcional en las especies del género *Quercus*, el hábito foliar modula en gran medida las implicaciones fisiológicas de la esclerofilia. Se destacó que, entre las especies de hoja perenne, la esclerofilia tiene un coste no solo en términos de inversión de carbono, sino que también limita la capacidad fotosintética, principalmente a través de limitaciones de difusión (Wright *et al.*, 2004; Flexas *et al.*, 2008; Hassitou *et al.*, 2009; Niinemets *et al.*, 2009; Onoda *et al.*, 2017; Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2017a, b). Por el contrario, el aumento de LMA entre los robles de hoja caduca se asocia con una mayor capacidad fotosintética (Takashima *et al.*, 2004; Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2015, 2016; Gil-Pelegrín *et al.*, 2017). Esto se refleja en la estrategia de los robles de hoja caduca mediterráneos para maximizar la ganancia de carbono durante los períodos óptimos, como una adaptación a la fragmentación del periodo vegetativo.

Cuando se analizaron los rasgos morfológicos, anatómicos y composicionales de las hojas de 85 especies de *Quercus*, las especies caducifolias y perennifolias presentaron diferencias en varios de sus atributos. Entre estos atributos destacaron la masa seca foliar por área (LMA), el espesor de la hoja (LT) y el área foliar, confirmando lo observado previamente en otros estudios (Corcuera *et al.*, 2002; Escudero *et al.*, 2017). Sin embargo, los dos tipos de robles no difirieron en la densidad foliar (LD) a pesar de sus diferencias en rasgos foliares relacionados con la densidad como la concentración de celulosa, la distancia entre extensiones de las vainas del haz y su anchura (**capítulo III**).

El escenario 1 del **capítulo III** contemplaba que un aumento en LMA se lograría con hojas más gruesas y aumentaría la tasa instantánea de asimilación de carbono por unidad de área ( $A_{area}$ ) lo que compensaría temporadas favorables más cortas en ambientes climáticos estresantes. Sin embargo, las especies caducifolias con alto LMA debido a un mayor LT habitaron climas con periodos cortos de frío, aunque con periodos largos de aridez intensa. Este periodo más largo de aridez podría contrarrestar el efecto de un periodo corto de frío acortando así la temporada favorable (Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2016), lo que señalaría la aridez como el factor climático que promueve el aumento de LT en los robles caducifolios. En el caso de las perennifolias, aquellas que viven en ambientes con periodos de crecimiento cortos (*i.e.*, periodos largos de frío) y/o con periodos de aridez intensa, incrementaron su LMA al aumentar LT (**capítulo III**).

En el escenario 2 se consideró que un aumento en LMA estaría asociado con hojas más densas para incrementar su resistencia en condiciones climáticas estresantes. La aridez intensa en las especies caducifolias estuvo directamente relacionada con un incremento de LMA a través del aumento de LT, pero con una disminución de LD. Esto sugirió que una mayor aridez promovió hojas más gruesas y menos densas, lo que pudo mejorar *A*<sub>area</sub> al incrementar la conductancia del mesófilo (*g*<sub>m</sub>) (Niinemets *et al.*, 2009). Por otra parte, las perennifolias incrementaron LMA al aumentar su LD en aquellos ambientes que presentaron aridez intensa como es el caso de las especies mediterráneas *Q. calliprinos* y *Q. coccifera* (**capítulo III**). Además, las perennifolias que habitan climás fríos presentaron LT mayores debido a un mesófilo lagunar más espeso que protege a las hojas del daño por congelación (Wyka y Oleksyn, 2014).

Aunque la mayoría de los estudios ecofisiológicos usan LMA como valor proxy para cuantificar la esclerofilia (*e.g.*, Niinemets, 2001; Wright *et al.*, 2004), se requieren medidas directas de las propiedades mecánicas para cuantificar la esclerofilia (Aranwela *et al.*, 1999; Read y Sandon, 2003; Onoda *et al.*, 2011). Es por eso por lo que en el **capítulo IV** se profundizó aún más en el estudio de la esclerofilia usando métodos directos para su estimación como el "*punch and die*", que mide la resistencia mecánica foliar. Esto permitió conocer la importancia relativa de cada rasgo anatómico y composicional de las hojas sobre las propiedades mecánicas. En este sentido, el espesor de capa más externa de la epidermis y el contenido de celulosa destacaron por su fuerte contribución a la dureza foliar. El primero permitió obtener hojas más duras sin grandes cambios en la masa acumulada por superficie de hoja ni grandes costes añadidos en la formación de la hoja (Villar y Merino, 2001). El segundo, se relacionó con el mayor espesor de las vainas del haz y de la pared celular externa de la epidermis. Las características foliares permitieron separar los robles caducifolios de los perennifolios surgiendo algunas observaciones interesantes (**capítulo IV**). Por una parte, las especies de la sección *llex* mostraron rasgos foliares similares independientemente del clima en el que viven. Esto podría explicarse por su origen filogenético común en la Flora Paleotropical en el este de Asia (Jing *et al.*, 2019) que ya presentaba rasgos xeromórficos (Zhou *et al.*, 2007; He *et al.*, 2014). Por otra parte, las especies perennifolias mediterráneas, independientemente de su origen filogenético, presentaron rasgos foliares comunes. Por eso, parece probable la existencia de una convergencia evolutiva en esos rasgos foliares de las especies esclerófilas en el clima mediterráneo.

Otro atributo anatómico diferenciador es la disposición de los vasos del xilema y su distribución entre las células del parénquima. Este rasgo permite una distinción de los dos tipos de roble en especies de poro en anillo difuso y de poro difuso. En las especies de poro en anillo, como es el caso de *Q. faginea*, los vasos se localizan agrupados en dos tipos de madera a lo largo del año: la madera de primavera y la de verano. La madera de primavera presenta vasos grandes mientras que la de verano tiene vasos de menor tamaño. En el caso de las especies de poro difuso, como *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*, solo se encuentran vasos pequeños. Este atributo favorece ciertas diferencias fisiológicas que se discutirán más abajo.

#### Atributos fenológicos

Las limitaciones impuestas por el clima mediterráneo y la fragmentación del periodo vegetativo dificultan la existencia de un ajuste fenológico preciso con la estacionalidad del clima a diferencia de lo que ocurre en los climas templados (Lieth, 1974). Además, la variabilidad interanual de este clima limita la regularidad y duración de los períodos favorables, aumentando todavía más la dificultad del mencionado ajuste fenológico (Mooney y Dunn, 1970). Estas limitaciones posiblemente facilitan la coexistencia de los dos tipos fenológicos en muchas comunidades de plantas leñosas mediterráneas (Montserrat-Martí *et al.,* 2004). En este sentido, varios autores han reportado su coexistencia (Tognetti *et al.,* 1998; Nardini *et al.,* 1999; Montserrat-Martí *et al.,* 2009) que está considerada como una peculiaridad del bioma mediterráneo (Baldocchi *et al.,* 2010). Un buen ejemplo de esta situación serían los bosques mixtos de *Q. faginea* y *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* en las zonas interiores de la península ibérica (Montserrat-Martí *et al.,* 

2009; Forner *et al.*, 2018). Mientras que *Q. faginea* es un caducifolio de invierno con cierto grado de marcescencia, *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* es un perennifolio que mantiene varias cohortes de hojas que pueden durar algunos años. Retener las hojas viejas durante varios años permitiría una mayor asimilación neta de CO<sub>2</sub> en todo el árbol (Escudero y Mediavilla, 2003) ya que las hojas viejas, aunque con tasas bajas de asimilación, pueden contribuir significativamente a la fotosíntesis de la copa (Niinemets *et al.*, 2005; Peguero-Pina *et al.*, 2017).

Pese a los beneficios de mantener las hojas durante varios años, se ha observado una disminución importante en la actividad fotosintética de las diferentes cohortes de Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia (Escudero y Mediavilla, 2003; Niinemets *et al.*, 2005, 2006). Los resultados obtenidos en el **capítulo V** sostienen que la fotosíntesis neta (AN) estuvo limitada principalmente por la conductancia del mesófilo ( $g_m$ ) y que la importancia relativa de la limitación del mesófilo ( $l_m$ ) incrementó con la edad de la hoja. La reducción de  $g_m$  y  $A_N$  en las hojas viejas estuvo claramente inducida por una reducción de la superficie de los cloroplastos expuesta a espacios intercelulares por unidad de áres  $(S_c/S)$  y, en menor medida, por el aumento del espesor de la pared celular ( $T_{cw}$ ). Además, se observó una reducción de la concentración de nitrógeno, principalmente en el nitrógeno del citoplasma de las hojas más viejas (capítulo V). Por lo tanto, cabría esperar que la cantidad de Rubisco también se viera afectada por el desmantelamiento del aparato fotosintético. En este sentido, la reducción de  $S_{c}/S$  y de la concentración de nitrógeno citoplasmático en las hojas más viejas podrían estar relacionadas con el desmantelamiento progresivo del aparato fotosintético asociado al envejecimiento foliar (Niinemets et al., 2009, 2012).

#### Atributos fisiológicos

Uno de los atributos morfológicos mencionados anteriormente es la distinción entre especies de poro en anillo y de poro difuso. *Quercus faginea* presenta madera de primavera con vasos grandes que contribuyen a la mayor parte del flujo de savia y madera de verano con vasos de menor tamaño que representan una parte muy pequeña de la conductividad hidráulica (Corcuera *et al.,* 2005). Por el contrario, *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* es un ejemplo de especie de poro difuso, ya que solo presenta vasos pequeños, pero menos vulnerables a la cavitación por congelación o estrés hídrico (Tyree *et al.,* 1994; Corcuera *et al.,* 2005). Estas diferencias en la disposición, distribución y tamaño de los vasos del

xilema se traducen en un desempeño fisiológico distinto frente a las condiciones impuestas por el clima mediterráneo.

Q. faginea mostró un mejor desempeño en cuanto a los atributos fisiológicos respecto de *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* en condiciones de riego normal (capítulo VI). En este sentido, la especie caducifolia tuvo valores más altos (entre 34% y 45%) en A<sub>N</sub>, en su conductancia estomática ( $g_s$ ),  $g_m$  y en la conductancia del brote (K<sub>shoot</sub>) sugiriendo una coordinación entre el intercambio de gases y la hidráulica de la hoja (Brodribb et al., 2007; Boyer, 2015; Scoffoni et al., 2016; Xiong y Nadal, 2020 y referencias incluidas). Esta coordinación explicaría la mayor capacidad para asimilar carbono de Q. faginea en absencia de estrés hídrico, a costa de un mayor consumo de agua cuando hay demanda evaporativa atmosférica (Peguero-Pina et al., 2016). Bajo condiciones de sequía, Q. faginea mostró una alta sensibilidad estomática a la a falta de agua en el suelo respecto de Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia, lo que minimizó las pérdidas de agua a costa de una reducción de AN (capítulo VI). Sin embargo, es realmente destacable que, en este estudio, la fotosíntesis se vio limitada bajo condiciones de estrés hídrico por factores no estomáticos. Este es el caso de la gm, el principal factor que explicaría las diferencias entre las dos especies en cuanto a la respuesta fotosintética cuando condiciones fueron desfavorables (capítulo VI).

En cuanto a los rasgos hidráulicos, Q. faginea mostró una disminución más temprana y rápida de K<sub>shoot</sub> en respuesta a la seguía que *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. Sin embargo, ambas especies mostraron valores similares de conductividad hidráulica (K<sub>stem</sub>) durante la progresión del ciclo de sequía (capítulo VI). Lo cual pone de manifiesto la capacidad de Q. faginea para proteger el tallo y usar la hoja como "fusible hidráulico" para reducir las pérdidas de agua por transpiración, asegurando la supervivencia de las yemas para el desarrollo futuro de nuevas hojas (Hinckley et al., 1983; Peguero-Pina et al., 2015; Skelton et al., 2018). Esta capacidad se conoce como "segmentación de la vulnerabilidad" y se relaciona con el embolismo foliar como estrategia para evitar el subsiguiente embolismo xilemático del tallo (Hochberg et al., 2017). Por su parte, Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia no mostró evidencias de una "segmentación de la vulnerabilidad" y mantuvo las hojas verdes durante casi todo el ciclo de seguía. En este sentido, se ha sugerido que esta estrategia se relaciona con su mayor longevidad foliar y su habilidad para mantener la capacidad fotosintética durante más de un periodo vegetativo (Corcuera et al., 2005; Peguero-Pina et al., 2015).

Por lo tanto, la coexistencia de ambas especies en estas áreas de transición de la cuenca mediterránea occidental podría estar asociada a condiciones edáficas locales que se traducen en una menor capacidad de almacenamiento de agua como consecuencia de la degradación del suelo (Corcuera *et al.*, 2005). Esta situación se agudizaría en el contexto del cambio climático, que prevé un aumento de la temperatura y la aridez en la cuenca mediterránea (Klausmeyer y Shaw, 2009; Ruiz-Labourdette *et al.*, 2012). Por ello, existen algunos modelos de predicción que indican una notable reducción del rango de distribución potencial de las especies de *Quercus* caducifolios mediterráneos (*e.g., Q. faginea*) y su sustitución por especies perennifolias mediterráneas como *Q. ilex* (Sánchez de Dios *et al.*, 2009).

### 7.2. Conclusions

The conclusions related to each specific objective of the thesis are presented below.

*i)* Sclerophylly in the genus Quercus from the information available in the literature and public databases: factors that promote it, its functional role and consequences for the leaf in the context of the "Leaf Economics Spectrum".

1. The wide variability found in terms of sclerophylly in the genus *Quercus* could not be satisfactorily explained by each of the ecological factors (water, nutrients, herbivory, temperature or leaf longevity) when they are considered independently. However, there is evidence of an effect of every one of them in terms of the development of sclerophyllous leaves in the genus. In addition, habitats that combine several ecological constraints are those in which sclerophylly is more frequent, as would be the case of Mediterranean evergreens.

2. From a functional point of view, leaf habit greatly modulated the physiological implications of sclerophylly in the genus. Among evergreen species, sclerophylly has a cost not only in terms of carbon investment, but also limits photosynthetic capacity, mainly through limitations in CO<sub>2</sub> diffusion. In contrast, the increase in LMA in deciduous species was associated with increased photosynthetic capacity, reflecting the Mediterranean deciduous oak strategy to maximize carbon gain during optimal periods, as an adaptation to growing fragmentation.

*ii)* Quantification and study of the diversification in the morphology, anatomy and chemical composition of the leaves of deciduous and evergreen oaks, analyzing the role of climate in the differential diversification of LMA within both types of oaks.

3. Deciduous and evergreen species showed morphological differences that revealed a contrasting adaptive response. Regardless of phylogeny or natural habitat, species differed in leaf anatomical attributes, such as LMA, LT, or leaf area. In contrast, they did not differ in LD despite their significant differences in density-related leaf characteristics such as cellulose concentration, IVD, and width of bundle sheath extensions. 4. Deciduous species with shorter growth periods showed a tendency to develop leaves with lower AML and thickness than those with longer growth periods, while evergreens showed the opposite pattern. Taking into account both habits, LMA and LT increased in arid environments. The increase in LMA and LT was associated with a higher LD in evergreens and, counterintuitively, with a lower LD in deciduous ones.

5. LMA in deciduous species appears to have diversified in coordination with LT, mainly modulated by aridity. On the contrary, the diversification of this parameter in evergreens was partly influenced by phylogeny. Regarding the environmental factors that promote sclerophylly in evergreens, interspecific variability in LT was modulated by both aridity and cold, while LD diversification was only related to aridity.

*iii)* Study of foliar mechanical resistance in deciduous and evergreen species of the genus Quercus: determination of the anatomical and compositional features that explain the variability within the genus.

6. The leaves of sclerophyllous species had higher hardness values, as revealed by mechanical tests (punch and die) due to differences in structural attributes of the epidermis, with the development of external cell walls and thicker cuticles. This fact does not imply large changes in the accumulated mass per unit of leaf surface or higher construction costs. At the compositional level, the cellulose concentration in cell walls played a critical role in the increase in leaf mechanical resistance, closely associated with the greater thickness of the bundle sheaths and the external cell wall of the epidermis, both structures very rich in cellulose.

7. Regardless of their phylogenetic origin, Mediterranean evergreens showed similar leaf traits, suggesting an evolutionary convergence of sclerophylly in the Mediterranean type climates.

8. The species of the *llex* section, despite occupying habitats with contrasting climatic conditions (from tropical to continental Mediterranean or arid) share the same structural and compositional features. The paleotropical origin of this section would justify these results.

*iv)* Evaluation of changes in morphological, anatomical, chemical and photosynthetic traits related to leaf age in an evergreen Mediterranean oak with high leaf longevity.

9. A decrease in photosynthetic capacity associated with leaf aging was observed. This decrease was driven by anatomical changes that decreased mesophyll conductance, by a sharp decrease in  $S_c/S$ , and by biochemical changes through a decrease in the amount of nitrogen available to the photosynthetic machinery. These changes reflected a gradual physiological deterioration related to the dismantling of the photosynthetic apparatus.

v) Analysis of the different responses to drought in photosynthetic, photochemical and hydraulic traits in different organs of two Mediterranean species with different leaf habits (Q. faginea and Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia).

10. On the one hand, *Q. faginea*, compensated for the shorter leaf life span with a higher carbon assimilation capacity through a higher  $g_m$ ,  $V_{cmax}$  and  $K_{shoot}$ , although at the expense of higher water consumption under favorable conditions. As the water deficit in the soil increased, there was a decrease in  $g_m$  and an increase in leaf embolism, with an absence of effective photoprotective mechanisms. On the contrary, *Q. faginea* stems were highly resistant to xylem embolism, allowing the plant to develop new leaves after the effects of drought.

11. On the other hand, *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* showed a conservative strategy, characterized by a high resistance to cavitation induced by drought both in the leaf and in the stems, as well as effective photoprotective mechanisms at the leaf scale. The survival of the leaves, even overcoming conditions of intense drought, would be associated with their capacity for the functional maintenance of the leaves throughout more than one period of stress.

#### 7.3. Conclusiones

A continuación, se exponen las conclusiones relacionadas con cada objetivo específico de la tesis.

i) La esclerofilia en el género Quercus a partir de la información disponible en la literatura y bases de datos públicas: factores que la promueven, su papel funcional y las consecuencias para la hoja en el contexto del "Leaf Economics Spectrum".

1. La amplia variabilidad encontrada en términos de esclerofilia en el género *Quercus* no pudo ser explicada satisfactoriamente teniendo en cuenta cada uno de los factores ecológicos (escasez de agua, nutrientes, herbivoría, temperatura o longevidad foliar) cuando son considerados independientemente. No obstante, se evidencia un efecto de todos y cada uno de ellos en cuanto al desarrollo de hojas esclerófilas en el género. Además, los hábitats que combinan varias limitaciones ecológicas son aquellos en los que la esclerofilia es más frecuente, como sería el caso de los perennifolios Mediterráneos.

2. Desde un punto de vista funcional, el hábito foliar moduló en gran medida las implicaciones fisiológicas de la esclerofilia en el género. Entre las especies perennifolias, la esclerofilia tiene un coste no solo en términos de inversión de carbono, sino que también limita la capacidad fotosintética, principalmente a través de limitaciones en la difusión del CO<sub>2</sub>. Por el contrario, el aumento de LMA en las especies caducifolias se asoció con una mayor capacidad fotosintética, lo que refleja la estrategia de los robles caducifolios mediterráneos para maximizar la ganancia de carbono durante los períodos óptimos, como una adaptación a la fragmentación del periodo vegetativo.

ii) Cuantificación y estudio de la diversificación en la morfología, anatomía y composición química de las hojas de robles caducifolios y perennifolios, analizando el papel del clima en la diversificación diferencial de LMA dentro de ambos tipos de robles.

3. Las especies caducifolias y perennifolias mostraron diferencias morfológicas foliares que revelaron una respuesta adaptativa contrastada. Independientemente de la filogenia o del hábitat natural, las especies difirieron en atributos anatómicos de las hojas, como LMA, LT o área foliar. Por el contrario, no difirieron en LD a pesar de sus diferencias significativas en las características de la hoja relacionadas con la densidad, como la concentración de celulosa, IVD y el ancho de las extensiones de las vainas del haz.

4. Las especies caducifolias con periodos de crecimiento más corto mostraron una tendencia a desarrollar hojas con menor LMA y espesor que aquellos con periodos de crecimiento más largo, mientras que las perennifolias presentaron el patrón opuesto. Teniendo en cuenta ambos hábitos, LMA y LT aumentaron en ambientes áridos. El aumento en LMA y LT se asoció con una mayor LD en perennifolias y, contraintuitivamente, con una menor LD en las caducifolias.

5. LMA en especies caducifolias parece haberse diversificado en coordinación con LT, modulado principalmente por la aridez. Por el contrario, la diversificación de este parámetro en perennifolias se vio en parte influenciada por la filogenia. Respecto a los factores ambientales que promueven la esclerofilia en perennifolias, la variabilidad interespecífica en LT estuvo modulada tanto por la aridez como por el frío, mientras que la diversificación en LD presentó relación tan sólo con la aridez.

iii) Estudio de la resistencia mecánica foliar en especies caducifolias y perennifolias del género Quercus: determinación de los rasgos anatómicos y composicionales que explican la variabilidad dentro del género.

6. Las hojas de las especies esclerófilas presentaron valores más altos de dureza, según revelaron ensayos mecánicos (*"punch and die"*) debido a diferencias en atributos estructurales de la epidermis, con el desarrollo de paredes celulares externas y cutículas más gruesas. Este hecho no supone grandes cambios en la masa acumulada por unidad de superficie foliar ni mayores costes de construcción. A nivel composicional, la concentración de celulosa en las paredes celulares tuvo un papel crítico en el aumento de la resistencia mecánica foliar, estrechamente asociada al mayor espesor de las vainas del haz y de la pared celular externa de la epidermis, ambas estructuras muy ricas en celulosa.

7. Independientemente de su origen filogenético, las especies perennifolias mediterráneos mostraron rasgos foliares similares, lo que pone de manifiesto una convergencia evolutiva de la esclerofilia en el clima mediterráneo.

8. Las especies de la sección *llex*, pese a ocupar hábitats de condiciones climáticas contrastadas (desde tropicales a mediterráneos continentales o áridos) comparten unos mismos rasgos estructurales y composicionales. El origen paleotropical de esta sección justificaría estos resultados.

iv) Evaluación de los cambios en los rasgos morfológicos, anatómicos, químicos y fotosintéticos relacionados con la edad de las hojas en un roble mediterráneo perennifolio con una alta longevidad foliar.

9. Se observó una disminución en la capacidad fotosintética asociada con el envejecimiento de la hoja. Esta disminución fue impulsada por cambios anatómicos que disminuyeron la conductancia del mesófilo, por una fuerte disminución en  $S_c/S$ , y por cambios bioquímicos, a través de un descenso en la cantidad de nitrógeno disponible para la maquinaria fotosintética. Estos cambios reflejaron un deterioro fisiológico paulatino relacionado con el desmantelamiento del aparato fotosintético.

v) Análisis de la diferente respuesta a la sequía en los rasgos fotosintéticos, fotoquímicos e hidráulicos en diferentes órganos de dos especies mediterráneas con diferente habito foliar (Q. faginea y Q. ilex subsp. rotundifolia).

10. Por una parte, *Q. faginea*, compensó la menor vida útil de las hojas con una mayor capacidad de asimilación de carbono por medio de una mayor  $g_m$ ,  $V_{cmax}$  y  $K_{shoot}$ , aunque a expensas de un mayor consumo de agua en condiciones favorables. A medida que se incrementó el déficit de agua en el suelo, se registró una disminución en la  $g_m$  y un aumento de la embolia foliar, con ausencia de mecanismos fotoprotectores efectivos. Por el contrario, los tallos de *Q. faginea* se mostraron altamente resistentes a la embolia del xilema, permitiendo al vegetal el desarrollo de nuevas hojas tras los efectos de la sequía.

11. Por otra parte, *Q. ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia* mostró una estrategia foliar conservadora, caracterizada por una alta resistencia a la cavitación inducida por la sequía tanto en la hoja como en los tallos, así como mecanismos fotoprotectores efectivos a escala foliar. La supervivencia de las hojas, superando incluso condiciones de sequía intensa, se asociaría a su capacidad para el mantenimiento funcional de las hojas a lo largo de más de un periodo de estrés.

#### 7.4. Bibliografía

- Aranwela N, Sanson G, Read J. 1999. Methods of assessing leaf-fracture properties. New Phytol Cambridge University Press 144: 369–93.
- Baldocchi DD, Ma S, Rambal S, Misson L, Ourcival JM, Limousin JM, Papale
  D. 2010. On the differential advantages of evergreenness and deciduousness in Mediterranean oak woodlands: a flux perspective. Ecol Appl 20: 1583–1597
- **Baldocchi DD**, **Xu L. 2007**. What limits evaporation from Mediterranean oak woodlands—the supply of moisture in the soil, physiological control by plants or the demand by the atmosphere? Advances in Water Resources 30: 2113–2122.
- **Barbero M, Loisel R, Quèzel P. 1992**. Biogeography, ecology and history of Mediterranean *Quercus ilex* ecosystems. Vegetatio 99–100:19–34
- **Blumler MA**. **1991**. Winter-deciduous versus Evergreen Habit in Mediterranean Regions: A model. USDA Forest Service Gen. Tech. Rep. PSW-126.
- **Boyer JS. 2015.** Turgor and the transport of CO2 and water across the cuticle (epidermis) of leaves. J Exp Bot 66: 2625-2633
- **Brodribb TJ, Field TS, Jordan GJ. 2007.** Leaf maximum photosynthetic rate and venation are linked by hydraulics. Plant Physiol 144: 1890-1898.
- **Corcuera L, Camarero JJ, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2002.** Functional groups in Quercus species derived from the analysis of pressure–volume curves. Trees 16: 465–472
- **Corcuera L, Morales F, Abadía A, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2005**. The effect of low temperatures on the photosynthetic apparatus of *Quercus ilex* subsp. *ballota* at its lower and upper altitudinal limits in the Iberian peninsula and during a single freezing-thawing cycle. Trees 19:99–108
- Damesin C, Rambal S, Joffre R. 1998. Co-occurrence of trees with different leaf habit: a functional approach on Mediterranean oaks. Acta Oecol 19: 195– 204
- Escudero A, Mediavilla S, Olmo M, Villar R, Merino JA. 2017. Coexistence of deciduous and evergreen oak species in Mediterranean environments: costs associated with the leaf traits of both habits. In: Gil-Pelegrín, E., Peguero-Pina, J., Sancho-Knapik, D. (eds) Oaks Physiological Ecology. Exploring the Functional Diversity of Genus *Quercus* L.. Tree Physiology, vol 7. Springer, Cham

- **Escudero A, Mediavilla S. 2003**. Decline in photosynthetic nitrogen use efficiency with leaf age and nitrogen resorption as determinants of leaf life span. J Ecol 91: 880–889
- Flexas J, Ribas-Carbó M, Díaz-Espejo A, Galmés J, Medrano H. 2008. Mesophyll conductance to CO2: current knowledge and future prospects. Plant Cell Environ 31: 602–621
- Forner A, Valladares F, Aranda I. 2018. Mediterranean trees coping with severe drought: avoidance might not be safe. Environ Exp Bot 155: 529–540.
- García-Plazaola JI, Artetxe U, Duñabeitia MK, Becerril JM. 1999. Role of photoprotective systems of Holm-Oak (*Quercus ilex*) in the adaptation to winter conditions. J Physiol 155:25–630
- Gil-Pelegrín E, Saz MÁ, Cuadrat JM, Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D. 2017. Oaks Under Mediterranean-Type Climates: Functional Response to Summer Aridity. In: Gil-Pelegrín, E., Peguero-Pina, J., Sancho-Knapik, D. (eds) Oaks Physiological Ecology. Exploring the Functional Diversity of Genus *Quercus* L.. Tree Physiology, vol 7. Springer, Cham.
- Hassiotou F, Renton M, Ludwig M, Evans JR, Veneklaas EJ. 2010. Photosynthesis at an extreme end of the leaf trait spectrum: how does it relate to high leaf dry mass per area and associated structural parameters? J Exp Bot 61: 3015–3028
- He Y, Li N, Wang Z, Wang H, Yang G, Xiao L, Wu J, Sun B. 2014. *Quercus yangyiensis* sp. nov. from the late Pliocene of Baoshan, Yunnan and its paleoclimatic significance. Acta Geol Sin 88: 738–747
- Hinckley TM, Duhme F, Hinckley AR, Richter H. 1983. Drought relations of shrub species: assessment of the mechanism of drought resistance. Oecologia 59: 344–350.
- Hochberg U, Windt CW, Ponomarenko A, Zhang YJ, Gersony J, Rockwell FE, et al. 2017. Stomatal closure, basal leaf embolism, and shedding protect the hydraulic integrity of grape stems. Plant Physiol 174: 764-775.
- **Kikuzawa K. 1991.** A cost-benefit analysis of leaf habit and leaf longevity of trees and their geographical pattern. Am Nat 138:1250–1263
- **Klausmeyer KR, Shaw MR. 2009.** Climate change, habitat loss, protected areas and the climate adaptation potential of species in Mediterranean ecosystems worldwide. PLoS One 4: 6392.
- Lieth H. 1974. Phenology and seasonality modeling. Springer-Verlag. Berlín.

Martín-Sánchez R, Peguero-Pina JJ, Alonso-Forn D, Ferrio JP, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2022. Summer and winter can equally stress holm oak (*Quercus ilex* L.) in Mediterranean areas: A physiological view. Flora 290

- Mediavilla S, Escudero A. 2004. Stomatal responses to drought of mature trees and seedlings of two co-occurring Mediterranean oaks. For Ecol Manag 187:281–294
- Minnich RA. 1985. Evolutionary convergence or phenotypic plasticity? Responses to summer rain by California chaparral. Physical Geography 6: 272-287
- Mitrakos KA. 1980. A theory for Mediterranean plant life. Acta Oecol 1:245–252
- Montserrat-Martí G, Camarero JJ, Palacio S, Pérez-Rontomé C, Milla R, Albuixech J, Maestro M. 2009. Summer-drought constrains the phenology and growth of two co-existing Mediterranean oaks with contrasting leaf habit: implications for their persistence and reproduction. Trees 23: 787– 799
- Montserrat-Martí G, Palacio-Blasco S, Milla-Gutiérrez R. 2004. Fenología y características funcionales de las plantas leñosas mediterráneas. In Valladares, F. (Ed.) Ecología del bosque mediterráneo en un mundo cambiante. Ministerio de Medio Ambiente, Organismo Autónomo Parques Nacionales, pp. 129-162. Madrid.
- **Mooney HA, Dunn EL. 1970**. Convergent evolution of Mediterranean-climate evergreen sclerophyll shrubs. Evolution 24: 292-303.
- Nardini A, Lo Gullo MA, Salleo S. 1999. Competitive strategies for water availability in two Mediterranean *Quercus* species. Plant, Cell Environ 22:109–116
- Niinemets Ü, Cescatti A, Rodeghiero M, Tosens T. 2005. Leaf internal diffusion conductance limits photosynthesis more strongly in older leaves of Mediterranean evergreen broad-leaved species. Plant Cell Environ 28: 1552–1566.
- Niinemets Ü, Cescatti A, Rodeghiero M, Tosens T. 2005. Leaf internal conductance limits photosynthesis more strongly in older leaves of Mediterranean evergreen broad-leaved species. Plant Cell Environ 28: 1552–1556
- Niinemets Ü, Cescatti A, Rodeghiero M, Tosens T. 2006. Complex adjustments of photosynthetic capacity and internal mesophyll conductance to current and previous light availabilities and leaf age in Mediterranean evergreen species *Quercus ilex*. Plant Cell Environ 29: 1159–1178.

- Niinemets Ü, Díaz-Espejo A, Flexas J, Galmés J, Warren CR. 2009. Role of mesophyll diffusion conductance in constraining potential photosynthetic productivity in the field. J Exp Bot 60: 2249–2270
- **Niinemets Ü. 2001.** Global-scale climatic controls of leaf dry mass per area, density, and thickness in trees and shrubs. Ecology 82: 453–469
- Onoda Y, Westoby M, Adler PB, Choong AMF, Clissold FJ, Cornelissen JHC, Díaz S, Dominy NJ, Elgart A, Enrico L et al. 2011. Global patterns of leaf mechanical properties. Ecol Lett 14: 301–312
- Onoda Y, Wright IJ, Evans JR, Hikosaka K, Kitajima K, Niinemets Ü, Poorter H, Tosens T, Westoby M. 2017. Physiological and structural tradeoffs underlying the leaf economics spectrum. New Phytol 214: 1447–1463
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sancho-Knapik D, Martín P, Saz MA, Gea-Izquierdo G, Cañellas I, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2015. Evidence of vulnerability segmentation in a deciduous Mediterranean oak (*Quercus subpyrenaica* E. H. del Villar). Trees 29:1917–1927
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, García-Nogales A, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Saz MÁ, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2017a. Cell-level anatomical characteristics explain high mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in sclerophyllous Mediterranean oaks. New Phytol 214: 585–596
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Flexas J, Galmés J, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2017b. Coordinated modifications in mesophyll conductance, photosynthetic potentials and leaf nitrogen contribute to explain the large variation in foliage net assimilation rates across *Quercus ilex* provenances. Tree Physiol. doi:10.1093/treephys/tpx057
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Sisó S, Sancho-Knapik D, Díaz-Espejo Flexas J, Galmés J, et al. 2016. Leaf morphological and physiological adaptations of a deciduous oak (*Quercus faginea* Lam.) to the Mediterranean climate: a comparison with a closely related temperate species (*Quercus robur* L.). Tree Physiology 36: 287–299
- Peguero-Pina JJ, Vilagrosa A, Alonso-Forn D, Ferrio JP, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2020. Living in Drylands: Functional Adaptations of Trees and Shrubs to Cope with High Temperatures and Water Scarcity. *Forests* 11. https://doi.org/10.3390/f11101028
- **Read J, Sanson GD. 2003**. Characterising sclerophylly: the mechanical properties of a diverse range of leaf types. New Phytol 160: 81–99
- Ruiz-Labourdette D, Nogues-Bravo D, Sainz-Ollero H, Schmitz MF, Pineda FD. 2012. Forest composition in Mediterranean mountains is projected to

shift along the entire elevational gradient under climate change. J Biogeogr 39: 162-176.

- Sánchez de Dios R, Benito-Garzón M, Sainz-Ollero H. 2009. Present and future extension of the Iberian submediterranean territories as determined from the distribution of marcescent oaks. Plant Ecol 204: 189–205
- Schuepp PH. 1993. Leaf boundary layers. New Phytologist 125: 477–507.
- Scoffoni C, Chatelet DS, Pasquet-kok J, Rawls M, Donoghue MJ, Edwards EJ, Sack L. 2016. Hydraulic basis for the evolution of photosynthetic productivity. Nat Plants 2: 160-72
- Skelton RP, Dawson TE, Thompson SE, Shen Y, Weitz AP, Ackerly D. 2018. Low vulnerability to xylem embolism in leaves and stems of North American oaks. Plant Physiol 177: 1066-1077
- Suc JP. 1984. Origin and evolution of the Mediterranean vegetation and climate in Europe. Nature 307: 429–432
- Takashima T, Hikosaka K, Hirose T. 2004. Photosynthesis or persistence: nitrogen allocation in leaves of evergreen and deciduous *Quercus* species. Plant Cell Environ 27: 1047–1054
- **Tognetti R, Longobucco A, Raschi A. 1998.** Vulnerability of xylem to embolism in relation to plant hydraulic resistance in *Quercus pubescens* and *Quercus ilex* co-occurring in a Mediterranean coppice stand in central Italy. New Phytol 139: 347–448
- **Tyree MT, Davis SD, Cochard H. 1994.** Biophysical Perspectives of Xylem Evolution: is there a Tradeoff of Hydraulic Efficiency for Vulnerability to Dysfunction? IAWA Journal, 15: 335-360
- van Ommen Kloeke AEE, Douma JC, Ordoñez JC, Reich PB, van Bodegom PM.
  2012. Global quantification of contrasting leaf life span strategies for deciduous and evergreen species in response to environmental conditions. Glob Ecol Biogeogr 21:224–235.
- Villar R, Merino J. 2001. Comparison of leaf construction costs in woody species with differing leaf life-spans in contrasting ecosystems. New Phytol 151: 213–226
- Violle C, Navas ML, Vile D, Kazakou E, Fortunel C, Hummel I, Garnier E. 2007. Let the concept of trait be functional! Oikos, 116: 882–892.
- **Vogel S. 1970**. Convective cooling at low airspeeds and the shapes of broad leaves. Journal of Experimental Botany 21: 91–101.
- **Vogel S. 2009**. Leaves in the lowest and highest winds: Temperature, force and shape. New Phytologist 183: 13–26

- **Vogel S. 2009.** Leaves in the lowest and highest winds: temperature, force and shape. New Phytol 183: 13–26
- Wright IJ, Westoby M, Reich PB, Oleksyn J, Ackerly DD, Baruch Z, Bongers F, Cavender-Bares J, Chapin T, Cornellissen JHC, Diemer M *et al.* 2004. The worldwide leaf economics spectrum. Nature 428 :821–827
- Wyka T. P., Oleksyn J. 2014. Photosynthetic ecophysiology of evergreen leaves in the woody angiosperms — a review. Dendrobiology 72: 3-27. doi: 10.12657/denbio.072.001
- **Xiong D, Nadal M. 2020.** Linking water relations and hydraulics with photosynthesis. Plant Journal 1: 800-815
- **Zhou Z-K, Yang Q-S, Xia K. 2007.** Fossil of *Quercus* sect. *Heterobalanus* can help explain the uplift of the Himalayas. Chin Sci Bull 52: 238–247

## Apéndice

A continuación, se detallan las publicaciones derivadas de esta tesis que ya han sido publicadas junto con el factor de impacto de la revista, su área temática y la contribución del doctorando.

Alonso-Forn D, Sancho-Knapik D, Ferrio JP, Peguero-Pina JJ, Bueno A, Onoda Y, Cavender-Bares J, Niinemets Ü, Jansen S, Riederer M, Cornelissen JHC, Chai Y and Gil-Pelegrín E. 2020. Revisiting the Functional Basis of Sclerophylly Within the Leaf Economics Spectrum of Oaks: Different Roads to Rome. Current Forestry Reports 6: 260–281. doi: 10.1007/s40725-020-00122-7

Factor de impacto: 6.656

Área temática: Forestry

Contribución: el doctorado participó en el planteamiento del estudio y en la redacción del manuscrito, así como en la edición y la organización de las contribuciones de los otros autores.

Sancho-Knapik D, Escudero A, Mediavilla S, Scoffoni C, Zailaa J, Cavender-Bares J, Álvarez-Arenas TG, Molins A, Alonso-Forn D, Ferrio JP, Peguero-Pina JJ and Gil-Pelegrín E. 2021. Deciduous and evergreen oaks show contrasting adaptive responses in leaf mass per area across environments. New Phytologist 230: 521-534. doi: 10.1111/nph.17151

Factor de impacto: 10.323

Área temática: *Plant Sciences* 

Contribución: el doctorando participó en las medidas y el análisis de los datos climáticos y filogenéticos. Además, contribuyó a la revisión y edición del manuscrito.

Alonso-Forn D, Sancho-Knapik D, Fariñas MD, Nadal M, Martín-Sánchez R, Ferrio JP, Resco de Dios V, Peguero-Pina JJ, Onoda Y, Cavender-Bares J, Álvarez Arenas T, Gil-Pelegrín E. Disentangling leaf structural and material properties in relation to their anatomical and chemical compositional traits in oaks (*Quercus* L.). En revisión y publicado como *preprint* en bioRxiv. doi: 10.1101/2022.10.21.513225 Contribución: el doctorando participó en el planteamiento y diseño del estudio, realizó las medidas y analizó los resultados. Así mismo, escribió y editó el manuscrito.

 Alonso-Forn D, Peguero-Pina JJ, Ferrio JP, García-Plazaola JI, Martín-Sánchez R, Niinemets Ü, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2022. Cell-level anatomy explains leaf age-dependent declines in mesophyll conductance and photosynthetic capacity in the evergreen Mediterranean oak *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. Tree Physiology 42: 1988–2002. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpac049

Factor de impacto: 4.561

Área temática: Forestry

Contribución: el doctorando participó en el diseño experimental, realizó las medidas de las que derivan los resultados y participó en la redacción del manuscrito.

 Alonso-Forn D, Peguero-Pina JJ, Ferrio JP, Mencuccini M, Mendoza-Herrer Ó, Sancho-Knapik D, Gil-Pelegrín E. 2021. Contrasting functional strategies following severe drought in two Mediterranean oaks with different leaf habit: *Quercus faginea* and *Quercus ilex* subsp. *rotundifolia*. Tree Physiology 41: 371–387. doi: 10.1093/treephys/tpaa135213

Factor de impacto: 4.561

Área temática: Forestry

Contribución: el doctorando participó en el planteamiento y diseño del experimento, realizó las medidas, analizó parte de los resultados y participó en la escritura del manuscrito.